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Helping 
Britain



For over 325 years  
we have supported  
Britain, helping people  
and businesses  
invest and grow.  
Today is no different.  

Our purpose is  

Our purpose-driven strategy is focused on supporting the 
needs of our customers, colleagues and communities, 
whilst delivering long-term, sustainable returns and 
creating value for our shareholders. 
 
As the UK’s largest digital bank, with 27 million customers 
and 2.2 million shareholders, we’re looking to create a 
more sustainable and inclusive future for people and 
businesses, shaping finance as a force for good.

See inside cover



...it’s what drives us,  
what makes us different  

 

Our purpose-driven 
business model and 

 
allow us to create  
new opportunities  
and propositions for  
our customers, whilst 
supporting them when 
they need it most.

27m
customers We have 2.2 million shareholders, 

 
our employees. In 2023, the Board 
recommended a total ordinary 
dividend of 2.76 pence per share  
and a further share buyback of up  
to £2.0 billion.

£3.8bn
returned to shareholders for 2023

Our colleagues are 
fundamental to the success  
of the Group and our future 
transformation. We will 
continue to build a fully 
inclusive organisation that is 
representative of modern-day 
Britain, where differences are 
embraced and everyone can 
reach their potential.

66,000
colleagues

Read more 
on how we’re supporting 
customers through the cost 
of living crisis.



We play an active role in 
supporting communities, across 
the UK. This includes support  
for community groups and 
organisations; donations to  
our independent Foundations; 
colleague volunteering; and 
fundraising for local charities.

£120m
donated to our charitable Foundations 
since 2018 to help address complex social 
issues and opportunities 

Our 2,600 suppliers are integral 

needs. We’re working 
collaboratively with them  
to reduce the Group’s supply 
chain emissions.

c.80%
of supply chain emissions now 
assessed against our Emerald 
Standard on supplier sustainability

We continually engage with our 
regulators and other government 
authorities to ensure the Group 
supports and delivers in line with 
current and developing regulation 
and legislation. The Group is 
proud to be one of the UK’s largest 

 
public services.

£4.4bn
of cash taxes paid to the  
UK Government in 2023

We support businesses of all 

ambitions and grow. We also 
provide targeted support to help 
them navigate challenging 
times, particularly those clients 
who may be at risk of falling into 

c.600,000
businesses proactively contacted  
to offer support

Read more  
on our commitment  
to reduce our supply  
chain emissions.



Our wider reporting suite provides 
supplementary information and 
disclosures, including our sustainability 
report. These are available online, and 
referenced throughout this report.

To access more content on a mobile device,
point your camera at the QR codes seen
throughout this report.

Our reporting 
Our reporting network is 
designed to facilitate better 
communication to a range  
of stakeholders.
Our annual report and accounts provides 
disclosures relating to our strategic, 

and social performance and provides 
detail on our strategy.

It also contains forward-looking 
statements relating to the Group’s future 

strategic initiatives and objectives.

The 2023 annual report and accounts 
incorporates the strategic report and the 

 
of which have been approved by the  
Board of directors.

On behalf of the Board

Sir Robin Budenberg
Chair, Lloyds Banking Group plc
21 February 2024

See our full reporting suite  
on the Investors page   
of our website.
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Chair’s statement

Helping Britain 
Prosper provides 
us with a great 

Overview

adults in the UK and a strong presence in communities around 

and are in a unique position to deliver on our purpose of Helping 
Britain Prosper, whilst delivering long-term, sustainable returns for 
our shareholders. During 2023, our purpose has been more visible 
in our actions than ever before. We remain focused on helping 

proactively supporting our customers, colleagues and society  
to navigate the current environment. 

Shareholder returns
Generating strong and sustainable earnings in the long-term is 
imperative. We have made good progress on our strategy, whilst 

 
 

The Board recognises the importance of returns for our shareholders 
both through share price appreciation and capital returns. I am 
pleased to announce that the Board has recommended a total 
ordinary dividend of 2.76 pence per share for 2023, an increase  
of 15 per cent on 2022, in line with our progressive and sustainable 
dividend policy. The Board has also announced its intention to 
implement an ordinary share buyback of up to £2.0 billion in 2024. 
Implementation of the buyback helps us grow dividend per share  
in future periods. Based on the total ordinary dividend and the 
intended ordinary share buyback, the total capital return for 2023 
equates to £3.8 billion. The mix of capital return between dividends 
and buybacks aims to meet the needs of all shareholders.

Our purpose and strategy
While the external environment remains uncertain, our ambitious 
strategy announced in February 2022 remains the right one, 
underpinned by a strengthened connection between our 

 
I am pleased with the Group’s strategic achievements in 2023.  
Our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper means addressing social 
issues impacting our customers, investing in regional productivity 
and creating long-term, sustainable growth for the country. 
Building an inclusive and sustainable future is at the heart of this. 

While more progress needs to be made on the transition  
 

stakeholders. During 2023, the Group partnered with the charity 
Crisis to call for one million more social homes to be built over  
the next decade. Safe, affordable and sustainable homes are a 
fundamental human need and an important part of supporting 
the transition in a way that is fair and inclusive. 

Our culture
Throughout 2023, the Board has listened to our people to better 
understand how it feels to work for the Group, the role our culture 
plays and what improvements could be made. While we have 
seen a drop across some of our employee engagement metrics 

there continues to be positive feedback about the Group’s  
culture, with our colleagues feeling the Group is inclusive, safe  
and respectful. 

 
to increase both gender and ethnic diversity at senior levels and 
we maintain our commitment to these stretching targets. In 2023, 
the Group also announced an additional target, to double the 

public commitment of its kind to be launched by a UK bank. 

Directors
I would like to thank Alan Dickinson and Lord Lupton, who will both 

contributions that they have made over many years. I am pleased 
to report that Nathan Bostock will be appointed as a non-
executive director of the Group and, subject to regulatory 
approval, Chair of Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc, in each 
case with effect from 1 August 2024. Read more on Board changes 
on page 72.

We aim to ensure that the composition of the Board represents  
a diverse mix of experiences and backgrounds, enhancing the 
quality of Board deliberations and decisions. I am pleased to  

recommendations. 

Remuneration 
Our approach to remuneration aims to provide a clear link to 
delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives whilst delivering 
higher, more sustainable returns for our shareholders. We have 
also carefully considered how best to support our colleagues. 
In 2023, we announced a two-year pay proposal for 2024 and 
2025 to provide greater certainty to our colleagues. In light of 
the immediate cost of living challenges, there has also been an 
additional cash award for c.44,000 colleagues to support our 
most junior colleagues. We believe our reward package is fair  
and competitive. More information can be found in the directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 108 to 132. 

Summary
I am immensely proud of how Lloyds Banking Group colleagues 
have supported our customers and made a positive contribution 
across our communities, while setting about the change we  

purpose, customer focus and unique business model, alongside 
our continued strategic delivery will ensure the Group can deliver 
higher, more sustainable returns for our shareholders, alongside 
serving the interests of our broader stakeholders.

   Sir Robin Budenberg, 
 Chair

02 Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Governance in action

Overview

governance. Stakeholder engagement takes place at all levels 
within the Group and is an important part of how we are 
delivering on our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper. The Board 
continues to engage both directly and indirectly with many of 
its stakeholders. This engagement helps to provide a better 
understanding of stakeholders’ points of view and the impact 
the Group has on their day-to-day lives. Read more about 
the engagement of Board members with stakeholders on 
pages 82 and 83. 

The Board requires stakeholder implications to be considered 
by senior management in all proposals submitted to the Board 
from across the Group, both within the papers and as part of 
the accompanying presentations. 

Senior management routinely provides the Board with details 
of stakeholder interaction and feedback through their regular 
business updates and in their interactions both inside and 
outside of the board room. Managing stakeholder interests 
also forms a key part of the Board’s delegation of the day-to-
day management of the business to senior management.

Throughout 2023 the Board’s key stakeholders remained the 
same as they were in 2022.

The Group’s support to customers and clients has been driven  
by our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper and has evolved as  
the Board and the Group have sought to better understand the 
varying impacts of the rise in the cost of living. The support 
provided included the offer of interest free overdraft facilities in 
certain circumstances, facilitating specialist third party support 
and forbearance options.

The Board was keen that particular support be provided to our 
mortgage, business and corporate clients. There has been a 
number of tailored means of assistance developed accordingly, 
with the understanding that the right support will help these 

which is good for the business. This included the Group’s 
participation in the Government-led Mortgage Charter,  
a sector-wide initiative to support those struggling with  
mortgage repayments.

The Board was also very aware of the feedback from colleagues 
on the impact of the current cost of living pressures on their 

certainty while the economic environment remains uncertain, the 
Board was pleased to support the Group’s commitment to a two 
year pay deal. This provided guaranteed minimum pay awards in 
2024 and 2025 for the majority of our colleagues. In addition, we 
had a particular focus on colleagues in more junior roles who also 
received a further ad hoc cash award in December 2023.

The Board will continue to monitor the challenges which the rising 
cost of living causes our stakeholders as the Group continues  
to work with our regulators and our peers to ensure the most 
appropriate support can be provided to customers, clients  
and colleagues.

This section (pages 3 to 5) is our Section 172(1) statement for the 
purposes of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act), describing how 
the directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 
172(1) (a) to (f) of the Act when performing their duty to promote 
the success of the Company under section 172. Further detail on 
key stakeholder interaction is also contained within the directors’ 
report on pages 82 to 83.

The directors remain mindful in all their deliberations of the 
long-term consequences of their decisions, as well as the 
importance of the Group maintaining a reputation for high 
standards of business conduct and the Board engaging with, 
and taking account of the views of, key stakeholders. 

Consumer Duty, Senior Independent Director appointment, the 
Tusker acquisition and environmental sustainability) evidence 
how the Board is engaged in key decisions. 

Cost of living
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Stakeholder impact

Key Board discussions and decisions 

  Communities & environment

 Suppliers

 Regulators & government

interest rates, was a key area of concern for many customers, clients 
and colleagues during 2023. The Board continued to consider the 
impacts upon these stakeholders, including the impacts on the 
Group’s mortgage customers and clients with lending facilities and 
the action being taken to provide them with the necessary support.

Stakeholder key:

 Customers & clients

 Shareholders

 Colleagues
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Governance in action continued

The Board and its Board Risk Committee supported the Group 
in working towards the introduction in July 2023 of the Financial 
Conduct Authority’s (FCA) new Consumer Duty requirements. 
In doing so, the Board acknowledged the strong alignment 
between the Group’s purpose, values and existing customer-
centric approach and the regulator’s ambition to assist 

preventing customer harm.

The Board received several updates during the year on 
progress with meeting the regulator’s requirements. This 
included reviewing the regulator’s feedback and the steps 
taken by senior management in fully embedding the 
approach and ensuring improved customer outcomes. 

The Board was mindful of the scale of the programme of  
work and the resulting risks to delivery and considered the 
approach to potential actions to mitigate those risks. The 
Board was pleased with the Group’s successful delivery of the 
initial stages of the programme. The Board also considered 
the approach the Group would take as the programme moves 
into its second implementation period ending in July 2024 and 
also the approach which would be taken to ensure that focus 
remains strong in this area as it transitions into ‘business as 
usual’, which will be supported by the Group’s strong focus on 
purpose. The Board will continue to be updated on progress 
prior to July 2024.

Consumer 
Duty 
Stakeholder impact

Senior 
Independent 
Director 
appointment
Stakeholder impact

The Board started a search for a successor to Alan Dickinson in the 
role of Senior Independent Director in early 2023. In doing so the 
Board was mindful of its obligations to, and the needs of, the Group’s 
external stakeholders and its ambitions to build an organisation truly 
driven by Helping Britain Prosper when making the decision for this 
important role.
 
The appointment process was led by the Chair, with input from  
the wider Board and the support of the Board’s Nomination and 
Governance Committee. The suitability of candidates was 
considered against agreed criteria, including the range of skills and 

recommendation was then made to the Board for its agreement. 

After an extensive review of both external and internal candidates, 
the decision was made for Cathy Turner to succeed Alan Dickinson 
in the role of Senior Independent Director. In doing so the Board 
recognised Cathy’s broad ranging executive and non-executive 
experience. This included her extensive experience in dealing with 
investors and with the sometimes competing interests of a variety  
of stakeholder groups. 

The Board agreed that Cathy would provide invaluable support  
to the Chair and undertake the other aspects of the role to a  
high standard.

Read more  
Cathy’s full bio
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Building a more sustainable future is a core part of our purpose-
driven strategy and how we are Helping Britain Prosper. It is a key 
source of opportunity for the Group as well as risk management.  
As such, the Board has considered the importance of the Group’s 
commitments to net zero, including both our emissions reduction 
targets and our role as a member of the Net-Zero Banking Alliance. 
The Board received regular updates on the progress made in all 
areas related to our sustainability ambitions and has provided 
valuable challenge as we work towards meeting our commitments. 

The Board is keenly aware of the importance of the Group’s own 
ambitions as we support our customers and our clients through  
their transitions to net zero and the vital link this represents to 
delivering on the Group’s climate ambitions. The Board has therefore 
encouraged further action to fully embed climate considerations 
into all of the Group’s decision making, recognising the breadth of 
the action which needs to be taken and the importance of moving 
from target setting to action at scale. This recognises that there are 
many growth opportunities in helping our customers and clients 

 
balance sheet.

The Board has encouraged clarity in the role that all areas of  
the Group will take as we transition to net zero. This has included 
ensuring cross-Group capabilities are fully utilised and emphasising 
the importance which bold decision making will play. In doing so the 

services organisations will take in supporting low carbon ambitions, 
including in key areas such as the housing and transport markets.

The Board is very aware of the challenges and risks to delivering  
on our commitments and has considered these throughout the 
course of the year. Further detail of the role of the Board in this area 
can be found in the report of its Responsible Business Committee  
on page 107.

Environmental 
sustainability

Tusker  
acquisition

Stakeholder impact

Stakeholder impact

The Group’s strategy is principally organic however the Board 
and senior management will always keep under review 

 
and growth for the Group in strategically consistent areas while 
supporting our purpose. In early 2023 the opportunity to acquire 

ultra-low emission vehicles, was presented to the Board. 

The Group is committed to helping Britain build a more 
sustainable society. The Board therefore considered how the 
acquisition would align with the Group’s existing business at 
acceptable risk and enable the Group to offer a bespoke 
product to its commercial clients to support those clients in their 
own transitions to net zero. The acquisition would also support 
the Group’s ambitions to achieve its net zero emissions targets 
by 2050 or sooner through promotion of the use of electric and 
ultra-low emission vehicles as well as its growth ambitions for 

From an investor perspective, the Board considered a number  
of factors, including how Tusker was positioned for growth, the 
projected return on the Group’s investment and the potential 
synergies with the Group’s existing business, including supplier 
relationships. Other stakeholder considerations included the 
Group’s regulators, with the FCA and Prudential Regulation 
Authority briefed in advance of the transaction.

The Board was pleased to support the transaction and provided 

22 February 2023.

Read more 
within the press 
release

Read more  
within our  
sustainability report
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Robust 
performance

2023 was an important year for our Group. We continued to 
deliver on our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper, supporting  
both our customers and shareholders. We are seeing real 
evidence of strategic progress as we transform the business  

strategic commitments. Our purpose-driven strategy is helping 
 

and grow whilst enabling us to build a more sustainable and 
inclusive business. This progress has been underpinned by 

performance that has driven strong capital generation and 
increased shareholder distributions.
 

meeting our guidance. Income growth has been supported by  
a higher banking net interest margin and good momentum in 
underlying other income. We continued to manage costs tightly 

strong. As a result, we delivered strong capital generation, 

1.84 pence per share, implying a total dividend for the year of  
2.76 pence. This is 15 per cent up year-on-year and in line with  
our progressive and sustainable dividend policy. In addition,  
the Group has announced a share buyback programme of up  
to £2.0 billion. In combination, this is a total capital return of up to 
£3.8 billion, or c.14 per cent of the Group’s market capitalisation.
 
With continued cost of living pressures we know that 2023 was 
challenging for many. We were proactive in providing support.  
By using data and insights to gain a deeper understanding of 
customer needs, we contacted 7.5 million customers and around 

Alongside, we contacted more than 15 million deposit customers 
to ensure they are aware of their savings options, supported  
by our enhanced propositions, including attractive rates and 
products. We also recognise the importance of supporting our 
colleagues. We have agreed a two-year pay deal and paid an 
additional cash award to around 44,000 colleagues. This is 

needs of our people and the strategic aims of the Group.

We remain fully focused 
on supporting customers, 
whilst delivering strong 
strategic progress and 
sustainable returns, guided  
by our purpose of Helping 
Britain Prosper.
Charlie Nunn

Group Chief Executive’s review

Watch  Charlie’s message, as he 

in 2023 and beyond.
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Our strong 
commitment 
to sustainability
Lloyds Banking Group is committed to Helping 

 
to building a more inclusive and sustainable  
future for people and businesses in the UK. 

We believe that focusing on our purpose and  
doing right by our customers, colleagues and 
communities will help us identify new areas of 

business and deliver higher, more sustainable 
returns for shareholders.

 
in line with guidance

 
year-on-year increase was because of both robust 2023 
performance and in particular a 2022 restatement in line with IFRS 
17 accounting changes. Strong net income of £17.9 billion was up  
3 per cent, driven by a higher banking net interest margin in line 
with guidance and 10 per cent growth in underlying other income, 
offset by higher operating lease depreciation. Operating costs of 

planned strategic investment, severance charges, new 

£675 million and included a £450 million provision for the potential 
impact of the recently announced FCA review into historical motor 

estimates for costs and potential redress. There remains 

customer loss, if any, the nature of any remediation action, if 
required, and its timing. Hence the impact could materially differ 
from the provision, both higher or lower. We saw strong asset 
quality with credit performance across portfolios broadly at or 
favourable to pre-pandemic levels. The impairment charge of 

was 29 basis points, still in line with our guidance.
 
The Group’s balance sheet was resilient in the face of a 

 

more than offset by continued roll-off from reversionary products. 

There was also growth in unsecured Retail lending and Motor 
Finance. The Group saw growth of over 12 per cent in assets  
under administration within Insurance, Pensions and Investments, 
including £5.1 billion of net new money. Customer deposits 
decreased £3.9 billion to £471.4 billion, although were largely 
stable in the second half of the year. Retail deposits were down 
£2.4 billion, which included an £11.3 billion reduction in Retail 
current accounts, and a £12.4 billion increase in Retail savings 
balances supported by an enhanced savings proposition and 
proactive customer communications. In Commercial Banking, 

growth in Corporate and Institutional Banking offset by  
a reduction in Small and Medium Businesses.

Delivery of our purpose-driven strategy
We have a clear strategic vision to become a customer-focused 

capitalise on new opportunities at scale. Our strategy is purpose-

and make the greatest impact in Helping Britain Prosper in a 
sustainable and inclusive way. We believe our day-to-day 

ambitions and growth are underpinned by our purpose. In that 
context, we also have particular initiatives that highlight the 
alignment of purpose and strategy.

In 2023, we launched a partnership with Crisis, the national charity 
for people experiencing homelessness. This is a hugely important 
cause for us given our business focus and unique ability to enact 
change. We have launched a cross-industry initiative to back our 
joint call for 1 million additional social and affordable homes. 
Since 2018 we have supported more than £17 billion of new 
funding to the social housing sector, including £2.7 billion in 2023. 
We are also aware of the importance of creating a fully inclusive 
organisation within our Group that is representative of modern-
day Britain. We have pledged to double the representation of 
senior colleagues with disabilities by 2025, in addition to our 

Key examples on our 
social and environmental 
progress have been 
highlighted throughout 
this report with more 
detailed information  
in our supplementary 
sustainability report .
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£5.5bn
 

up 41 per cent vs 2022

68.2pts
All-channel net promoter  
score, up 0.8 points vs 2022

£3.8bn
Total capital return including an 
ordinary dividend of 2.76 pence  
per share, up 15 per cent vs 2022

15.8%
Return on tangible equity, 
above guidance

40.1%
Women in senior roles, up  
2.4pp vs year end 2021

Our  
performance

Alternative performance measures
To supplement our statutory results, we use a 
number of alternative performance measures. 
Unless otherwise stated, commentary within the 
strategic report is given on an underlying basis. 
Further information is set out on page 67 of the 
annual report and accounts.

continued business momentum and 
good strategic progress.

21.5m
Digitally active users,  
up 9 per cent vs 2022

Group Chief Executive’s review continued

In December, I joined global businesses and policy makers at  
COP 28 to discuss how to accelerate the environmental transition. 
Reaching net zero relies on government, industry and society 
acting together with certainty, pace and focus. We are realistic 

Group’s ability to achieve the net zero ambitions to which we 
remain committed. 

 
agenda in 2023, in particular exceeding our target for £15 billion  

Banking franchise, originally set for the end of 2024. We are 
continuing to challenge ourselves and have set a new 

for 2024 to 2026, which will take the cumulative total within the 
division to £45 billion by 2026. This is alongside new emissions 

Road Passenger Transport and Agriculture lending.
 
Within our Retail business we have continued to support 
customers in reducing their emissions by growing our low carbon 
transport business through the acquisition of Tusker. We now 

We increasingly recognise the need to expand our sustainability 
strategy to broader environmental goals and have launched our 

spaces. Overall, our sustainability strategy represents a  
 

with our purpose. 

Stepping back, in the context of a fast changing external 
environment, it is clear that our purpose-driven strategy remains 
the right one. By focusing on Helping Britain Prosper we can 
deliver our strategic goals and produce higher, more sustainable 

 

business. In February 2022 we committed to £3 billion of 
incremental investment in the three years to 2024 and £4 billion  
to 2026. 

During 2023, the Group invested a further £1.3 billion as part of this 
plan and delivered tangible growth and cost outcomes that leave 

We have started to demonstrate this successful execution to the 
market with two strategic seminars last year and two further 
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Around two-thirds of our strategic investment is weighted towards 
growth and our ambition to generate c.£0.7 billion of additional 
revenues by 2024 and c.£1.5 billion by 2026. The Consumer 
business will deliver approximately 30 per cent of these 
incremental revenues and, as shown in the seminar in October, 
we are making strong progress in deepening and innovating 
within this business. We are the UK’s largest digital bank, and now 
have 21.5 million digitally active users, up 17 per cent since 2021 

customer relationships using data and insights. For example, we 
have personalised our communications to make them more 
targeted, with 18 million customers registered for marketing. We 

home onboarding journey and our home ecosystem, both of 
which are improving our retention of customers and our ability  
to offer complementary products such as protection insurance.
 
In 2023 we completed our acquisition of Tusker, a stand-out 

ultra-low emission vehicles helping us both meet our net zero 
ambitions and deliver capability and growth in an area in which 

around 60 per cent since acquisition. 
 

includes a holistic view of wealth, educational materials and 

to grow, now at more than 2.5 million customers, from just over  
2 million at the end of 2021.

From a Commercial Banking perspective we continue to 

and navigate an increasingly tough environment. Within our 
Small and Medium Businesses franchise we have made 

targeted growth in our Corporate and Institutional Banking 
business through serving additional client needs, particularly 
by extending our competitive advantage in transaction banking, 
and expanding our institutional footprint. This has helped deliver 
more than 20 per cent growth in Corporate and Institutional 
Banking underlying other income since full year 2021 as we build 

 

growing and diversifying our revenues is crucial. We have guided 
to c.£1.2 billion of gross cost savings by 2024, an increase from the 

In 2026 we are targeting a below 50 per cent cost:income ratio. 
We have made strong progress against our 2024 cost saving 
target, and have now realised around 60 per cent of the savings. 
This has been achieved through continued investment in digital 
solutions and improving cost-to-serve by, for example, reducing 

and optimising our branch footprint. This active cost 
management is helping us deliver our guided cost outcomes 

 

risk-weighted assets discipline and careful balance sheet 
management whilst pursuing new growth opportunities through 
investments in capital-lite and fee generating business. We are 
also reducing the claims on our use of capital, including for 

contributions in this triennial period.
 
We are investing in maximising the potential of people, technology 
and data, the key enablers of our strategy. Investing in the talent, 
skills and capabilities needed for long-term growth is critical. 

We have made more than 2,500 new hires in technology and  
data roles in 2023 and we have completed a senior leadership 
development programme centred around the organisational 
shifts we need in order to successfully execute our strategy. We 
are transforming our change process in the pursuit of increased 

 
we have decommissioned more than 400 legacy technology 
applications and more than doubled the number of APIs we have 
created as we continue to migrate onto cloud-based platforms. 

In conclusion, our purpose-driven strategy and strong business 
model ensures that we can continue to support customers and 
achieve our societal and strategic goals whilst delivering against 

and will thereby continue to deliver for all of our stakeholders.

Grow with purpose
Our colleagues are fundamental to the delivery of the Group’s 
growth strategy which includes our ambition to be a purpose-
driven business. 

We recognise our culture is a fundamental enabler. Throughout 
the year, we have been further embedding our purpose and 
values across the organisation, helping colleagues understand 
how our values guide not only the way we work together, but 
also how we make decisions.

In 2023, we completed a senior leadership development 
programme centred around the organisational shifts we need 
to make to Grow with Purpose. 340 leaders were brought 
together in sessions throughout the year, and immersed in our 
purpose, strategy and behaviours that we need to role model, 
setting clear expectations of our senior leadership population.

In driving the change, senior leaders are supported by a 
movement of more than 6,300 Catalysts across the business. 
These changemakers role model our values and purpose, share 
stories and drive improvements by challenging the status quo.

2024 guidance
We are progressing well towards our ambition of generating 
higher, more sustainable returns for shareholders and are on 

our current macroeconomic assumptions the Group expects: 
• Banking net interest margin of greater than 290 basis points
• Operating costs c.£9.3 billion
• Asset quality ratio of less than 30 basis points
• Return on tangible equity c.13 per cent
• Capital generation of c.175 basis points
•  

2026 guidance
Based on the expected macroeconomic environment 

its medium-term guidance for 2026:
• Cost:income ratio of less than 50 per cent
• Return on tangible equity of greater than 15 per cent
• Capital generation of greater than 200 basis points

The Board continually reviews the appropriate level of ongoing 
capital to hold. Based on regulatory, economic and business 
considerations, the Group now expects to pay down to  
c.13.0 per cent by the end of 2026.

 

 Charlie Nunn,
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Helping customers, 
colleagues and 
communities through 

Helping Britain Prosper 
We do this by creating a 
more sustainable and 
inclusive future for people 
and businesses, shaping 
finance as a force  
for good.

Our vision is to be the UK 
customer-focused digital 
leader and integrated 
financial services provider, 
capitalising on new 
opportunities, at scale.

We will achieve our vision 
through our strategic 
priorities: Grow, Focus and 
Change. Our strategy has 
been designed to transform 
the business and create 
higher, more sustainable 
growth and returns.

  Read more on pages 18 to 27

We listen and 
care for people 
as individuals.

Bold
We innovate 
and do things 
differently to 
better serve 
our customers 
and grow with 
purpose.

Inclusive
We learn about 
and embrace 
our differences, 
and seek 
out diverse 
perspectives.

Sustainable
We take 
responsibility 
for the impact 
of our actions 
on nature 
and Britain’s 
transition to  
net zero.

Trust
We give each 
other the space 
and support to 
take things on 
and see them 
through.

Our values 
They are the foundation  
of our culture and guide  
how our colleagues work  
together to deliver our  
purpose-driven strategy.

Our business model

Our strategyOur visionOur purpose

Our competitive
advantages
We have a number of distinct 
competitive strengths that 
collectively differentiate  
our proposition. 

Leading UK customer franchise  
with deep customer insight
More than 27 million customers,  
with extensive reach across the UK. 
Customer data and analysis ensures  
we can meet the needs of these
customers more effectively.
 
Dedicated colleagues with strong values
Highly engaged, customer focused, diverse 

experience.
 
Operating at scale with cost discipline

operate more effectively.

Focused and capital generative  
business model  

returning capital to shareholders. 

Unique customer proposition  
Serving all our customers’ banking, 
investment and insurance needs in  
one place through a comprehensive 
product range.

All-channel distribution focus with  
digital leadership and trusted brands 
Operating through a range of distribution 
channels ensures our customers can 
interact with us when and how they want.

Financial strength and disciplined risk 
management
Strong capital position. Continue to take a 

through the quality of our portfolio and 
underwriting criteria.
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Our structure
We have three core business divisions 
that have been structured to optimise 

our customers’ needs. 

Read more about our Group structure 
and ring-fencing arrangements on 
page 87.

Our external drivers, 
opportunities and risks
We’ve built our business and  

our external environment and to adapt 
to ever-changing stakeholder needs. 

This helps ensure the Group remains 
sustainable over the longer term and 
can manage opportunities and risks  
as they emerge.

Read more on our effective risk 
management on pages 39 to 44.

Read more about our external 
environment on pages 14 to 17.

Lloyds  
Banking  

Group plc 

• Mortgages
• Credit cards
• Personal loans
• 

Consumer  
lending

• Current accounts
• Savings accounts
• 

proposition

Consumer 
relationships

• Home, motor and  
protection insurance

• Pensions
• Investments

Insurance, pensions 
and investments

• Business loans
• Transactional  

banking
• Working capital

Small and medium 
businesses

• Lending and debt 
capital markets

• Risk management
• Cash liquidity

Corporate and 
institutional banking

Retail

Insurance, 
Pensions and 
Investments

Commercial 
Banking

Society and 
environment

Technology  
and data

Regulation

Economy

Competitors

Our trusted brands
Our products and services are made 
available to our customers through our 
trusted brands, which enables us to 
address the needs of different customer 
segments more effectively. 

We regularly review the associated opportunity and risk implications to ensure  
the right choices are being made for customers, colleagues and the Group.  

 

Customers

Read more  
about each  
unique brand.
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By focusing  
on Helping Britain  
Prosper, we aim to  
deliver sustainable  
growth and returns

Our business model continued

We are Helping Britain Prosper in a way  

We do this by continually innovating the 
products and services we offer, developing 
and investing in new solutions and using  

positive change. 

Our business model provides our customers 
 

communities in which we operate, all while 
delivering higher, more sustainable returns 
for shareholders.

over half of the UK adult population 
and around 900,000 businesses of all 
sizes, responding to the opportunities 
and challenges they are facing. 

By supporting our customers through 

products and services, it enables  
us to unlock growth and transform  
the Group.

Our success is intrinsically linked with the 
success of the UK’s regions and nations.

We are committed to helping 
communities through our support  
of regional development and our 
independent Foundations to build  
a sustainable and inclusive UK.

When local people, local businesses, and 
their communities prosper, so can we.

We are committed to building an 
inclusive and sustainable organisation 
that is truly representative of modern-
day Britain. We know that colleagues 
who can show up to work as themselves 
are central to our success.

We are focused on embedding 
sustainability in all that we do to enable 
our colleagues to deliver on our purpose.

Susstaaaiinnabbllee  
andd iinnnccluusiiivve ggroowwwwth

>£12bn
of funding to first time  
buyers in 2023

40.1%
of our senior manager roles
were held by women in 2023

£24.7m
donated to our independent  
Foundations in 2023

£15.8bn
of sustainable finance provided  
for corporate and institutional  
customers since 2022

c.85%
of colleagues are shareholders  
of the Group

£2.7bn
of funding supported to the social 
housing sector in 2023

Supporting our

Customers
Supporting our

Communities 
Supporting our

Colleagues

Our social and environmental impact
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Suuuusstttaaiinnnaaabble 

The Group’s robust financial 
performance has delivered a return  

on tangible equity that has exceeded 
our guidance and generated strong 

levels of capital, enabling higher 
returns for our shareholders.

Sustainably managing the value  
we create for all our stakeholders  

services and Help Britain Prosper for 
generations to come. 

 Charlie Nunn,

2.2m 
shareholders 

£3.8bn
returned to shareholders for 2023

 

2.76p
ordinary dividend per share

Funding, investment and expertise

Helping  
Britain 

Prosper

 Innovation, developm
ent, in

 uence

Pr
od

uc
ts,

 se
rvi

ces and solutions

Returns for 

Shareholders

We have a great opportunity 
to transform our business to 
shape finance as a force for 
good and deliver for Britain 
for generations to come.
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• Given our focus on UK customers, 
the Group’s prospects are closely 
linked to developments in the  
UK economy 

Economy

Our external environment

Market context
The UK economy saw modest but resilient performance in 2023, 
with initial estimates indicating growth of 0.1 per cent. This was 
despite a large increase in interest rates intended to prevent 

surge in global energy and food prices caused in large part by 
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Two elements were key to this 
resilience – government support to households, via an energy 
price cap, credits to energy accounts and ‘cost of living’ 
payments to lower-income households; and an unusually tight 
labour market after the pandemic, which enabled pay growth  

cent higher than 2021, and food prices broadly 30 per cent higher. 

increases reduce UK spending power by around 3 per cent. 
Government support protected households from some of the 
impact across 2022 and 2023, but this is not planned to continue 
through 2024. The reduction in living standards has been spread 
out to make it more manageable but with further impact to come. 
Also, interest rate rises to date have not yet had their full impact, 

 
at higher rates.

The UK economy in 2024 is thus expected to echo its 2023  
growth performance. GDP growth is likely to remain subdued,  
the unemployment rate is likely to continue drifting upwards  
by around 1 percentage point, and house prices are expected to 

 
to fall, returning much closer to its target level of 2 per cent than 

start reducing Bank Rate during the year. There are, of course, 

UK economic growth
% GDP growth

Weak economic growth and high interest rates in 2023 translated 
into subdued growth in our key markets. Housing transactions 
were around 14 per cent lower than normal levels, and mortgage  

balances have only partially recovered their fall during the 

increase under the government-guarantee schemes during the 
 

a second year. Financial companies’ deposits also declined, as 

‘quantitative easing’ undertaken during the pandemic. Growth  
in our markets in 2024 is expected to follow these trends, albeit 
slightly improved. 

Our response
Given our UK focus, the Group’s prospects are closely linked to  
the performance of the UK economy. Despite this, our business 
model and strategy, in particular the strength and resilience of 
our customer franchise, balance sheet and prudent approach  
to risk, position us well. 

In line with our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper and a clear 

their ambitions and growth whilst proactively providing support 
to those most affected by changes to the economic environment. 

even in a more challenging macroeconomic environment, 
improving the sustainability of returns. At the same time, we are 

on our cost base, consistent with our ongoing discipline in  
this area. 

UK housing market, 2023
% house price growth (Dec vs Dec basis)

Source: Halifax
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Commercial Banking

2024 target £15bn

£15.8

EPC A/B mortgage lending

2024 target £10bn

£7.5

Motor

2024 target £8bn

£5.7

Scottish Widows

2025 target       £20-25bn

£21.7

• Customers and clients continue to  
 

and interest rates 
• Use of digital services is high in 

broader shift to digital across 
daily life

Customers
• With complex environmental and societal 

issues, companies are expected to play an 
increased role in supporting the country  
and its people

• Our focus on Helping Britain Prosper enables 
us to deliver value for all stakeholders and 
sustainable returns for shareholders

Society and 
environment

Market context
Our customers and clients continue to be affected by the cost  
of living pressures, with higher interest rates feeding through to 

these challenges will continue to be a factor in the coming year, 
 

a higher rate environment. Customers are adapting to these 
changes and we continue to support our customers’ and  

services context, responding to customers’ underlying needs  
for convenient and personalised experiences. Customers’ 

services continues to be set by their experiences from across  
their lives. Customers’ underlying focus on good service and  

 
seen a movement from current accounts to higher yielding  
term deposits as customers seek greater returns. 

Our response
We continue to support our customers enabling them to invest 
and grow. We have proactively contacted 7.5 million customers 
most in need of support since April 2022. We have also contacted 
more than 15 million savings customers to inform them about 
their savings options. We have also innovated our product 
offering with limited withdrawal products, which balances 

funds should they need it. Given our market presence and the 

and our Your Credit Score feature has seen 3.2 million new 
customers, to reach 8.8 million customers registered. 

Our strategy seeks to respond to customers’ growing digital 
preferences and maintain our position as the UK’s largest digital 
bank, serving our 21.5 million digital active users. Recognising the 
importance of customer engagement and satisfaction, we will 
trial new branch formats (such as kiosks) during the coming  

continue to serve our customers. Furthermore, we have made 

Market context
The UK economic environment has implications on society and 
people’s lives, including the ability to access quality housing amid 
rising rates and living costs. To deliver across diverse stakeholder 
needs, it remains critical for organisations to be representative of 
modern-day Britain, and create an inclusive environment. Alongside, 
the UK continues to focus on climate change and the integrated 
approach to sustainability, moving beyond climate and recognising 
the importance of nature and biodiversity. There is continued 
regulatory focus on the impact of climate risk, demonstrating 
progress through understandable, relevant and reliable 
sustainability disclosures. 

Our response
Creating an inclusive and sustainable future is core to our purpose 
of Helping Britain Prosper. Building on our scale and position in 

to make a meaningful and positive difference for our stakeholders 

our shareholders. We are focused on supporting our customers in 

strengthening the growth in our customer propositions. Given our  
UK housing market presence, we have the capabilities and external 
relationships to drive positive change and support the growth in 
delivering sustainable quality housing. 

Our success is dependent on our colleagues and how we represent 
communities we serve. Continued progress against our diversity 
targets allows us to create more inclusive products, services and 

purpose. We have set three new targets for our agriculture, 
commercial and residential real estate and road passenger 
transport portfolios, complementing our existing sector targets to 
better assess the risk to our business. We are actively working with 
clients through our new credible transition plan initiative and have 

support our growth in sustainable lending. 

Sustainable lending and investment targets 
£bn of lending and investments 

savings customers contacted to  
inform them about their savings options
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40
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Our external environment continued

Market context
New technologies enable changes to the business models and 

and challenges for banks. Customers and clients are able to 

within them, with new technology intermediaries such as 
payments providers connecting these customer interfaces  
with banking providers. 

 
rapid pace over the year and has seen rising prominence.  
Firms across industries are seeking to deploy GenAI to realise 
potential customer experience improvements and productivity 

services, for example through new types of customer fraud. 

In the longer term, technologies such as tokenisation and 
distributed ledgers could reshape the core activities of banks, 
including activities in storing and transferring value. These 
technologies are beginning to see greater use within the  

central banks, continues to explore development of a digital 

• New technologies enable improvement to 

infrastructure 
•  

is rapidly advancing and is beginning 
to be deployed across a range of use cases

• The need to modernise our technology 
remains important to reduce cost, increase 
agility and get the full customer and 

Technology 
and data

Customers using the digital channel  
% volume of simple products  
originated digitally

Our response
We are investing in our consumer mobile app and will launch 
an enhanced version in 2024. This will provide improved customer 
experience with interactive tools, personalised insights and 
conversational prompts. We continue to develop value adding 
services around our core strengths. For example, our home 
ecosystem has seen strong customer usage and we are targeting 
10 per cent growth in active users as we continue to build out 
functionality. In parallel, in responding to the changing ways  
in which our products reach our customers, we will launch an 
embedded lending proposition in partnership with NewDay. We 
continue our multi-year journey to build a front-to-back digital 

enhanced app functionality.

We continue to invest in the technology transformation of our 
business to fully realise the value of our customer data assets  
and improve organisational agility. For example, since full year 
2021, we have decommissioned more than 10 per cent of legacy 
applications. Continued investment has realised business and 

messaging service more than doubling to 6 million. Further, as 
 

as it explores the development of digital currencies. 

Change in channel usage versus 2018 
Average visits per user (%)1

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

150

100

50

0

Digital Branch
1     First part of 2021 includes effects of national lockdown.

67%

143%
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Market context

new technologies and customer adoption of digital has supported 
the development of new competitors and business models in recent 
years. Competition with traditional incumbent banks remains high. 

and current account switching as customers and clients seek better 
returns, and mortgages competition remains elevated given the 
smaller market. 

small business clients, continue to broaden their propositions and 
scale across markets, including international banks growing their  
UK presence. 

The growth in digital platforms presents new opportunities for 

journeys, spanning both consumer and business segments. 
Regulations such as Open Banking are enabling new providers, 

 
their own digital services, providing customers with convenience 
and new distribution channels.

Our response
We continue to invest to deepen and innovate in Consumer,  
with 21.5 million digitally active users and strong participation in 
intermediary led markets. Our strong foundations of customer 
relationships, combined with innovation, enable us to meet a 
broader range of customer needs, in particular growing in higher 

example, during the year we launched ready-made investments 

investments. We have evolved our products and pricing in deposits, 
resulting in more customers trusting us with their savings and 
balances increasing in the year. 

 
our business front-to-back. For example, we have launched a 

companies that has reduced account opening time by up to  
15 times. Furthermore, new payments solutions have supported 
more than 20 per cent growth in new merchant services clients. 

Disciplined sector focus and enhancements to our Corporate and 
Institutional business’ Lending, Transaction Banking and Markets 
propositions have strengthened our competitive positioning and  
we have grown underlying other income by more than 20 per cent 
since full year 2021. We are focused on connecting our clients to 
wider Group solutions, such as workplace pensions and transport. 
For example, the acquisition of Tusker has allowed us to extend our 

Market context

continued regulatory reform anticipated in 2024. 
Customer treatment: Fair treatment of customers remains a 
priority for the FCA, and the introduction of Consumer Duty in 2023 
requires an outcomes focused approach to prioritise customers’ 
needs. We’re also continuing to liaise closely with the FCA and 
Financial Ombudsman Service (FOS) on historic motor 
commission arrangements. 
Capital regulation:

with the remaining rules to be published in 2024; these will lead 

CRD IV models also remain subject to further development and 
PRA approval.
Payments and technology: The HM Treasury commissioned 
‘Future of Payments Review’ was published in November 2023, 
making several recommendations including a national strategy 
for the future of payments to be published in 2024. 
ESG: We continue to enhance our sustainability reporting in 
line with the FCA listing rules and Companies Act requirements. 
Our 2023 progress is highlighted on pages 30 to 38, as well as 

on page 46.
Ring-fencing: The Government has proposed changes to the 

ring-fencing and proprietary trading independent review. 
HMT’s Smarter Regulatory Framework: In July 2023, HM Treasury 
published its delivery plan, prioritising a number of reforms 
including Solvency II, Securitisation and Prospectus Regulations; 
many of these form part of the Government package of  

Other: A number of other initiatives are in progress or expected 
which seek to address, amongst other things: access to cash, 
capital markets reforms, the boundary between advice and 

Our response
As a Group we always seek to comply with all applicable
regulation and engage with regulators on all aspects to  
improve outcomes. Given the Group’s customer-focused, 
sustainable and low risk business model, it is well placed  
to meet these requirements. 

• We operate in evolving, competitive  
markets across our business units

• The interest rate environment is  
changing competitive dynamics

• New peers are broadening propositions  
and expanding across geographies

• The UK financial services sector 
is expected to remain highly 
regulated

•  New regulation and market 
reviews continue to be issued, 
with further regulatory changes 
anticipated

Competitors Regulation
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Our strategy

Grow Focus

Highlights

priority areas, with c.£0.5 billion of 
additional growth revenues already 
delivered

Highlights

environment, with c.£0.7 billion of gross  
cost savings to date

For Helping Britain Prosper

access to quality housing across the country, drive regional 

businesses, and navigate the UK’s transition to a more  
sustainable future.  

For the Group
Growth is a core focus of our strategy. Around two thirds of  
our £3 billion strategic investment over 2022 to 2024 is aligned  
to growing and diversifying revenue. We have prioritised 
opportunities across each of our businesses to ensure we 
generate value in the near term as well as creating new  
revenue streams which deliver over the longer term. 

For Helping Britain Prosper
Deploying our funds in a way which is sustainable in the long term, 
helping customers and clients become more resilient and 
minimising our carbon footprint helps us achieve a disciplined 
approach to cost and capital management. 

For the Group
As we invest to grow and diversify our revenue, it is essential to 
maintain our disciplined cost management approach. Capital 

sheet with a disciplined risk approach. 

What this means... What this means...

We have three strategic priorities which will enable us to deliver our vision of being 
the UK customer-focused digital leader and integrated financial services provider, 
capitalising on new opportunities, at scale

c.£1.5bn
additional revenues by 2026  
(c.£0.7bn by 2024)

c.£1.2bn
gross cost savings by 2024

 Read more on pages 20 to 23  Read more on pages 24 and 25
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Highlights
Technology and data transformation to 
improve agility and accelerate the pace of 
change to unlock the potential of our people

For Helping Britain Prosper
Improving the ways we use digital technology and our data  
enables us to drive better outcomes for our customers or provide 
targeted support when they might be falling into problems.  
We  are committed to creating an inclusive environment for 
our people, representative of modern-day Britain, so that we 
can deliver for the communities in which we operate.  

For the Group
Delivering this strategy requires the Group to accelerate the pace  
at which it uses digital technologies and data to support customers. 
We seek to emulate our success in building the largest UK Retail  
digital bank on a larger scale across the Group. 

What this means...

In 2024

c.13% RoTE
• c.£0.7bn additional revenues 

from strategic initiatives

• c.£9.3bn operating costs

• c.175bps capital generation

Change Higher,  
more  
sustainable,  
returns 
and capital 
generation

>15%
reduction in legacy 
applications by end 2024

Our strategic outcomes create 
value for our stakeholders and 

performance

>30%
 

by end 2024

By 2026

>15% RoTE
• c.£1.5bn additional revenues 

from strategic initiatives

• <50% cost:income ratio

• >200bps capital generation

 Read more on pages 26 and 27
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Our strategy continued

Growth is a core focus of our strategy.  
Around two thirds of our £3 billion strategic 
investment over 2022 to 2024 is aligned to 
growing and diversifying revenue.  
 
There are four primary pillars of growth  
being developed:  
1.  Deepen and innovate in Consumer 
2.  Create a new mass affluent offering  
3.  Digitise and diversify our SME business 
4.  Develop our Corporate and Institutional business

11. DDDeeeepppeen aanndd  
iinnnnovvaaatte iinn CCooonnsuuummmeer 
We aim to deepen and innovate in Consumer to bring more  
of our products and services to our existing customers, as well 
as broaden our product offerings and make it easier for 
customers to access them through our intermediary partners.

Progress in 2023
• We remain the UK’s largest digital bank and in 2023 grew our 

digitally active users to 21.5 million. The Group’s market 
leading1 mobile app has seen interactions with the mobile 
messaging service more than double to over 6 million. Banking 
on the go is now even easier as customers can open a new 
account in the app and use innovative features such as chip 
based passport scanning to open their account more easily

• We have enhanced our mortgage customer journey, including 
mobile-first onboarding, enabling customers to more easily 
navigate the mortgage journey through a seamless digital 
experience. We continued to make strong progress towards  
our sustainability targets, including £7.5 billion of sustainable 
mortgage lending since 2022

• Following roll-out of a new tool for advisors, we have seen  
a 5 percentage point increase in our protection proposition 
take-up rate by our new mortgage customers in branch

• We have been transforming customer affordability through 
Your Credit Score, offering easy access to credit scores, 
education on ways to improve scores, providing different 

likelihood messaging. In 2023, 3.2 million new users registered, 
bringing us to over 8.8 million in total and facilitated an 
improvement to other journeys which resulted in a  
10 percentage point increase in loans conversion rate2

• We completed our acquisition of Tusker, a leading ultra-low 

our proposition and support the Group’s net zero ambitions. 
Tusker’s fleet has grown around 60 per cent since acquisition, 
contributing to our overall £5.7 billion financing and leasing  
for battery electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles since 2022

• Our workplace pensions business saw strong new scheme 

contributions, driving around £5 billion of net assets under 
administration flows in the year

Grow
2024 implementation
• As part of our strategy for embedded finance, we will launch  

a proposition in partnership with NewDay. Our innovative 
e-commerce instalment lending product is a unique dual 
lending solution, which will mean that a very large proportion  
of a merchant’s customer base will be eligible for credit

• We will further develop and extend our Home ecosystem 
offering to more customers as we target growing the active 
user base by around 10 per cent through 2024

• We will launch our enhanced mobile app to offer our customers 
dynamic and contextualised navigation spaces, interactive 
tools, personalised insights and conversation prompts

• We will trial new branch formats, such as kiosks, as we plan  

communities we serve, keeping customer engagement  
and satisfaction front of mindSelected 2024 outcomes

>5% 
Increase in depth of 
relationship3 through 
meeting more needs of 
existing customers

£8bn 
Financing and leasing for 
electric vehicles and plug-in 
hybrid electric vehicles

1 Comparison to high street banks, based on the November 2023 Financial 

2 Increase in loans conversion following sharing of income and expenditure data.
3 Product holdings across brands for franchise customers with active relationship.
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Read more  
on how we’re 
committed to 
supporting the social 
housing sector and 
ending homelessness.

Read more 

Read more 
on our progress 
towards our 
sustainability 
ambitions.

c.45% 
of RMI customers are under 
the age of 35

We launched Ready Made Investments 
(RMI), a new proposition offering our 
customers simple and affordable 
investments through Embark, an 
investment platform, which we acquired 
in 2022. This year has seen our mass 

than 2.5 million. RMI helps our customers 
save for the future and supports our 
growth ambitions in this segment.

Driven by organic growth  
and the acquisition of Tusker,  

 
1 in 8 ultra-low emission 
vehicles on UK roads. 
This supports the Group’s 
ambition to grow its Motor 
business and supports 
the transition to net zero 
transport.

>£17bn 
of funding supported to the  
social housing sector since 2018

In 2023, we have supported over  
340 housing associations and £2.7 billion
of new funding to the social housing 
sector, of which £1.4 billion is sustainability-
linked. Our support for this sector 
drives future growth for the Group and 
improves access to quality housing.

£5.7bn
lending to electric vehicles 
and plug-in hybrid electric  
vehicles since 2022

 Grow: our purpose in action
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Our strategy continued

1 Includes existing customers who have recently attained the >£75k threshold. 
Balances include lending and deposits, excluding Motor.

2 In line with the Sustainable Financing Framework.

bond facilitation; in line with the Sustainable Financing Framework. New 
cumulative to 2024.

22. CCreeaaatte aa nnnewww mmaaassss 

 
in this attractive and underserved market segment across 
banking, protection and investments.

Progress in 2023
• Growth in our mass affluent customer base to over 2.5 million1

• Banking balances1

criteria have grown by around 10 per cent since 2021 as we 
continued building our integrated and digitally led banking, 
insurance and investments propositions

• In September we launched Lloyds Bank 360 to an initial group 
of 50,000 customers

coaching. These can offer clarity and support around various 
products and services to help customers to get the most from 
their money

• We launched ready-made investments
makes it easier for customers who want to start investing, with 
affordable options and simple terminology designed for those 
with little or no investment experience. Around 45 per cent of 
the customers we have helped start their investment journey 
are younger than 35, with 50 per cent making regular 
contributions

2024 implementation
• Our Lloyds Bank 360 proposition will be extended across mass 

plan, including goals functionality within the app
• We will continue to expand and enhance our product offerings, 

including the scale-up of digital advice for ready-made 
investments

Selected 2024 outcomes

>£5bn 
Incremental total banking 
balances1

increasing to between  
£10 billion and £15 billion  
by 2026

 

>£7bn 
investment proposition 
increasing to £25 billion  
by 2026

Grow
continued
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44.. DDevveeellopp ooourr CCorrrppporratte 
aanndd Innsssttituutttiionnnaal bbbuuusiineessss
We are developing our Corporate and Institutional  
business to deliver disciplined growth.

Progress in 2023
• We continued to be a leading provider of sustainable 

financing2 , supporting clients’ net zero journeys and reducing 

2 commitment one year early. We have 
supported the UK’s transition to net zero with continued 

to infrastructure projects across the UK, including wind farms, 
solar panels, and investments in new technologies

• debt capital markets capabilities, 
outperforming the market in key product lines across our main 

and ranked third in sustainable bond issuance
• We saw similar strength in our financial markets business, with 

executed volumes since 2021, well above market growth, and 

our volumes grew above the market and in GBP interest rate 
swaps we improved our ranking

• We have grown underlying other income by more than 
20 per cent since full year 2021

2024 implementation
•  To support our strategy of deepening client relationships, we 

are developing our capabilities to gain market share. This is 
being supported by a redesign of our markets architecture, 
broadening our proposition across Rates, FX and Repo. This 
will enable us to deliver a wider range of solutions to meet a 
greater proportion of our clients’ risk management needs

• We will continue to support our clients as they transition to net 
zero. After achieving our 2024 target one year early, we have set 
a new target to provide a further £30 billion of sustainable 

2 over the next three years. We are increasingly 
recognised as a leader in this space, supporting our clients’ 
journeys to becoming more sustainable businesses

Selected 2024 outcomes

£15bn 
3 

Top 5 
GBP interest rate swaps 
ranking; deepen FX  
share of wallet

33. DDigiitttisse aanndd ddiiveeerrrsiiffyy 
oouurr SMMMMEE buuussinneesss
We aim to digitise and diversify our SME business,  
growing revenues in products and sectors where we  
have lower market share today. 

Progress in 2023
• 

to build a front-to-back digital franchise. In 2023 we launched  
a new mobile-first business current account onboarding 
journey for sole traders and limited companies along 

Our transformed customer experience has increased levels 
of automation with account opening times reducing by  
up to 15 times

• We exceeded our target of 20 per cent growth in new merchant 
services clients, supported by a new point-of-sale card 
payments solution for micro businesses integrated into the 
onboarding journey, enabling clients to transact more quickly

• Our digital capability strengthened with the launch of a new 
digital invoice finance platform, digitisation of our asset 
finance  and improved mobile payment functionality. 
These enhance customer experiences, support our product 
development plans and reduce risk

• We continue to enhance our digital servicing capabilities, 
including moving more than 600,000 accounts to paperless 
statements, with an annual reduction of 6 million letters, and 

2024 implementation
• The momentum on digitising the onboarding journey will 

ensuring most customers are onboarded in two working days 
or less

• We will launch a new omni-channel merchant services 
payment solution, leveraging our existing partnerships. We will 
also extend the roll out of our innovative card terminals which 

business through integrated software apps
• We will further improve customer experience through 

enhancements to day-to-day servicing, including more 
self-serve journeys and improved app functionality

Selected 2024 outcomes

>50%
>15% 
Income growth in mid-sized 
SME transaction banking  
and working capital 

20% p.a. 
Growth in new  
merchant services 
clients

Financial results
Risk m

anagem
ent

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents
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Our strategy continued

Progress in 2023
• 

rationalisation alongside our continued investment in digital 
propositions. These have increased the number of customers 
served per distribution FTE by over 10 per cent since end 2021

• Cost discipline has been a key strength for the Group and 
remains a key focus in enabling capacity for investment in 

Around 60 per cent of our 2024 gross cost savings target has 
been realised 

• We agreed the triennial pensions review with the trustee, 

we have made
• In line with our focus on capital efficiency, we achieved 

risk-weighted asset reductions of more than £7 billion 
through optimisation initiatives, helping mitigate increases 
in risk-weighted assets from business growth and regulatory 
change, and delivering capital generation

As we invest to grow and diversify our 
revenue, it is essential to maintain our 
disciplined cost management approach.  
We will also look to further improve capital 

sheet with a disciplined risk approach, 
pursuing growth in capital-lite, fee generating 
businesses and generating capital.

Focus
2024 implementation
• Our disciplined approach  

will remain unchanged as we focus on generating further 

the necessary capacity for investment
• We will continue to invest in technology to deliver improvements 

in our self-service capabilities and 
digitisation

• Our office footprint will further reduce in 2024 as we transform 
our workplaces by modernising our estate and embracing 
hybrid ways of working

• Our capital efficiency will be supported by our growth 
initiatives in capital-lite, fee generating businesses, as we 
optimise and recycle risk-weighted assets into higher returning 
businesses and sustain capital generation

Selected 2024 outcomes

>10% 
Increase in customers  
served per distribution FTE 

>30%
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48%
reduction in emissions  
intensity by 2030 for 
our CRRE portfolio

We are working with our 
customers to move forward 
together towards the UK’s net 
zero commitment. In 2023, we 

emissions targets for our 
road passenger transport, 
commercial and residential 

our agriculture portfolios. 
This supports the Group and 
the UK with the transition, 
mitigating against potential 
loss of value for the Group. 

Read more 
on how we’re making sure that the
places we work in are good not only
for our people but also to the planet.

Read more  
on how we’re 
supporting the UK 
to make homes 
more energy 

NIL

We have introduced three new operational
climate pledges which are committing us
to be zero waste and water neutral by 2030
and to bring nature closer to our people
and places, taking action to help achieve
nature positive operations. This creates
good places to work for our colleagues
whilst reducing our impact and associated
running costs.

At the end of 2019, our triennial valuation showed 

have made pension contributions of more than 

2023. Our capital generation will no longer 
be impacted by pension contributions in this 
triennial period. It also helps protect the pension 
savings of our current and former colleagues.

 Focus: our purpose in action
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Our strategy continued

Delivering our strategy requires the Group 
to accelerate the pace at which we use 
digital technologies and data to support 
customers. Our colleagues’ expertise and 
skills are instrumental to our success. It is 
our people who offer the most distinctive 
customer experience, will innovate, take 
thoughtful risk and enable change at  
greater pace, delivering for our customers.

TTeeeecchhnnnooloooggyyy &&&& ddaataaa 
Progress in 2023
• We continued to progressively transform or improve our 

technology stack, with more than 10 per cent of our legacy 
technology applications decommissioned since 2021

• We delivered an internal API marketplace and a suite of 
contemporary API products, increasing reuse and 

• Interactions with our enhanced in-app mobile messaging 
increased to over 6 million, more than double the prior year

2024 implementation
• We will continue to modernise our technology estate and drive 

technology change savings in line with our ambitious targets
• Operating model enhancements will enable greater agile 

technology delivery to accelerate the pace of change
• Lloyds Technology Centre in India  

will also accelerate transformation and enhance digital 
experiences

Change
Selected 2024 outcomes

20% 
Applications on cloud 
(private and public)

15%
Gross reduction in run and 
change technology costs

PPPeeeooppleee 
Progress in 2023
• We have made more than 2,500 new hires in technology and 

data roles in 2023 and we have completed a senior leadership 
development programme centred around the organisational 
shifts we need in order to successfully execute our strategy

• We set a new ambitious goal to double the representation  
of senior colleagues with disabilities by 2025 

• We rolled out a catalyst programme to more than 6,300 
colleagues to inspire others to think and act differently, unblock 
problems, and ignite change while role modelling our purpose 
and values

2024 implementation
• 

around half of colleagues in transformed workplaces by the 
end of 2024 as part of our compelling proposition for top talent

• We are committed to building a fully inclusive environment 

towards our targets, including 50 per cent women, 13 per cent 

Heritage representation at senior management levels by 2025

Selected 2024 outcomes

Improve 
Employee engagement index
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Read more 
on how the Group is 
creating a more 
inclusive environment 
for all our colleagues, 
customers and 
communities. 

Transforming the diversity, equity 
and inclusion of our business 
enables the Group to develop more 
inclusive and accessible products 
and develop strategies to support 
minority or disadvantaged 
business owners. This year we 
engaged more than 5,000 Black 
entrepreneurs and launched the 
‘Black in Business’ initiative with 
Channel 4 alongside embracing 
our digital opportunities to tailor 
our products to meet customer 
needs. A more inclusive society  
is a more prosperous society,  
and a diverse business is a  
better business.

8.8 million customers have signed up to Your 
Credit Score, a free service helping customers 
to improve their creditworthiness and over  
6 million unwanted subscriptions have been 
managed by our customers through our mobile 
app functionality, further helping with 
household budgeting. This drives better 
outcomes for both our customers and the 
Group as we continue to enhance our 
technology and data capabilities. 

Our catalysts role model our values 
and purpose and drive improvements 
by challenging the status quo. They 
have helped our leaders unblock 
issues that get in the way of how  
we work, whilst instilling a growth 
mindset as we transform the 
business. The Group will benefit from 
this investment in our people, and 
allow us to grow with purpose. 

>5,000 
Black entrepreneurs engaged

8.8m
customers signed up  
to Your Credit Score

 

>6,300
catalysts
 

 Change: our purpose in action
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Progress and performance

Key performance indicators evidencing 
performance against the Group’s most 
important priorities

performance and balancing the interests of various stakeholders 
including customers, shareholders and colleagues.

To ensure colleagues act in the best interests of customers and 
shareholders, variable remuneration at all levels across the Group 
is aligned to these priorities and takes into account the Group’s 

management controls. Within this year’s report we have updated 

Finaannnncciaalll
R

an exceptional charge given the IFRS 17 accounting change.

Total ordinary dividend of 2.76 pence per share, up 15 per cent, 

Ordinary dividend
p per share

absorbing regulatory headwinds and the acquisition of Tusker, 

Common equity tier 1 ratio (CET1)
%
 

Total in-year shareholder return was 10.9 per cent. The share price 
was 5.1 per cent higher with capital return of 5.8 per cent.

Total shareholder return
%

Net income higher than 2022 with higher net interest income and 
underlying other income, partially offset by an increased charge 
for operating lease depreciation.

Net income 
£m

A

 
a lower impairment charge partly offset by higher operating  
costs and remediation.

£m A

R

2024 guidance: Return on tangible equity of c.13 per cent.

A

Operating costs increased, in line with guidance, given planned 

2024 guidance: Operating costs of c.£9.3 billion.

Operating costs 
£m

R A

R

R A
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We are here 2025 ambition2021 baseline

11.3 13

We are here 2025 ambition2021 baseline 

1.7 3

We are here 2025 ambition2021 baseline

40.1 50

We are here2025 ambition2023 baseline

12.412

Disability representation in senior roles by 2025
Progress (%)

Women in senior roles by 2025
Progress (%)

digital users increased in the year to 21.5 million, up 9 per cent 
year on year. Within this we had 18.7 million app users which is 
a 12 per cent increase from last year. 

Digitally active users
m

In 2023, 86 per cent of GCD measures achieved target, supported 
by ongoing strong performance relative to peers. Continued focus 
is required to maintain strong customer performance and to 
further improve scores in the context of our growth strategy.

Group customer dashboard (GCD)
% of customer experience metrics 
achieving target (November YTD)

Our all-channel net promoter score measures the customer 
perception of day-to-day service across our channels, seeing 
strong performance and improvement on previous year.

Customer satisfaction
All-channel net promoter score

We always want to provide our customers with the best possible 
service and our colleagues work tirelessly to understand the 
concerns of those who contact us. H2 2023 data not available 
at time of publishing.

Customer complaints
FCA reportable complaints  
per 1,000 accounts

page 30. Despite this our in-year advocacy measure is moving 
in a positive direction.

Employee engagement index
% favourable

Customers Colleagues

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic representation 
in senior roles by 2025
Progress (%)

Black Heritage representation in senior roles by 2025
Progress (%)

See our progress against our  
climate aspirations on pages 33 to 38

have not been restated.
2 From 2021, to aid comparability with peers, we began reporting return on 

tangible equity without adding back post-tax amortisation of intangible 
assets. Pre-2021 comparatives have been restated.

Insurance business in the subsequent quarter and the full impact of the 
declared share buyback.

4 Re-stated to reflect structural changes to our measurement programme.

6 Change in measurement approach, so comparison to prior years is not 
like-for-like.

R   Key performance indicators that are directly linked to  
our remuneration balanced scorecard and long term share 
plan are marked with this symbol. See pages 108 to 132. 

A   We use a number of alternative performance measures  

position. These measures are labelled with this symbol.  
See page 67.

R

R

R

R
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Progress and performance continued

We will continue to support our 
colleagues and create a fully inclusive 
organisation that is representative of 
modern-day Britain, where differences 
are embraced, and everyone can reach 
their potential. Getting this right is at 
the heart of our purpose of Helping 
Britain Prosper.

This section provides an overview of key performance 
measures for colleagues and progress within the year.

Colleague engagement
The Group understands that listening is a two-way process, so  
each year we ask colleagues to share their views via our colleague 
surveys. In 2023, we continued to capture a more regular and 
complete picture of sentiment. 

Our regular pulse surveys, which focus on timely topics, gave us 
insights into the processes and bureaucracy that hamper effective 
working, and also sentiment around change. In May we heard from 

Our annual autumn survey was completed by 81 per cent of the 
colleagues and gave us a complete view on our progress with 
purpose, strategy and culture. Despite engagement declining by 

arrangements, our in-year advocacy measure (employee net 
promoter score) is moving in a positive direction. Additionally, 
perceptions of our line managers remain strong and the cultural 
changes we had made have been received positively by colleagues. 

During the year the Group communicated directly with colleagues 
detailing Group performance, changes in the economic and 

Meetings were held throughout the year between the Group and our 
recognised unions. Please see page 82 for further examples of how 
the Board engages with the Group’s workforce and why the Board 
considers those arrangements to be effective.

For 2023, the Remuneration Committee approved Group 
Performance Share awards for colleagues, and colleagues are 
eligible to participate in HMRC-approved share plans which promote 
share ownership by giving employees an opportunity to invest in 
Group shares. The vast majority of our colleagues hold shares  
in the Group.

40.1%
women in senior roles by the end of 2023
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Diversity, equity and inclusion 
The Group aims to create a more inclusive future for our 
customers, colleagues and communities. We will continue 
to create a fully inclusive organisation that is representative 
of modern-day Britain, where differences are embraced, 
and everyone can reach their potential. We remain committed 
to driving this vital work forward and ensure we are a business 

Helping Britain Prosper.

which brings to life our Group values and how inclusion is central 
to creating conditions for success and increased productivity. 
We know that raising awareness and education are the key levers 
which will help us unlock future progress. Our colleagues have 
now completed mandatory training promoting how to create an 
inclusive workplace and around 2,500 colleague Mental Health 

Our focus on diversity, equity and inclusion is a source of
pride for our colleagues with a large participation of colleagues
as members of one or more of our colleague diversity

engagement survey results, where 76 per cent of colleagues 
agreed that the Group is an inclusive place to work.

Flexibility Works is an important part of our transformation,  
as we strive to create a place where people love to work and  
feel supported in the moments that matter, while ensuring  
we are set up in the right way to meet the needs of our customers. 

bank holidays, compressed working, hybrid working, and  
reduced hours.

We also provide support for families of different shapes and sizes, 
through paid family leave, foster carers leave and support during 
extremely challenging times for colleagues such as fertility, 

approach helps colleagues who need ongoing support either 
for their own health or as a carer to a family member.

Gender diversity
We have seen an increase in women in senior roles to 40.1 per cent 
during 2023, showing progress towards meeting our 2025 
ambition of 50 per cent. We set our ambition to achieve gender 
diversity in our senior leadership knowing it was stretching and 
ambitious. We recognise that the journey will be challenging and 
we may not reach total parity by 2025, but we remain focused on 
actions that support this ambition and which will help us achieve 
this as soon as we can.

We continue to publish our Gender Pay Gap annually. Continued 
progress has been made in closing the Gender Pay Gap, with the 
gap reducing by 2.6 per cent to 26.7 per cent (April 2022 to 
April 2023), the largest improvement since we started reporting. 

Leaders Review and have exceeded their target to have at least 
40 per cent women on boards and in leadership teams. In 2023, 
we are compliant with the FCA Listing Rule 9.8.6R(10) and (11). 

Further information on the diversity of our Board  
can be found on page 73 of this report.

Ethnic diversity
In 2023 we have shown progress towards meeting our goals of 

colleagues to 13 per cent, and Black representation in senior 
roles to at least 3 per cent by 2025. In 2023, we have increased 

in senior roles from 10.2 to 11.3 per cent and the representation of 
Black Heritage colleagues in senior roles from 1.4 to 1.7 per cent. 
The Board continues to meet the Parker Review recommendation 

Our Race Action Plan, launched in 2020 to drive recruitment,
progression and cultural change across the Group, continues  
to drive focus. As part of this plan, we also work beyond our own 
internal boundaries by actively supporting Black Heritage 
communities through our partnerships with Foundervine and the 
Black Business Network. As a Group we have continued to meet 

race advisory panel continues to play a critical role in helping us 
to shape our initiatives.

More information on our Race Action Plan progress can be found 
on page 63 of the 2023 sustainability report .

Disability
Our aim is for the Group to be a leader in disability inclusion  
and to create an inclusive and accessible working environment 
in which all colleagues have access to a psychologically safe 
environment and equal opportunities, and where everyone is 
supported to reach their full potential. 

In April 2023, we committed to doubling the number of 
colleagues with disabilities in senior management roles by 2025.

colleagues sharing their disability data with us. We believe the 
announcement of our goal has played a key role in this, raising 
awareness and encouraging colleagues to share their disability 
data with us. 
 
At the time of setting our goal, 6 per cent of our senior 
management colleagues had shared that they had a disability, 
making our ambition to double representation feel like the  

management colleagues had shared their disability, meaning 
that we have achieved our representation of senior colleagues 
with disabilities goal earlier than anticipated. We will continue to 
encourage our colleagues with disabilities and neurodiverse 
conditions to share their data with us across the course of 2024, 
helping us to build a true picture of the diversity of colleagues 
within our organisation, whilst continuing to strive for greater 
representation.

We are proud to be recognised as an inclusive employer for 
people with disabilities. The Group continues to hold the Business 
Disability Forum Gold Standard, in addition to being recognised 

and workplace adjustments for colleagues with disabilities, in 
addition to opportunities to join our colleague network, Access. 

Sexual orientation and gender identity 
We continue to focus on building an inclusive and open working 
environment for our LGBTQ+ colleagues. Our LGBTQ+ colleague 
network, Rainbow, continues to play a pivotal role in our 
approach to supporting our LGBTQ+ colleagues.

Further details can  
be found in our 
sustainability report  
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Our 2023 inclusion and diversity performance

1 Data is collated and reported in compliance with the provisions of section 
414C(8)(c) Companies Act 2006 and Listing Rule 9.8.6R(10) and (11). 
Further information on our Board diversity is available on page 73

2 In the current year there is no reported data for the categories of Black/
African/Caribbean/Black British, Mixed/Multiple/Other ethnic groups including 

3 In the current year there is no reported data for the categories of Mixed/
Multiple ethnic groups, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British, Other ethnic 

the 2023 Annual Responsible Business Reporting. Deloitte’s 2023 assurance 
statement and the sustainability metrics basis of reporting 2023 are available  
online at our downloads  

NR Data point not reported for period

Methodology and definitions: 
• Data is sourced from the HR system (Workday) containing all permanent 

colleague details
• All data as at 31 December 2023
• All diversity information for ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation and gender 

identity is based on voluntary self-declaration by colleagues. Our systems do 
not record diversity data of colleagues who have not declared this 
information and is for UK payroll only

• Gender data includes international, those on parental/maternity leave, 
absent without leave and long-term sick and excludes contractors, 
temporary and agency staff

• LGBT+ includes ‘Asexual/Ace Spectrum, Bisexual/Bi, Gay Man, Lesbian/Gay 
Woman, Pansexual, Other Sexual Orientation and includes Transexual

in strategic, cross-business or Group-wide matters and inputs to the Board. 

support roles (personal assistant, executive assistant)
• 

administrative or executive support roles (personal assistant, 
executive assistant)

• A colleague is an individual who is paid via the Group’s payroll and employed 

Includes parental leavers and internationals (UK includes Guernsey, Isle of 

contractors, temps and agency staff
• Diversity calculations are based on headcount, not full-time employee value. 

 
Number 

2023
%

2023
%

2022

Gender1

Board members4 Men 6 54.5 54.5
Women 5 45.5 45.5

Senior positions on the Board4 Men 3 75.0 NR
Women 1 25.0 NR

4 Men 8 53.3 53.3
Women 7 46.7 46.7
Men 71 53.8 58.3
Women 61 46.2 41.7

Senior managers Men 4,801 59.9 60.6
Women 3,216 39.4

All colleagues Men 29,957 43.7 42.7
Women 38,550 56.3 57.3

Ethnicity1
Board members ethnicity 2,4

White British or other White 9 81.8 81.8
Asian Heritage background 1 9.1 9.1
Other ethnic group 1 9.1 9.1

Senior positions on the Board ethnicity4

White British or other White 4 100.0 NR

GEC ethnicity 3,4

White British or other White 13 86.7 93.3
Asian Heritage background 2 13.3 6.7

Colleague ethnicity

890 10.2
Senior managers from a Black Heritage background 135 1.4

10,362 15.3 13.4

 

Disability
Colleagues who disclose that they have a disability 8,183 12.2 6.5
Senior managers who disclose that they have a disability 981 12.4 NR

 
Sexual 
orientation and 
gender identity

Colleagues who disclose their sexual orientation 49,085 72.9 68.6
Colleagues who disclose that they are LGBT+  2,431 3.6 NR
Colleagues who disclose their gender identity 40,915 60.7 49.6

CCooolleeaagguueess continued

Progress and performance continued
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Creating a sustainable future is core to 
our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper. 
Guided by our Group strategy, we are 
focusing on areas where we can have 
impact, supporting the UK’s transition 
through our lending, investments, 
products and services.
Our environmental sustainability strategy aligns with the 
Group’s strategic priorities of Grow, Focus, Change, with 
sustainability embedded into how we as a Group operate.  

 
the Group’s risks and related opportunities to support our 
customers, the need to move from a sector focus to a  
system-led approach has become clear. The Group sees 
climate strategy as both an opportunity for the business  
to grow in support of our customers and a means of risk 
management in pursuit of our strategy.

 • Reducing emissions and 
monitoring our sustainability-
related risks to manage  
costs and mitigate against 
future losses

 •  
emission reduction targets

 •
 • 2030 and 2050 targets: for our own operations and supply chain emissions 
 •
 • 2025 target: for Scottish Widows investments in climate-aware strategies 

 • Capitalising on  

investment opportunities 
 • Improving access to  

quality housing 

 • Embedding sustainability  
in all that we do

 • Supporting and engaging 
with our colleagues 

Group strategic 
priorities

Core business 
environmental 
sustainability 

Environmental 
ambitions and 
targets 

We have four systems where we believe we can leverage our 

that we offer to consider climate and environmental issues across 
and between each system. These systems are focused on where 
we live through greening the built environment, how we move 
through low carbon transport, how we farm with a more 
sustainable farming and food system, and through the energy  
we use with an energy transition fundamental to broader 
decarbonisation. The delivery of our strategy and oversight of  
the related risks and opportunities is governed through our Board 
and executive committees; further details of our sustainability 
governance structure can be found on page 84.

We continue to evolve how we identify, assess and manage 
climate-related risks and opportunities. While we are progressing 

external dependencies in many of our sectors and systems that 
will need to be addressed for us to achieve our targets and our 

 
than 50 per cent by 2030.

Climate resilience
We have undertaken scenario analysis to assess the resilience  
of the Group’s strategy, building on the lessons learnt from the 

exposed to climate-related risks. This exercise has demonstrated 
that the Group has relatively low commercial lending exposure to 
some of the main sectors most negatively impacted by climate 
change. Similar analysis has also been undertaken on the Group’s 
investment portfolio. This assessment has supported the focus for 
the Group’s environmental sustainability strategy and emission 
reductions targets. This analysis has also informed consideration 
of climate risk in the Group’s calculation of expected credit losses. 
This has included a top-down sector-level assessment for our 

estimated impacts are below the Group’s materiality thresholds; 
therefore, no adjustments have been made to the expected credit 
losses measured as at 31 December 2023. On this basis, the 
Group’s business model is also considered to be resilient against 
the risks from climate change. 

Further details on this analysis can be found in the Climate Risk 
Scenario Analysis update in Risk Management pages 154 to 157.

Focus 
SStrereengngthththhennn  
coosst annndnd cccapppitaaaal 

Grow 
DDrrivve reeveennnueee 
ggrroowtthhh annddd

Change 
MMMaaaximmmisssee tthheee  
poootteennntiiaaal ooof pppeeoopplee, 
teeeccchhnnoolooogggyy  
annndd daataaa
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Progress and performance continued

1. Respond to increasing customer preference for sustainable 
products. We recognise the growing sentiment for 
sustainability-linked products as a key opportunity and are 

2. Support investment in climate-related technology, mobilising 
our net zero origination programme to monitor and identify  

3. Develop products to promote climate resilience, engaging in 
this opportunity though the Build Back Better scheme for home 
insurance and our efforts in greening the built environment 
through our products and services.

4. 
operations; we remain focused on removing all use of natural 
gas from our estate, replacing gas boilers with low-carbon 
heating technologies and creating more sustainable branches 
in communities across the UK.

5. Develop industry partnerships, such as with the Soil Association 

how we can further support our customers and suppliers  
to transition.

 
Further details of our opportunities can be found within the 
sustainability report .  

Metrics and targets1,2

Our lending portfolio means our biggest exposure to sectors at 
increased climate risk is in relation to our residential mortgages
and our real estate sector. For further details of our lending to 
sectors with increased climate risk see page 110 of our 
sustainability report . The scale of our emissions varies across 
different areas of the business. A breakdown of our Group’s 
absolute emissions is shown below. Our emissions footprint has 
guided our approach to assessing the risks and opportunities  
and where we have the biggest role to play. We calculate our 
emissions in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, further  
detail in our Sustainability Metrics Basis of Reporting . 

Area of the Group

Absolute 
emission 
(MtCO2e)

22.0

10.2 

Supply chain emissions (2022/23) 0.8

Own operation emissions (2022/23) 0.1 

Scope 1 and 2 emissions only. 2022/23 period end data for supply chain 
emissions. 2022/23 period end data for own operations emissions includes Scope 
1, 2 and 3 categories and is reported on a market basis.

We have set several ambitions across our own operations,  
supply chain and lending and investments to support the 
decarbonisation of our business in line with the Paris agreement 
to limit global warming to 1.5°C. 

Please refer to our sustainability report  for further detail  
on our system-led transition plans and environmental progress 
throughout 2023. 

Climate risks and opportunities
 

the risk of experiencing losses and/or reputational damage, 
either from the impacts of climate change and the transition  
to net zero or as a result of the Group’s response to tackling 
climate change.

We consider this risk to arise through two channels, physical  
or transition risks: 
• Physical risks arising from changes in climate or weather 

patterns. These can either be acute (event driven such as 

rising sea levels or droughts)
• Transition risks due to the changes associated with moving 

towards a low carbon economy, including changes to policy, 
legislation and regulation, technology and market, or legal 
risks from failing to manage the transition

The impacts from climate risk largely manifest through other 
principal risks that the Group faces, therefore consideration  
of climate-related risk is integrated into some of our wider risk 
management processes. Further information on climate-
related risks and how we identify, assess and manage them  
can be found on pages 154 to 157 in Risk management. 

How we identify, assess and manage 
opportunities 
One of the main risks facing the Group is the failure to 
adequately support the transition to net zero. We have the 
responsibility to manage our own operational emissions  
and the opportunity to support our colleagues and customers 
to transition, noting our biggest opportunities are in relation to  
the areas where we have the largest lending including residential 

assessment and management of these opportunities is 
undertaken on a regular basis by our functional-level and 
divisional teams, and approval of new initiatives governed  
in line with our sustainability governance structure. 

The time frames applied for considering the impact of climate-
related opportunities is aligned with those used for business 
planning: short term: 0-1 year, medium term: 1-5 years, long 
term: 5+ years. We note that the timing is partly dependent on 
external factors such as UK government policy and regulation, 
technology developments, as well as our customers’ response. 
The following is an indicative list of the climate-related 
opportunities that we have incorporated or will aim to 
incorporate in the medium to long term across the Group.

Opportunities 

Opportunity Driver
Time  
horizon

Increasing consumer preference for sustainable 
products including in relation to our pension 

Transition 
(Technology, 
Market) 

Short, 
medium, 
long

 
in climate-related technology

Transition 
(Technology, 
Market)

Medium, 
long 

Develop products to promote climate 
resilience such as the Build Back Better 
scheme for home insurance

Physical 
Transition 
(Technology, 
Market) 

Short, 
medium, 
long 

Reducing the emissions from our direct 
operations

Transition 
(Reputation, 
Technology, 
Market)

Short, 
medium 
long 

Develop industry partnerships to help drive 

build knowledge on how we can further support 
our customers and suppliers to transition

Transition 
(Technology, 
Market, 
Policy, 
Reputation)

Short, 
medium, 
long 

CCllliimmmaaaatteee continued
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We are here 2030 target2018

25.7% 50%

We are here 2030 target2019

33.3% 50%

We are here 2030 target2018/2019

47.8% 90%

12
3,

49
9

117
,6

57

112
,0

66

115
,9

73

17
6,

93
3

22/
21

23/
22

21/
20

20/
19

19/
18

Balanced scorecard KPI7,8

Operational carbon emissions  
target (tCO2e) 

6 Scope 1 and 2 emissions, market-based approach for electricity Scope 2. 

2023.
7 Restated all prior periods data to improve the accuracy of reporting using 

Group’s properties, and improved escaped refrigerant related emissions.
8 Includes Scope 1, 2 emissions and Scope 3 categories 3, 5, 6 and 7. Scope 3 

categories 1, 2, 4 and 15 are excluded. 

In 2022/23, our overall market-based carbon emissions were 
123,499 tonnes CO2e, 30.2 per cent lower since 2018/19 and a 
5.0 per cent increase since 2021/22, mainly driven by higher 
business travel and commuting related carbon emissions.

Our emissions targets
Bank ambition
Work with customers, government and the market to help reduce 

2030 on the path to net zero by 2050 or sooner.

Our overall bank emissions reduction ambition is supported by 

which detail how we are supporting our customers and clients  
to transition in these areas. 

Supply chain
Scope 3 supply chain emissions (tCO2e) 

Restated 
baseline 

year
2021/22

Current  
year

2022/23

Scope 3 emission GHG Protocol  
Categories 1,2,4 679,326 785,237 

Reduce the carbon emissions we generate through our supply 
chain by 50 per cent by 2030 on the path to net zero by 2050  
or sooner.3,4,5

3 From a 2021/22 baseline. 

emissions in 2023 and have recalculated our baseline emissions for the period 

our spend data used to calculate supplier emissions. 

Scottish Widows
Target halving the carbon footprint1,2 of all of our investments 
by 2030 on the path to net zero by 2050. 

MtCO2e reduction

tCO2e/£m reduction

1 Carbon footprint is a measure of carbon intensity calculated as absolute value 
of emissions applicable to an investment divided by the value of investment. 
The carbon footprint measured, where data is available, for year-end 2022 was 
77.4 tCO2 2

One year on from announcing our ambition to reduce supply 
chain emissions by 50 per cent by 2030 on our path to net zero 
by 2050, or sooner, we have seen an increase of 16 per cent in 
our disclosed supply chain emissions. This increase has been 
driven by business growth and investment that has resulted in 
a 21 per cent increase in spend with suppliers from £4.0 billion 
to £4.9 billion compared to our baseline year. 

This highlights the limitations of a spend based methodology 
which relies on average carbon emission factors per £1 of 
spend and supports our objective of moving towards supplier-

readily assess the progress of our suppliers against our 
 

the actions taken by suppliers to decarbonise their business 
activities. Further details are found within the sustainability 
report .

Own operations
Demonstrating our commitment to managing our own 
operations emissions, this year, we have also reviewed and 

increased our commitment to reduce operational Scope 1 and 
2 carbon emissions from 75 per cent to at least 90 per cent by 
2030, based on our 2018/19 baseline. We recognise that there is 
more that we can do to minimise the environmental impact of 
our direct operations, and have introduced a new pledge for 
nature across our operations. Further details can be found 
within the sustainability report .

Direct carbon emissions reduction6 

Net zero carbon operations by 2030

 
our environmental strategy. With these targets supporting 
management of our climate-related risks and opportunities, 
notably the risk ‘failure to support the transition to net zero’.  
Our 2023 balanced scorecard applies a meaningful 10 per cent 
weighting to environmental measures, having key performance 
measured by assessing the progress against our targets and 

 
Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) will include a weighting of 15 per cent 

 
a low carbon economy is core to the Group strategy. Further 
details on the balanced scorecard and LTIP process can be  
found on page 124. 
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Progress and performance continued

CCllliimmmaaaatteee continued

disclosures, the information listed is incorporated by cross-

sustainability (environmental, social and governance) 
information is integrated across the strategic report  
and other sections see page 46. 

Further details on our targets 
available within the
sustainability report 

Climate-related Financial Disclosure
Section

A:  Governance arrangements for assessing 
and managing climate-related risk and 
opportunities 

Governance
pages 84 to 85

B:  Identify, assess and manage climate-related 
risks and opportunities

Risk management
pages 154 to 157 
Strategic report
page 34

C:  Processes for identifying, assessing  
and managing climate-related risks  
are integrated into the overall risk 
management process 

Risk management
pages 154 to 157

D:  (i) Principal climate-related risks and 
opportunities (ii) time periods by which 
reference to these risks and opportunities  
are assessed 

Risk management
page 156 
Strategic report 
page 34

E:  Impacts of the principal climate-related risks 
and opportunities on the business model  
and strategy

Risk management
page 154 to 157 
Strategic report 
pages 33 to 34 

F:  Analysis of resilience of the business model 
and strategy taking into consideration 
climate-related scenarios 

Risk management
pages 156 to 157 
Strategic report 
page 33

G:  Description of targets used to manage 
climate-related risks and realise climate-
related opportunities and performance 
against those 

Strategic report 
pages 34 to 36 

H:  KPIs used to assess progress against targets 
used to manage climate-related risks and 
realise climate-related opportunities, 
description of which those KPIs are based 

Strategic report 
pages 34 to 36

investment targets
totalling £33 billion across the bank and for up to £25 billion of
investments in climate aware strategies for our Scottish Widows 
business from 2020 through to 2025. We have made great 
progress against these targets and have already reached  
our Commercial Banking target for our corporate and  
institutional customers.

We have built on our existing targets across the Group with a new 
2024 to 2026 target for Commercial Banking which is in addition 
to our existing targets set out below. 

2023 progress

Commercial Banking

and institutional customers1 by 2024

£15.8bn – 
target 
achieved

Motor 

electric vehicles by 20242

£5.7bn 

EPC A/B mortgage lending 

rated properties by 20243,4

£7.5bn 

Scottish Widows 
£20–£25 billion discretionary investment 
in climate-aware5 strategies by 2025

£21.7bn 

Our new target from 2024
Commercial Banking 2024 to 20266

£30bn

1  Corporate and institutional customers (customers with a turnover >£100 million). 

of Reporting. £7.9 billion achieved in 2023.

of Reporting. £3.6 billion achieved in 2023.

of Reporting. The target includes remortgages but excludes further advances.
4  £7.5 billion covers the period from January 2022 to September 2023. With 
 £2.8 billion achieved from 1 January 2023 to 30 September 2023.
5  We are working with our strategic fund management partners BlackRock and 

investing in companies that are adapting their businesses to be less carbon-
intensive and/or developing climate solutions.

6  New 2024 lending target for Commercial Banking. Includes product types 

36 Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023



TCFD pillar TCFD recommended disclosures  Reference Summary of progress

Strategy
Recommendation
Disclose the actual and 
potential impacts of 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities on the 
organisation’s business, 

planning where such 
information is material.

A.  Describe the climate-
related risks and 
opportunities the 
organisation has 

medium, and long term.

Risk management 
pages 154 to 155

Strategic report 
page 34

• 

planning) over which they may arise
• Disclosures made on the cross-cutting nature of 

climate risks and how this can impact a broad range 
of principal risks 

B.  Describe the impact of 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities on the 
organisation’s business, 

planning.

Risk management
page 156

Sustainability report 
2023 
page 105
page 107
pages 164 to 166

• 
position and performance, including expanded 
consideration of the impact on expected credit 
losses in 2023 

• 
considered as part of the forecasting process

• 
in our Group climate transition plan, into the internal 
reporting process with the aim to support climate 
considerations forming part of the Group’s regular 
decision making

C.  Describe the resilience 
of the organisation’s 
strategy, taking into 
consideration different 
climate-related 
scenarios, including a 2°C 
or lower scenario. 

Strategic report 
page 33

Risk management 
pages 155 to 157

• We have assessed the resilience of our lending  
and investment portfolio to climate risk based on 
sector exposure, building on lessons learnt from 

• We have noted that our commercial lending 
exposure to sectors with increased impacts from 
climate risk is relatively low 

• Over the medium to long term, transition risk on 

but an orderly transition to net zero would provide 
an opportunity for better customer outcomes

TCFD pillar TCFD recommended disclosures  Reference Summary of progress

Governance
Recommendation
Disclose the 
organisation’s 
governance around 
climate-related risks 
and opportunities. 

A.  Describe the Board’s 
oversight of climate-
related risks and 
opportunities.

 

Governance  
pages 84 to 85

• Our governance structure provides clear oversight 
and ownership of the Group’s environmental 
sustainability strategy and management of risks  
and opportunities at the Board and executive levels

• The Board is engaged through different committees 
on at least a quarterly basis on our sustainability 
agenda including our nature strategy and the 
monitoring of our progress against targets and 
ambitions 

B.  Describe management’s 
role in assessing and 
managing climate-
related risks and 
opportunities.

 

Governance  
pages 84 to 85

• The Group Net Zero Committee provides direction 
and oversight of the Group’s environmental 
sustainability strategy including opportunities, 
supported by divisional governance

• The Group Risk Committee provides oversight of 
climate risk 

• Key Committee oversight in 2023 included 
development of sector targets for three new sectors 
and the evolution of our environmental strategy 

Progress against TCFD recommendations  

Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosure (TCFD) recommendations
We comply with the FCA’s Listing Rule 9.8.6R(8). Set out  

which are consistent with the 2021 TCFD recommendations and 
recommended disclosures across all four of the TCFD pillars: 
strategy; governance; risk management; and metrics and targets. 

Further detail on our progress against the TCFD recommendations 
can be found in our sustainability report . Our separate 
supplement ensures we can provide a comprehensive response 
to the TCFD framework that is presented in a decision-useful 

pages where additional detail and technical content relevant  
to our TCFD disclosures can be found in the table below. 

In addition to the compliance below, in-scope entities within  
our Insurance, Pensions and Investments business, which  
are incorporated as part of Scottish Widows Group, are required 

FCA PS21/24) reporting requirements for the period ending 
31 December 2023. This additional compliance will be met 

 
on the Scottish Widows website in June 2024. 

We will continue to assess and develop our disclosures against 
the TCFD recommendations and recommended disclosures, 
considering relevant TCFD guidance and materials along with 
new disclosure requirements such as International Sustainability 
Standards Board: IFRS S1 ‘General requirements’ IFRS S2 ‘Climate-
related disclosures’.
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TCFD pillar TCFD recommended disclosures  Reference Summary of progress

Risk 
management 
Recommendation
Disclose how the 

assesses, and manages 
climate-related risks.
 

A.  Describe the 
organisation’s processes 
for identifying and 
assessing climate-
related risks. 

Risk management 
pages 154 to 157 

•  

greenwashing; external disclosures; inbound 
physical and transition risks; and regulatory 
compliance

• The materiality of these risks has been assessed 
based on their potential impact on the Group, 
with scenario analysis outputs used to inform this 
in key areas 

B.  Describe the 
organisation’s processes 
for managing climate-
related risks.

Risk management 
pages 154 to 157 

• We are continuing to embed consideration of 
climate risk within our existing risk management 
processes to mitigate the cross-cutting impacts  
of climate risk

• We have developed some initial controls for 
managing these risks, although we expect  
to continue to enhance these as our  
understanding evolves

C.  Describe how processes 
for identifying, assessing, 
and managing climate-
related risks are 
integrated into the 
organisation’s overall  
risk management.

Risk management 
page 154 to 157 

• 
Management Framework, through consideration of 
climate risk as its own principal risk, and integration 
into other principal risks materially impacted

• The Group climate risk policy provides an 
overarching framework for the management of 
climate risks across the Group

TCFD pillar TCFD recommended disclosures  Reference Summary of progress

Metrics and 
targets
Recommendation
Disclose the metrics and 
targets used to assess 
and manage relevant 
climate-related risks and 
opportunities where such 
information is material. 

A.  Disclose the metrics used 
by the organisation to 
assess climate-related 
risks and opportunities  
in line with its strategy 
and risk management 
process.

 

Sustainability 
report 2023 
pages 110 to 111
pages 114 to 115
pages 169 to 170

Strategic report
page 35 to 36

• Our exposure to sectors with increased climate  
risk has been analysed, and used to set our bank 
emission ambition and Net Zero Banking Alliance 
(NZBA) sector targets

• We monitor progress against our net zero ambitions, 

emissions, own operations emissions, supply chain 

We also monitor our progress in relation to our 10 
NZBA sector targets 

B.  Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, 
and, if appropriate, Scope 
3 greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions, and the 
related risks.

 

Directors’ report
pages 134 to 135

Strategic report
page 34 to 35

Sustainability 
report 2023 
pages 114 to 115 
pages 169 to 170

• We have disclosed our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for 
our own operations and supply chain, and continue 

emissions, now updated to period ended 2022 
• We calculate our emissions in line with GHG  

 
of reporting. This document includes details on  
our approach to all 15 categories of Scope 3  
GHG reporting 

• In June 2023 Scottish Widows published product  

Sourcebook (set out via FCA PS21/24), with an update 
to be published by June 2024

C.  Describe the targets used 
by the organisation to 
manage climate-related 
risks and opportunities 
and performance  
against targets. 

 

Strategic report
Pages 34 to 36 

Sustainability 
report 2023 
pages 88 to 89
pages 96 to 99
page 114
pages 160 to 161 
page 169

• 
investment targets for our core business areas. 
Along with our emissions ambitions these make up 
the key metrics we use in the Group to monitor our 
progress against our strategy 

• To support our overall bank ambitions we have 
 

These are a mix of physical intensity and absolute 
emissions based targets

CCllliimmmaaaatteee continued
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Risk overview

Risk management is a key element in shaping our business model 
and delivering the Group’s strategy to enable sustainable growth. 
A strong risk management culture is crucial to keep the Group, 
our colleagues and our customers safe and secure from existing 
and emerging risks.

Our approach to risk
The Group’s business model is based on a prudent approach 
to risk, which guides participation decisions while safeguarding 
our colleagues, customers and the Group. An overview of risk 
management is included in this section, with the detailed risk 
management section from pages 138 to 196, which provides:
 • A detailed overview of how risk is managed within the Group, 

including the approach to risk appetite
 • The framework

mitigated and monitored

The Group has remained committed to maintaining support for  
its customers despite challenges with the rising cost of living and 
economic uncertainties in the global and domestic markets.

The Group’s loans and advances continue to be well positioned 
and heightened monitoring is in place to identify signs of 
affordability stress. The mortgage book remains resilient with 
arrears below 2019, with the new Mortgage Charter providing 
additional enhanced support to customers during 2023.

Unsecured and Commercial Banking portfolios continue to exhibit 
stable new to arrears and default trends broadly at, or below, 

development lending.

As part of the Group’s strategy, there will be continuing investments 
in technology and infrastructure. The Group’s operational resilience 
risks remain a key area of focus, particularly relating to cyber risk 
and supply chain management.

The Group has overseen the embedding of its operational risk
and control framework during 2023 and its oversight of 

Climate risk remains a key priority for the Group, with positive 
progress in 2023 and a commitment to continued focus in 2024.

Enterprise risk management framework

1

2

3

4

5

6

Role of the Board and 
senior management

Risk appetite

Risk governance

The Board delegates executive authorities to  
ensure there is effective oversight of risk management.

The framework ensures our risks are managed  
in line with our risk appetite.

The governance framework supports a consistent  
approach to enterprise-wide behaviour and decision making.

Risk culture and the 
customer

Risk and control self- 
assessment

Three lines of defence

The appropriate culture ensures performance,  
risk and reward are aligned.

an integral part of our risk and control self-assessment.

The robust approach to monitoring oversight and assurance 
ensures effective risk management across the Group.

The Group has enhanced the monitoring of progress against  
its strategic ambitions, alongside ongoing development of 
capabilities for measuring and managing key risks.

Our enterprise risk management framework

foundation for the delivery of effective and consistent risk control 

management and monitoring of the Group’s risks, which is 
supported by our risk and control self-assessment approach. 

regulation, law, corporate governance and industry good 
practice. The Board and senior management are responsible for 

with the results reported directly to the Board.

The Board and senior management set and embed a positive 
culture of diversity, equity and inclusion. The Group’s Code of 

colleagues’ accountability for the risks they take, their 
responsibility to explore customers’ needs and consistently  
deliver good customer outcomes.

Risk appetite
of risk that the Group is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in 
delivering its strategy. The Board is responsible for approving the 
Group’s Board risk appetite statement annually. Board level risk 
appetite metrics are augmented further by executive-level 
metrics and cascaded into detailed business metrics and limits. 

The Group adopts a continuous risk management approach, 
from identifying the risks through risk and control self-
assessment, and managing the risks through to producing 
appropriate, accurate and focused risk reporting. The Group 
ensures that the appropriate risk resources and capabilities are  
in place, with colleagues provided with the necessary training 
to give them the skills they need.

Governance is maintained through delegation of authority from 
the Board down to individuals. Senior executives are supported  
by a committee-based structure which is designed to ensure 
open challenge and enable effective Board engagement and 
decision making.

The three lines of defence model  
and accountabilities for risk management, with effective 
independent oversight and assurance. Business lines have 

risks, Risk division provides oversight and challenge, and Group 
Internal Audit provide independent assurance to the Board and 
Audit Committee.

More information on the Board’s responsibilities can be found  
on page 93 and our executive and Risk committees on  
pages 141 to 142.
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Risk overview continued

Principal risks
The principal risks outlined in this section are used to monitor 
and report the risk exposures posing the greatest potential 
impact to the Group.

All of the principal risks are Board-approved enterprise-wide 
risk categories which are reported to the Board Risk Committee 
and the Board regularly. 

The Board Risk Committee report on pages 101 to 106 outlines its 
purpose, structure and responsibilities in addition to activities 
during the year.

The Group is in the process of conducting a detailed review of 
the enterprise risk management framework to ensure it remains 
in line with regulatory expectations, corporate governance and 

 
our principal risks in 2024. 

In the risk management section, a summary of the Group’s 
principal and secondary risks is on page 145, with further 
information on how each principal risk is managed from  
pages 146 to 196.

Risk trends  

 Stable risk

 Reduced risk

 Elevated risk

Link to strategy  

 Grow

 Focus

 Change

Capital risk

Risk performance

capital ratio of 13.7 per cent on a pro forma basis, after absorbing 
regulatory headwinds and the acquisition of Tusker. 

excess of the Group’s revised ongoing target of 13.0 per cent (previously 
13.5 per cent), which includes a management buffer of around 1 per cent. 
Downside risks from economic and regulatory headwinds, including the 
impact of further Retail secured CRD IV model updates, are being closely 
monitored. This is in addition to the potential impact from the FCA review 

Risk appetite

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

The Group maintains capital levels commensurate with a prudent level 

Key mitigating actions
 • Capital management framework that includes the setting of capital 

risk appetite, capital planning and stress testing activities
 • Regular refresh and monitoring of a suite of early warning indicators 

and maintenance of a Capital Contingency Framework, designed to 
identify and act on emerging capital concerns at an early stage

Change and execution risk

Climate risk

Risk performance
The Group’s change and execution risk has remained elevated in 2023. 
Whilst change continues to be carried out safely and the new platform 
operating model has enhanced the change controls, the scale and 

Further development of the model, change framework and the 
associated controls is expected in 2024. 

Risk trends 
Elevated risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
The Group has limited appetite for negative impacts on customers, 
colleagues, or the Group as a result of change activity.

Key mitigating actions
 • Measurement and reporting of change and execution risk, including 

critical elements of the change portfolio through appropriate 
governance

 •
change and support future transformation plans

 • Continued evolution and enhancement of the Group’s change 
operating model including the underpinning policy, method and 
associated controls

Risk performance
The Group is continuing to develop its capabilities for measuring 
and managing key climate risks including monitoring progress against 
its net zero ambitions. 

However, the external landscape presents further challenges,  
both in relation to the policy changes required to support the transition  
to net zero, as well as increasing regulatory expectations.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite 
The Group takes action to support the Group and its customers’ 
transition to net zero, and maintains its resilience against the risks 
relating to climate change.

Key mitigating actions
 • Further embedding of climate risk policy, providing a framework for 

consideration of climate-related risks across the Group
 •

as well as developing appropriate plans and strategies to support 
our transition to net zero

 •
credit risk process, including assessment of clients’ credible 
transition plans

 • Continuing to build an understanding of how greenwashing could 
impact the Group, including training for all colleagues to ensure  
it is avoided
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Conduct risk

Credit risk

Data risk

Funding and liquidity risk

Risk performance
Conduct risk has remained stable in 2023, however there are several 
areas of emerging risks due to regulatory changes and areas of focus. 
The Group’s focus is on supporting customers impacted by the rising cost 
of living, culture and diversity, mindset shift to embed the FCA’s 
Consumer Duty requirements and ensuring good customer outcomes, 
amid the transformation of its business and technology. We are also 
continuing to liaise closely with the FCA and FOS on historical motor 
commission arrangements.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite
The Group delivers good outcomes for its customers.

Key mitigating actions
 • Robust policies in place to support good customer outcomes 
 • Active engagement with regulatory bodies and key stakeholders to 

ensure that the Group’s strategic conduct focus continues to meet 
evolving stakeholder expectations 

Risk performance
Data risk remained stable in 2023 with investment in end-to-end data  
risk management and capabilities. The Group’s data strategy will  
support managing data risk and remediation to achieve the Group’s 
growth objectives.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite

or enforcement actions.

Key mitigating actions
 • Delivering against the data strategy and uplifting capability  

in data management and privacy
 •  

data science lifecycle
 • Oversight of the data supply chain, emerging technologies,  

and data controls and processes

Risk performance
The Group maintained its strong funding and liquidity position in 2023. 
The loan to deposit ratio decreased slightly to 95 per cent (2022: 96 per 
cent). The Group’s liquid assets continue to exceed the regulatory 
minimum and internal risk appetite with a monthly rolling 12-month 
average liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) of 142 per cent (2022: 144 per cent). 
The Group maintains its access to diverse sources and tenors of funding.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
 

sheet structure that limits its reliance on potentially volatile sources  
of funding. 

Key mitigating actions
 • Management and monitoring of liquidity risks and ensuring  

that management systems and arrangements are adequate  
with regard to the internal risk appetite, Group strategy and 
regulatory requirements

 •
trusted brands

 • Participation in term issuance programmes

Risk performance
The Group’s credit portfolio continued to be resilient with only modest 
evidence of deterioration to date. UK Mortgages new to arrears were 
relatively stable throughout 2023, having increased slightly at the start  
of the year, with other unsecured portfolios performing broadly at  
or favourable to pre-pandemic levels. Impairment was a net charge  
of £308 million, compared to £1,510 million for 2022 and includes  

 
a single name client in the fourth quarter and improvements in the 
Group’s macroeconomic outlook. The Group’s expected credit loss 
allowances have decreased to £4,292 million (2022: £5,222 million).

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite
The Group has a conservative and well-balanced credit portfolio 
through the economic cycle in line with the Group’s target return on 
equity in aggregate. The Group’s approach focuses on origination 
quality and levers at Board level while dynamically adapting to the  
risk environment, business growth strategy, industry practices and 
regulatory expectations.

Key mitigating actions
 •  

 •
 •

macroeconomic environment, including updates to affordability 
lending controls for forward-looking costs

Financial results
Risk m
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Risk overview continued

Insurance underwriting risk

Market risk

Model risk

Operational risk

Risk performance
Model risk remained elevated in 2023, following the pandemic-related 
government-led support schemes weakening the relationships between 
model inputs and outputs in 2022. The economy has steadied somewhat 
compared to 2022, now being more typical of the environment used to 
build the models, reducing need for judgemental overlays to account for 
this, but many of the effects of the pandemic and other stresses to the 
economy are still working their way through. The control environment for 
model risk continues to be strengthened to meet revised internal and 
regulatory requirements.

Risk trends 
Elevated risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
Material models perform in line with expectations.

Key mitigating actions
 • Robust model risk management framework for managing 

and mitigating model risk within the Group

Risk performance
Operational risk has elevated in 2023. Overall, operational loss event 

losses have reduced compared with 2022. 

Key operational risk areas for the Group are security, technology and 
fraud, with an uplift in supplier issues over the last 12 months, although 
these have not been material in impact.

Risk trends 
Elevated risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite
The Group has robust controls in place to manage operational losses, 

emerging risks and acts to mitigate these.

Key mitigating actions
 • Review and investment in the Group’s control environment, with  

a particular focus on automation, to ensure the Group addresses  
the inherent risks faced

 • Deployment of a range of risk management strategies, 
including avoidance, mitigation, transfer (including insurance) 
and acceptance

Risk performance
Insurance underwriting risk remained broadly stable. Life and Pensions 
present value of new business premium reduced to £17.4 billion 
(2022: £19.0 billion), the reduction driven mainly by higher discounting 
rates. General Insurance total gross written premium increased to 
£579 million (2022: £486 million) due to improved trading.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite
The Group has an appetite to take on insurance underwriting risks 

Key mitigating actions
 •

weather risk
 • Robust processes for underwriting, reinsurance, claims 

management, pricing, product design and product management
 •

Risk performance
Market conditions in 2023 remained volatile creating an uncertain 
environment for the management of market risk. However, the Group 
remains well hedged ensuring near-term interest rate exposure is 
appropriately managed. 

The Group’s structural hedge decreased to £247 billion (2022: £255 billion) 
mostly due to the changing mix of customer deposits, from current 

 
 

The IAS 19 accounting surplus remained broadly unchanged at 
£3.5 billion (2022: £3.7 billion).

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
The Group has effective controls in place to identify and manage  
the market risk inherent in our customer and client-focused activities. 

Key mitigating actions
 • Structural hedge programmes implemented to stabilise earnings
 • Close monitoring of market risks and, where appropriate, 

undertaking of asset and liability matching and hedging
 •

schemes, as well as the hedges in place against adverse 
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People risk

Operational resilience risk

Regulatory and legal risk

Strategic risk

Risk performance

resilience for serving customers has been a key focus. The Group has 
used operational resilience scenario testing to shape a programme 
to deliver enhanced resilience of important business services by 2025. 

The Group recognises the prominence of cyber security protection  
and the role that resilience of our suppliers plays in delivering resilient 
customer experiences. Technology resilience remains a focus area,  
with dedicated programmes to address key risks.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
The Group has limited appetite for disruption to services to customers 

Key mitigating actions
 • Operational resilience programme in place to deliver against new 

regulation and improve the Group’s ability to respond to incidents 
while delivering key services to customers

 • Investment in technology improvements, including enhancements 
to the resilience of systems that support important business services

Risk performance

we are conscious of upcoming regulatory changes and the ongoing 
implementation of Consumer Duty. Legal risk continued to be impacted 
by the evolving legal and regulatory landscape, changing regulatory 
and other standards and uncertainty arising from the current and future 
litigation landscape.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 24

Risk appetite
The Group interprets and complies with all relevant regulation and  
all applicable laws (including codes of conduct which could have  
legal implications) and/or legal obligations.

Key mitigating actions
 • Policies and procedures setting out the principles and key controls 

that should apply across the business which are aligned to the 
Group risk appetite

 •
regulatory requirements by business units and the establishment  
of local controls, processes, procedures and resources to ensure 
appropriate governance and compliance

Risk performance
Strategic risk is stable, with further evolution of the Group’s methodology 
for assessing and prioritising emerging risks. Further information on 
emerging risks can be found on pages 44 and 144.

Risk trends 
Stable risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite
From 2024 strategic risk has been incorporated into emerging 
and horizon risk, and risk appetite is not set.

Key mitigating actions
 • Considering and addressing the strategic implications of  

emerging trends
 •  

and day-to-day risk management

Risk performance
People risk remains a key focus for the Group given the scale and pace 
of the transformation underway. The strategic focus of the leadership 
team continues to focus on colleague wellbeing and resilience, driving 
an inclusive, diverse and customer-centric culture, recruiting the required 
skills of the future and enabling colleague performance through 
enhancing their skills and capabilities. This is together with the Group’s 
revised pay offering which aims to support colleagues facing cost of 
living pressures.

Risk trends 
Elevated risk

Link to strategy 
See page 20

Risk appetite

resource effectively, supports and develops colleague skills and talent, 
creates and nurtures the right culture and meets legal and regulatory 
obligations related to its people.

Key mitigating actions
 • Delivery of strategies to attract, retain and develop high-calibre 

people with the required capabilities, together with a focus on 
creating a strong and resilient talent pipeline

 • Continued focus on the Group’s culture by developing and delivering 
initiatives that reinforce inclusivity and appropriate behaviours 

 • Focus on providing a working environment which promotes 
colleague safety and enhances their wellbeing and resilience
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Emerging and horizon risks
The Group continues to focus on horizon scanning activity to 

and external trends and developments.

Evolution of the Group’s methodology for 
assessing and prioritising emerging risks 
A series of deep dives on the 2022 emerging risk themes have 
taken place during the year. In addition, individual emerging risks 
themes have been taken to key executive-level committees 
throughout 2023, including the Board Risk Committee, with actions 
assigned to monitor more closely their future manifestation and 
potential opportunities. 

The emerging risk themes were also considered as part of the 

may generate second order impacts for the Group, have been  
a focus.

Many emerging and horizon risk topics are reviewed on a 
recurring basis, alongside ongoing activity addressing their 
impacts. However, it is acknowledged that the nature of the 
emerging risks will evolve and could drive future trends in the  
long term which the Group will need to prepare for. 

Customer propositions and  
societal expectations
The potential impacts of a failure to adapt our propositions  
to the continually evolving expectations and demographic  
of consumers, the evolution of and expectations relating to 
cybercrime, the threats posed by technology-enabled 
players and the risk of market disintermediation.

Digital currencies  
and tokenisation
Failure to keep pace with the potential expansion of 

government-backed digital currencies, growth of blockchain 
technologies and asset tokenisation and adoption of 
technologies which support the mainstream utilisation  
of blockchain technologies. 

Environmental, social  
and governance expectations
Investor, shareholder and public perception of the Group’s  
i) awareness of the ecological and environmental impacts 
associated with its operations and investments, ii) ability  

against a continuously evolving environmental and 
regulatory backdrop, and iii) role in supporting the UK  
to transition to a low carbon economy.

Generative AI and ethical  
data practices
Failure to keep pace with technological advancements 
relating to Generative AI and machine learning whilst 
balancing the competing requirements to i) maximise 
customer opportunities through adoption, ii) maintain trust 

customers from fraud and economic crime, iv) ensure 
transparency on data ethics practices, v) adhere to evolving 
data protection regulations and vi) prepare for potential 
business model disruptions caused by adoption of  
the technology.

Global macroeconomic  
and geopolitical environment
Inability to navigate changing international regulations, 
including sanction and trade compliance, economic 
fragmentation, deglobalisation, and geopolitical events  
that may impact operations, customers and suppliers.

Operational elasticity
Failure to adequately prepare for the aggregate threat 
posed by cyber-attacks, disruption of service, third- or 
fourth-party supplier failure, technology outages or severe 
data loss. 

Strategic workforce vision
Failure to evolve the structure and skill set of a dynamic 
workforce in line with the Group’s strategy, whilst maintaining 
pace with the industry and delivering strong customer 
outcomes. 

UK political and macroeconomic 
environment
Failure to anticipate the longer-term impacts of a weak 
UK economy, quantitative tightening, change in government 
and the resulting policy and regulatory shifts (a bank levy,  
for example) and the potential consequences of the UK 
becoming less attractive to external investors.

Emerging risks

Risk overview continued

combining emerging and strategic risks into a single view  
(see below), enabling greater management concentration on 
developing the appropriate responses. The Group will continue 
to monitor emerging and horizon risks, exploring how they may 
impact its future strategy, and how it can continue to best 
protect its customers, colleagues and shareholders.

For further information on the Board Risk Committee’s Chair 
Report, see pages 101 to 106.

For further information on how the Group is managing key 
emerging risks through its strategy, see page 144.
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Viability statement and going concern

Viability statement
The directors have an obligation under the UK Corporate
Governance Code to state whether they believe the Company
and the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet

by the directors, taking account of the current position and the
principal risks of the Company and the Group.

In making this assessment, the directors have considered a wide
range of information, including:
• The principal and emerging risks which could impact the 

performance of the Group
• The 2022 Strategic Review which sets out the Group’s customer 

and business strategy for the period from 2022 to 2026
• 

capital and funding projections together with an assessment 
of relevant risk factors for the period from 2024 to 2026 inclusive

Group, legal entities and divisional operating plans are produced 
and subject to rigorous stress testing on an annual basis. 
The planning process takes account of the Group’s business 
objectives, the risks taken to seek to meet those objectives and 
the controls in place to mitigate those risks to ensure they remain 
within the Group’s overall risk appetite.

The Group’s annual planning process comprises the following
key stages:
• The Board reviews and agrees the Group’s strategy, risk appetite 

and objectives in the context of the operating environment and 
external market commitments

• The divisional teams develop their operating plans, ensuring 
that they are in line with the Group’s strategy and risk appetite

• 
respect of expected market and business changes, and future 
expected legal, accounting and regulatory changes, are 
subject to rigorous review and challenge from both divisional 
and Group executives

• In addition, the Board obtains independent assurance from the 
Risk division over the alignment of the plan with Group strategy 
and the Board’s risk appetite. This assessment performed by 

Group’s operating plan
• The planning process is also underpinned by a robust capital 

and funding stress testing framework. This framework allows 
the Group to assess compliance of the operating plan with 
the Group’s risk appetite 
 

The scenarios used for stress testing are designed to be severe 
but plausible, and take account of the availability and likely 
effectiveness of mitigating actions that could be taken by 
management to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the 
underlying risks. The Group conducts internal stress testing and 
completes the PRA regulatory exercises. In 2023, stress tests have 
considered a range of economic conditions covering multiple 
outlooks and differing economic paths, including persistently high 
interest rates, and falling interest rates. Group stress results are 
segmented to provide insight, inform risk appetite, and allow for 
development of mitigating actions. In considering the likely 
effectiveness of such actions, the conclusions of the Board’s 
regular monitoring and review of risk and internal control systems, 
as discussed on pages 138 to 196, is taken into account. Further 
information on stress testing and reverse stress testing is provided 
on page 143
• Stress testing outputs are presented to the Board Risk 

Committee for review and challenge. All regulatory exercises 
are approved by the Board

• 
results of the stress testing are presented to the Board for 
approval. Once approved, the operating plan drives detailed 
divisional and Group targets for the following year

Company and the Group over the current plan period. The
Board considers that a three-year period continues to present

macroeconomic assumptions, while still providing an appropriate
longer-term outlook. Information relevant to the assessment can 
be found in the following sections of the annual report and 
accounts:
• The Group’s principal activities, business and operating models 

and strategic direction are described in the strategic report on 
pages 2 to 46

• page 44
• The principal risks, including the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for managing credit, capital, liquidity and funding, 
are provided in the risk management section on pages 138  
to 196

• The Group’s approach to stress testing and reverse stress 
testing, including both regulatory and internal stresses, is 
described on page 143 

Based upon this assessment, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company and the Group will be able to 
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over 
the next three years to 31 December 2026.

The going concern of the Company and the Group is dependent 
on successfully funding their respective balance sheets and 
maintaining adequate levels of capital.

In order to satisfy themselves that the Company and the Group 
have adequate resources to continue to operate for the 
foreseeable future, the directors have reviewed the Group’s 
operating plan and its funding and capital positions, including  
a consideration of the implications of climate change. 

The directors have also taken into account the impact of further 
stress scenarios as well as a number of other key dependencies 
which are set out in the risk management section under principal 
risks and uncertainties: funding and liquidity on page 41 and 
pages 180 to 185 and capital position on pages 147 to 153. 
Additionally, the directors have considered the capital and 
funding projections of the Company.

Accordingly, the directors conclude that the Company and  
the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of  

appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.

Going concern
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Statement Description and relevant policies Information necessary to understand our 
Group and its impact, policies due, diligence and outcomes

Stakeholders
Policies and programmes which support 
our approach include: 
• Our approach to sustainability 

materiality 
• Code of ethics and responsibility
• Code of supplier responsibility
• Third party supplier policies

• Further information on stakeholder engagement and how the 
Group supports stakeholders is available on page 3 and in our 
sustainability report  

• Further information on our approach to material sustainability 
issues and how they relate to our stakeholders is available in our 
sustainability report   

• 
Responsibility and Third Party supplier policies are available at 
our downloads page  

Environmental 
sustainability and 
climate-related 

The Group’s environmental strategy aligns 
to the Group’s strategic priorities, with 
sustainability embedded into how we as 
a Group operate. Policies which support 
our approach include:
• Sector statements
• 

framework1

• Further information on our approach to managing climate 
change and environmental matters is available in our 
sustainability report  

• 

on page 33 
• Sustainability governance on page 84
• Climate risk management details are on page 155

Employees and 
colleague conduct

The Group supports our colleagues 
and aims to create a diverse, equitable, 
inclusive organisation. Policies and 
programmes which support our approach 
include: 
• 

Programme
• Board diversity policy
• Colleague policy1

• Code of ethics and responsibility
• Health and safety policy1

• Speak up policy1

• Governance in action on page 3
• 

pages 29 to 38
• Further information on how we are supporting our colleagues, 

building a diverse, equitable and inclusive organisation, 
and conducting our business responsibly is available in our 
sustainability report  

Human rights and 
modern slavery

The Group’s approach to human rights 
is supported by several Group policies. 
Policies and programmes which support 
our approach include: 
• Human rights policy statement
• 

statement 
• Colleague policy1

• Data privacy policy1

• Data ethics policy1

• Cyber security policy1

• The Group is committed to operating in accordance with 
internationally accepted human rights standards and with all 
relevant legislation including the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015

• Further information on our approach to human rights and 
modern slavery is available in our Human Rights Policy and our 
Modern Slavery Statement  , as well as page 80 of our 
sustainability report 

Social sustainability
Social matters are critical in the delivery 
of our purpose. Policies and programmes 
which support our approach include: 
• Our business model
• Volunteering standards1

• Matched giving guidelines1

• Colleague policy1

• Core to our purpose and strategy is our focus on building a more 
inclusive and sustainable society, as this is where we can make 
the biggest difference, while creating new opportunities for our 
future growth

• Sustainability governance on page 84
• Further information on how we consider social matters is available 

on pages 7 to 8, 11 to 12, 30 to 32 , and in our sustainability report 

Economic crime
Policies and programmes which support 
our approach include:
• 1

• Anti-bribery policy statement

• 

which all Group businesses must comply across anti-bribery and 
corruption (ABC); anti-money laundering and counterterrorist 

• Further information on our approach to economic crime 
prevention is available on pages 142 and 192 of this report, 
and pages 19 to 22 of our sustainability report 

• Our anti-bribery policy statement is available at  
our downloads page  

Principal risks
Policies and programmes which support 
our approach include:
• 

framework1

• Further information on our approach to risk management 
is available in the risk overview section on page 39

Description of the 
business model and 

performance 
indicators

Our business model provides our 

and supports the communities in which 
we operate, all while delivering higher, 
more sustainable returns for shareholders.

• Our business model on page 12
• Our strategy, on pages 18 to 27
• Progress and performance, on pages 28 to 38

The Non-Financial Reporting requirements contained in Sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006 are addressed within 
this section. We provide cross references to indicate in which part of the Groups’ reporting the respective requirements are embedded. 
The policies mentioned above form part of the Group’s policy framework which is founded on key risk management principles. The 

and report policy outcomes are in place and were followed in 2023.

1  Certain Group policies, internal standards and guidelines are not published externally.
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Principles of the Code 
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UK Corporate Governance Code

Compliance statement 
The UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the Code) applied to 
the financial year ended 31 December 2023. The Code is available 
at www.frc.org.uk.

This directors’ report is set out in a way that helps shareholders 
and investors to evaluate how the Company has applied the 
principles and complied with the provisions of the Code during 
2023. The table below signposts the most relevant parts of the 
Annual Report, in particular where supporting information is not  
in the directors’ report.

The Company confirms that it applied the principles and 
complied with all the provisions of the Code throughout 2023. 

On 22 January 2024, the Financial Reporting Council published  
an updated version of the Code which will apply to financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2025. The Company will report 
against that updated version in due course. 

In this section
Directors’ report 
UK Corporate Governance Code 71
Chair’s introduction 72
Governance at a glance  73
Our Board 74
Boards of the Ring-Fenced Banks 76

Board leadership and company purpose 78
Division of responsibilities 88
Composition, succession and evaluation 89
Audit, risk and internal control 93
Committee reports

Nomination and Governance Committee report 94
Audit Committee report 97
Board Risk Committee report 101
Responsible Business Committee report 107

Directors’ remuneration report 108
Other statutory and regulatory information 133

1. Board leadership and company purpose (pages 78 to 87) 
Chair’s introduction  72
Our Board  74 to 75
Purpose, values and strategy 2 to 27 and 81
Culture 2, 9 and 86
Board stakeholder engagement and decision making 3 to 5 and 82 to 83
Key performance indicators and strategic performance 28 to 38
Risk assessment  39 to 45
Risk management 138 to 196
Rewarding our workforce 108 to 132

2. Division of responsibilities (page 88) 
Our Board and governance structure  78
Independence and time commitments  95
Committee reports  94 to 109 and 126
Board and Committee meeting attendance  79

3. Composition, succession and evaluation (pages 89 to 92)
Our Board  74 to 75
Our Board and governance structure  78
Board and Committee meeting attendance  79
Nomination and Governance Committee report  94 to 96

4. Audit, risk and internal control (page 93)
Audit Committee report  97 to 100
Statement of directors’ responsibilities  136
Risk management  138 to 196
Principal risks and emerging risks  40 to 44
Board Risk Committee report  101 to 106
Going concern  45
Viability statement  45

5. Remuneration
Directors’ remuneration report  108 to 132
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Chair’s introduction

Strong governance  
provides the  
foouunnndddaaattiiooonnnn  
foorr aaalll tthhhaaatt  
wweee dddoo 
Sir Robin Budenberg
Chair

Since the Group launched its strategy in February 2022, the 
 

The Board is acutely aware that macroeconomic uncertainties, 
societal challenges and geopolitical tensions are having a 
profound impact on people, businesses and society. It is in  
this context that the Group remains committed to its strategy, 
including delivering higher, more sustainable returns for our 
shareholders, aligned to our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper.  
Strong governance provides the foundation for the Group to help 

this challenging external environment. At the same time, 
it ensures we address the environmental, social and economic 
concerns of our wider stakeholders in an effective and 
appropriate manner.

During 2023, the Board has overseen the executive’s continued 
delivery of the Group’s strategic transformation and has focused 
on sound risk management, including a review of operational 
resilience. The strength of our organisation also depends on  
our people and our culture and we are conscious of the impact 
that the strategic implementation is having on our colleagues. 
Listening sessions with colleagues during 2023 provided valuable 
insight on how colleagues are experiencing our culture and, 
crucially, on how our leaders are being empowered to drive  
the fast-paced change required for the successful delivery  
of our strategy.

On the topic of culture at Board level, I have been particularly 
pleased by the open and collaborative relationship the Board has 
continued to develop with the executive. Together with providing 
constructive challenge on strategic implementation, the Board 
encourages the executives to share new plans at an early stage 
in order for the Board to provide feedback as those plans evolve.

Below I highlight some of the governance activities that took 
place during 2023.

Board oversight of strategy 
As I mentioned above, the Board has overseen the continued 
implementation of the Group’s strategy, providing feedback on 
the sequencing of changes and investment priorities, together 
with monitoring key performance indicators – read more  
on page 81.

Focus on risk management
Given the scale of change required to deliver the Group’s 
strategic transformation, the Board, the Board Risk Committee 
and the Group’s Information Technology and Cyber Advisory 
Forum (ITCAF) have each played a vital role in evaluating  
change and execution risk and overseeing operational  
resilience requirements. Read more on risk management  
on pages 101 to 106.

Promoting a healthy culture 
Building on previous years’ commitments to promoting a 
values-led culture, the Board has deepened its understanding of 
colleague and customer sentiment. Further details on the Board’s 
role in overseeing the embedding of a healthy corporate culture 
can be found on page 86.

Diversity, equity and inclusion
Inclusion lies at the heart of the Group’s purpose and increasing 
diversity in the broadest sense, including diversity of thought and 
background, remains a priority for the Board. Further information 
on progress made on diversity, equity and inclusion throughout 
all levels of the organisation is set out on pages 94 to 96 and 107.

Climate ambitions
The Board, through its Responsible Business Committee, has 
overseen the Group’s sustainability strategy. The Group now has 

its overall banking ambition and investment target. In addition  
to our supply chain ambition, a further three new pledges
for water, waste and nature were announced in November for our 
own operations. Further details can be found on pages 84 and 107.

Board and Committee changes
Succession planning and the composition of the Board are 
important components of good governance. Alan Dickinson and 
Lord Lupton will retire at the 2024 annual general meeting after 
serving nine years and almost seven years respectively on the 
Board. We are deeply grateful to Alan for the wisdom and insight 
he has brought to the Board over a long period as both Deputy 
Chair and formerly as Senior Independent Director and in the 
many important Committee roles he has held and to James for 
his leadership as the inaugural Chair of Lloyds Bank Corporate 

leave with our thanks and best wishes for the future.

Cathy Turner took over from Alan Dickinson as Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee and as Senior Independent Director 
in September 2023.

Nathan Bostock will be appointed as a non-executive director of 
the Group and, subject to regulatory approval, Chair of Lloyds 
Bank Corporate Markets plc, in each case with effect from 1 August 

2014 until 2022 and, prior to that, an executive director and Group 

experience and UK banking market knowledge will be invaluable 
to his roles with the Group. 

Read more about Board and Committee changes on page 94.

Ring-fencing governance
Although this is Lloyds Banking Group plc’s corporate governance 
report, I would like to thank Nigel Hinshelwood, Sarah Bentley and 
Brendan Gilligan for their continued and valued contribution as 
non-executive directors of Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of Scotland 
plc (the Ring-Fenced Banks), which represent the majority of the 
Group’s banking activities. Further details regarding ring-fencing 
governance are set out on pages 76 and 87.

Corporate Governance Code
The Company’s statement of compliance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2018 can be found on page 71.

Stakeholder engagement
Understanding and meeting the Group’s responsibilities and 
duties to shareholders, customers and the communities we serve 
is central to our purpose and remains of utmost importance. Read 
more about Board stakeholder engagement on pages 82 to 83.

   Sir Robin Budenberg, 
 Chair
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Our Board in 2023

A. 

B. 
3. 

C. 

B. 
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B. 
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Governance at a glance

Gender diversity3

A. Female 5 (45%)2

B. Male 6 (55%)
C.  FCA Listing Rule target  

At least 40% women

Ethnic diversity3

A.  Black, Asian or Minority  
2 (18%)

B. White 9 (82%)
C.  FCA Listing Rule target  

At least one board 
member from a Minority 
Ethnic background

Board tenure4

A. 0–2 years 2
B. 2–4 years 4
C. 4–6 years 3
D. 6–8 years 15

9 years+ 16

Age4

A. 44–55 
B. 56–65 6
C. 66–75 2

Skills, experience and knowledge of our Board
Collective view of the skills, experience and knowledge of the 
non-executive directors1

 Good experience and knowledge  Deep experience – distinctive strength

Retail/ 
commercial banking

Major change  
programmes

Financial markets/  
wholesale banking/  
treasury

  
sustainability  
and climate change

Insurance  
diversity and governance

Audit and finance Listed board governance, 
including investor relations  
and remuneration

Risk – in financial  
institutions

Government/
regulator interface

Technology/digital Strategic thinking

Consumer/marketing/ 
distribution

Met the board diversity 
targets in the FCA Listing  
Rules of at least: 440%% off thheee 
bboaardd  beeinngg wwommmeenn; onee oooff 
ttthee seenioor bbboaardd ppossitioonnss 
bbeingg helld bby a wwwoommaann2;;  
aaandd oonne mmeemmbeer ooff thee  
bboaardd  beeinngg frrommm a MMinnooriittyyy 
EEthhniccc baackkkgrrouunndd33 

Board gender diversity over the years3

Women (%)

1  Assessment by the Nomination and Governance Committee as at 
24 January 2024.

2  Cathy Turner is the Senior Independent Director.
3  As at 31 December 2023 and remains correct as at the date of publication 

of the Annual Report.
4  As at 31 December 2023.
5 Lord Lupton will retire at the Company’s 2024 annual general meeting.
6 Alan Dickinson will retire at the Company’s 2024 annual general meeting.
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Our Board

Oveersseeeinngg thee immmppleemmennttaattioonn  
of oourr sstraateeegyy

 Sir Robin Budenberg CBE
 Chair

Appointed: October 2020 (Board), January 2021 
(Chair) 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

banking experience 
• Strong governance and strategic advisory 

skills in relation to companies and government
• Regulatory, public policy and stakeholder 

management experience 
Robin spent 25 years advising UK companies 
and the UK Government while working for S.G. 
Warburg/UBS Investment Bank and was formerly 

Investments (UKFI), managing the Government’s 
investments in UK banks following the 2008 

Accountant. 
External appointments: 

 Alan Dickinson
 Deputy Chair 

Appointed: September 2014 (Board), May 2020 
(Deputy Chair) 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• Highly regarded retail and commercial banker 
• Strong strategic, risk management and core 

banking experience 
• Regulatory and public policy experience 
Alan has 37 years’ experience with the Royal Bank 

RBS UK. Alan was formerly Chairman of 
Urban&Civic plc and of Brown, Shipley & Co. 

of the Risk Committee of the Nationwide Building 
Society and of Willis Limited and a Governor  
of Motability. Alan is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Bankers and the Royal Statistical 
Society. Alan was Senior Independent Director  
of the Company between December 2019 
and September 2023.
External appointments: 

Cricket Board.

 Cathy Turner
 Senior Independent Director 

Appointed: November 2022 (Board), September 
2023 (Senior Independent Director)
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

• Knowledge of complex remuneration matters 
• Communications expertise with a broad range 

of stakeholders including investors, regulators, 
government, media and unions

experience, having worked in senior executive 
positions at Barclays plc and at the Group.

Director and Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee of Aldermore Group plc, Quilter plc 
and Countrywide plc.
External appointments: 

Remuneration Committee of Rentokil Initial plc 

Director and Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee of Spectris plc. Partner on a part-time 
basis at Manchester Square Partners LLP.

 Sarah Legg
 Independent non-executive director 

Appointed: December 2019 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

reporting skills 
• 

• Strong transformation programme experience
Sarah has spent her entire executive career in 

She was the Group Financial Controller, a Group 

region. She also spent eight years as a Non-

External appointments: 

and Risk Committee of Severn Trent plc, a Trustee 

Wales, Board Member of the Audit Committee 
Chair’s Independent Forum and Chair of the 
Campaign Advisory Board, King’s College, 
Cambridge University.

 Lord Lupton CBE
  Independent non-executive director 

and Chair of Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets plc

Appointed: June 2017 (Board), August 2017  
(Chair of Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc)
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

• Strong board governance experience, 
including investor relations 

• Regulatory and public policy experience 
• 

and implementation 
Lord Lupton was Deputy Chairman of Baring 

Greenhill & Co. and was Chairman of Greenhill 

Conservative Party and became a Life Peer in 
October 2015, serving on the House of Lords 
Select Committee on Charities. 
External appointments: 

The Lovington Foundation and Chairman of the 
Board of Visitors of the Ashmolean Museum.

 Amanda Mackenzie LVO OBE
 Independent non-executive director 

Appointed: October 2018 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

responsible business and sustainability 
• Strong customer engagement and digital 

technology experience 
• 

Community, of which King Charles III is the Royal 
Founding Patron and which promotes 
responsible business and corporate 
responsibility. Prior to that role, she was a 

years as Chief Marketing and Communications 

United Nation’s Sustainable Development Goals. 
She is also a former Director of British Airways 
AirMiles, BT, Hewlett Packard Inc and British Gas. 
External appointments:

Company plc, Chair of The Queen’s Reading Room 
and trustee of the charity Cumberland Lodge. 

Board that they do not intend to seek re-election at 
this year’s annual general meeting. 
Nathan Bostock will be appointed as a non-executive 
director and, subject to regulatory approval, Chair of 
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc, in each case with 
effect from 1 August 2024.
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 Harmeen Mehta
 Independent non-executive director 

Appointed: November 2021
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• Over 25 years’ experience leading digital 

and complex transformation
• 

technology-led businesses and creating 
new ventures

• 
knowledge having lived in 11 countries and 
worked across 30 countries on six continents

Harmeen was appointed Chief Digital and 

role, she spent seven years as Global Chief 

and Cloud Business at Bharti Airtel, leading its 

career, Harmeen held CIO positions at BBVA, 
HSBC and Bank of America Merrill Lynch. 
External appointments: 

 Scott Wheway
  Independent non-executive director 

and Chair of Scottish Widows Group

Appointed: August 2022 (Board), September 2022 
(Chair of Scottish Widows Group) 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

experience 
• 

large-scale banking and insurance businesses
• Track record as a non-executive and executive 

in customer-centric companies
Scott was appointed Chair of Centrica plc in 2020 
where he has served on the board since 2016. 
Scott was formerly Chair of AXA UK plc, Chair of 

of Aviva plc and Senior Independent Director of 
Santander UK plc. He worked as an executive in 
the retail sector for over 25 years where he held 

Chemist plc and a number of senior executive 
positions at Tesco plc.
External appointments: 
Chair of Centrica plc.

 Catherine Woods
 Independent non-executive director  

Appointed: March 2020 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

• Deep experience of risk and 
transformation oversight 

• Strong focus on culture and corporate 
governance 

Catherine is a former Deputy Chair and Senior 
Independent Director of AIB Group plc where she 
also chaired the Board Audit Committee. In her 
executive career with J P Morgan Securities, she 

Institutions, Mergers and Acquisitions, and Vice 

External appointments: 

BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited. 

 Charlie Nunn

Appointed: August 2021 
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

leadership roles
• Strategic planning and implementation 
• 
Charlie has over 25 years’ experience in the 

Group, Charlie held a range of leadership 
positions at HSBC, including Global Chief 

Group Head of Wealth Management and Digital, 

Retail Banking and Wealth Management.

Charlie began his career at Accenture, where he 
worked for 13 years in the US, France, Switzerland 
and the UK before being made a Partner. He then 
moved to McKinsey & Co. as a Senior Partner, 

External appointments:
None

 William Chalmers

Appointed: August 2019
Skills, experience and contribution: 
• 

leadership experience 
• Strategic planning and development, mergers 

and acquisitions, equity and debt capital 
structuring and risk management 

William joined the Board in August 2019, when 

to August 2021.

25 years and previously held a number of senior 
roles at Morgan Stanley, including Co-Head of 
the Global Financial Institutions Group and Head 

joining Morgan Stanley, William worked for J P 
Morgan, again in the Financial Institutions Group. 
External appointments:
None

 Kate Cheetham

Company Secretary

Appointed: July 2019 
Skills, experience and contribution:
• 

•  Strategic functional planning and 
development, corporate, mergers and 
acquisitions, regulation and risk management

Kate became Group General Counsel (now Chief 

Secretary in July 2019. Kate joined the Group in 
2005 from Linklaters, where she was a corporate 
lawyer specialising in mergers and acquisitions 
transactions. Before her current roles, Kate held  
a number of senior positions including Deputy 
Group General Counsel and General Counsel  
for Group Legal. 

A Audit Committee member

BR Board Risk Committee member

NG Nomination and Governance Committee member

Re Remuneration Committee member

RB Responsible Business Committee member

Committee Chair

Committee Chairs and members shown  
as at 21 February 2024. Read about Committee 
changes during the year on page 94.



76 Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors

Boards of the Ring-Fenced Banks

 Nigel Hinshelwood 
   Senior Independent Director
 Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of 
 Scotland plc

Appointed: January 2019
Skills, experience and contribution:
• 

sector in the UK and worldwide
• 

transformation, operations and technology

many years where his positions included Head 

of Southeast Asia. Before becoming a non-
executive, he was the Head of HSBC UK and 

Group he held several executive appointments 
including Head of HSBC Insurance Holdings, Chief 

Africa and Global Head of Operations. Nigel was 

London Franchise Board.
External appointments: 
Deputy Chair and Chair designate of Ikano Bank 
AB, Chair of AXA XL Underwriting Agencies Limited 
and AXA XL Insurance Company UK Limited, 
International Advisory Council Member of Adobe 
Systems Software Ireland Limited, Advisory 
Council Member of International Association  
of Credit Portfolio Managers and Member of  
the Finance and Risk Committee of Business  
in the Community. 

 Sarah Bentley
  Non-executive director  

Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of  
Scotland plc

Appointed: January 2019
Skills, experience and contribution:
• 

experience
• Strong customer and marketing skills

Team at Business in the Community. She was 

Director of Thames Water Utilities Limited and 
Director of Water UK, the trade association of the 
water and wastewater industry. Prior to those 

Committee and the Managing Partner for 
Accenture’s Digital business unit in the UK & 
Ireland. She has worked internationally in a 
number of roles including Strategy, Marketing  
& Propositions for BT’s Global Services division, 

 
of eLoyalty.
External appointments: 

at Business in the Community – His Majesty King 
Charles III’s Responsible Business Network.

 Brendan Gilligan 
  Non-executive director  

Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of  
Scotland plc

Appointed: January 2019
Skills, experience and contribution:
• 

services industry
• 

businesses in the UK, France, Switzerland  
and Poland

Brendan’s career began in the Public Audit 
division of KPMG in Ireland and Canada. 
He subsequently worked in commercial and 

with Woodchester Investments plc and, after 

External appointments: 

Management Group Limited and Chairman  
of its Audit and Risk Committees.

Since 1 January 2019, UK legislation has required large UK banks to 
separate personal banking services, such as current and savings 
accounts, from riskier activities, such as investment banking,  
in other parts of their business. This is called ring-fencing. 

Lloyds Bank plc and Bank of Scotland plc are the banks within the 
Group which have been included within the ring-fence (together, 
the Ring-Fenced Banks). As the Group’s core focus is on the UK 
and on retail and commercial banking customers, the majority  
of the Group’s banking business is undertaken within the  
Ring-Fenced Banks.

of the Ring-Fenced Banks. The boards of the Ring-Fenced Banks 
have three additional independent non-executive directors: Nigel 
Hinshelwood (Senior Independent Director), Sarah Bentley and 
Brendan Gilligan (together, the Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors). 
Read their biographies below. 

These Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors are independent of the 
management and the rest of the Group and their role is to act 
exclusively in the best interests of the Ring-Fenced Banks. They 
play a crucial role in the governance structure, with an enhanced 

Banks and the Group.

Read more about the role of the Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors 
and the Group’s structure on page 87.
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Group Executive Committee

 Sharon Doherty
  Chief People and Places 

 Appointed: June 2022

 Jo Harris 

 Appointed: July 2022

 Laura Needham 
 Chief Internal Auditor

 Appointed: October 2022

 Charlie Nunn

 
 

 Appointed: August 2021

 Jayne Opperman

Consumer Relationships

 Appointed: January 2023

 Stephen Shelley

 Appointed: September 2017

Consumer Lending

 Appointed: July 2022

 Ron van Kemenade
  Group Chief Operating 

 Appointed: June 2023

 Andrew Walton

and Chief Corporate Affairs 

 Appointed: September 2018

 John Winter

Corporate and Institutional 
Banking

 Appointed: September 2022

 Chirantan Barua

 Scottish Widows and   
 Insurance, Pensions and   
 Investments

 Appointed: May 2023

 William Chalmers

 
 

 Appointed: June 2019

 Kate Cheetham 

Company Secretary 
 

 Appointed: July 2017

Business and Commercial 
Banking

 Appointed: July 2022

C Group Executive Committee Chair

M Group Executive Committee member

A Group Executive Committee attendee

Read more 

Committee bios

C

A M M M
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Board leadership and company purpose

Group Chief 
Executive 
Committees

  See pages  
141 to 142

Non-executive directorsExecutive directorsChair
Sir Robin Budenberg

Group Chief 
Executive
Charlie Nunn

Chief Financial 

William Chalmers

Deputy Chair
Alan Dickinson
Senior Independent 
Director 
Cathy Turner1

Sarah Legg
Lord Lupton
Amanda Mackenzie
Harmeen Mehta
Scott Wheway
Catherine Woods

Company 
Secretary
Kate Cheetham

Lloyds Banking Group Board

Board Committees

Nomination 
and Governance

Committee

 See page 94

Audit 
Committee

 See page 97

Board Risk 
Committee

 See page 101

Remuneration 
Committee

 See pages 108 to 109 
and 126

Responsible 
Business 

Committee

 See page 107

The terms of reference for the Board Committees and the 
matters reserved for the Board can be found on our 
 corporate governance page 

The role of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting and assessing 
the long-term, sustainable success of the Group, generating 
value for shareholders and contributing to wider society.

The Board establishes the Group’s purpose, values and strategy 
and seeks to ensure that the Group is Helping Britain Prosper. 
The Board approved the Group’s current strategy in February 2022 
and you can read more about how the Board has overseen the 

supported by the wider executive management team, on page 81.

The Group’s role as a sustainable and inclusive business is central 
to its purpose. The Responsible Business Committee oversees the 

management responsibility in relation to sustainability-related 
matters (including climate) shared with the Audit Committee  
and Board Risk Committee. This ensures appropriate coordination 
and cooperation on these matters. Read about our sustainability 
governance structure on pages 84 to 85.

The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the Group’s culture 
is aligned with its purpose, values and strategy. Read more about 
how the Board assesses and monitors the Group’s culture on 
page 86. 

The Board retains ultimate responsibility for ensuring the 
necessary resources are in place to meet agreed objectives.  
The effective management of risk is central to the Group’s 
strategy, supported by the Group’s enterprise risk management 
framework, which is discussed in the risk management report  
on pages 138 to 196.

The Board recognises that engaging with, and acting on the 
needs of, the Group’s stakeholders is key to achieving the strategy 
and long-term objectives of the Company. Read more about how 
the Board engages with stakeholders on pages 82 to 83 and the 
directors’ statement of how they have carried out their duties 
under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 on pages 3 to 5.

1 Alan Dickinson was Senior Independent Director until 13 September 2023.

Our Board and governance structure 
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C Chair Board 

Nomination and 
Governance 
Committee

Audit  
Committee

Board Risk 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Responsible 
Business 
Committee

Sir Robin Budenberg 9/9 7/7   5/5 4/4

Charlie Nunn 9/9      

William Chalmers 9/9      

Alan Dickinson 9/9 7/7 6/6 10/10 3/37 4/4

Sarah Legg 9/9  6/6 10/10  4/4

Lord Lupton 8/94     4/4

Amanda Mackenzie2 9/9 7/7 5/5 4/4 

Harmeen Mehta 9/9      

Cathy Turner3 9/9 2/26  5/58  

Scott Wheway 9/9 7/7  10/10   

Catherine Woods 8/95  6/6 10/10 5/5  

1  Where a director is unable to attend a meeting he/she receives papers in advance and has the opportunity to provide comments to the Chair of the Board 
or to the relevant Committee Chair.

2  Amanda Mackenzie became a member of the Audit Committee on 1 January 2024. 
3 Cathy Turner became a member of the Board Risk Committee on 1 February 2024. 
4  Lord Lupton was unable to attend one Board meeting due to another commitment.
5  Catherine Woods was unable to attend one Board meeting due to a personal commitment.
6  Cathy Turner became a member of the Nomination and Governance Committee on 13 September 2023.
7 Alan Dickinson stepped down as both Chair and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 13 September 2023.
8  Cathy Turner was a member of the Remuneration Committee throughout 2023 and succeeded Alan Dickinson as Chair of the Remuneration Committee 

on 13 September 2023.

Board and Committee composition and attendance at meetings in 20231 

Corporate Governance Framework
The key decisions and matters reserved for the Board’s approval, 
such as the Group’s long-term strategy and priorities, are set  
out in the Group’s Corporate Governance Framework, which is 
reviewed periodically by the Board. The Board is supported by  
its committees which make decisions or recommendations on 
matters as delegated to them under the Corporate Governance 
Framework, including Board appointments, the effectiveness of 

reporting, governance and remuneration policies. This enables 
the Board to spend a greater proportion of its time on strategic, 
forward-looking matters. Read more about the Corporate 
Governance Framework on page 95. 

and has an experienced chair. The Committees are managed on 
the same basis as the Board. The structure of each Committee 
seeks to facilitate open discussion and debate and ensure 
adequate time for Committee members to consider all proposals.

The executive directors make decisions within the parameters 
and principles set out in the Corporate Governance Framework, 
which aims to ensure that decisions are made by management 
under the correct authority. However, where appropriate, any 
activity can be brought to the full Board for consideration, even  
if the matter falls within agreed executive parameters.
 
There are executive committees established to support the Group 

pages 141 to 142 and see the Group 
page 77.

Board meetings in 2023 
During 2023 there were nine Board meetings. There are separate 
boards and board committees of Lloyds Banking Group plc, Lloyds 
Bank plc, Bank of Scotland plc and HBOS plc, but most meetings of 
these companies are held concurrently and we refer to this as the 
‘Aligned Board Model’. As most of the Group’s business sits within 
the Ring-Fenced Banks, the interests of the Ring-Fenced Banks, 
the Group and HBOS plc are aligned in most circumstances. This 
model is supported by a number of safeguards to enable us to 
operate in this way including the appointment of three Ring-
Fenced Bank only non-executive directors and a Ring-Fenced 

interests of the Ring-Fenced Banks. Read more about the Group’s 
governance structure and ring-fencing governance 
arrangements on page 87.

Updates are provided to the Board by the Committee Chairs as 

Corporate Markets plc and Scottish Widows Group Limited boards. 
The Chair holds a number of meetings with the non-executive 
directors without the executive directors present. 

The Group has a comprehensive and continuous forward agenda 
setting and escalation process in place to ensure that the Board 
has the right information at the right time and in the right format 

make the right decisions. The Chair leads the process, assisted by 

and business critical items. 

The process of escalating issues and agenda setting is regularly 
reviewed as part of the Board evaluation with enhancements made 
to the process, where necessary, to ensure it remains effective. 

The Chair and the Committee Chairs ensure Board and 
Committee meetings are structured to facilitate open discussion, 
debate and challenge. If directors have concerns about the 
Company or a proposed action which cannot be resolved, their 
concerns are recorded in the Board minutes. Also, on resignation, 
non-executive directors are encouraged to provide a written 
statement of any concerns to the Chair, for circulation to the 
Board. No such concerns were raised in 2023 and up to the date 
of this report.

The non-executive directors also receive regular updates from 
management to give context to current issues.

C

C

C

C

C

C
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Board leadership and company purpose continued

Key focus areas
This page shows some of the key  
focus areas of the Board during 2023  
and highlights the stakeholder groups 
central to those matters considered  
and decisions taken.

Matters approved Other matters considered/undertaken Stakeholders

Purpose, 
culture and 
values

• Board diversity policy  
– read more on page 96

• Operation and effectiveness  
of the Remuneration Policy 

• Modern slavery and  

• Culture updates  
– read more on page 86

• 
of working for colleagues 

• Update on the Group’s work to create  
a skills-based organisation

• Updates on the Group’s environmental 
strategy including on its net zero 
ambitions – read more on page 5

Customers 
and clients

• Group customer dashboard targets  
for assessing customer experience 
outcomes

• The Group’s operational resilience  
self-assessment as the Group seeks  
to ensure resilient services for its 
customers

• Ongoing support for customers and 
clients in light of the increase in the  
cost of living and interest rate rises  
– read more on pages 3 and 87

• Progress on the implementation of 
Consumer Duty – read more on page 4 

• Consumer products and propositions

Strategy
• Group’s approach to environmental 

sustainability – read more on pages 5, 
15, 33 to 38, 84 and 85

• The acquisition of Tusker  
– read more on pages 5 and 20

• Senior management and senior 
leadership development and 
succession planning  
– read more on page 95

• Strategy days to discuss the delivery  
of the strategy and cultural change and 
to consider the external environment  
– read more on page 81

• Updates on strategic transformation 
including on operational resilience

• Updates on business unit performance 

Financial
• Four-year operating plan 
• Annual Report, Form 20-F and half year 

and quarterly interim management 
statements

•  
and interim dividend for 2023 

• Share buyback programme

• 
• Financial updates from the Chief 

highlights and performance against 
budget and sub-group business 
performance

• Stress in the global banking sector

Risk 
management 
and  
regulatory

• Board risk appetite metrics including 
climate risk

• Ring-Fenced Bank governance 

attestation
• PRA Resolvability Assessment 

Framework
• Group Ring-Fencing Policy

• Risk reports and reports from the  
Board Risk Committee

• Model risk
• PRA Periodic Summary Letter  

and actions 
• Group Speak Up Champions report
• Financial crime

Governance
• Appointment of Cathy Turner as the 

Senior Independent Director and  
Board Committee appointments  
– read more on pages 4 and 94 to 96

• Contracts with major suppliers
• Corporate Governance Framework

• Board workshop on Integrated 
Scenario Testing

• Proposed format of the  
2023 annual general meeting

Key focus areas for 2023 

  Communities and environment

 Suppliers

 Regulators and government

Stakeholder key:

 Customers and clients

 Shareholders

 Colleagues
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How governance contributes  
to the delivery of our strategy
Our governance arrangements contribute to the development 
and delivery of our strategy in various ways, including by creating 

independent insight from the non-executive directors.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group’s strategy and 

supported by the wider executive management team.

In 2022 the Board approved a new strategy and in 2023 the Board 
reviewed aspects of the strategic transformation including 
opportunities and risks to delivery.

The below diagram illustrates the different ways in which the 
Board oversees implementation of the Group’s strategy.

 

November strategy offsiteJune strategy offsite

One-to-one discussions with 
management Board Committees

Strategy offsites

Board meetings
Strategy has been regularly discussed at Board meetings both as part of the updates from 

Non-executive directors have discussed 
the strategy at one-to-one meetings 

with members of senior management 

This provides the non-executive directors 
with the opportunity to explore particular 

matters in greater detail outside of 
Board meetings.

A number of the Board Committees 
have oversight of aspects of the Group’s 

strategy. For example, the Board Risk 
Committee considers updates on the 
performance of the Group’s change 

programme being undertaken as 
part of the strategy including the 

related execution risks and the Audit 
Committee provides oversight to the 

strategic development of the reporting 

independent insight provided by internal 
and external audit, supporting rigorous 

review of strategic change.

 
Two strategy offsites gave the Board the opportunity to receive detailed 

updates on topics relating to the Group’s strategic transformation, 
to discuss those topics with the executive management team and 
to provide challenge and feedback to the executive team to inform 

the executive team’s planning and implementation.

Topics at the June offsite included the Consumer 
Relationships strategy, the Business and Commercial 
Banking strategy, the external environment (including 

artificial intelligence) and its implications for the Group, 
and early views on the IP&I business from its newly 

Outcomes of the offsite included feedback to the executive 
team on prioritisation of transformation initiatives and 
on the execution plans for the Consumer Relationships 

on the IP&I business.

Topics at the November offsite included an update 
on purpose, the external environment (including 

Intelligence) and its implications for the Group, an update 
on strategic transformation (including on the Group’s 

operational resilience work) and business strategy 
updates for the Consumer Lending business and the 

Business and Commercial Banking business. 

Outcomes of the offsite included feedback to the 
executive team on articulation of the Group’s purpose, 

opportunities to revisit the pace of the strategic 

How the  
Board oversees 

implementation  
of the Group’s  

strategy
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Stakeholder engagement
The non-executive directors undertook tailored engagement 
via the Closer to Customers, Clients and Colleagues Programme, 
allowing them to hear directly from key stakeholders, including 
customers, clients and colleagues.

The programme was designed to help the directors better 
understand the important issues for our customers, clients 
and colleagues, the role the Group plays in supporting them 
and how the Group is performing in this respect, helping to  
inform the directors’ decision making.

Board leadership and company purpose continued

CCusstooommerrss 
aandd ccclientsss

The Group’s customer-centric approach means the Board has 
an ongoing commitment to understanding and addressing 
customer and client needs, which remains central to achieving 
the Group’s strategic ambitions.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• Non-executive directors attended events to provide deeper 

insight into the issues which customers and clients have faced 
during the year. These events included sessions on the 
challenges of running a small business, the issues faced by 
vulnerable customers, the pressures for customers dealing 

• The Board also took the opportunity to meet with clients  
when visiting Group sites in Glasgow, Chester and Bristol

• Dedicated updates to the Board from across the organisation, 

covered a range of internal and external performance 
measures; in addition, concerns relevant to customers and 

 
put to the Board

• Regular updates to the Board giving insight into the Group’s 
performance in delivering on its customer and client-related 
objectives and commitments, which assisted in determining 
where further action was required to meet these objectives

• 
and client engagement events across various regions of  
the UK, providing an important opportunity for customers  
and clients to raise their concerns directly with these  
Board members

A number of activities took place under the programme, which 
included meetings with customers and clients and conversations 

in their consideration of the proposals reviewed by the Board 
during the year. 

Further engagement by the Board with its stakeholders is 
described below and examples of decision making by the Board 
which had particular stakeholder relevance can be found on 
pages 3 to 5. 

CCollleeaaguueess
Colleagues remain central to the delivery of the Group’s 
strategic ambitions and the Board continues to recognise this  

 
a variety of sessions across the Group to discuss topical issues 
relating to challenges both at and outside of work.

As in 2022, the Board’s Responsible Business Committee has 
been the designated body for workforce engagement, providing 
focus, but with the Board retaining a commitment for individual 
Board members to engage with colleagues directly throughout 
the year. The Board considers these arrangements to be 
effective as they enable a broader range of colleague 
engagement activities, as described in this section.

The Responsible Business Committee reports regularly to  
the Board on all of its activities, including on its colleague 
engagement agenda. The Board will continue to consider  
its arrangements for engaging with the Group’s workforce to 
ensure they remain effective and to encourage meaningful 
dialogue between the Board and colleagues.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• 

of surveys of colleague sentiment, including annual and  
ad hoc surveys and review of the progress being made in 
addressing the matters colleagues have previously raised

• Regular review by the Responsible Business Committee of 
other workforce engagement reports, covering key issues 
raised, trends on people matters and updates on 
colleague sentiment

• An annual report, summarising all colleague engagement 
activity, including key themes and issues which colleagues 
have raised during the year

• Non-executive directors attended a number of colleague 
focus groups, allowing colleagues to share their perspective 
on matters on the Board’s agenda and discuss the Group’s 
progress against its strategic objectives 

• Members of the Board also visited a number of the Group’s 
sites where they met with colleagues, including Glasgow, 
Chester, Bristol and Halifax and a visit to the Halifax branch  
on Commercial Street, Leeds – read more on page 85

• Sessions were hosted by both the Chair and the Group Chief 

other senior leaders with feedback shared with the wider 

the Group
• Board members attended a range of other events held for the 

Group’s senior leaders and other colleague network events

Our stakeholders 
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SShaareeehoolddeerrs
The Group has one of the largest shareholder bases in the UK, 
which includes most of our colleagues. The Board is committed 
to understanding the needs and expectations of all our 
shareholders, both private and institutional.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• A number of directors engaged directly with institutional 

Chair undertook a coordinated programme of meetings 
with approximately 15 major shareholders of the Group, which 
were largely governance focused, including remuneration 

• 
undertook numerous meetings covering topics such as the 

• Other Board members also attended external investor events
• Regular updates from Investor Relations on market views 

and shareholder sentiment/feedback, including an annual 
presentation from the Group’s corporate brokers on market 
dynamics and perception of the Group

• The Board’s Nomination and Governance Committee 
considered correspondence received from institutional 
shareholders and non-governmental organisations, along 
with market feedback

• The Senior Independent Director and Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee engaged with shareholders 
and proxy agencies on matters relevant to remuneration 
and other topics

• Overall, the Group undertook approximately 380 meetings 
with institutional investors, many of which were attended 
by management and directors

CCommmmuuniittieess aannd 
eenvvirroonmmeeennt

The Group is present in almost every community in the country 
and the Board places great importance on engagement and 
action to help these communities prosper, while helping to 
build a more sustainable and inclusive future.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• Updates on climate, environmental and social matters, 

covering aspects of the Group’s business, where the Board 
reviewed progress made against its stated ambitions  
in these areas and agreed any further action it considered 
was required

• The Board continues to be supported in environmental 
matters by its Responsible Business Committee. The 
Committee considers stakeholder views on all matters 
relating to the Group’s ambition to be a trusted, sustainable, 
inclusive and responsible business. The report of the 
Committee on its work during the year can be found  
on page 107

RRegguullatoorsss aanndd 
ggovveerrnmmeenntt

The Board continues to maintain strong and open relationships 
with the Group’s regulators and with government authorities, 
including key stakeholders such as the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA), the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA),  
HM Treasury and HMRC.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• The Chair and individual directors, including Chairs of the 

Board’s Committees, held continuing discussions with the 
FCA and PRA on a number of aspects relevant to the evolving 
regulatory agenda

• The Board reviewed updates on wider Group regulatory 
interaction, providing a view of key areas of focus and also 
progress made in addressing key regulatory priorities

• A meeting was held between the Board and the PRA in July 
to discuss the outcomes and progress of action relevant to 
the PRA’s Periodic Summary Meeting letter

• The Chair and individual directors had a number of 
Continuous Assessment meetings with the PRA to discuss the 
Board’s oversight of the Group, key risks and strategic priorities 

SSuppppllierrs
The Group has a number of partners it relies on for important 
aspects of our operations and customer service provision  
and the Board recognises the importance of these supplier 
relationships in achieving the Group’s wider ambitions.

Examples of Board engagement included:
• The Board’s Audit Committee considered reports from the 

supplier payment practices, including those relating to the 
Group’s key suppliers, ensuring our approach continued 
to meet wider industry standards

• The Board continued to oversee resilience in the supply chain, 
ensuring our most important supplier relationships were not 
impacted by potential material events

• The Board considered matters relating to ensuring continuity 
in the Group’s customer related print communication, 
throughout turbulence within the supply chain in the second 
half of the year
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Sustainability governance 
Given the strategic importance of our sustainability ambitions 
and commitments in managing the impacts arising from climate 
change and broader social issues, the Group’s governance 
structure provides clear oversight and ownership of the Group’s 
sustainability strategy and management of risks and opportunities.

Sustainability-related responsibilities at Board level are overseen 

and risk management responsibility in relation to sustainability-
related matters (including climate) shared with the Audit 
Committee and Board Risk Committee. This ensures appropriate 
Board level coordination and cooperation on these matters.

managed by business unit level teams governed via functional 
and divisional level steering groups and committees.

The Responsible Business Committee oversees the Group’s 
delivery of its purpose including the delivery of our sustainability 
strategy (including climate-related matters). Training has been 
provided to Committee members on upcoming sustainability 
regulation and themes of nature and biodiversity. For further 
details see the sustainability report . 

One of the key areas of Board level involvement in 2023 was the 
approval of three additional Net Zero Banking Alliance sector 
targets and enhancement of our operational emissions targets. 
The Responsible Business Chair statement provides an overview 
of the Responsible Business Committee’s involvement in the 
Group’s sustainability progress and performance – read more  
on page 107. 

We engage proactively with investors and other key stakeholders 
throughout the year on our sustainability priorities and plans. 
Given net zero and sustainability are at the heart of our purpose-

strategic objectives, the good progress already being made  
in this area and the Group’s existing focus on disclosure, 
transparency and engagement, the Board does not believe it is 
necessary to propose a separate climate vote at the Company’s 
2024 annual general meeting at this time. We will continue to be 
transparent on our sustainability strategy, targets, plans and 
progress. We will continue to consider on a regular basis whether 
to propose a climate vote. 

Executive level governance 
The accountable executive for the Group’s sustainability strategy 

There are three key committees that provide management 
oversight from an executive level: the Group Net Zero Committee, 

These are supported by a number of divisional and function-level 
teams who consider sustainability topics. 

Group Executive Committee and Group Net Zero 
Committee governance 
Updates on the key areas of the Group’s sustainability strategy 
are provided to the Responsible Business Committee by the 

The Group Net Zero Committee provides direction and oversight 
of the Group environmental sustainability strategy, including 
particular focus on the net zero transition and nature strategy, 
as well as oversight of the Group’s approach to meeting external 
environmental commitments and targets, including progress  
in relation to the requirements of the Net Zero Banking Alliance. 

Group Risk Committee governance

across the Group, who have Senior Management Function (SMF) 
responsibility covering the Ring-Fenced Banks (Lloyds Bank plc 
and Bank of Scotland plc), Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets and 
the Solvency II regulated entities in Scottish Widows Group 
(under Scottish Widows Group, the Finance Director has additional  

has oversight). 

Climate risk is considered through the Group’s monthly risk 
reporting to the Group Risk Committee, in addition to standalone 
updates on a half-yearly basis which inform discussions at the 
Board Risk Committee. Relevant updates are also provided across 
the Group’s key legal entities, as required. Additional engagement 
on relevant climate-related matters is undertaken through the 
existing risk governance structure, for example, sector risks and 
opportunities related to climate are presented and discussed 
at senior credit forums.

Programme governance is also in place for oversight of plans 
to develop the Group’s climate risk management and scenario 
analysis capabilities.

1 The Chair of the Scottish Widows Board sits on the Group Board. The Scottish 

2 The Chair of the Responsible Business Committee, Amanda Mackenzie,  
is a non-executive director on the Board, a member of the Remuneration 
Committee, the Nomination and Governance Committee and, as of 1 January 
2024, the Audit Committee, and ensures that sustainability is discussed and 

including helping launch the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.
3 The Group Net Zero Committee and the Group Risk Committee provide 

oversight from an environmental perspective only.

Our sustainability governance structure 

 

Divisional and functional-level 
 climate and sustainability steering  

groups or committees

Lloyds Banking Group plc Board1

Responsible 
Business 

Committee2

Audit  
Committee 

Board Risk  
Committee

Board level

Group  
Executive 

Committee1

Group  
Net Zero 

Committee3

Group  
Risk  

Committee3

Executive level

Division and function/platform level

Board leadership and company purpose continued
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Across the Group’s governance structure, key areas of discussion at Board Committee level are detailed below in relation to the 
Group’s sustainability strategy, targets and approach to managing climate-related risk. These Committees meet at least quarterly 
with sustainability matters, including climate, discussed at a number of these meetings. 

Key sustainability topics discussed at the Board’s Committee meetings in 2023

Responsible  
Business Committee 

Audit  
Committee 

Board Risk  
Committee 

Topics discussed
• Approval of our environmental 

strategy update, sector targets 
and methodology for three 
additional Net Zero Banking 
Alliance sector targets 

• Approval of external sector 
statement updates 

• Review of proposals for 
enhancement of our operational 
emission targets including a more 
ambitious direct carbon emissions 
reduction and approval of new 
water, waste and nature pledges 

• Monitoring of progress across the 
Group on implementation of 
credible transition plan efforts 

• Discussion of sustainability-
related opportunities across 
the Group

• Update on nature-related matters 
and the impact on our Group 
sustainability strategy

Topics discussed
• Review of new regulations 

including International 
Sustainability Standards Board, 
Corporate Sustainability 
Reporting Directive and Climate-
related Financial Disclosures

• Activity to assess impacts of 
climate-related risks and 

statements including 

Credit Loss 
• Understanding the control 

environment embedded to 
support 2023 sustainability 
reporting 

• Review of integrated 
sustainability reporting for the 
Group in 2023 

• Climate data requirements were 
discussed at a joint Audit and Risk 
Committee Forum

Topics discussed
• Overview of activities to meet 

regulatory expectations, with 
detailed updates on key areas 
(e.g. credit integration, scenario 
analysis)

• Approvals of Board risk appetite 
for climate risk 

• Update on net zero strategies 
including trade-offs between 
different decisions

• Update on the Group’s approach 
to embedding climate risk in its 
enterprise risk management 
framework 

• Climate data requirements were 
discussed at a joint Audit and Risk 
Committee Forum

Lloyds Banking Group plc Board

For further detail on matters 
discussed in 2023 see the Board Risk 
Committee report on pages 101 to 106 

For further detail on matters 
discussed in 2023 see the Audit 
Committee report on  
pages 97 to 100

For further detail on other 
sustainability-related matters 
discussed in 2023 see the Responsible 
Business Committee report on  
page 107

Non-executive director visits

Amanda Mackenzie (Chair of the Responsible Business 
Committee) and Lord Lupton (member of the Responsible 
Business Committee) visited West Yorkshire in July 2023. 

Road site, where the Group has recently implemented a new 
energy solution for the site. The Group has removed its natural 
gas reliance there by introducing a ground source heat pump 
utilising the natural water that runs below Halifax Town Centre.

Amanda Mackenzie and Lord Lupton then visited the Halifax 
branch on Commercial Street, Leeds and met with colleagues. 
The branch had recently gone through a full transformation to 
make the branch sustainable, change the internal design and 
layout to the latest style and improve the digital approach in 
branch to support customer education. 

Sir Robin Budenberg (Group Chair and a member of the 
 

on Old Broad Street in London in December 2023 to witness 

refurbishment project there. Using the latest air-source heat 
pumps to warm and cool the building, the Group aims to 
reduce energy use on the site by an estimated 63 per cent, 
fully supporting our carbon and energy reduction pledges. 
The Group has been able to recycle or repurpose 99 per cent 
of the waste that came out of the building.
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Board leadership and company purpose continued

Board engagement in 2023 and beyond
Our non-executive directors continue to engage with colleagues 
to deepen their understanding of how colleagues experience 
our culture, including through their participation in the Closer to 
Customers, Clients and Colleagues Programme. For the culture 
element of the programme our Board is provided with a range 
of events and listening sessions with colleagues, giving the Board 
valuable insight to inform its decision making. Towards the end 
of 2022, the decision was made to align topics for colleague 
sessions to key themes arising from colleague surveys.

One session focused on leaders, assessing the impact our  
Grow with Purpose Programme has had on them leading the 
transformation of our business. The discussion focused on how 
leaders are communicating the strategic direction and what 
barriers are getting in the way of driving fast-paced change.

Another session focused on our strategy, our colleagues’ 
understanding of it and the impact it is having on customers.  
This session also looked at the cost of living challenges and 
how colleagues feel they are being supported by the Group 
with these challenges.

The Board continues to monitor culture progress and colleague 
sentiment and engagement by drawing insight from colleague 
engagement surveys and monthly pulse surveys.

Consumer Duty
2023 has seen the implementation of Consumer Duty. This has 
included the design and management of the culture workstream 
for Consumer Duty which was delivered successfully for 
31 July 2023, the date on which Consumer Duty came into force 
for the Group, and continues to be embedded through our 
ongoing Consumer Duty culture work. This work has been in 
multiple phases:
• All-colleague training and was completed by more than 

99 per cent of colleagues by the end of July 2023
• Creation of four in-depth modules covering the four Consumer 

Duty outcomes – almost 100,000 module completions recorded 
in aggregate 

• Design and implementation of workshops for leaders. 
60 workshops delivered and attended by over 1,200 leaders

• 
Board monitoring of culture progress
New for 2023: Culture Dashboard
Our Group Culture Dashboard is a new development introduced 
in November 2023, measuring the connection between high 
performing teams, change readiness and customer outcomes. 
The Culture Dashboard tracks both quantitative and qualitative 
insights and recommends actions to drive progress that will help 
the Group to Grow, Focus and Change.

81% 
colleague survey response rate

200,000 
colleague survey comments analysed

We gathered insight
We looked at data and insights from the following sources:
• Colleague surveys: 81 per cent of colleagues responded 

to our annual all-colleague survey in November
• Conducted monthly pulse surveys with 25 per cent of the 

organisation each time to focus on key topics
• Analysed sentiment from internal and external sources 

including nearly 200,000 comments from our annual 
survey

• Tapped into sentiment being expressed about the world  

• Refocused existing metrics to create a culture dashboard 
focusing on the internal and external environment – and 
developed this at an organisation and business area level
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Group structure and ring-fencing  
governance arrangements
Since 1 January 2019, UK legislation has required large UK banks to 
separate personal banking services, such as current and savings 
accounts, from riskier activities, such as investment banking, 
in other parts of their business. This is called ring-fencing. 
The Group’s structure and governance arrangements meet these 
regulatory requirements. As mentioned on page 76, Lloyds Bank 
plc and Bank of Scotland plc are the banks within the Group which 
have been included within the ring-fence (together, the Ring-
Fenced Banks). The governance structure focuses on ensuring:
• Independent decision making by the Ring-Fenced Banks’ 

between the interests of the Ring-Fenced Banks and the 
interests of another part of the Group and that any such 

• Risks affecting the Ring-Fenced Banks are considered and 
managed from the Ring-Fenced Banks’ perspective – including 
maintenance of the capital adequacy and liquidity of the 
Ring-Fenced Banks

• Clear and effective governance at both Ring-Fenced Bank 
and Lloyds Banking Group plc level – including second and 
third lines of defence in respect of risk management

The subsidiaries of the Group are structured into the following 
sub-groups under Lloyds Banking Group plc, providing effective 
governance for the business undertaken in each sub-group: 
• Ring-Fenced Banks sub-group containing Lloyds Bank plc 

and Bank of Scotland plc (including the Halifax and MBNA 
businesses), serving both their UK personal and commercial 
customers 

• Non-Ring-Fenced Bank sub-group – Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets plc – which provides products and services to Group 
customers that are not allowed within the ring-fence, as well 

of the Group’s subsidiaries and branches outside the UK 
• Insurance sub-group under Scottish Widows Group Limited 

(including Scottish Widows Limited)
• 

(including Lloyds Development Capital (Holdings) Limited) 

As mentioned on page 76, the boards of the Ring-Fenced Banks 
comprise all of the Group directors plus three additional 
independent non-executive directors: Nigel Hinshelwood  
(Senior Independent Director), Sarah Bentley and Brendan 
Gilligan. These Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors are independent 
of the management and the rest of the Group and their role is 
to act exclusively in the best interests of the Ring-Fenced Banks. 
They therefore play a crucial role in the governance structure, 

between the Ring-Fenced Banks and the Group.

Lloyds Bank 
Corporate 

Markets plc 
Non-Ring- 

Fenced Bank

Scottish  
Widows Group  

Limited
Insurance

LBG Equity 
Investments 

Limited

Aligned boards

Lloyds Bank plc11

HBOS plc
Bank of Scotland plc11

1 Ring-Fenced Banks.

Lloyds Banking Group plc simplified sub-group structure 

Lloyds Banking Group Board

Getting closer to customers and clients

The Board remains very conscious of the challenges our 
customers and clients continue to face. During the year the 
Board reviewed and discussed an update dedicated to the 
impact of the increased cost of living on customers and 
clients, how the Group had supported, and would support, 
customers and clients and the Group’s engagement with 
the Financial Conduct Authority on lenders’ commitments  
to support borrowers. 

During the year the Board also received additional updates 
from management on the impacts of the increased cost 
of living on customers and clients across our businesses.

During 2023, Board members have attended customer and 
client engagement sessions to deepen their understanding 
of the day-to-day challenges our customers and clients 
face. The topics explored at these sessions included the 
increased cost of living, the lives of vulnerable customers 

 
of managing a small business in the current environment.
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Board responsibilities
As Chair, Sir Robin Budenberg has overall responsibility for the 
leadership of the Board and for ensuring its effectiveness in all 
aspects of its operation.

The composition of the Board helps ensure that no one individual 
or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision 
making. The diversity of skills, experience and background on the 
Board enables the Board to provide constructive challenge and 
strategic guidance and to offer specialist advice.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership 
of the Board and the executive leadership of the Group – please 
refer to the role summaries below. The responsibilities of the Chair, 

Committees are agreed by the Board and publicly available on 
the Group’s website on our corporate governance page . The 
Chair periodically refreshes membership of the Committees.

Monitoring independence
The Nomination and Governance Committee monitors whether 
there are any relationships or circumstances which may affect  
a director’s independence. Following the most recent review of 
independence, the Committee concluded that all non-executive 
directors are independent in character and judgement and are 
independent directors for the purposes of the Code. For further 
details of the review in respect of Alan Dickinson, noting his long 
service, please see page 95. Sir Robin Budenberg was 
independent on appointment when assessed against the 
circumstances set out in provision 10 of the Code.

Division of responsibilities

Monitoring time commitments
Non-executive directors are advised of time commitments for the 
Board and relevant Committees prior to their appointment and 
are required to devote such time as is necessary to discharge 
their duties effectively. The time commitments of the directors are 
considered by the Board on appointment and annually thereafter 

are no directors whose time commitments are considered to be  
a matter for concern.

commitments to the Board and its Committees, must be agreed 
with the Chair and prior Board approval must be obtained. During 
2023, Amanda Mackenzie was appointed a non-executive director 
of The British Land Company PLC. The Board considered the time 

Committee appointments. The executive directors do not have 

attendance at meetings can be found on page 79.

The right information and support
The Chair, supported by the Company Secretary, ensures that 
Board members receive appropriate and timely information. 
All directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary 
and the Group provides access, at its expense, to the services of 
independent professional advisers in order to assist directors in 

resources to discharge their duties.

Non-executive directors 

The independent non-executive directors challenge management constructively and help develop and set the Group’s strategy. They actively participate 

and review the Group’s risk exposures and controls. The non-executive directors, through the Remuneration Committee, also determine the remuneration of 
executive directors.

Sir Robin Budenberg leads the Board and 
promotes high standards of corporate 
governance. He leads in building an effective  
and complementary Board and sets the Board’s 
agenda. The Chair also leads Board succession 
planning and seeks to ensure effective 
communication with shareholders.

As Deputy Chair, Alan Dickinson supports the 
Chair in representing the Board and deputises for 
the Chair. The Deputy Chair may also represent 

review bodies.

As Senior Independent Director, Cathy Turner is  
a sounding board for the Chair and Group Chief 

other non-executive directors and conducts the 
Chair’s annual performance appraisal. She is 
available to help resolve shareholders’ concerns 
and will attend meetings with major shareholders 

and concerns.

Executive directors Company Secretary

    Chair
  Sir Robin  
 Budenberg 

    Deputy Chair 
 Alan Dickinson
 

    Senior  
Independent 
Director

 Cathy Turner
 

Charlie Nunn manages and leads the Group on  
a day-to-day basis, making decisions on matters 
affecting the operation and performance of the 
Group’s business and the delivery of the Board’s 
approved strategy. He delegates aspects of 
his authority, as permitted under the Corporate 
Governance Framework, to other members of  

Under the leadership of the Group Chief 

implements decisions in all matters affecting the 

specialist knowledge and experience to the 
Board. Together with Charlie Nunn, he designs, 
develops and seeks to implement strategic plans 
and deals with the day-to-day operations of 
the Group.

As Company Secretary, Kate Cheetham advises 
the Board on matters relating to governance, 

comprehensive practical support is provided to 
directors. She is also responsible for maintaining 
the Group’s Corporate Governance Framework 
and organising directors’ induction and training. 
Both the appointment and removal of the 
Company Secretary are matters for the Board 
as a whole.

    Group Chief 
Executive

 Charlie Nunn

    Chief Financial 

 William Chalmers 

    Company 
Secretary

 Kate Cheetham
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Composition, succession and evaluation

Composition
The balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge 
on the Board is the responsibility of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee and is reviewed annually or whenever 
appointments are considered. The Nomination and Governance 
Committee assesses the skills, experience and knowledge of the 
non-executive directors on an individual basis and on a collective 
basis – please see page 73 for the results of the latest collective 
assessment, which was approved on 24 January 2024. Having the 
right balance of skills and experience helps to ensure directors 
discharge their duties effectively.

The Nomination and Governance Committee leads the 
process for Board appointments, which makes recommendations 
to the Board. Open advertising and/or an external search 
consultancy is used for the appointment of the Chair and 
non-executive directors. 

Appointments are made on merit and due consideration is given 
to diversity in its broadest sense, including gender, social, regional 
and ethnic backgrounds and cognitive and personal strengths.

Succession planning
The Nomination and Governance Committee ensures plans  
are in place for orderly succession to both Board and senior 
management positions and oversees the development of a 
diverse pipeline for succession. More information about the work 
of the Nomination and Governance Committee on succession 
planning can be found on pages 94 to 95.

All directors are subject to annual re-election. All directors intend 
to seek re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in 

the Board that they do not intend to seek re-election.

Board Committee cross-membership

Audit  
Committee

Board Risk  
Committee

Nomination and 
Governance  
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Responsible  
Business Committee

Audit Committee

Board Risk Committee

Nomination and Governance 
Committee

Remuneration Committee

Responsible Business Committee

Non-executive directors sitting on multiple Board Committees enables them to read across matters relevant from one Committee to another and, by 
doing so, enhance the discussion on certain matters. The information below is as at 31 December 2023 and therefore does not reflect Amanda Mackenzie 
joining the Audit Committee with effect from 1 January 2024 and Cathy Turner joining the Board Risk Committee with effect from 1 February 2024. 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Sir Robin Budenberg

Alan Dickinson

Sarah Legg

Lord Lupton

Amanda Mackenzie

Harmeen Mehta

Cathy Turner

Catherine Woods

Scott Wheway

3

3
1
2
5
61

91

4

1

Tenure of non-executive directors

 Length of current tenure in complete years as at 31 December 2023. 

1  Lord Lupton and Alan Dickinson have notified the Board that they do not intend  
to seek re-election at this year’s annual general meeting.

3 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg
Catherine Woods

1 Alan Dickinson 1 Catherine Woods 2 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg

2 Alan Dickinson
Scott Wheway

1 Catherine Woods 2 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg

3 Sir Robin Budenberg
Amanda Mackenzie
Cathy Turner

3 Sir Robin Budenberg
Alan Dickinson
Amanda Mackenzie

2 Sir Robin Budenberg
Amanda Mackenzie

3 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg
Catherine Woods

1 Alan Dickinson

1 Catherine Woods

2 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg

2 Alan Dickinson
Scott Wheway

1 Catherine Woods

2 Alan Dickinson
Sarah Legg

3 Sir Robin Budenberg
Amanda Mackenzie
Cathy Turner

3 Sir Robin Budenberg
Alan Dickinson
Amanda Mackenzie

2 Sir Robin Budenberg
Amanda Mackenzie
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Board evaluation
How the Board performs and is evaluated
The annual evaluation, which is typically facilitated externally at 
least once every three years, provides an opportunity to consider 

highlighting areas of further development to enable the Board to 
continuously improve its own performance and the performance 
of the Group. 

The Chair of the Board, with the support of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee, leads the Board in considering and 
responding to the review of the Board’s effectiveness, which 
includes a review of its Committees and individual directors. 
Performance evaluation of the Chair is carried out by the 
non-executive directors, led by the Senior Independent Director, 
considering the views of the executive directors.

The Board is committed to independent evaluation of its own 
effectiveness and that of its Committees as recommended by the 
UK Corporate Governance Code 2018. An external evaluation was 
carried out by Dr Tracy Long in 2022 and a summary of progress 
against the feedback from that evaluation is set out on page 91.

2023 evaluation of the Board’s performance
The 2023 evaluation was conducted internally between November 
2023 and January 2024 by the Company Secretary and was 
overseen by the Nomination and Governance Committee. 

The 2023 review sought the directors’ views on areas of 

topics including: board leadership and contribution; purpose  
and strategy; risk and control; and people, skills, culture and 
feedback. The topics were selected by the Company Secretary 
with input from the Chair.

Process and timeline for 2023 review 

Key findings from the 2023 review

The evaluation concluded that the performance of the Board, the Committees, the Chair and each of the directors continues  
to be effective. All directors demonstrated commitment to their roles and contributed effectively. 

Strengths Areas for improvement/continued focus

Board 
leadership
and 
contribution

• 
meetings enabling all views to be heard

• Open sharing of information by the Board 
and engagement in shaping the forward 
agenda and discussion points

• Board having open access to 
management 

• Continue with different approaches to testing and learning  
to enhance debate and constructive challenge

•  
Board for debate at an early stage and include examples  
of lessons learned

Purpose and 
strategy

• Alignment of the Board’s decision making 
with the Group’s purpose and values

• Board dedicates time to consideration of 
culture and risk transformation as well as 
purpose and strategy

• Increase scope and cadence of updates from the Chief Customer 

• 
such as technology/cyber/data

• Board papers to avoid duplication and demonstrate link between 
decision making and purpose and provide a legal entity lens

• Review forward planners to create annual/regular opportunities 
to invite external experts/speakers to formal and informal sessions 
with the Board where relevant

Risk and 
control

• Board discussions, decisions and 

effective in meeting ring-fencing regime 
requirements

• Board papers and communications 
are timely and appropriate and there 
are effective mechanisms to ensure 
appropriate escalation of issues to  
the Board

• 

• Individual business updates at Board to include more detail on 

of business unit performance

Stage 1 
November – December 2023

The Company Secretary invited all 
directors to complete a questionnaire 
relating to the Board and Committees  
of which they are members. During this 
stage, the Company Secretary met  
with each of the directors to discuss  
their responses.

Stage 2
January 2024

results and discussions with individual 
directors, were considered by the 
Nomination and Governance Committee 

by each Board Committee.

Stage 3
February 2024

Proposed actions based on these 
discussions were discussed at the  
Board’s meeting in February 2024.

Composition, succession and evaluation continued
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Strengths Areas for improvement/continued focus

People, skills, 
culture and
feedback

• Board dedicates appropriate time to 
discussing changes in the executive 
leadership team, succession of all key 
executive positions and Board composition 
(including diversity)

• Alignment of Board actions and decisions 
with culture and ethics of the Group

• Board dedicates time to consideration  
of diversity, equity and inclusion issues

• Review Board, Committee and Strategy Day agendas  
to continue to create opportunities for informal time together  
for Board members

• Continue to ensure that certain meetings are non-executive 
director and Chair only to allow for smaller more interactive 
discussions

• In any recruitment, continue to focus on appropriate expertise

Key findings from the 2023 review

The main focus in improvements to Board effectiveness in 2023 has been on creating room for more forward-looking and strategic 
discussions on key matters at Board and Committee meetings. These enhancements have been achieved by encouraging the 

and experience to the evolution and delivery of the strategy, ensuring that it is aligned with the Group’s purpose and values.

Links to strategy Theme Feedback from the 2022 evaluation Actions taken in 2023

GGGGGrrrrooooooowwww
Board 
leadership 
and 
contribution

1. Consider further dedicated professional 
time outside of Board meetings

2. There is an opportunity for issues to be 
brought to the Board and Committees 
earlier to allow more scope for discussion

1. A programme of Board events with 
external speakers was prepared and 
sessions held. Opportunities were created 
during meeting cycles for the Board 
members to spend informal time together

2. The executive team were encouraged by 
the Board to bring items for earlier Board 
input and discussion. Topics of strategic 
importance were brought back iteratively 
for discussion and the executive and 
Board members had input into the 
cadence and focus of these discussions 

FFFFFFoooooccccccuuuuuuuussss
Risk and 
control

1. Ongoing development of agenda and 
papers to encourage broader discussion 
on priorities

2. Consider a review of the three lines  
of defence model

3. Continue focus on learning through 
presentations of ‘lessons learned’

1. The Board forward planner and agenda 
now include business unit updates on 
performance and strategic topics, with 
directors encouraged to raise points of 
challenge and/or concern in advance  
of meetings in order to focus the debate

2. A three lines of defence review programme 
was mobilised with sponsorship from the 

3. Papers and presentations from the 
executive to the Board and Committees 
have enhanced content and 
commentary on areas of concern, root 
cause analysis and the lessons learned 

CCCCChhhhaaaaaannnggggeeee
Strategy 1. Continued awareness by all directors  

of the changes and challenges in the 
external environment

1. Updates on the progress and challenges 
to the Group’s strategy and 
transformation were discussed regularly 
at the Board, including economic 

business units and standalone sessions 
dedicated to the external environment

People, 
culture & 
environment

1. Ongoing commitment from the Group 

Committee and the Board to ensure  
that the culture of accountability is 
demonstrated from the top

2. Continued focus on data, cyber, 
environmental issues and impact 
(including net zero) and inclusion  
and diversity

1. The Board and Committee paper 
templates were reviewed and training 
provided to authors to draw out purpose, 
values and culture in discussions

2. Regular updates received on cultural 
transformation, including role of the 
senior leadership in driving values and 
behaviours. Senior leadership held to 
account through balanced scorecards 
and objectives

3. Regular updates, including ‘deep dives’ 
on data, cyber, environmental issues and 
inclusion and diversity

 

Progress against the 2022 evaluation
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Board training
The Chair is responsible for leading the development, and 
monitoring the effective implementation, of training policies and 
procedures for the directors. On appointment, each director 
receives a formal and tailored induction. There is also a 
programme of ongoing training for directors.

Composition, succession and evaluation continued

The directors are committed to their own ongoing professional 
development and the Chair discusses training with each non-
executive director at least annually. The Company Secretary 
oversees a training plan for the non-executive directors, with the 
plan for 2023 discussed at the Nomination and Governance 
Committee at the start of the year with the non-executive 
directors encouraged to suggest training topics of interest.

Induction

Directors who take on new 
roles, such as Cathy Turner 
taking over as Senior 
Independent Director and 
Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee, or change roles 
during the year attend 
induction or handover 
meetings in respect of  
those new roles. 

Training sessions have been 
offered across a range of 
topics of particular interest that 
were chosen to complement 
the Board agenda and 
facilitate advanced discussion. 
Where training was offered 
online, the sessions have been 
recorded and made available 
to all directors. The topics are 
produced based on the level of 
knowledge and experience of 
Board members. Key topics 
during 2023 included:
• Group Customer Dashboard
• Senior Managers and 

• Market abuse including 
disclosure of inside 
information

• Consumer Duty
• Recovery and resolution 

plans
• Nature (sustainability  

and climate)
• Data ethics
• Tax
In addition to the above, 
a board incident management 
exercise was undertaken.

Non-executive directors 
are asked to complete 
training modules on a 
quarterly basis. In 2023, 
these modules were on:
• Modern slavery
• Fighting economic 

crime – advanced 
anti-bribery

• Security 
• Conduct rules
• Speak Up (the Group’s 

whistleblowing 
programme)

is agreed by Committee 
Chairs as and when needed 
such as that provided to the 
Audit and Risk Committee 
Forum – please read more 
at the bottom of this page.

In November 2023 there was the second meeting of the 
Audit and Risk Committee Forum, which was attended by 
members of the Group, Insurance and Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets Audit Committees and Board Risk Committees  
as well as colleagues from the business. 

The aims of this informal forum were to have interactive 
discussion to gain a shared understanding and appreciation 
of common areas of interest and to network. 

The topics discussed were risk and control environment,  
model risk management, supplier risk management and 
climate data. 

Audit and Risk Committee Forum for non-executive directors 

New non-executive directors receive a tailored induction that 
focuses on the Group’s culture and values, stakeholders, 
strategy, structure, operations and governance with an 
emphasis on ensuring that the induction brings the business 

experience to date.

An induction pack is provided containing key corporate 
documents and information relating to the Group covering 
aspects such as the role of a director (including relevant Group 

 
gifts and hospitality and share dealing), the Board and its 

management, culture, shareholders and training.

Other trainingNew role trainingCommittee trainingGroup training modules
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Audit and risk
There are formal policies and procedures in place designed 
to ensure the independence and effectiveness of the internal 
and external audit functions. Group Internal Audit is a single 
independent internal audit function, reporting to the Audit 
Committee. Further detail can be found in the sections headed 
‘Group Internal Audit’ and ‘Auditor independence and 
remuneration’ on page 100.

The Board has delegated a number of responsibilities to the  

reporting, the effectiveness of internal controls and the risk 
management framework, whistleblowing, the internal audit 
process and the external auditor’s process. The Audit Committee 
reports regularly to the Board on its activities and its report for 

 
on pages 97 to 100.

Requirements that the annual report is fair, balanced and 
understandable are considered during the drafting and reviewing 
process and the Board has concluded that the 2023 annual 
report meets this requirement. The Board is supported in this by  
its Audit Committee and a sign-off process involving different 
sections of the annual report being approved for inclusion 
by senior management, with additional review by the Group 
Disclosure Committee. The statement of directors’ responsibilities 
can be found on page 136 and the statement of the Auditor’s 

be found on page 209. Related information on the Company’s 
business model and strategy can be found on pages 1 to 45.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and 
internal controls systems, including the determination of the 
nature and extent of risk the Company is willing to take. Risk is 
further managed through the Board-approved risk management 
framework, as discussed in the risk management report on 
pages 138 to 196. The Board Risk Committee assists the Board 

including by the provision of advice to the Board on risk strategy 
and overseeing the development, implementation and 
maintenance of the Group’s overall risk management framework, 
strategy, principles and policies and its risk appetite. The Board 
Risk Committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities and 

 
can be found on pages 101 to 106.

Internal control
Board responsibility
The Board is responsible for, and monitors, the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems. These are designed  

quality and integrity of internal and external reporting and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and for the 
determination of the nature and extent of the principal risks the 
Group is willing to take in order to achieve its strategy. The directors 
and senior management are committed to maintaining a robust 
control framework as the foundation for the delivery of effective risk 
management. The directors acknowledge their responsibilities in 
relation to the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness.

In establishing and reviewing the risk management and internal 
control systems, the directors carried out a robust assessment of 
the emerging and principal risks facing the Company, including 
those that would threaten its business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity and reputation, the likelihood of a risk event 

evaluation and management of the emerging and principal risks 
faced by the Group is integrated into the Group’s overall 

and management process is designed to also identify whether 
the controls in place result in an acceptable level of risk. At Group 
level, a consolidated risk report, risk appetite dashboard and 

debated by the Group Risk Committee and the Board Risk 

Audit, risk and internal control

Committee, with formal updates provided to the Board to  

risk accountabilities and mitigating actions. The report and 
 

key risks and management actions, together with performance 
against risk appetite and an assessment of emerging risks  
which could affect the Group’s performance over the life of  
the operating plan. Information regarding the main features  
of the internal control and risk management systems in relation  

management report on pages 138 to 196.

Best practice in relation to risk management continues to evolve 

enhancements to its risk management arrangements that are 
proposed to be implemented as part of continuous improvement. 
To support the Board’s approval, the Board Risk Committee  
has reviewed the 2023 plan and recommended approval  
of the proposals. 

The Board Risk Committee and the Board concluded that the 
Group’s risk management arrangements throughout 2023  
were adequate overall and provided assurance that the risk 
management systems put in place were responsive to the 

 
the enhancements proposed will ensure that the Group’s risk 

developing risk management best practice for the future.

Control effectiveness review
All material controls are recorded and assessed on a regular 
basis in response to triggers or at least annually. Control 
assessments consider both the adequacy of their design and 
operating effectiveness. Where a control is not effective, the root 
cause is established and action plans implemented to improve 
control design or performance. Control effectiveness against  
all residual risks is aggregated by risk category, reported and 
monitored via the monthly Key Risk Insights or Consolidated  
Risk Report (CRR). The Key Risk Insights/CRR are reviewed and 
independently challenged by the Risk division and provided to  

Committee. On an annual basis, a point in time assessment 
is made for control effectiveness against each risk category 
and across the sub-groups. The Operational Risk System,  
Key Risk Insights or CRR are the sources used for this point  
in time assessment and a year-on-year comparison on  
control effectiveness is reported to the Board Risk Committee  
and the Board.

Reviews by the Board
The effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems is reviewed at least annually by the Board, the Board Risk 
Committee and the Audit Committee, which also receive reports 
of reviews undertaken by the Risk division and Group Internal 
Audit. The Audit Committee receives reports from the Company’s 

with the auditor at least once a year without executives present 
to ensure that there are no unresolved issues of concern. The 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are 
regularly reviewed by the Board Risk Committee and the Board 
and are consistent with the Guidance on Risk Management, 
Internal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council. There is also an annual 

which is reviewed by the Board Risk Committee and the Audit 

place for the year under review and up to the date of the approval 
of the annual report. The Group, Ring-Fenced Bank sub-group and 
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets have achieved full compliance 
with BCBS 239 risk data aggregation and risk reporting 
requirements and actively continue to maintain this status.
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Key activities in 2023

• Board succession planning and recruitment
• Board and Committee composition, skills and training
• Senior executive succession planning
• Board evaluation outcomes
• Inclusion and diversity

Sir Robin Budenberg
Chair, Nomination and 
Governance Committee

Nomination and Governance Committee report 

Driving an increase in inclusion and 
diversity across the Board and executive 
remains a priority.

A persistent focus on succession  
planning helps ensure continuity  
of strong leadership

Introduction
As highlighted in my introduction to the corporate governance 
report on page 72 , Cathy Turner was appointed as Senior 
Independent Director during the year. Cathy’s appointment to 
this role helps demonstrate not only our commitment to diversity 
across the Board’s senior roles, but also how strong succession 
planning can, amongst other things, play its part in providing 
candidates for different Board roles. 

Beyond Board and executive succession planning, other key areas 
of focus for the Committee this year have included Board 
effectiveness and training, composition of the Board’s Committees 
and implementation of actions arising from the 2022 externally 
facilitated Board evaluation process. All of these areas are covered 
in more detail throughout this report.

Committee purpose and responsibilities 
The purpose of the Committee is to keep the Board’s governance, 
composition, skills, experience, knowledge, independence and 
succession arrangements under review and to make appropriate 
recommendations to the Board to ensure the Company’s 
arrangements are consistent with the highest corporate 
governance standards.

Board and Committee changes

do not intend to seek re-election at this year’s annual general 
meeting having served nine and almost seven years respectively 
on the Board. Nathan Bostock will be appointed as a non-
executive director and, subject to regulatory approval, Chair of 
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc, in each case with effect from 
1 August 2024. Cathy Turner succeeded Alan Dickinson as Senior 
Independent Director and also as Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee on 13 September 2023, at which point Alan ceased to 
be a member of the Remuneration Committee. At the same time, 
Cathy was appointed as a member of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee and, as announced on 25 January 2024, 
Cathy was appointed as a member of the Board Risk Committee 
with effect from 1 February 2024. Details of the selection process 
for Cathy’s appointment as Senior Independent Director can be 
found on page 96. As announced on 18 December 2023, Amanda 
Mackenzie was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee 
with effect from 1 January 2024.

Succession planning
Consideration has been given to tenure of Board members and 
potential future Board retirements and the impact of these on 
membership of the Board and its Committees, with particular 
attention given to succession arrangements for Alan Dickinson 
and Lord Lupton, as detailed above. The Committee’s ongoing 
review of the structure, size and composition of the Board and its 
Committees helps ensure that the appropriate mix of knowledge, 
skills, experience and diversity is maintained. A summary of Board 
and Committee composition and attendance can be found on 
page 79.

The Committee also continues to consider the overall health and 
diversity of the executive talent pipeline, together with detailed 
executive succession planning. Key considerations include, for 
example, cultural and strategic capabilities which will help deliver 
the strategic aims of the Group’s transformation programme. 
Further details on the Committee’s approach to succession 
planning can be found on page 95.

Board effectiveness and training
An internally facilitated Board evaluation has been conducted this 
year, overseen by the Committee. Full details of how the review 
was undertaken, and its outcomes, are provided on page 90, 
together with a summary of progress against the actions arising 
from the 2022 external Board evaluation process carried out by 
Dr Tracy Long on page 91. The Committee considered the 
outcomes of the review and agreed, and recommended to the 
Board for approval, the actions arising from the review. During 
2024, the Committee will continue to oversee implementation  
of the remaining actions from the 2022 review, together with 
outcomes from the 2023 review. The Committee has also 

 
of which, together with the outcomes of the Board evaluation 
process as relevant to the Committee, were considered by the 
Committee at its January 2024 meeting; it was considered that 
the performance of the Committee continues to be effective.

Q &A 

Q   How have the activities of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee (the Committee) helped strengthen inclusion 
and diversity across the membership of the Board and 
its Committees?

A   The Committee is responsible for overseeing the development 
of a diverse pipeline for succession at both Board and executive 
level. Inclusion continues to lie at the heart of the Group’s 
purpose and, in its ongoing assessment of the composition of 
the Board and its Committees, inclusion and diversity remain 
key considerations. Continuing to meet and exceed industry 
targets for Board diversity demonstrates our commitment, 
with the Committee’s role central to achieving this. Details  
of the Board diversity policy are set out on page 96.

Q   What aspects of succession planning have the Committee 
focused on in 2023?

A   Last year’s report highlighted that September 2023 would see 
Alan Dickinson having served nine years on the Board. 
Consequently, a key focus has been the succession 
arrangements for Alan’s roles, which led to Cathy Turner being 
appointed as Senior Independent Director during the year and 
the appointment of Nathan Bostock as a non-executive director 
to replace Alan’s core banking experience on the Board. Further 
consideration continues to be given to Board Committee 
membership as well as non-executive director recruitment. 
The Committee also considered succession planning for senior 
executives, building on the additional focus on this during 2022. 
See page 95 for more details.

Q   What are the key areas of focus for the Committee in 2024?

A   In addition to succession planning, the year ahead will see a 
focus on seeking to continue enhancing inclusion and diversity 
at both Board and executive levels. Composition of the Board 
and its Committees, and overseeing implementation of actions 
arising from the Board evaluation, will also be given 
appropriate attention. 
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The Committee also oversees training undertaken by the 
non-executive directors. The Chair discusses training with each 
non-executive director at least annually and, as set out in the 
summary of Board training on page 92 , training sessions have 
been offered across a range of topics which complement the 
Board agenda, in addition to mandatory training requirements. 
Learning and engagement opportunities have been undertaken 
by all non-executive directors in relation to material aspects of 
the Group’s business.

Independence and time commitments 
 

that, throughout the year, all non-executive directors remained 
independent1 in character and judgement, and are independent 
directors for the purposes of the Code. Having served nine years  

and particularly rigorous consideration to Alan Dickinson’s 
independence. On the basis of the continued robust and 
constructive challenge and oversight provided in his role, 

retail and commercial banking experience, the Committee 

director. During the processes leading to the appointment of 
Cathy Turner as Senior Independent Director, consideration was 
given to Cathy’s independence and overall time commitments  
to ensure that her other appointments could continue to be 
appropriately accommodated. Nathan Bostock’s independence 
was considered as part of the appointment process and it was 
determined that he would be independent for the purposes of the 
Code. As discussed on page 88 of the corporate governance 
report, consideration is also given to time commitments when 
directors seek to take on any additional external appointments.

In recommending directors for re-election at the annual general 
meeting, the Committee has reviewed the performance of each 
non-executive director and their ability to continue meeting the 
time commitments required, taking into consideration individual 

interest that have been disclosed. The external roles held by all 
directors were considered to be appropriate. Fuller details of any 

page 133.

The Group’s Corporate Governance Framework
The most recent annual review of the Corporate Governance 

2022, while ensuring it remains compliant with relevant 
obligations and best practice.

As part of its broader governance responsibilities, the Committee 
considered regular updates on developments in corporate 

 
the Financial Reporting Council’s consultation on proposed 
changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code, FCA and PRA 

The Committee also considered correspondence with 
shareholders on governance issues.

UK Corporate Governance Code
The Company applied the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 
for the year ending 31 December 2023 and complied with all the 
provisions. A table in relation to the Company’s compliance can 
be found on page 71.

The Committee reports to the Board on how it discharges its 
responsibilities and makes recommendations to the Board,  
all of which have been accepted during the year. The 
Committee’s terms of reference can be found on the  
corporate governance page  on our website.

Committee composition, skills and experience
To ensure a broad representation of experienced and 
independent directors, membership of the Committee currently 
comprises the Chair, Deputy Chair, Senior Independent Director 
(who is also the Chair of the Remuneration Committee) and the 
Chair of the Responsible Business Committee, together with a 
further independent non-executive director (who is the Chair of 

Succession planning 

Succession planning, at both Board level and across key senior 
management roles, continued to be a core area of consideration 
for the Committee during 2023, with a particular focus on 
succession arrangements for Alan Dickinson. 

strategic objectives over the medium and longer term by ensuring 
the desired mix of skills and experience of Board members and 
executives, this being particularly important as we continue to 
drive forward delivery of the Group’s strategic and cultural 
transformation. The Board remains committed to ensuring the 
development of a diverse pipeline of current and future leaders 
across the Group’s executive and management levels, through 
the provision of a range of development opportunities.

At an executive level, the Chair is responsible for developing and 
 

is, in turn, primarily responsible for developing and maintaining 
succession plans for key leadership positions in the senior 
executive team. As part of its regular oversight and review of the 
adequacy and effectiveness of succession arrangements for 
executive directors and members of the senior executive, the 
Committee received and discussed regular updates from the 

arrangements. These demonstrated the continuing strength 
and effectiveness of the Group’s senior management succession 
planning, through the depth and diversity of the succession 
plans covering key senior management roles.

The Committee also supports the Chair in keeping the composition 
of the Board and its Committees under regular review and in 
leading the appointment process for nominations to the Board. 
This helps ensure continued focus on increasing the overall 
diversity of the Board and capacity for future succession planning, 
bearing in mind tenure of Board members and potential future 
retirements from the Board. The appointment process set out on 
the following page helps illustrate how this works in practice. 
In contemplating succession arrangements for Alan Dickinson 
as Senior Independent Director, the Committee considered both 
external and internal candidates, before making the 
recommendation to the Board that Cathy Turner be appointed 
as Senior Independent Director. Cathy’s breadth of executive and 
non-executive experience was a key factor, helping demonstrate 
the strength of our succession planning arrangements and 
recruitment processes. In addition to the appointment of Nathan 
Bostock, the Committee continues to give consideration to the 
appointment of further non-executive representation to the Board. 

The Chair leads an ongoing assessment of the Board’s technical 
and governance skill set, on both an individual and collective basis, 
using a Board skills matrix to track the Board’s strengths and to 

Consideration is given to a range of factors such as the Group’s 
future strategic direction and helping to ensure that due weight 
is given to diversity in its broadest sense. The skills matrix is 
considered in the appointment of all Board members. The Group’s 
diversity commitments and outcomes of the Board evaluation 
process are also taken into consideration.

Succession planning also plays a key role in the recognition and 
promotion of diversity across the Board and senior management, 
further supported by a range of policies across the Group which 
promote the engagement of under-represented groups within the 
business in order to help continue to build a diverse talent pipeline. 
Further details can be found on page 31. 

1 The Chair was independent on appointment. Under the Code, thereafter 
the test of independence is not appropriate in relation to the Chair.

Scottish Widows Group). The Senior Independent Director of the 
Ring-Fenced Banks also attends meetings as an observer in order 
to provide insights on matters relevant to the Ring-Fenced Banks 
when required and as part of his role in the Group’s overall 
governance structure.

Details of Committee membership and meeting attendance 
during the year can be found on page 79.
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Nomination and Governance Committee report continued

Appointment process – non-executive directors 

The Committee leads the process for the appointment of non-
executive directors, making recommendations to the Board for the 
appointment of preferred candidates. The process involves open 

candidates for consideration, from which a short list of candidates 
is selected who are then interviewed by the Chair, with further 
interviews and meetings then being held with other members of the 
Board, as deemed appropriate. After further consideration the 
Committee makes its recommendations to the Board for formal 
approval. This is a formal, rigorous and transparent process, leading 
to appointments being made on merit and objective criteria, with 
due consideration being given to a broad range of factors such 
as diversity of gender, social and ethnic backgrounds, cognitive 
and personal strengths and the Group’s future strategic direction.

There were no additional non-executive directors appointed  
to the Board during 2023. The process described above has  
been followed in the appointment of Nathan Bostock; the Group  
will report further on that appointment process in its 2024  
annual report.

The Committee gave particular consideration to the Senior 
Independent Director role recognising that, by September 2023, 
Alan would have served nine years on the Board. The Committee 
delegated authority to the Chair to lead the formal interview  
and selection process for this role and, supported by Alan, 
consideration was given to both external and internal candidates 

Associates, who were engaged in the process of identifying 
external candidates for consideration, as well as the process which 
resulted in Nathan Bostock’s recruitment, have no connection with 
the Group or individual directors other than conducting leadership 
search and succession planning services and facilitating 
leadership performance services. The Committee was kept 
informed on progress and discussions were held with other Board 
members, from which the consensus view was a preference for an 

directors for their views and interviewed the candidates for the role, 
before the matter was further discussed by the Committee. This led 
to the Committee’s recommendation, and the Board’s approval, of 
the appointment of Cathy Turner as Senior Independent Director. 
Further information on this process can also be found on page 4.

Board diversity policy
The Board diversity policy (the Policy) sets out the Board’s 
approach to diversity and provides a high-level indication  
of the Board’s approach to inclusion and diversity in senior 
management roles which is governed in greater detail through 
the Group’s policies.

The Board places great emphasis on ensuring that its 

is given to the combination of demographics, skills, experience, 
race, age, gender, educational and professional background and 
other relevant personal attributes on the Board to provide the 
range of perspectives, insights and challenge needed to support 
good decision making.

New appointments are made on merit, taking account of the 

 
each candidate can bring to the overall Board composition.

Objectives for achieving Board diversity are reviewed on a regular 
basis. On gender diversity, the Board is committed to maintaining 
at least four women Board members and over time will aim to 
reach 50 per cent representation of men and women on the 
Board to match the 50 per cent ambition that the Group has set 

will also aim to meet the recommendations set out by the 

Committees individually, although we strive to apply similar 
representation across the Committees. The Board is comfortable 

memberships and that this remains an ongoing consideration. 
The representation of women on the Board is currently 45 per cent 

men). As at 31 December 2023, the Group meets the three board 

the Board comprises at least 40 per cent women, at least one of 
the chair, the chief executive, the senior independent director or 

information disclosed in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(10) 
and (11) can be found on page 136.

The Group has also set a target of 13 per cent of senior roles to 

Board members. As at 31 December 2023, the Board continues to 
meet the Board level recommendation of the Parker Review with 

the Board places high emphasis on ensuring the development 
of diversity in the senior management roles within the Group 
and supports and oversees the Group’s ambition of achieving 
50 per cent of senior roles held by women by 2025 and of 

colleagues by 2025 (including a minimum of 3 per cent of senior 
roles being held by Black Heritage colleagues). This is 
underpinned by a range of policies within the Group to help 
provide mentoring and development opportunities for women 

unbiased career progression opportunities. Progress on this 
objective is monitored by the Board and built into its assessment 
of executive performance.

As at 31 December 2023, the representation of women within 

Committee and 46.2 per cent for their direct reports). The 
representation of women across all senior roles was 40.1 per cent, 

was 11.3 per cent. The Group’s Race Action Plan, which was 
launched during 2020, aims to drive cultural change, recruitment 
and progression across the Group. This includes a goal to 
increase Black representation in senior roles from 0.6 per cent 
to at least 3 per cent by 2025. As at 31 December 2023, we have 
increased the representation of Black Heritage colleagues in 
senior roles to 1.7 per cent. Further details of the Race Action Plan, 
and the Group’s further achievements in championing inclusion 
and diversity in its widest sense, can be found on page 31.

A copy of the Policy is available on the social sustainability page  
on our website and further information on the Board’s broader 
approach to inclusion and diversity as part of its strategic 
priorities and continued investment in being a leading inclusive 
employer can be found on pages 30 to 32.
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and the effectiveness of the internal control 
environment are key priorities for 
the Group

Q  What role has the Committee played in supporting 
transformation within the Finance function?

A  The Committee has had the opportunity to review and challenge 
the plans and progress made with the Finance transformation 
and strategy, a multi-year programme that is critical to the 
success of Finance and the wider Group. The Committee has 
received regular updates from management on progress with 
the Finance transformation and has also heard from Internal 

to consider further areas which are key to supporting the 
transformation, including finance talent and succession plans.

Q  How has the Committee supported the Group’s sustainability 
reporting during the year?

A  Throughout the year, the Committee has remained close to the 
developments in narrative reporting and how this is continuing 
to translate into financial statement disclosures. Progress on 
enhanced reporting processes and control environment across 
the social and environmental spectrum has been monitored, 
alongside development of new targets through to internal 
monitoring and external disclosure. The Committee supports 
the commitment to continuous improvement in sustainability 
reporting, which will remain a priority in 2024 given the pace of 
change with external standards.

Sarah Legg
Chair, 
Audit Committee

• Reviewing and approving the Group’s IFRS 17 transition 
document published in April 2023 and the new IFRS 17 
disclosures included within the Group’s annual report 
and accounts

• Supporting the close working of the Committees of the 
Board on matters relevant to sustainability

• Assessing the effects and action required on 
matters relevant to the remit of the Audit Committee 
(the Committee) as a consequence of external volatility

Q&A

Key activities in 2023

Audit Committee report

Introduction
I am pleased to report on how the Committee has discharged
its responsibilities during what has been another busy year and  
I would like to start by thanking Committee members for their 
ongoing contributions to and continued support of the 

participation of Ring-Fenced Bank-only directors, who attend the 
Committee as observers, bringing insight on matters relevant to 
the Ring-Fenced Banks. Also, I would like to welcome Amanda 
Mackenzie, who became a member of the Committee on 
1 January 2024.

The Committee has again during 2023 worked closely with other 
Board Committees, in particular in matters relating to the Group’s 
sustainability ambitions and climate-related disclosures. I am 
pleased to report that the joint Audit and Risk Forum, which was 
formed in 2022 to discuss governance topics of common interest, 
met again in 2023 providing an opportunity for both Committees 
to share thinking on areas of common interest. 

Looking forward to 2024, in addition to our core responsibilities,  
the Committee will continue to monitor areas of continuous 
improvement on an end-to-end basis, and the audit plan to 
deliver focus from a risk perspective. 

Committee purpose and responsibilities
The purpose of the Committee is to monitor and review the formal
arrangements established by the Board in respect of the integrity

and the Company. The Committee also monitors and reviews the 
independence and effectiveness of the internal and external 
audit functions, the effectiveness of the internal controls and the 
risk management framework and the adequacy and security of 
the arrangements for whistleblowing.

statements and the independence of the statutory external
auditor. The Committee reports to the Board on how it discharges
its responsibilities and makes recommendations to the Board,
all of which have been accepted during the year. A full list of
responsibilities is detailed in the Committee’s terms of reference,
which can be found on our corporate governance page  on the 
Group’s website. 

In satisfying its purpose, the Committee undertakes the functions 
detailed within Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 7.1.3R. 
During the year the Committee considered a number of matters 

summarised on the following pages, including discussion of the 
conclusions the Committee reached, and the key factors 
considered in reaching these conclusions. 

In addition, the Committee considered a number of other matters 

controls, internal audit and external audit. These matters are also 

Q  Why has the work of the Committee been important in managing 
the impact of uncertainty on the Group’s pension schemes? 

A  With an uncertain economic environment, including increased 
interest rates, the Committee continued to focus on the key 
valuation inputs to the accounting presentation of the Group’s 
pension schemes. This included consideration of the underlying 
assumptions, in particular those relating to demographics and 
rates of inflation. The Committee noted the results of the 
triennial valuation of the main schemes as at 31 December 2022, 
which were also shared with the Board.

The Group’s IFRS 17 transition and the 
impacts of external volatility have been 
key priorities during the year.
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Key issues Committee review and conclusion

Allowance for 
impairments on loans 
and advances

31 December 2023: 
£4,084 million

31 December 2022: 
£4,903 million

The Group’s impairment 
provision is dependent  
on management’s 
judgements on matters 
such as future interest 
rates, house prices and 
unemployment rates, 
as well as its assessment 

position of its customers. 

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the level of provision held for 

 

the Committee, to deliver impact assessments and sensitivity analysis more  
quickly and accurately. This has been particularly relevant given the constantly 

judgemental adjustments (31 December 2023: £28 million; 31 December 2022: 
£330 million), and a discussion of the improvements the Group has made to its 

management’s rationale for these provisions and has challenged whether their 

adjustment was required. 

Conclusion:

Committee composition, skills,  
experience and operation
The Committee acts independently of the executive to ensure
the interests of shareholders are properly protected in relation 

All members of the Committee are independent non-executive 

biographies can be found on pages 74 to 75. Sarah Legg is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 
and of the Association of Corporate Treasurers, with extensive 

international accounting standards. She is a member having 

UK Corporate Governance Code and is the Audit Committee 

During the course of the year, the Committee held separate 
sessions with the internal and external audit teams, without 
members of the executive management present. 

The Committee undertook an annual review of its effectiveness, 

evaluation process as relevant to the Committee (which, for 2023, 
was internally facilitated) were considered by the Committee at
its January 2024 meeting. It was considered that the performance 
of the Committee continues to be effective. 

While the Committee’s membership comprises the non-executive
directors noted on page 79, all non-executive directors may
attend meetings as agreed with the Chair of the Committee.

The Group Financial Controller, Chief Internal Auditor, the external

of Committee membership and meeting attendance can be
found on page 79.

Audit Committee report continued

Matters considered during 2023

Ja
n

Fe
b

A
pr

Ju
n

Ju
l

O
ct

Ja
n

Fe
b

A
pr

Ju
n

Ju
l

O
ct

Reporting
Review of external reporting documents

Going concern assumption/viability statement

Regulatory reporting

Sustainability-related reporting

Activities of subsidiary audit committees

Updates on IFRS 17

Audit and corporate governance reforms 

Group Internal Audit
Reports from Group Internal Audit,  
including Speak Up (whistleblowing)

Control environment
Control update (including Sarbanes-Oxley) 

Annual review of risk management framework  
and control effectiveness review summary

External audit
Reports from the external auditor  
(including external audit plan)

Reappointment, remuneration, non-audit  
services and effectiveness

Other
Audit Committee effectiveness review

Finance strategy and transformation

Financial reporting
During the year, and in relation to the year ended 31 December 2023, the Committee considered the following issues in relation

external auditor.

Areas of focus



99

Financial results
Risk m

anagem
ent

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

O
ther inform

ation
Strategic report

Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023

Key issues Committee review and conclusion

Going concern and 
viability statement

The directors are required 

have a reasonable 
expectation that the 
Company and the Group 
will be able to continue 
to operate and meet their 
liabilities as they fall due 

The viability statement 
must also disclose the 
basis for the directors’ 
conclusions and explain 
why the period chosen 
is appropriate.

The Committee assisted the Board in determining the appropriateness 
of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and in performing the 
assessment of the viability of the Company and the Group. These assessments 
were based on the Group’s operating, funding and capital plans which included 
consideration of climate-related matters on the Group’s performance and its 
projected funding and capital position. The Committee also took into account 
the results of the Group’s stress testing activities (page 143), its principal risks 
(page 40 to 43) and its emerging risks (page 44).

Conclusion: The Committee determined that the going concern basis of 
accounting was appropriate and advised the Board that three years was  
a suitable period of review for the viability statement and that the viability 
statement could be provided. The viability statement is disclosed within the 
directors’ report on page 45.

Uncertain tax 
provisions

The Group has open tax 
matters which require it to 
make judgements about 
the most likely outcome 
for the purposes of 
calculating its tax position.

The Committee reviewed management’s assessment of the Group’s uncertain 
tax positions, which took into account the views of the relevant tax authorities 
and any external advice it received. In particular, it considered the Group’s claim 
for group relief of losses incurred in its former Irish banking subsidiary.

Conclusion: 
made in respect of uncertain tax positions were appropriate.

obligations

31 December 2023: 
£30,201 million

31 December 2022: 
£28,965 million

The value of the Group’s 

plan obligations is 
determined using both 

demographic 
assumptions.

The Committee reviewed the process used by management to determine 

mortality rates.

Conclusion:

and were consistent with market data and other information.

Insurance liabilities

31 December 2023: 
£120,123 million

31 December 2022: 
£110,278 million

Determining the value 
of the Group’s liabilities 
arising from insurance 
and participating 
investment contracts 
requires management 

estimates for both 
economic and non-
economic actuarial 
assumptions.

The Committee considered updates from management and from the Group’s 
Insurance Audit Committee summarising its activities, which included a review 
of the economic and non-economic assumptions made by management to 
determine the carrying value of Group’s liabilities arising from insurance and 
participating investment contracts. The assumptions discussed were in respect 
of workplace pension persistency, annuitant longevity and expenses.

Conclusion: 
calculate the Group’s liabilities arising from insurance and participating 
investment contracts were appropriate.

Conduct risk 
provisions

Year ended 31 December 
2023: £675 million

Year ended 31 December 
2022: £255 million

Management judgement 
is used to determine the 
expected costs of 
remediation and, where 
appropriate, the related 
administration costs.

The Committee has received regular updates on the Group’s conduct risk 
matters and the progress it has made including updates on HBOS Reading 

commission arrangements. 

Conclusion: The Committee has considered management’s assessment 

the provisions were appropriate, noting a high level of uncertainty in relation 
to these estimates.

The following matters were also considered by the Committee.

Risk management and internal control systems
Full details of the internal control and risk management systems 

risk management section on pages 138 to 196
matters that the Committee considered for the year included:

• 
reporting and risk management

• The extent of the work undertaken across the Group to ensure 
that the control environment continued to operate effectively

• 
weaknesses, fraud or misconduct and management’s 

through the assessment of the effectiveness of the internal 

 
and user access across certain business applications and 
associated IT infrastructure and the Group’s plans to address 

reporting were appropriately designed and operating effectively.

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) and regulatory reporting
The focus on the quality of regulatory reporting continues to be 
high on the PRA’s agenda. To date, a number of skilled person 
independent reviews have been commissioned across the 
industry to review the governance, controls and processes 

continue to focus on strengthening the control environment in 
regulatory reporting with a link to longer-term and strategic 
initiatives also being considered. 

The ongoing programme of external assurance on regulatory 
reporting commissioned by the Committee has to date focused 
on risk-weighted assets. Management have provided regular 
updates to the Committee over the year to highlight progress 
made in improving the reporting control environment across  
a number of regulatory reports.
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Audit Committee report continued

IFRS 17
The Committee has received updates throughout the year on 

 
of IFRS 17. It reviewed the Group’s transition document published  

estimates, including those relating to the drawdown feature 
added to some of the Group’s pension products, that affect the 
reported amounts and the accounting policy choices made  
by the Group.

Restoring trust in audit and corporate governance
During the year the Committee has received updates on the 
responses of the Government and the Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC) to the white paper ‘Restoring trust in audit and corporate 
governance’. The Committee recognises the importance of  
an effective corporate reporting and governance framework  

attractiveness of the UK as a place to do business. The Committee 
is supportive of the Government’s decision to withdraw the draft 
Companies (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2023 so that it can deliver a more targeted, simpler 
and effective framework for both businesses and investors.

The Group notes that on 22 January 2024 the FRC issued a revised 
UK Corporate Governance Code which will be effective from 
1 January 2025 apart from the updates to the provision on  
the monitoring and review of a company’s risk management  
and internal control framework which are effective from  
1 January 2026. 

Speak Up (the Group’s whistleblowing service)
The Committee received and considered reports from 
management on the Group’s whistleblowing arrangements.  
The Committee reviewed the reports to ensure there are 

and without fear of retaliation. In addition, colleagues are able  
to report concerns about inappropriate and unacceptable 
practices; these arrangements are well publicised and there  
is proportionate and independent investigation of such matters 
or appropriate follow-up. The Committee reported on its 
consideration of whistleblowing arrangements to the Board.

Sustainability reporting 
The Committee discussed and challenged the Group’s progress 
with sustainability related reporting. Developments in UK 

disclosure alongside emerging environmental sustainability 
reporting frameworks have been considered, assessing the near 
term and future impacts on external disclosures. As previously, the 

on the Group’s capabilities and progress with the production of 
climate and sustainability reporting and associated data, the 
enhanced control environment, and the developments with 
governance and assurance. Further discussion on sustainability 
governance can be found on pages 84 to 85. 

Group Internal Audit
In monitoring the activity, role and effectiveness of the internal 
audit function and their audit programme the Committee:
• Approved the annual audit plan and budget, including resource
• Reviewed progress against the plan through the year with 

updates including quarterly reports on the activities 
undertaken and six-monthly updates as a result of reviews  
by the internal audit Quality Assurance team

• 
and management’s response

• Monitored the progress of internal audit’s coverage of key risk 
themes across the Group, including Strategic Delivery, Cultural 
Transformation, Cost of Living, Consumer Duty, Supplier 

 
Data Quality

• 
by the third party who assessed the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function in 2021

Finance strategy and transformation
 

the Finance function, including the near-term deliverables  
of a new General Ledger across the Group in 2025 in addition  
to the transformation of processes and procedures across  

management. This multi-year transformation journey 

Group, with the Committee receiving timely updates with regard 
to the proposed plans, progress with them, and the associated 

Auditor independence and remuneration
The Committee is responsible for establishing the Group’s policies 
and procedures designed to protect the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditor. In April 2023, the Committee 
reviewed its non-audit services policy; no substantive changes 
were made to the policy.

The policy details those services that the auditor is permitted 
to carry out and pre-approves certain of these services provided 
the fee is below a threshold; all other permitted services must be 

engagement of the auditor for a permitted service, the policy 

required. The total amount of fees paid to the auditor for both audit 
and non-audit related services in 2023 and further information 

External auditor
Following an external audit tender in 2018, Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) 
was appointed as auditor of the Company and the Group with 

partner for the Group and attends all meetings of the Committee.

The Committee oversees the relationship with the external  
auditor including its terms of engagement and remuneration  
and monitors its independence and objectivity. During 2023,  
the Committee reviewed Deloitte’s audit plan, including the 

processes. In its assessment of Deloitte’s performance and 
effectiveness, the Committee has considered: Deloitte’s 
interactions with the Committee; the responses to a questionnaire 
issued to the Group’s businesses, Finance, Risk and Internal Audit; 
and the FRC’s Audit Quality Inspection Report published in 

the auditor’s performance and recommended to the Board a 
proposal for the reappointment of the auditor at the Company’s 
annual general meeting.

Statutory Audit Services compliance

provisions of The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies 
Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender 
Processes and Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014, 
which relates to the frequency and governance of tenders for the 
appointment of the external auditor and the setting of a policy  
on the provision of non-audit services, for the year to 31 December 
2023. There are no plans as at the date of this report to conduct  
a tender exercise for external audit services.

Audit Committees and the External Audit: Minimum Standard
While not mandatory the Group is broadly compliant with Audit 

by the FRC in May 2023.
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Key activities in 2023

• Overseeing the Group’s strategic transformation and 
management of change and execution risks

• Considered the impacts of the rising cost of living, higher 

and geopolitical risks on both the Group and its customers
• Overseeing the embedding of the Group’s operational risk  

and control framework and discussing evolution of the 
broader risk framework

• Assessing the management of operational resilience risks, 
including cyber, supply chain management and technology 

• 
consumer fraud

• Overseeing continued progress on the Group’s climate  
risk framework and net zero transition

• Reviewing management of the Group’s funding and  
liquidity risks including structural hedge activity

• Assessment of key emerging risks and oversight of  
strategic risks

Catherine Woods
Chair, Board Risk 
Committee

Board Risk Committee report 

Delivery of the Group’s strategic and 
cultural transformation will help 
strengthen the management of risks which 
have the potential to impact the Group 
and its customers.

Operational resilience and sound risk 
management are fundamental to the 
strength of the Group

Introduction
I am pleased to report on how the Committee has discharged  
its responsibilities during the year and would like to thank fellow 
Committee members for their valued contributions throughout 
the year. I also take this opportunity to welcome Cathy Turner, 
who was appointed as a member of the Committee with effect 
from 1 February 2024. The external environment continued to 
present a variety of challenging, and evolving, considerations for 
the Committee, with areas such as cost of living and continued 

uncertainties which notably included the failure of a small 
number of banks, driving impacts across the broader economy. 

The Committee has continued to focus on risks related to delivery 
of the Group’s strategy, including various aspects of operational 
and technology resilience, data and cyber risks, people risks and 
supply chain management, together with overall change and 
execution risk. Additional oversight is also given to a number of 
these areas through the IT and Cyber Advisory Forum, which 
supports the Committee. 

Consideration has also been given to credit risk, with deep dives 
across various areas of the business, alongside regular reporting 

credit environment and economic crime where the Committee 
considered the impacts and mitigating actions being taken.  
The Committee was also kept updated on progress with 
implementation of the Group’s Consumer Duty Programme 
and progress on new prudential modelling requirements relating 

areas is covered in more detail throughout this report.

Committee purpose and responsibilities

and oversight roles and responsibilities. The Committee is also 
responsible for ensuring the risk culture is fully embedded and 
supports at all times the Group’s agreed risk appetite, including 
the extent and categories of risk which the Board considers as 
acceptable for the Group to bear. A review and update of the 
Committee’s terms of reference was completed during the year, 
with no material changes being made. 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing and reporting its 
conclusions to the Board on the Group’s risk management 
framework, which captures risk principles, policies, 
methodologies, systems, processes, procedures and people. 

Q &A 

Q   How has the Board Risk Committee (the Committee) assessed 
the challenges and uncertainties of the external environment, 
and the potential impacts of these on the Group’s strategy 
and its customers?

A   The Committee is acutely aware of the breadth of challenges 
which the external environment and ongoing macroeconomic 
and geopolitical uncertainties continue to present. The 

topics of interest. Areas such as credit and market risk, and the 
associated impacts of continued high interest rates and 

prevention have all featured highly on the Committee’s agenda 
during the year, with consideration being given to actions being 
taken by management to not only mitigate  
risks, but to ensure appropriate support for customers and 
businesses. Further information is set out on the following pages, 
within the commentary on each risk type.

Q   In recognition of the external environment, what further 
consideration has the Committee given to progress with 
implementation of the Group’s strategic transformation and how 
successful delivery of the transformation could be impacted? 

A   The Committee received regular progress updates on the 
Group’s strategic transformation throughout the year. It also 
considered a number of deep dives on the Group’s control 
environment, together with a range of areas core to ensuring 
the Group’s operational resilience is maintained. This ensures 
the Committee has an appropriate view of overall progress  
and visibility of core areas such as the Group’s critical business 
processes and important business services. These updates  
and deep dives provide the Committee with the opportunity to 
challenge management on progress and action being taken  
to mitigate risks. Further information on a number of these areas 
is covered throughout this report.

Q  What are the key areas of focus for the Committee in 2024?

A   The Committee will continue to focus on broadly the same 
areas as have been central to its discussions this year. As part of 
the Committee’s forward planning of activities, regular reviews 
are undertaken of areas that the Committee wishes to give 
additional focus to through, for example, the use of deep dives. 
This provides an appropriate balance between forward 

The year ahead will see a broad range of topics covered, 
with these anticipated to include areas such as operational 
resilience, the Group’s control environment, credit reviews in  
key sectors, climate risk and people risks, amongst others.
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Board Risk Committee report continued

This also includes the review of new, or material, amendments to 
risk principles and policies and overseeing any action resulting 
from material breaches of such policy. During the year, the 
Committee discussed the development of the Group’s broader 
risk management framework and risk taxonomy, which will be 
an area of further focus in 2024.

More details on the Group’s wider approach to risk management 
can be found in the risk management section on pages 137 to 196. 
Full details of the Committee’s responsibilities are set out in its 
terms of reference, which can be found on the corporate 
governance page . on our website.

Committee composition, skills, experience and 
operation
There were no changes to the membership of the Committee 
during the year. As announced on 25 January 2024, Cathy Turner, 
Senior Independent Director, was appointed as a member of the 
Committee with effect from 1 February 2024. Two of the three 
designated independent non-executive directors of the Ring-
Fenced Banks also attend meetings as observers in order to 
provide insights on matters relevant to the Ring-Fenced Banks 
when required and as part of their role in the Group’s overall 

 
the Committee and attends all meetings. The Chief Internal 
Auditor and members of the executive also attend meetings as 
appropriate. Details of Committee membership and meeting 
attendance can be found on page 79.

The Committee undertook an annual review of its effectiveness, 

evaluation process as relevant to the Committee (which, for 2023, 
was led by the Company Secretary), were considered by the 
Committee at its January 2024 meeting; it was considered that 
the performance of the Committee continues to be effective. 
Details of the Board evaluation process can be found on page 90.

As the most senior risk committee in the Group, the Committee 
interacts with other related risk committees, including the 
executive Group Risk Committee. These interactions help ensure 
the appropriate escalation of relevant matters to the Committee 
for review and consideration.

Matters considered by the Committee
During 2023, the Committee considered a wide range of risks 
facing the Group and its Ring-Fenced Banks, both current 
and forward-looking, across all key areas of risk management,  
in addition to risk culture and risk appetite. The Committee 
continues to focus on key risk topics through, for example,  
the use of deep dives to provide greater analysis of particular  
topics and associated risks.

The following pages provide a summary of the risks considered  
by the Committee, together with an outline of the material factors 
considered and the conclusions which were ultimately reached. 
The Committee continues to be supported by the IT and Cyber 
Advisory Forum, which dedicates additional time and resource to 
reviewing and challenging risks associated with IT infrastructure, 
IT strategy, IT resilience and cyber risks. The Chair and other 
members of the Committee attend this Forum.

The Board Risk Committee Chair is a member of the Audit 
Committee, in addition to the Audit Committee Chair being  
a member of the Board Risk Committee; this close interaction 
continues to help ensure that common issues of interest are 
addressed appropriately. A further Group-wide Audit and Risk 
Committee Forum was held during the year, following a similar 
forum in 2022. This provided an opportunity for members of  
both Committees to discuss key areas of common interest  
and enhances interaction across these Committees. Further 
information about this Forum can be found on page 92. There 
continues to be regular interaction with other Board Committees, 
in particular, with the Responsible Business Committee on  
climate risk and Consumer Duty, and with the Remuneration 
Committee on the alignment of remuneration to risk 
performance. This is further illustrated in the table of Board 
Committee cross-membership set out on page 89 of the 
corporate governance report. 

The Committee also reviewed regular updates from the non-
Ring-Fenced Bank and Insurance sub-groups, headed up by 
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc and Scottish Widows Group 
Limited respectively, summarising key discussions and decisions 
taken at the relevant entities’ risk committees.

Risk type Key issues Committee review and conclusions

Conduct risk

 
and complaints 

The Group’s management 

resolving customer 
complaints in a timely 
and fair manner, together 
with eradicating the 
complaint causes 
through root cause 
analysis.

During 2023, the Committee received updates on the Group’s complaints and 

informed of progress in dealing with customer remediation and process 

Committee has also been appraised of key themes and progress against 
complaint-related appetite metrics, performance relative to peers and the 
challenges faced in the current landscape. Further investment has been 

The Committee has also considered regular updates in relation to historical 

Conclusion: This will continue to be a key area of focus for the Committee. In 
particular, supporting the actions being taken to improve time taken to handle 

ensure that lessons are learned to minimise future events.

Key activities for the year 
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Risk type Key issues Committee review and conclusions

Consumer Duty
Implementation and 
embedding of the FCA’s 
new Consumer Duty 
rules across the Group.

The Committee has received updates on the Consumer Duty Programme  
during 2023. The Group’s implementation plan was approved by the Responsible 
Business Committee in July in line with FCA requirements. As a critical element  
of Consumer Duty, it is vital that focus remains on the delivery of the key cultural 
initiatives, the development of Group management information reporting, 
enhancing customer communication and third party requirements. There  
will be ongoing engagement and transparency with regulators through 
quarterly meetings.

Conclusion: 
of the Consumer Duty requirements and will monitor the ongoing delivery 
and evolution as well as the closed book July 2024 delivery date.

Financial risks – covering credit and market risk 

Commercial credit 
quality 

Risks and external threats 
to commercial credit 
performance, including 
impacts related to a 
higher interest rate 
environment, together 
with sectors potentially 
exposed to climate risks.

The Committee provided oversight of the Commercial Banking portfolio via 
regular credit quality papers, sector deep dives and spotlight reviews, including 

portfolio and exposures to both the shadow banking sector and Liability-Driven 
Investments (LDIs). Discussion was also held regarding progress against 
roadmaps to fully embed risk-adjusted returns into active portfolio 

reviews allowed the Committee to assess risk levels and credit exposures,  
as well as clients requiring closer risk management. This includes the active 
engagement of the Business Support teams with Commercial customers. 

The Committee also reviewed emerging risks across a range of sectors, 
including those considered more vulnerable to the wider economic backdrop  
or structural change and those exposed to increased levels of physical and 

Conclusion: While recognising the risks in the portfolio, the Committee was 

mitigate and address current and horizon risks, while preparing to manage  
an expected increase in defaults in 2024 as a result of economic headwinds 

Consumer credit 
quality 

Risks relating to 
Consumer lending, 
including impacts of 
higher cost of living,  
a higher interest rate 
environment and  
climate risks. Customer 
affordability and 
indebtedness is  
a key focus.

The Committee reviewed the performance of the Consumer portfolio via regular 

and this year additional focus was given to the Homes and Transport portfolios, 
as well as progress against the roadmap to fully embed risk-adjusted returns 
into active portfolio management as well as credit strategies for new origination 

trends requiring further action and the Group continues to closely monitor and 
manage higher risk segments, such as customers with higher indebtedness 

the impact of increased interest rates on variable rate customers and those 

Conclusion: 
monitoring are in place to control risks across the Consumer lending portfolios 
and that there is an effective framework in place for ongoing risk management 

Balance sheet 
management and 
structural hedge

Management of the 
Group’s balance sheet, 
liquidity and structural 
hedging programme 
in an environment of 
uncertain customer 
behaviour, high interest 

market events.

A key focus for the Group in 2023 has been the management of the balance 

volatility driven by higher interest rates and uncertainty over customer 
behaviour in a world of increasing digitalisation. Updates were presented to the 
Committee on the LDI crisis, bank failures and the growth of the shadow banking 
sector, as well as the monitoring and management of risks due to changes in 
the volume and mix of customer deposits. The Committee discussed the risks 
associated with the current strategy, the management of those risks and the 
lessons that the Group has learned from the events of the year.

Conclusion: Close monitoring of the associated risks continues and any 
relevant lessons learned were incorporated into the measurement and 

management was taking the appropriate actions to monitor and mitigate  
the risks, while recognising that this will remain a key priority in 2024 as the 
macroeconomic outlook and global political environment continue to evolve.
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Key activities for the year continued 

Board Risk Committee report continued

Risk type Key issues Committee review and conclusions

Model risk 
Model risk continues to  

activity and importance, 
both internally and 
externally.

The Committee continued to receive updates on the progress to satisfy  
new prudential modelling requirements relating to credit risk capital models 
(primarily the new Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) IV regulations) and 
market risk models within Interbank Offered Rate (IBOR) transition activities. 
Committee oversight was also focused on wider issues such as the model risk 
management and governance approach and the increased resources required 
for these as we proactively enhance the framework and capabilities to meet 
increasing internal and external demands, including those relating to Supervisory 
Statement 1/23. The Committee was also kept abreast of model risk management 

intelligence) models and associated aspects such as data ethics and climate, 
as the Group continues to develop its capability in these areas.

Conclusion: The Committee is comfortable that the development of new model 
types is subject to appropriate risk control and will continue to oversee the 
development of the management and control framework for model risk,  
as required by the Supervisory Statement 1/23. The Committee will continue  
to oversight CRD IV and IBOR prudential change related submissions.

Climate risk

Climate risk
Risks associated with the 
Group’s role in supporting 
the transition to net zero 
and evolving regulatory 
expectations.

The Committee continues to be engaged on the Group’s progress in developing 
climate risk capabilities, particularly in relation to current and developing 
regulatory requirements, as well as the key choices faced as part of the Group’s 
environmental sustainability strategy. Regular updates and periodic deep  
dives are provided to support the Committee’s oversight.

In 2023, the Committee was provided with an overview of activity across the 
Group to meet climate-related regulation requirements. Regular climate risk 
updates have also included management information covering key physical 
and transition risks across the Consumer, Commercial and Insurance portfolios. 
The Committee also discussed the Group’s implementation of its net zero strategy 
and the key strategic levers and participation choices facing different areas  
of the business. 

Conclusion: The Committee recognises the challenges associated with net zero 
and dependencies on the wider external landscape, however, maintains the 
importance of the need to support the transition as part of the Group’s wider 

continue to be monitored and discussed, as well an ongoing capability 
development, building on further progress made over the last 12 months.

Operational risk

Operational risk 
management 
framework

Completing the 
embedding of  
One Risk and Control 
Self-Assessment 
(One RCSA) to strengthen 
risk culture, simplify the 
risk and control 
environment, achieve 
better customer 
outcomes, increasing 
the pace of change and 

The Committee was provided with regular updates on embedding of One RCSA 
ahead of completion by year-end 2023. The Committee noted the emerging 

One RCSA laid the foundations for a broader evolution of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The evolution has been a key area of Committee 

individual plans to the Committee.

 
of the broader risk framework, to ensure it truly enables the Group’s strategic 
ambitions. Proposals to change the Group’s risk taxonomy and reimagine the 
‘three lines of defence’ operating model were discussed and will shape activity 
into 2024.

Conclusion: The Committee recognises efforts to embed One RCSA and 

journey. This represents a strong foundation from which the Group can maintain 
ongoing control over its key risks, while seeking to optimise the associated 
people, processes and technology, to ensure risk and control can become  
a true enabler for the Group’s strategic ambitions.
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Risk type Key issues Committee review and conclusions

Operational resilience 
(IT resilience, cyber, 
and supplier 
management)

Operational resilience 
remains one of the 
Group’s most important 

We continue to enhance 
our resilience to better 
serve customers and 
to address regulatory 
priorities.

The Committee has received reports on the Group’s overall maturity against a 

tolerances of important business services. The Committee has also reviewed 
Group-wide self-assessments covering progress on the enhancements needed 
to ensure our important business services can be recovered within impact 
tolerance by March 2025 (in response to regulatory policy statements on 
operational resilience published in March 2021). Close attention has been  
paid to the Group’s management of its contracts with its suppliers to ensure 

Group, the Committee is supported by the IT and Cyber Advisory Forum 

Conclusion: 
progress of the Group-wide Operational Resilience Programme, the impact  
of investment on operational resilience and the way in which data is used to 
support management decisions around operational resilience.

Data risk 
Data strategy plans to 
remediate legacy and 
emerging risk challenges 
in the Group’s data 
control environment 
to enable strategic 
objectives.

updates have been provided to the Committee on the progress of the data 
strategy in response to legacy and emerging data risk challenges including  
on data quality and lineage controls and enhancing the Group’s governance 

Conclusion: The Committee continues to be supportive of the data strategy  
and approach, recognising the complex roadmap of initiatives planned over  
a number of years. Delivery of the data strategy is critical, given data is a key 
enabler for good customer outcomes and the overall Group strategy.

People and health 
& safety risk

Managing people risks 
arising from the cultural 
transformation of the 
workforce will be critical 
to ensure we attract and 
retain the right skills and 
capabilities to deliver  
our strategy. 

complexity of change required to the skills composition and size of our 
workforce. The Committee considered the current, emerging and horizon risks 
arising from the people plan and how these would be effectively monitored and 
managed with continued focus on culture, capability and capacity, colleague 
proposition, health & safety and wellbeing. The Committee also considered  
a deep dive on health & safety which highlighted enhancements to the 
framework, bringing more rigour and management focus to ensure we create  
a safe and healthy workplace.

Conclusion: The Committee supports the people plan and acknowledges that 
delivering the plan is critical to increasing our capability and capacity to deliver 
change faster as we move purposefully towards a high performing culture. 
People risk will remain a key area of focus in 2024 as the transformation  
journey continues.

Strategic 
transformation 
oversight

Risks associated with the 
extensive current and 
future Group strategic 
change agenda, 
recognising challenges 
faced in ensuring both 
successful delivery  
and implementation  
of change.

The Committee has reviewed the portfolio performance on a regular basis, 
focusing on the Board metric outcomes and underlying deliverables, which 
supports the Group’s strategic growth ambitions. The focus for 2023 has centred 
on embedding the new platform-based operating model and ensuring 
management is learning from the root causes of any delivery delays. The 
Committee, with the IT and Cyber Advisory Forum, also increased its monitoring 
of the safe delivery of change for important business services with dedicated 
deep dives undertaken throughout 2023, which is critical to ensure we avoid 
customer harm and minimise operational incidents. 

Conclusion: The Committee will continue to focus on the management of 
change and execution risk within appetite and on monitoring the outcomes 
being achieved. The Committee will review how the expected evolution of the 
platform model and agile change delivery approach is undertaken in 2024. 

a priority, ensuring that any strategic transformation delivered does not cause 
customer harm or compromise our operational resilience posture.
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Risk type Key issues Committee review and conclusions

Fraud
The Group’s management 
of fraud risk, while 
continuing to minimise 
the impact on genuine 
customer journeys.

Fraud, accounting for over 40 per cent of all crime in the UK according to the 

public) published in May 2023, remains a priority for the Group. Updates were 
provided to the Committee in 2023 related to the Consumer fraud programme 
and the Group’s preparations for new Payment Systems Regulator (PSR) reforms. 
Committee members acknowledged the progress made and supported the 
ongoing focus on and investment into improved detection capabilities and 
customer fraud remediation. The Committee noted the investment ring-fenced 
to ensure the Group meets new PSR policy requirements coming into force  
in 2024. 

Conclusion: The Committee welcomed the progress made and supports the 
forward plan for 2024 to improve detection capabilities and customer fraud 
response and remediation. The Committee will continue to be updated in 2024 
on the delivery of the PSR policy requirements.

Money laundering 
The Group’s management 

and compliance with 
the UK’s anti-money 
laundering regime.

remains a regulatory priority. Updates have been provided to the Committee 

Report, an update on the Group’s Ongoing Know Your Customer programme 

have been supportive of the actions being taken by management; and  
 

a continued need to prioritise investment to maintain an effective, risk-based 
and threat-led control environment. 

Conclusion: The Committee is supportive of the actions being taken to manage 

remain effective in the face of increasing threats. The Committee will continue 
to be updated in 2024 on key deliverables across the programme.

Other categories

Regulatory and 
legal risk

Managing regulatory  
and litigation risk is a key 
focus within the Group.

The Committee has provided oversight to ensure effective controls are in place  
to comply with existing regulatory obligations, including consideration of these  
at an individual legal entity level. The Committee considered regular updates  
on emerging regulatory and legal risks. In addition, the Committee has continued 

programmes, such as risk-free rates transition; model risk management and 
ring-fencing reforms. In particular, the Committee has also reviewed regular 
progress updates on the enhancements to the Group’s Recovery and Resolution 

Conclusion:
and litigation risk, as well as ensuring effective horizon scanning of upcoming 
trends and evolving risks. The Committee has discussed the topics raised and  
will continue to closely monitor compliance with regulatory requirements in 2024.

Emerging and 
strategic risk 
categories

Continued evolution of 
the Group’s emerging  
risk landscape and 
methodology with greater 
focus on geopolitical risks. 
Incorporation of strategic 
risk themes into the 
Group’s business 
planning process.

The Group’s focus on the emerging risk landscape and assessment approach 

emerging risk themes from 2022 have taken place during the year. In addition, 
geopolitical risks have been a focus and how these may generate second order 

combining emerging and strategic risks into a single view. The Committee  
is supportive of the updated approach and approved the revised emerging  
risk themes.

Conclusion:  
and its level of preparedness remains a key priority. In 2024, the Committee  
will continue to monitor the emerging and strategic risk trends, supported by 
targeted deep dives, considering their potential impacts and mitigating actions.

Board Risk Committee report continued

Key activities for the year continued 
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Key activities in 2023

• Becoming a purpose-driven organisation
• Tackling social and environmental challenges
• 
• Delivering on our duty to customers and stakeholders

Amanda 
Mackenzie
Chair, Responsible  
Business  
Committee

Responsible Business Committee report

Responsible business means delivering  
good outcomes for our customers and 
building a more sustainable and inclusive 
future for people and businesses.

Introduction
I am pleased to report on the Committee’s work in 2023 and 
I would like to thank members for their contributions. We will 
continue to review progress against our inclusion and diversity 
aspirations and rigorously support our sustainability plans in 2024. 
The strong foundations we have laid will continue to shape how 
we do business to create a more sustainable and inclusive future. 

and provide long-term, sustainable value for shareholders  
and other stakeholders.

Committee purpose and responsibilities 
The purpose of the Committee is to support the Board in 
overseeing the Group’s policies, performance and priorities  
as a responsible business. We will continue our oversight of the 
Group’s work in 2024, as well as reacting to key emerging topics 

The Committee’s terms of reference can be found on our  
corporate governance page . on the Group’s website. 

Responsible business is at the core of 
our purpose of Helping Britain Prosper 

Access to housing
We are one of the largest funders of UK house building and in  
the course of 2023 supported £2.7 billion of new funding to the 
social housing sector. In addition, this year, we launched a charity 
partnership with Crisis and together we are calling for one million 
new social homes to be built in the next decade. Our colleagues 
have actively engaged with our new partnership and we 
exceeded our fundraising goal of £1 million in 2023. 

Environmental sustainability 
The Committee provides oversight of the Group’s environmental 
sustainability strategy, sharing responsibility with the Audit 
Committee and Board Risk Committee. In 2023, we recommended 
to the Board an updated environmental sustainability strategy and 
three new sector targets for road passenger transport, agriculture 
and commercial & residential real estate. We have also launched 
enhanced operational emissions goals, including a more 
ambitious direct carbon emissions reduction target alongside new 
water, waste and nature pledges. More detail on our sustainability 
progress can be found in the sustainability report .

Consumer Duty

responsibility for Consumer Duty oversight. As the Board 
Consumer Duty champion, I worked alongside the Committee to 
provide oversight of the Group’s Consumer Duty implementation 

in July 2023 for new and open products. Consumer Duty sits at the 
heart of everything we do and we will continue our close work 
with the business as we approach the FCA’s second deadline for 
closed products in July 2024. 

Colleagues and culture 
Our colleagues play a vital role in the delivery of the Group’s 
strategic ambitions. The Committee, as the designated body for 
workforce engagement, supports the Group’s wider engagement 
strategy, reporting at least annually to the Board on the key 
themes and issues we’re hearing from our colleagues. This year 
we discussed the long-term journey we are on to transform 

colleagues in our transformation is key to driving the Group’s 
success. Please refer to page 82 for more details on our colleague 
engagement activities. 

Diversity, equity and inclusion 
The Committee received regular updates on our diversity, 
equity and inclusion performance in 2023 and are pleased by 
the continued progress in increasing the representation of 

women are represented in over 40 per cent of our senior roles, 
meeting the review’s recommendation. In April 2023, we also 
announced a further goal to double the representation of senior 
colleagues with a disability by 2025. We have asked the executive 
to continue to progress towards our commitments as we work to 
build a more inclusive organisation.

Committee composition, skills, experience  
and operation 
The Committee met on four occasions in 2023 and is composed 
of independent non-executive directors and is attended by the 

insight and experience, with representatives from Group Internal 

appropriate. Details of Committee membership and meeting 
attendance can be found on page 79. Sarah Bentley joined the 
Responsible Business Committee of each of the Ring-Fenced 
Banks in January and I joined our Audit Committee to support  
the Committee’s sustainability-related reporting responsibilities. 

considered by the Committee at its January 2024 meeting. 
Based on the evaluation, the feedback was that the performance 
of the Committee continues to be effective.

Q &A 

Q   What are the Responsible Business Committee’s (Committee) 
priorities for 2024?

A   We made significant strides in transforming the Group and 
embedding purpose in our decision making and behaviours in 
2023. The next year will be important in ensuring we continue to 
support colleagues, customers and communities and deliver on 
our focus areas of providing access to quality housing, unlocking 
regional development, greening the built environment and 
promoting financial resilience and inclusion. 

Q    What role does nature play in your environmental 
sustainability ambitions?

A     Protecting and restoring nature goes hand-in-hand with 
supporting the low carbon transition and Helping Britain 
Prosper. We’ve made strong progress this year, building an 
expert team and hiring our first Group Head of Nature. In 2024, 
we will be working with colleagues, customers and clients to 
manage our nature-related risks, capitalise on opportunities 
and embed nature into our decision making.



Cathy Turner
Chair, Remuneration 
Committee

Directors’ remuneration report

Throughout 2023 we have continued to 
support our people with the rising cost  
of living. We recognise the continued 
commitment of our colleagues and 
announced changes to our reward 
package providing greater certainty in 
what remains a fast-changing economic 
environment. This latest two-year pay  
deal means that between August 2022  
and April 2025 we will have provided  
a minimum £5,0001 pay award and £2,0001 

in cash support, worth a total of around  
35 per cent of salary, for our colleagues  
at lower grades.

Remuneration Committee
Chair’s statement

Supporting our colleagues 
• Agreed a multi-year pay proposal for 2024 and 2025 

uncertain times
• Made a £5001 payment in December 2023 to around 44,000 

colleagues recognising immediate cost challenges
• 

Share (annual bonus) into base salary for around 32,000 
colleagues giving more certainty and delivering reward faster

Dear shareholder
On behalf of the Board, it is my pleasure to present the directors’ 
remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2023. I would 
also like to take this opportunity to thank Alan Dickinson for his 
commitment and contribution to the work of the Remuneration 
Committee (the Committee) during his time as Chair.

Supporting our customers and colleagues in 2023
Helping Britain Prosper has been central to all that the Group has 
done in 2023, focusing on delivering for customers, clients and 
shareholders. This has meant providing support through a tough 

pressures have eased somewhat, remains an uncertain outlook 
for 2024 for many of our customers and colleagues. Our 
colleagues have worked tirelessly to support our customers, 
clients and communities as they continue to navigate this 
fast-changing environment. 

We remained committed to our ambition to be the Best Bank for 
Customers; we proactively targeted support for customers facing 
economic uncertainty, directly contacting around 675,000 
mortgage customers to encourage a review of their options, 
contacted 7.5 million customers since April 2022 to offer support 

 
15 million customers on their savings options.

enabling a total ordinary dividend of 2.76 pence per share for 
2023 and its intention to implement an ordinary share buyback  

including most of our employees.

Recognising the continued commitment of our colleagues, the 

meets both their needs and the needs of the Group and, as a 
result, we have made a number of changes over 2023. For our 
more senior colleagues, including our executive directors, we  
are introducing greater performance differentiation in variable 
reward, including the return to a performance-based Long Term 

which will deliver stronger alignment and accountability for the 
delivery of our purpose-driven strategy. For our junior colleagues 
we’ve kept things simple, giving more certainty and delivering 
reward faster, with a continuing focus on supporting those 
impacted most by increased day-to-day living costs. 

Recognising the importance of certainty of earnings for many 

our annual bonus, the Group Performance Share (GPS) into base 
salary for around 32,000 colleagues. We also consolidated our  
4 per cent Flex cash allowance into base salary for the majority  
of colleagues, further simplifying their reward package.

Over the course of 2023 we have worked closely with our 
recognised unions, Accord and Unite, to agree an industry-

continued commitment to support colleagues and to help them 
plan for the future. To recognise the immediate cost of living 
challenges, we made a further £5001 payment in December 2023 
to around 44,000 colleagues who, including this payment, will 
receive average pay increases of between 9.1 per cent and  
14.4 per cent cumulatively over the two years. The overall increase 
to our total pay costs over this two-year period will be lower at  
8.2 per cent, as we continue to direct spend to our lowest paid 
colleagues. As part of our multi-year pay commitment, we will 
also raise our minimum salary across the Group to £25,0001  
by April 2025, all part of delivering on our purpose of Helping 
Britain Prosper.

Our two-year pay deal means that between August 2022 and 
April 2025, we will have provided a minimum £5,0001 pay award 
and £2,0001 in cash support, worth a total of around 35 per cent  
of salary, for our colleagues at lower grades.

1 Pro rated for reduced hours.

Remuneration content

Chair’s statement pages 108 to 109

Remuneration at  a  glance pages 110 to 111

2023 annual report on remuneration pages 112 to 127

2023 Directors’ Remuneration Policy summary pages 128 to 132
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2023 variable reward outcomes
In 2023, we are seeing real evidence of strategic progress as  

 
in delivering the 2024 and 2026 commitments and growth.  

Committee has approved a GPS pool of £384 million. This is a 
lower absolute pool than in 2022 because of the consolidation 
referred to above. On a like-for-like basis, including the 
consolidation of variable pay, the 2023 pool would be higher  

 
Group is an important element of our remuneration approach.

The approved pool includes the impact of a provision for the 
potential impact of the recently announced FCA review into 

In 2021, Long Term Share Plan (LTSP) awards were granted to 
around 600 colleagues and the Committee has determined that 
these should vest in full. In making this decision, the Committee 
considered several elements to satisfy itself that the vesting is 
appropriate. It noted that, during the ‘pre-grant test’ this award 

performance in 2020, the share price at the time of award and the 
wider experience of our shareholders. Furthermore, the vesting is 

and four key questions. Finally, there was careful consideration 
whether an adjustment for windfall gains would be appropriate 
and it was concluded that given the award was initially reduced 
by up to 40 per cent, granted at a share price of 39.3015 pence 
which is higher than the 31.2 pence over the pandemic period  
and consistent with our share price range over the performance 
period (33-55 pence), no windfall gain has arisen and therefore 
no further adjustment would be appropriate. More detail is 
provided on page 115.

Executive directors’ remuneration outcomes

strong leadership in all aspects of the business and consistently 
demonstrates the Group’s values. He has led the strategic and 
cultural transformation which has maintained momentum 
whilst the Group has also navigated a challenging external 
environment. Once again, Charlie has overseen the Group’s 

balanced scorecard (BSC) targets whilst maintaining a strong 
regulatory and risk environment.

has played a critical role in the development, communication 
and execution of our new strategy, as well as embedding and 
delivering a strong commercial, capital and investment  
discipline across the Group.

The Committee determined that the GPS (annual bonus)  

performance as assessed by the Group BSC of 80.3 per cent of 
maximum, with resultant awards of £1,277,372 and £920,658 
respectively. This BSC outcome was inclusive of a downward 

the ‘reduction in carbon emissions’ measure. Further details are 
outlined on page 113.

In 2021, William Chalmers was granted an LTSP award of 
75 per cent of salary, a reduction of 40 per cent versus the typical 
award recognising the Group’s performance in 2020. In line with 
the outcome for other participants set out above, William’s award 
will vest in full. 2021 LTSP awards were granted prior to Charlie Nunn 
joining the Group and therefore he did not receive an award.

The 2023 Group BSC outcome also acts as part of a ‘pre-grant 
test’ for our 2024 LTIP awards. Given our robust 2023 performance, 

and the CFO of 300 per cent of salary in line with the policy 
approved at the last AGM. 

The vesting outcome of the LTIP award will be subject to the 
achievement of stretching performance targets (see page 124) 
measured over the period 2024 to 2026.

Strengthening the Group’s performance culture
The pivot towards a more demanding, high-performance  
culture is critical in delivering against the ambitious strategy  
we announced in 2022; returning to a performance-related LTIP 
directly aligns with that objective. We appreciated your 
overwhelming support having achieved 96 per cent support  
for the Remuneration Policy at the AGM in 2023. 

Our principal reason for reintroducing an LTIP is to deliver stronger 
alignment between variable reward outcomes and the creation 
of shareholder value through the delivery of our strategy and the 
deepening of our relationships with our customers. Accordingly, 
the Committee has given careful consideration to the choice of 
LTIP performance measures ensuring that they are both stretching 
and transparent.

As set out in our Directors’ Remuneration Policy (DRP) approved  
at the 2023 AGM, 50 per cent of the LTIP outcome will be weighted 

 
as we build to higher and more sustainable returns – Return  

Return (rTSR).

Recognising that the delivery of our refreshed strategy is critical to 
the creation of value for shareholders and our purpose of Helping 
Britain Prosper, a further 35 per cent of the LTIP will depend on 
performance against our four strategic growth pillars – Deepen 

and Institutional offering.

Our strategy is purpose driven and we continue to aspire towards 
a more sustainable and inclusive future through support for areas 
in which we can make a difference, such as our commitment  

of the LTIP outcome will therefore depend on the extent to which 
we deliver on our Sustainable Finance and Investment 
commitments and make progress towards our 2030 Net-Zero 
Banking Alliance (NZBA) sector targets and Scottish Widows’ 
overall 2030 net-zero ambition.

Full details of our new LTIP can be found on page 124.

For the last two years, our priority has been pay for our most junior 
colleagues and we did not award pay increases to our executive 

our executive directors by four per cent consistent with the pay 
rise awarded to the majority of the wider colleague population  
as part of our unique two-year commitment on pay.

We will also be recommending a resolution to the AGM to ensure 
our governance remains aligned with the PRA’s updated Policy 

institutions; the variable pay opportunity of our executive directors 
is determined by our Directors’ Remuneration Policy and will not 
be impacted.

Finally, together with my Committee members, I would like to 
thank our shareholders for their continued support and our 
colleagues for delivering another robust set of results in 2023. 

On behalf of the Board

 Cathy Turner
 Chair, Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration package 

Fixed Variable

  Base Salary
   To support the recruitment and retention of executive 

directors of the calibre required to develop and deliver 
 

the role of the individual, taking account of market 
competitiveness, responsibilities and experience,  
and pay in the Group as a whole.

   Group Performance Share 
 (Short term variable)
  To incentivise and reward the achievement of the 

supporting the delivery of long-term superior and 
sustainable returns.

  Fixed Share Award

commensurate with role and to provide a competitive 
reward package for executive directors with an 

remuneration, in line with regulatory requirements.

  Long Term Incentive Plan
 (Long term variable)
  To incentivise performance linked to the Group’s 

strategy and aligned to shareholder interests.

  Pension
  To provide cost-effective and market-competitive 

 

directors’ employer pension contributions are aligned 
with those available to the majority of the workforce.

remuneration package.

Our remuneration package
Our remuneration package below 
summarises the different remuneration 
elements for executive directors.

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Total  
Reward

The components of our executive directors’ remuneration

Base  
Salary

Fixed Share  
Award Pension

Fixed

Short Term  
Variable

Long  
Term  

Variable

Variable

Summary of our executive directors’ remuneration package 
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2023 Remuneration at a glance
Our at a glance summary sets out clearly 
and transparently the total remuneration paid 
to our executive directors for 2023.

Full assessments of the 2023 Group balanced 
scorecard and 2021 Long Term Share Plan can  
be found on pages 113 to 115.

Key financial highlights 

£5.5bn
 

up 41 per cent vs 2022

15.8%
Return on tangible equity,  
above guidance

£3.8bn
Total capital return including an 
ordinary dividend of 2.76 pence  
per share, up 15 per cent vs 2022

2023 Total remuneration (£000) 

Group Chief Executive Charlie Nunn

Group Chief Executive

 
of 2 per cent compared to 2022 largely driven by the  
lower short term variable award in 2023 given the Group 
balanced scorecard performance of 80.3 per cent versus 
2022 at 84.1 per cent.

2023

2022

Total £3,681

£2,429 £1,338

£2,404 £1,277

Total £3,767

Chief Financial Officer William Chalmers
1

decrease of 6 per cent compared to 2022 which was driven 
by a lower long-term incentive payment for 2023. The 2021 
LTSP award was reduced by 40 per cent upfront at the time 
of grant, showing restraint based on 2020 Group 
performance.

2023

2022 Total £3,311

£1,506 £689 £1,115

£1,508 £921 £674

Total £3,104

 Fixed pay    Short Term Variable   Long Term Variable  

1 As part of the 2023 Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the maximum GPS opportunity for the CFO was increased from 100 per cent to 140 per cent of salary.

2023 Group balanced scorecard performance 

80.3%
business performance. Further details can be found  
on pages 113 to 114.

2024 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) award 

The Remuneration Committee has considered the 
Group’s performance in 2023 and other factors as part of 
the ‘pre-grant test’ as well as the individual contribution 
of the executive directors and will grant 2024 Long Term 
Incentive Plan awards of 300 per cent of salary to the 

(see page 124).

2023 Group Performance Share (GPS) pool 

£384m
The Committee determined a GPS pool for 2023 of  

overall business performance. While the pool is down 

our colleagues as described on page 108. 

2021 Long Term Share Plan (LTSP) outcome 

The award level for the 2021 LTSP was appropriately set 
at grant in March 2021. Vesting was subject to a ‘pre-vest 
test’ which has been assessed as ‘met’. For full details on 
the ‘pre-vest test’ please see page 115.

page 28.
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2023 annual report on remuneration

Executive director single total figure of remuneration (audited) 

Charlie Nunn William Chalmers Totals

£000 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Base salary 1,136 1,133 819 817 1,955 1,950
Fixed Share Award1 1,050 1,050 504 504 1,554 1,554

48 76 62 62 110 138
Pension 170 170 123 123 293 293

Total Fixed Pay 2,404 2,429 1,508 1,506 3,912 3,935
Group Performance Share2 1,277 1,338 921 689 2,198 2,027
Long-term incentive3,4,5 – – 674 1,115 674 1,115

Total Variable Pay 1,277 1,338 1,595 1,804 2,872 3,142
Other remuneration6 – – 1 1 1 1

Total Remuneration 3,681 3,767 3,104 3,311 6,785 7,078
Less: Performance adjustment – – – – – –

3,681 3,767 3,104 3,311 6,785 7,078

page 129).
2 Awards for Charlie Nunn and William Chalmers will be made in March 2024 in a combination of cash and shares.
3 The 2021 Long Term Share Plan (LTSP) vesting (see page 115

The total number of shares vesting will be 1,547,340 for William Chalmers. The average share price between 1 October 2023 and 31 December 2023 of 
43.564 pence has been used to indicate the value. The shares were awarded in 2021 based on a share price of 39.3015 pence and as such 11 per cent of the 
reported value is attributable to share price appreciation.

of the average price of 44.04 pence reported in the 2022 report.

6 Other remuneration payments comprise income from all employee share plans, which arises through employer matching or discounting 
of employee purchases.

2023 pension and benefits (audited) 

Charlie 
Nunn
2023

William 
Chalmers

2023

Pension/Benefits 
Pension 170,438 122,842
Car or car allowance – 12,000

1 45,450 48,507
Private medical insurance 1,130 1,130
Transportation2 1,733 294

Subtotal for Total Benefits less pension 48,313 61,931

Payments within the reporting year to past Directors (audited)
As disclosed in the 2021 directors’ remuneration report, Sir António Horta-Osório was provided with tax assistance worth £30,545 
(inclusive of VAT) during 2023. There are no other payments made to past directors in 2023.

External appointments
No executive director served as a non-executive director on the board of another company in 2023. 
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Our 2023 balanced scorecard
Our balanced scorecard provides transparency on how 
our performance directly aligns with remuneration outcomes 
for 2023 GPS. 

measures has resulted in an overall outcome of 80.3 per cent  
as set out in the scorecard assessment table below. Our 2023 

of implementing some necessary but tough changes in the 

page 114. 

climate change and promoting inclusion and diversity accounted 
for 17.5 per cent of the scorecard.

In determining the scorecard outcome for 2023, the Committee 
concluded that the mechanical outcome for reducing our 

external factors including changes in government policy and a 
milder winter compared to the ten year average. Therefore, while 
the measure outcome is 93.3 per cent, a downward adjustment  
to 50 per cent has been applied as shown below reducing the 
measure outcome to 2.5 per cent. 

executive directors for their performance within the context of 
overall shareholder experience.

Our 2023 balanced scorecard

Fi
na

nc
ia

l (
55

%)
N

on
-f

in
an

ci
al

 (4
5%

)

Threshold  
25%

Maximum  
100%Block Measure Actual Outcome

Weighted 
outcome

Ri
sk

Weighting

Performance range

25% £5,518m£4,223m £5,375m 100% 25%

20% 15.8% 100% 20%Return on tangible equity

20% 86% 90% 18%Group customer  
dashboard

5% £19.4bn 83.6% 4.2% 
and investment

10% £8,674m 65.4% 6.5%
Operating costs  

(excl. remediation and  
in-year GPS expense)

5% 30.2% 50%1 2.5%Reducing our operational  
carbon emissions 

3.75% 40.1% 45.6%Increasing our gender  
and ethnic representation  

in senior roles 

7.5% 66% 0% 0.0%Culture and colleague 
engagement

Total balanced scorecard outcome

1 Mechanical outcome of 93.3 per cent driven by performance of 30.2 per cent. The Committee have reduced the outcome to 50 per cent of maximum 

80.3%

11% 14%

£8,815m £8,553m

22%

74% 77%

60% 90%

£11.9bn £21.5bn

Charlie Nunn – Group Chief Executive 

Maximum award £1,590,750

Group balanced scorecard outcome 80.3%

Initial scorecard outcome £1,277,372

Committee discretion –

Annual GPS award/% of maximum 80.3%

• 
and leadership team which will be an important factor 
for success in 2024 and beyond

• Continued leadership throughout a challenging year for 
consumers, ensuring an appropriate Group-wide response 
to support customers impacted by interest rate rises

• 
performance and effective risk management

William Chalmers – Chief Financial Officer 

Maximum award1 £1,146,523

Group balanced scorecard outcome 80.3%

Initial scorecard outcome £920,658

Committee discretion –

Annual GPS award/% of maximum 80.3%

• Played a critical role in the strategic execution of the 
Group throughout 2023 

•  
on costs

• 
of 13.7 per cent, ahead of regulatory requirements

• Demonstrates effective risk management across all 

executive director and chair of key executive committees

3.75%

39.4% 42.0%

11.3% 64.3%10.2% 12.3%

1.7%

2.4%

31%

1 As part of the 2023 Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the maximum GPS opportunity for the CFO was increased from 100 per cent to 140 per cent of salary.
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(45%) commentary
The scorecard that the Committee used in determining the 
annual Group Performance Share awards for the executive 
directors, along with the assessment of performance against  
the scorecard, is detailed on page 113. The table below outlines 

 
of the scorecard.

Measure Commentary

Group customer 
dashboard
Our assessment of how effectively 
we are serving customers across 
all brands, products and services.

• The 2023 Group customer dashboard contains 195 targeted measures relating to customer 
satisfaction, including; customer complaints, NPS and peer benchmarks

• In 2023, 86 per cent of Group customer dashboard measures achieved target (compared to  
80 per cent in 2022), supported by ongoing strong performance relative to peers. Continued focus 
is required to maintain strong customer performance and to further improve scores in the context 
of our growth strategy

• 

Reducing operational 
carbon emissions
Reported vs 2018/19 baseline. 
Includes Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
Scope 3 carbon emissions. 
Reporting year is October to 
September.

• A 30.2 per cent reduction has been achieved in 2023 from our 2018/19 baseline. Year on year 
reductions in gas and refrigerants have been delivered, although increases continue to be seen  

• 
proportion of the 2023 reduction has been driven by external factors including changes in 
government policy and a milder winter compared to the ten year average

• Metric supports our external commitments to achieve net zero carbon operations by 2030  
and maintain travel emissions below 50 per cent of 2018/2019 levels

and investment1

• 
across all contributing business lines – Commercial Banking, Consumer Lending Mortgages, 
Consumer Lending Transport and Scottish Widows Investments

• Our robust performance continues to be driven by the positive uptake of electric vehicles  

Increasing our gender 
and ethnic representation 
in senior roles

• We have increased the representation of women within our senior population by  
0.7 percentage points since the end of 2022, moving from 39.4 per cent to 40.1 per cent

•  
by 1.1 percentage points since the end of 2022, moving from 10.2 per cent to 11.3 per cent

Culture
and colleague
engagement
Our employee engagement 
index score.

• 
Lloyds Banking Group, and also recommending Lloyds Banking Group as a great place to work

• 

welcomed the changes necessary to transform the Group. Despite this our in-year advocacy 
measure is moving in a positive direction

Directors’ remuneration report continued

 

Non-financial measures commentary
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2021 Long Term Share Plan
A Long Term Share Plan award was granted in relation to 2020 
performance under the terms of the previous Remuneration Policy. 

It is an important feature of the LTSP that performance is 
assessed and appropriately recognised upfront in the award 
size during the ‘pre-grant test’.

 
of four key questions takes place prior to vesting to ensure 
performance over the period has been sustainable. The 
Committee has completed the full assessment and there  
is nothing known now which, had it been known at the time  
of grant, would have changed the initial award levels.

performance and consideration of the four key questions is  
shown below. 

Pre-vest test – underpins

1 Peers: Barclays Group, HSBC Holdings, NatWest Group, Santander UK and Virgin Money UK.
2 2023 peer bank average based on latest company published consensus as of 1 February 2024 where full year results not available.

Share Plan, the Committee carefully considered alignment 
with shareholder experience and whether adjustments were 
required for windfall gains.

Awards were granted in March 2021 at 39.3015 pence. The  
share price used to calculate indicative value is 43.564 pence  
(page 112). While 10.8 per cent higher, the Committee considers 

it reasonably represents performance over the period. 2021 LTSP 
awards, including the award for the CFO, were reduced by up to 
40 per cent upfront at the time of grant, showing restraint based 

award as he was not in role at the time of grant. The Committee 
concluded there was no windfall gain over the period and as such 
no additional adjustment was required.

In conjunction with the assessment of performance against the 
financial underpins above, the Remuneration Committee considered 
the four questions below to satisfy itself that there is nothing known 
now which, had it been known at the time of grant, would have 
changed the initial award levels:

Q  Has the bank lived up to its ambition to be the Best Bank 
for Customers?

Q

Q  Has the Group made meaningful progress in supporting the UK’s 
transition to net zero? 

Q  Has the Group suffered a serious conduct event or has severe 
reputational damage arisen from the Group not living its values?

A  The Group has maintained its strong capital position, strong 
reputation and support for customers and businesses since 
making awards in 2021. Risk management has remained a key 
element in shaping our business model, with a focus on safely 
progressing strategic ambitions whilst supporting customers 
impacted by the rising cost of living.

 

 The Group continues to make meaningful progress against our 
environmental commitments including reducing our operational 
carbon emissions by around 30 per cent from the 2018/19 
baseline, delivering over £40 billion1

investment since 2022, becoming a founding member of the 
Net-Zero Banking Alliance and publishing 10 sector-based 2030 
emissions reduction targets for our most carbon-intensive sectors 
tracked through our system-led transition plans.

 The Committee noted in the 2020 pre-grant test that there was 
still work to do towards achieving the Group’s gender and 

stretch targets in the 2021 balanced scorecard. In each 
performance year from 2021 to 2023 we have continued to 
improve our gender and ethnicity representation in senior roles. 
From year-end 2020 we have increased women in senior roles 
from 37 per cent to 40.1 per cent at year-end 2023 and from 

representation by 47 per cent from 7.7 per cent to 11.3 per cent at 
year-end 2023.

 The Committee concluded that performance considered in the 
‘pre-grant test’ has been sustainable and therefore no discretion 
has been applied. The 2021 LTSP awards will vest at 100%, as the 

 
the period.

Pre-vest test – additional consideration by the Committee

Fi
na

nc
ia

l (
10

0%
)

Underpin Actual Assessment

CET1 ratio  
ratio above the guided management target (13.5%)  

each year, including all regulatory buffers

RoTE  
UK peer banks1

peer banks: 10.5% (2021), 11.0% (2022) and 12.3% (20232)

Ordinary Dividend – Increased ordinary dividend 
payments over the plan period (subject to any  

further sector-wide regulatory constraints). Starting point 
in 2020 was a dividend of 0.57p

Award (% maximum) vesting

Ri
sk

100%

13.8% 
13.5% 
15.8% 

2021

20224

2023

Met

Met

Met
16.3% 
14.1% 
13.7% 

2021

2022

2023

2.00p 
2.40p 
2.76p 

20213

20223

20233
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Lloyds Banking Group FTSE 100 index
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Historical TSR Performance 
Growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding since 31 December 2013 (to 31 December 2023)

Relative importance of spend on pay 

The graphs below illustrate the total remuneration of all Group employees compared with returns of capital to shareholders 
in the form of dividends and share buyback.

£3,7602023

£3,6072022

4%

Dividend and share buyback1 

£m

£3,2802023

£2,9692022

Salaries and performance-based compensation2 
£m

10%

1 
2023, partly paid in 2023 and partly to be paid in 2024 and intended share 

31 December 2022, partly paid in 2022 and partly paid in 2023 and 
share buyback.

2 Performance-based compensation includes expense for the following plans: 
Group Performance Share (2023: £410 million, 2022: £433 million), Long Term 

For the 2023 performance year, the value of awards was £384 million for 
Group Performance Share and £25 million for Long Term Incentive Plan.

Comparison of returns to shareholders and Group Chief Executive total remuneration

throughout this period.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

GCE single figure
of remuneration
£000

Sir António Horta-Osório 11,540 8,704 5,791 6,434 6,544 4,424 3,604 2,444 n/a n/a

Charlie Nunn1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 5,523 3,767 3,681

William Chalmers2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 819 n/a n/a

Annual bonus/  
GPS payout 
(% of maximum 
opportunity)

Sir António Horta-Osório3 54% 57% 77% 77% 67.60% n/a n/a 57.80% n/a n/a

Charlie Nunn n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 57.80% 84.1% 80.3%

William Chalmers2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 78.20% n/a n/a

Long-term 
incentive vesting 
(% of maximum 
opportunity)

Sir António Horta-Osório 97% 94.18% 55% 66.30% 68.70% 49.70% 33.75% 41.80% n/a n/a

Charlie Nunn n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

William Chalmers2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

TSR component 
vesting (% of LTIP 
maximum)

Sir António Horta-Osório 30% 30% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% n/a n/a

Charlie Nunn n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

William Chalmers2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

 
2021 includes a one-off buy-out of £4.231 million.

3 Sir António Horta-Osório independently requested that he be withdrawn from consideration for a Group Performance Share award in 2019 and 2020.  
There were no GPS awards for 2020 performance.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Single total figure of remuneration for Chair and non-executive directors (audited) 

Fees (£000) Benefits (£000)3 Total (£000)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Chair and non–executive directors

Sir Robin Budenberg 629 624 2 1 631 625

Alan Dickinson 402 445 3 – 405 445

Sarah Legg 228 224 5 5 233 229

Lord Lupton 286 282 6 – 292 282

Amanda Mackenzie 179 175 1 – 180 175

Harmeen Mehta 102 98 1 – 103 98

Cathy Turner1 157 19 – – 157 19

Scott Wheway2 458 189 25 – 483 189

Catherine Woods 246 242 23 10 269 252

1 Cathy Turner was appointed on 1 November 2022.
2 Scott Wheway was appointed on 1 August 2022.

medical insurance, including a one-off settlement of tax relating to the restatement in the 2022 annual report. Non-executive directors do not receive  
variable pay.

Directors’ share interests and share awards Directors’ interests (audited) 

Number of shares Number of options
Total 

shareholding1 Value

Owned outright

Unvested 
subject to 
continued 

employment

Unvested 
subject to 

performance

Unvested 
subject to 
continued 

employment
Vested 

unexercised

Totals at 
31 December

20232

value at 
31 December 

2023 
(£000s)3

Executive directors

Charlie Nunn 4,855,377 847,433 6,872,2604 5,337,899 – 17,912,969 8,546

William Chalmers 7,433,791 2,270,483 6,500,4804,5 83,665 – 16,288,419 7,771

Non-executive directors

Sir Robin Budenberg 1,500,000 – – – – 1,500,000 n/a

Alan Dickinson 200,000 – – – – 200,000 n/a

Sarah Legg 200,000 – – – – 200,000 n/a

Lord Lupton 2,250,000 – – – – 2,250,000 n/a

Amanda Mackenzie 63,567 – – – – 63,567 n/a

Harmeen Mehta 20,000 – – – – 20,000 n/a

Cathy Turner 424,113 – – – – 424,113 n/a

Scott Wheway 168,356 – – – – 168,356 n/a

Catherine Woods 113,496 – – – – 113,496 n/a

1 Includes holdings of any Person Closely Associated.

4 For awards granted under the 2022 and 2023 Long Term Share Plan where the three-year underpin period has not completed, 100 per cent has been applied to 
calculate the expected value of the LTSP award in line with the applicable Remuneration Policy.

5 For awards granted under the 2021 Long Term Share Plans, as the three-year underpin period has completed, the actual outcome of 100 per cent (see page 115) 
has been applied to the unvested shares to calculate the expected value.

6 Directors are not permitted to enter into any hedging arrangements in relation to share awards. No director uses shareholding as collateral.
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Outstanding share plan interests (audited) 

At 1 January
2023

Granted/ 
awarded

Dividends 
awarded

Vested/ 
released/ 
exercised Lapsed

At 31 
December

2023 price NotesFrom To

Charlie Nunn

LTSP 2022 – 2024 3,588,364 3,588,364 2

LTSP 2023 – 2025 3,283,896 3,283,896 2,3

Deferred GPS 
awarded in 2022 
(2021 GPS) 222,415 148,276 74,139 4

Deferred GPS 
awarded in 2023 
(2022 GPS) 1,288,821 515,527 773,294 5,6
Share Buy-Out 1,247,548 1,247,548 – 15/03/2023 14/03/2028 1

1,368,990 1,368,990 12/03/2024 11/03/2029 1

1,368,990 1,368,990 11/03/2025 10/03/2030 1

1,369,012 1,369,012 11/03/2026 10/03/2031 1

891,217 891,217 11/03/2027 10/03/2032 1

339,690 339,690 11/03/2028 10/03/2033 1

William Chalmers

GOS 2020 – 2022 4,927,191 430,636 2,774,011 1,722,544 2

LTSP 2021 – 2023 1,547,340 1,547,340 2

LTSP 2022 – 2024 2,586,292 2,586,292 2

LTSP 2023 – 2025 2,366,848 2,366,848 2,3
Deferred GPS 
awarded in 2022 
(2021 GPS) 449,505 299,670 149,835 4
Deferred GPS 
awarded in 2023 
(2022 GPS) 663,507 265,403 398,104 5,6

2020 Sharesave 46,317 46,317 24.25p 01/01/2024 30/06/2024
2021 Sharesave 17,177 17,177 39.40p 01/01/2025 30/06/2025
2023 Sharesave 20,171 20,171 38.55p 01/01/2027 30/06/2027

cash to replace unvested awards from his previous employer, HSBC. Options vested on the 14 March 2023 and were exercised on 21 March 2023. Charlie Nunn 
retained all the shares apart from 586,558 shares which were sold at 48.16 pence to meet income tax and National Insurance contributions withholding 
obligations. The remaining 660,990 shares are subject to holding periods that mirror the shares replaced from HSBC of no hold, six months and  
12 months holds.

2 All GOS and LTSP awards have a three-year performance period ending 31 December. Awards were made in the form of conditional rights to free shares.
3 LTSP awards (in the form of conditional share awards) in 2023 were made over shares with a value of 150 per cent of salary for Charlie Nunn (3,283,896 shares 

with a value of £1,704,375) and a value of 150 per cent for William Chalmers (2,366,848 shares with a value of £1,228,418). Vesting is subject to underpin 
page 121

prior to grant (27 February 2023 to 3 March 2023), which was 51.901 pence.
4 The second tranche of the 2021 GPS deferred award vested on 7 March 2023. The closing market price of the Group’s ordinary shares on that date was  

51.360 pence. The award was settled in shares net of tax, with the resulting shares subject to a one-year holding period.
5 Half of the 2022 GPS is deferred into shares (in the form of conditional rights to free shares). The value of the shares awarded in respect of GPS granted in 

March 2023 was £668,911 (1,288,821 shares) for Charlie Nunn; and £344,367 (663,507 shares) for William Chalmers. As the awards represent deferral of awarded 

(27 February 2023 to 3 March 2023), which was 51.901 pence.
 

The award was settled in shares net of tax, with the resulting shares subject to a one-year holding period.

Outstanding cash awards (audited) 

At 1 January
2023 (£)

Granted/ 
awarded (£)

 Released
 (£)

At 31 
December

2023 (£) Notes

Charlie Nunn

Deferred GPS cash awarded in 2022 (2021 GPS) 104,594 69,729 34,865 1

Deferred GPS cash awarded in 2023 (2022 GPS) 401,346 401,346 1

William Chalmers

Deferred GPS cash awarded in 2022 (2021 GPS) 211,388 140,925 70,463 1

Deferred GPS cash awarded in 2023 (2022 GPS) 206,620 206,620 1

1 Half of the deferred portion of the 2021 and 2022 GPS awards are delivered in cash.
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Shareholding requirement

Shareholding requirement

in the Group in direct proportion to their salary in order to align 
their interests to those of shareholders. 

The minimum shareholding requirements applicable to executive 
directors at 31 December 2023 are 350 per cent of salary for the 

15 August 2026 to meet the requirement of 350 per cent of salary 
and the CFO has until 2 June 2024 to meet the requirement of 

The CFO has met the requirement of 250 per cent of salary and 
currently holds 467 per cent of salary at 31 December 2023.

In recognition of the increased variable opportunity offered by 
the implementation of the LTIP and to further strengthen alignment 
with shareholders, from 1 January 2024 the shareholding 

to 400 per cent of salary and from 250 per cent to 300 per cent 
for the CFO. 

The time frame over which this requirement must be met remains 

In the event that exceptional individual circumstances exist 
resulting in an executive not being able to comply with the Policy, 
the Remuneration Committee will consider whether an exception 
should apply.

Post-employment shareholding requirement

employment shareholding requirement of two years at a level 
equal to the lower of the shareholding requirements immediately 
prior to departure or the actual shareholding on departure.
The post-employment requirement will be maintained through 

under review.

None of those who were directors at the end of the year had  
any other interest in the capital of Lloyds Banking Group plc  
or its subsidiaries.

will increase to 400 per cent of salary and to 300 per cent for the other executive directors.
2 Calculated using the average share price for the period 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (45.864 pence). Includes ordinary shares, net of tax where 

appropriate, acquired through the vesting of the deferred Group Performance Share plan, Fixed Share Awards as the shares have no performance conditions, 

Long Term Share Plan awards, shares held in the Share Incentive Plan (SIP) Trust, i.e. Free, Partnership, Matching and Dividend shares which are no longer 

or partner and children, are also included.
3 2022 shareholding has been recalculated using the average share price for the period 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (45.864 pence). Salary as at 

31 December 2022 has been used to calculate the percentage.

Charlie Nunn
% of salary

Requirement 1  
To be met by 15/08/26

Actual 2 
31/12/23

Actual 2,3 
31/12/22

William  
Chalmers % of salary

Requirement 1 
To be met by 02/06/24

Actual 2 
31/12/23

Actual 2,3 
31/12/22

£3.98m 350%

£2.23m 196%

£1.21m 107%

£2.05m 250%

£3.83m 467%

£2.90m 355%
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Chair and non-executive director fees 

Following a detailed review of peer benchmarks, there is a 4 per cent increase to the annual fee for the Chair (£654,500) aligned to 
the majority of the wider workforce. The basic board fee, Chair and membership fees for the Responsible Business Committee and 
IT Forum will also increase by 4 per cent. The Nomination and Governance Committee fee will increase by 1.7 per cent. There are no 
increases to other non-executive directors’ fees for 2024.

2024 2023

Basic non-executive director fee 89,500 86,100

Deputy Chair 107,000 107,000

Senior Independent Director 64,200 64,200

Audit Committee Chair 75,000 75,000

Remuneration Committee Chair 75,000 75,000

Risk Committee Chair 75,000 75,000

Responsible Business Committee Chair 44,500 42,800

IT Forum Chair 44,500 42,800

Audit Committee member 34,300 34,300

Remuneration Committee member 34,300 34,300

Risk Committee member 34,300 34,300

Responsible Business Committee member 16,750 16,100

IT Forum member 16,750 16,100

Nomination and Governance Committee member 16,375 16,100

Non-executive directors may receive more than one of the above fees.

Percentage change in remuneration levels 

in our UK-based colleagues’ pay. Lloyds Banking Group plc is not an employing entity, and therefore the disclosure below is made on 
a voluntary basis to compare any change with all employees of the wider Group based in the UK. This population has been chosen as 
the majority of our workforce are based in the UK and is considered to be the most appropriate group of employees. The same 

page 122 of the report.

% change in base salary/fees % change in GPS % change in benefits

2019 to  
2020

2020 to  
2021

2021 to  
2022

2022 to 
2023

2019 to  
2020

2020 to  
20214

2021 to  
2022

2022 to 
2023

2019 to  
2020

2020 to  
2021

2021 to 
2022

2022 to 
2023

All employees1 4 4 6 139 (100) n/a 12 (14)9 (32) 1 5 (43)9

Executive directors

Charlie Nunn2 n/a n/a 1 – n/a n/a 47 (5) n/a n/a 4 (37)

William Chalmers3 2 12 (9) – (100) n/a (2) 34 (1) 2 35 –

Non–executive directors5,6

Sir Robin Budenberg n/a 243 1 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a – 100

Alan Dickinson 45 14 12 (10) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Sarah Legg 131 28 6 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Lord Lupton – (8) (2) 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Amanda Mackenzie 6 (1) 7 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Harmeen Mehta n/a n/a 2 4 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Cathy Turner7 n/a n/a n/a 38 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Scott Wheway8 n/a n/a n/a 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Catherine Woods n/a 43 4 2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1 Lloyds Banking Group is not a contracting entity but considers all UK-based employees to be appropriate for purposes of an ‘All employees’ calculation.

4 No Group Performance Share (bonus) was paid for 2020 performance.
5 In some instances, non-executive directors may change membership or become the Chair of a Committee during the year, resulting in large year-on-year 

percentage changes in fees.

of the Remuneration Committee and Senior Independent Director in September 2023.

9 2022 to 2023 variance was impacted by the consolidation of variable pay and Flex cash allowance into base salary as described on page 108.
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Gender pay 

26.7%2023

29.3%2022

Mean pay gap 

%

Lloyds Banking Group has committed to becoming a 
leader in gender diversity. We recognise that companies with 
proportionate gender diversity see increased performance, 
and make better decisions. We are working towards an 
ambition of 50 per cent of senior leadership roles being held 
by women by 2025. At the end of April 2023 we were at 

gender goal in 2014 when we were at 28 per cent.

Continued progress has been made in closing the Gender  
Pay Gap, with the gap reducing by 2.6 percentage points to  
26.7 per cent, the largest improvement since we started 
reporting. This improvement demonstrates that our actions 
are moving us in the right direction, however, we remain 
committed to accelerating our progress.

As part of our commitment to Helping Britain Prosper, we 
believe it is essential for us to make an impact beyond our 

Leaders review, which has set a target of a minimum of 
40 per cent women on boards and in leadership teams. 
Our ongoing work to improve gender balance in our 
organisation has resulted in us being named in the 2023 

Further information is available in our pay gap report .

Ethnicity pay 

5.7%2023

4.6%2022

Mean pay gap 

%

We know that diversity of our workforce is important, and 
that representation is a key driver to close the gaps that exist. 
For this reason, we made a public commitment to increase 
Black Heritage representation in senior roles to 3 per cent by 
2025 and increase our overall senior Black, Asian and Minority 

2023, 10.5 per cent of senior manager roles were held by Black, 

Black Heritage colleagues.

legislative requirement on UK organisations to publish these 

employer, we’ve chosen to publish this data because we 
recognise the importance of transparency in encouraging 
focus and inspiring purposeful, action-led change. It holds  
us accountable, helps us to learn, and we believe will lead  
to positive improvement.

 
85.1 per cent in April 2022 to 88.2 per cent in April 2023  
(of those colleagues who have chosen to disclose their 
ethnicity with us). We’re pleased to see that our overall 

 
has increased. This is due to higher volumes of inclusive 
recruitment and a greater proportion of colleagues sharing 
their ethnicity data with us at the more junior levels of our 
business. This has, however resulted in an increase in our 
ethnicity pay gaps from 4.6 per cent to 5.7 per cent because 
our junior colleagues hold lower paid positions within our 
business. Whilst we have also seen improvements within the 
representation of our senior leadership teams this remains 
lower, affecting our efforts to close the gaps further and 
we recognise we have more to do to achieve this. 

Further information is available in our pay gap report .
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Chief Executive Officer pay ratio 

The Remuneration Committee views pay ratios as a useful reference point to inform policy-setting, but also takes into 

of colleagues since 2017. The change in the pay ratios for 2023 is explained in more detail below.

Total compensation Fixed pay

Year Methodology
P25 (Lower 

Quartile)
P50 

(Median)
P75 (Upper 

Quartile)
P25 (Lower 

Quartile)
P50 

(Median)
P75 (Upper 

Quartile)

2023 A 112:1 80:1 45:1 76:1 54:1 31:1

2022 A 120:1 86:1 48:1 81:1 59:1 35:1

2021 A 316:1 225:1 120:1 93:1 66:1 38:1

2020 A 132:1 95:1 54:1 103:1 75:1 42:1

2019 A 179:1 128:1 71:1 114:1 82:1 47:1

2018 A 237:1 169:1 93:1 113:1 81:1 48:1

2017 A 245:1 177:1 97:1 113:1 82:1 48:1

Y-o-Y (2022 v 2023) (7)% (8)%

Notes to the table:
• 
• 
• The P25, P50 and P75 colleagues were determined on 31 December 2023 based on calculating total remuneration for all UK 

• 
remuneration has been calculated for 58,072 UK colleagues within the Group for a full year including full-time equivalent base pay, 

• The average share price between 1 October 2023 and 31 December 2023 of 43.564 pence has been used to indicate the value of 
vesting Long Term Share Plan awards.

• 

of the valuation.
• 

Our ratios have been calculated using Methodology option A on the basis that it provided the most accurate means of identifying 

The reduction in 2020 can be attributed to the decision not to make awards under the Group Performance Share plan, reduced 

allowance from 33 per cent to 15 per cent of salary.

year. This increase can be attributed to the one-off buy out awards granted to Charlie Nunn, an increase in the vesting of the LTIP 
and the payment of Group Performance Share (annual bonus), which were not awarded for 2020.

The reduction in 2022 was due to two factors. Firstly, Charlie Nunn’s remuneration for 2022 did not include any value in respect of 

Secondly, the 2021 ratio included the one-off buy-out awards granted to Charlie Nunn. In addition the 2021 ratio was calculated for all 

the lower quartile, 11 per cent at the median and 7 per cent at the upper quartile, also contributing to the decrease in pay ratios.

There has been a further reduction in 2023 which can be attributed to three key factors. Recognising the desire to focus on 

wider workforce was 6.3 per cent. Given the approach focused on lower paid colleagues and colleagues lower in their pay range, 
this resulted in pay increases of between 8 per cent and 13 per cent for around 43,000 colleagues. In addition, from July 2023 we 

For the majority of colleagues, year-on-year changes in remuneration are principally driven by pay increases and the impacts of 
Group performance and collective adjustment. The Group has a commitment to pay progression and a continued focus on ensuring 
higher pay awards for colleagues who are lower paid, or paid lower within their pay range. We are committed to reducing the pay gap 
between executives and wider colleagues and continue to remain focused on addressing the gap from the bottom up and not just 
from the top down.

The Committee is thoughtful of the volatility in pay ratios due to variable reward outcomes. Although the pay ratio is used as  
a useful reference point to inform policy-setting, the Committee takes into account a number of other factors to assess colleague  
pay progression.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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 Base Salary 

 
The approach focuses on lower paid colleagues. 

of the wider workforce at 4 per cent.

Salaries will therefore be as follows:
• 
• CFO: £851,703

 Fixed Share Award 

pay increase for 2024. 

Awards will therefore be as follows:
• 
• CFO: £524,160

Shares will be released in equal tranches over three years.
(See page 129 for further details).

 Pension 

Pension allowances for all executive directors are set at 
15 per cent of base salary. Any new executive director 
appointments in 2024 will also attract a maximum allowance 
of 15 per cent of base salary.

Contribution (DC) Pension scheme where the maximum 
opportunity for the workforce is 15 per cent of base salary. 

therefore aligned with those available to the majority of  
the workforce.

In addition to the DC arrangement, the Group currently 

with the effective cost of employer contributions into these 
arrangements being around 34 per cent of salary.

 

and critical illness cover.

The CFO also receives a car allowance.

 Group Performance Share (short term variable)  
The performance measures for determining any individual
2024 GPS awards for executive directors are outlined in the 2024 
balanced scorecard on page 125.

Maximum opportunities for executive directors for 2024 are
140 per cent of base salary.

Individual awards as a percentage of maximum will directly 
relate to the overall performance assessment outcome. For the 
2024 performance year, any GPS opportunity will be awarded  
in March 2025 in a combination of cash (up to 50 per cent)  
and shares.

The Group will apply deferral in line with minimum regulatory 
requirements as set out in the Policy. This is consistent with the 
approach taken by our peers. At least 60 per cent of total 
variable remuneration awarded to our executive directors will 
remain deferred over a period of up to seven years, maintaining 
strong alignment to shareholders.

The 2023 Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved at the AGM in May 2023.  
The Group proposes to operate the policy in the following way for 2024.

Implementation of the policy in 2024
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 Long Term Incentive Plan 

The Group’s pivot towards a more demanding, high-
performance culture is critical in delivering against our 
ambitious strategy. LTIP awards will be granted in relation to 
2023 performance under the terms of the current Remuneration  
Policy. The Committee concluded that 2023 performance, 
including assessment of our 2023 Group scorecard and other 
factors, was at a level to make awards. This is known as the 
‘pre-grant test’.

To ensure strong alignment between variable reward outcomes 
and the creation of shareholder value through the delivery of 
our strategy and the deepening of our relationships with our 
customers, the Committee has determined that LTIP awards 

In accordance with regulatory requirements LTIP awards will  
not accrue dividend equivalents over the vesting period; in line 
with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the number of shares 
granted under the awards will be determined using a share 

equivalents during the vesting period.

Performance measures and weightings
The 2023 DRP set out a framework to align LTIP performance 

delivery of its refreshed, growth-orientated strategy and the 
progress towards its environmental commitments. Three 

intentions in the 2022 ARA, with a total weighting of 50 per cent. 

of capital and ensures focus on long-term value creation, 
Capital Build recognises the importance of maintaining a 

accretive decision making for the long-term and rTSR compares 
the value delivered to a shareholder in the Group over the 
performance period with the value delivered to shareholders  
by our peers.

A dedicated 35 per cent weighting will focus on the Group’s 
delivery of its strategy and success of our strategic initiatives in 

give consideration to an assessment of performance against 

growth pillars: Deepen and innovate in Consumer, Create a new 

and Target our Corporate and Institutional offering.

Finally, 15 per cent weight is attributed to environmental 

economy is at the core of our strategy and aligns with our 
purpose to Help Britain Prosper. The Committee will assess 

investment commitments over the performance period, 2026 
progress towards its 2030 NZBA sector targets and delivery 
against Scottish Widows’ net-zero ambition (see page 33).

Target setting
Setting targets is a critical focus area for the Committee and 
a rigorous exercise has been undertaken to ensure our targets 

agenda and comparable industry returns.

Operation
The awards made in 2024 will vest based on the Group’s 
performance between January 2024 to December 2026. 
The following table provides a breakdown of the construct 
which the Committee considers aligns management and 
shareholder interests appropriately.

2024-2026 LTIP scorecard
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15
%)

Threshold 25% Maximum 100%Block Performance measure Weighting
Performance range

15%20%
1 – 

average over three years 12%

205 bps10%
Capital Build2 –

average over three years 160 bps

Sustainable Financing  
and Investment

At the upper quartile of  
the peer group

20%relative Total Shareholder Return3 – 
cumulative over three years

Median of  
the peer group

Achievement of sector  
NZBA targets and Scottish Widows 2030 

ambition

35%

15%

Delivery of the Group’s strategic 
objectives by the end of 2026

The Committee will assess the Group’s delivery of its strategy to drive 

pillars: Deepen and innovate in Consumer, deepen relationships and 

Corporate and Institutional offering, strengthen a core business with focus 
on UK-linked clients. After this assessment the Committee will holistically 

determine a vesting outcome.

The Committee will assess the Group’s performance against its publicly 
disclosed environmental targets aligned to cumulative sustainable 

progress towards its 2030 NZBA sector targets and delivery against Scottish 
Widows’ net-zero ambition. After this assessment the Committee will 

holistically determine a vesting outcome.

2 If average Capital Build reaches 160 basis points then 2.5 per cent of the award vests. If average Capital Build reaches 205 basis points then 10 per cent of 
the award vests. If average Capital Build is between the threshold and maximum, vesting is calculated on a straight-line basis between these two points.

3 Peer group: HSBC, Barclays, NatWest, BNP Paribas, Santander, ING, Intesa Sanpaolo, BBVA, UniCredit, Nordea, Crédit Agricole, Caixa, KBC Group, Deutsche 
Bank, SocGen, Danske, ABN AMRO, Bank of Ireland. Where performance falls between threshold and maximum levels, an intermediate percentage will vest.

4 See page 33 for an overview of our environmental metrics and targets.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

124 Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Our 2024 balanced scorecard
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Block Measure
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Return on tangible equity

Operating costs (excl. remediation and in-year GPS expense)

Customer
Our assessment of how effectively we are serving customers across all brands, products and services

Colleague
Increasing our gender and ethnic representation in senior roles 
Culture and colleague engagement 

Climate
Reducing our operational carbon emissions

7.5%
7.5%

20%

10%

25%

25%

5%

2024 Group balanced scorecard
The performance measures and weightings for determining 
any 2024 GPS awards for the executive directors are shown in 
the table below.

The measures and targets are set annually by the Remuneration 

against the backdrop of the rapidly evolving external economic 
and societal landscape.

Performance measures and weightings
The 2024 scorecard metrics have been reviewed alongside the 
new 2024 LTIP measures, shown on page 124, to ensure they are 
complementary and there is minimal overlap which would risk 
duplication of outcomes.

The Sustainable Financing and Investment measure which has 
featured in previous annual scorecards is a critical part of the 
2024 LTIP. For this reason, it has been removed from the 2024 

measure recognising its importance to shareholders. This brings 

metrics, it is considered a fundamental indicator of Group 

the annual scorecard focuses on in-year performance while the 
LTIP assesses long-term performance. There are no other 
changes from 2023.

Targets
Setting stretching targets is a key component of our demanding 
performance-driven culture. The Committee has undertaken a 

taking into consideration our operating plan and, where 
applicable, forward-looking guidance.

Targets will be disclosed retrospectively in the 2024 annual report 
alongside the level of performance achieved, as the 
Remuneration Committee considers such targets to be 
commercially sensitive. 

agreed by the Remuneration Committee to evaluate 
performance during 2024.

Discretion

Committee may consider any personal or business area 
objectives and whether there has been effective, consistent
and proactive risk management and conduct outcomes across 
all dimensions.

When assessing performance, the Committee can exercise its 
judgment to determine the appropriate outcome. This helps to 
avoid any potential unintended outcomes that might arise from 
the application of formulaic performance criteria. 
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Remuneration Committee

non-executive directors. From September 2023, the Committee 
has comprised of four non-executive directors, after Alan 
Dickinson stepped down from the Committee. Sir Robin 
Budenberg attends the Committee in his role as Group Chair. 
The non-executive directors are from a wide background to 
provide a balanced and independent view on remuneration 
matters. Two of the three designated independent non-executive 
directors of the Ring-Fenced Banks also attend meetings of the 
Committee as observers in order to provide insights on matters 
relevant to the Ring-Fenced Banks and as part of their role in 
the Group’s overall governance structure. For further details of 
Committee membership and attendance at meetings, please 
see page 79.

with and received updates from the Chief People and Places 

The purpose of the Committee is to set the remuneration for all 
executive directors and the Chair, including pension rights and 
any compensation payments. It recommends and monitors the 
level and structure of remuneration for senior management and 
material risk takers. It also considers, agrees and recommends

to the Board an overall remuneration policy and philosophy for 
the Group that is aligned with its long-term business strategy, 
its business objectives, its risk appetite, purpose and values and 
the long-term interests of the Group, and recognises the interests
of relevant stakeholders, including the wider workforce. The 

interest arise, and in particular, the Committee ensures that no 
individual is present when matters relating to their own
remuneration are discussed.

Advisers
PwC was appointed by the Committee in May 2022 following  
a competitive tender process and was retained for 2023.  
The Committee is of the view that PwC provides independent 
remuneration advice to the Committee and does not have  
any connections with the Group or any director that may impair 
its independence.

More broadly, PwC provides unrelated professional services to the 
Group in the ordinary course of business including tax, advisory, 
internal audit and non-audit assurance services. PwC attended 
Committee meetings upon invitation and fees payable for the 
provision of services in respect of directors’ remuneration in 2023 
amounted to £122,650 excluding VAT. Fees paid to PwC for advising 

 
a time and materials basis.

Committee activities in the year

Jan Feb May Sep Nov

Executive directors’ remuneration      

balanced scorecards and pay proposals

Group Performance Share, long-term variable and 
individual assessment

Remuneration for other senior executives

Directors’ remuneration report

Directors’ remuneration policy design

All employee remuneration      
Group Performance Share pool, balanced scorecard performance 
and 2024 pay proposals

Group-wide reward, gender and ethnicity pay gap

Remuneration aspects of the workforce engagement

Reward governance      
Consideration of Policy, risk, control and conduct matters

Statement of voting at annual general meeting 

The table below sets out the voting outcome at the annual general meeting in May 2023 in relation to the annual report on
remuneration and the Remuneration Policy.

Votes cast  
in favour

Votes  
cast against

Votes  
withheld

Number of 
shares 

(millions)
Percentage 

of votes cast

Number of 
shares 

(millions)
Percentage 

of votes cast

Number of 
shares 

(millions)

2022 annual report on remuneration (advisory vote) 39,030 96.05% 1,604 3.95% 59

Directors’ Remuneration Policy (binding vote in 2023) 39,002 96.00% 1,623 4.00% 68

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Policy alignment to Provision 40 of the Corporate Governance Code
A summary of how the proposed Remuneration Policy addresses the principles set out in the  
UK Corporate Governance Code is detailed below.

Clarity 

• The Committee regularly consults with key shareholders 
to ensure transparency on our policy and remuneration 
outcomes and topics. Shareholder feedback is shared 
with Board members and considered in the Committee’s 
reward decisions and policy considerations

• Targets are aligned to the Group’s strategy and purpose, 
providing clarity to shareholders and stakeholders on 
the relationship between delivery of the strategy and 
remuneration outcomes 

• During the year the Group communicated directly with 
colleagues detailing Group performance, changes in the 

strategic initiatives. Meetings were held throughout the 
year between the Group and our recognised unions.

• Non-executive directors attended a number of colleague 
focus groups, allowing colleagues to share their 
perspective on matters on the Board’s agenda including 
the rising cost of living and remuneration

Proportionality 

• There is clear alignment between the performance of 
the Group, the business strategy, and the reward paid 
to executive directors

• The Committee has the discretion to reduce the annual 
bonus, LTIP and LTSP awards, if it considers the payout 

Group during the performance period 

Simplicity 

• The Remuneration Policy has been designed so that it is 
easy to understand and transparent, while complying with 
all regulatory requirements and meeting the expectations 
of our shareholders 

• The purpose of each remuneration element is explained 
in the Policy and the amount paid in respect of each 
element is clearly set out

Risk 

• The Remuneration Policy supports the Group’s risk 
management framework

• Risk and conduct considerations are taken into account  
in setting the annual bonus pool

• The annual bonus, deferred bonus, LTIP and LTSP 
incorporate malus and clawback provisions, and 
overarching Committee discretion to adjust formulaic 
outcomes 

Predictability 

• The summarised Remuneration Policy on pages 128 to 132 
describes the purpose, operation and maximum potential 
for each remuneration element

• The full Policy set out on pages 125 to 133 of the 2022 
annual report and accounts illustrates a range of potential 
outcomes for executive directors

 Alignment to culture 

• Annual and long term variable remuneration are designed 
to drive behaviours consistent with the Group’s strategy, 
purpose and values

• When considering individual executive directors’ 
performance, the Committee takes account of the  
Group’s values 
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2023 Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The Group’s Remuneration Policy was approved at the AGM  
on 18 May 2023 and took effect from that date. 

It is intended that approval of the Policy will be sought at  
three-year intervals, unless amendments to the Policy are 
required, in which case further shareholder approval will be 
sought. Information on how the Policy will be implemented  
in 2024 is included in the annual report on remuneration on  
pages 123 to 125.

The Committee extensively consulted on the Policy proposals  
with the Group’s institutional shareholders and key proxy rating 
agencies. The Committee regularly engages and consults with 
key shareholders to take into account their feedback on the  
Policy and its implementation.

The full policy is set out in the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts 
(pages 125 to 133) which is available on our website .

Directors’ Remuneration Policy and  
alignment to our Group strategy
The performance measures selected for the GPS and LTIP will be 
set annually by the Committee taking account of the Group’s 

Performance measures are selected to ensure an appropriate 
balance between short and long-term strategic goals and to 
align executive director and shareholder interests. In determining 
the appropriate set of measures and targets for annual bonus 
and LTIP awards, the Committee has discretion to vary the 
performance measures, or to substitute the metrics, over the life 
of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy taking into account the 
Group’s strategic plan or emerging best practice.

is participation in the LTIP which is restricted to those most directly 
accountable for the successful delivery of the Group’s strategy. 

The table below summarises how the Policy applies across  
the Group.

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Remuneration policy table for executive directors

 Base Salary 

Purpose and link to strategy
To support the recruitment and retention of executive directors 
of the calibre required to develop and deliver the Group’s 

taking account of market competitiveness, responsibilities and 
experience, and pay in the Group as a whole.

Operation
Base salaries are typically reviewed annually with any increases 
normally taking effect from 1 April for executive directors. When 
determining and reviewing base salary levels, the Committee 
takes into account base salary increases for employees 
throughout the Group and ensures that decisions are made 
within the following two parameters: 
• An objective assessment of the individual’s responsibilities 

and the size and scope of their role, using objective job-sizing 
methodologies. 

• Pay for comparable roles in comparable publicly listed 

Salary may be paid in sterling or other currency and at an 
exchange rate determined by the Committee.

Maximum potential 
The Committee will make no increase which it believes is 
inconsistent with the two parameters. Increases will normally  
be no more than the increase awarded to the overall employee 
population. However, a greater salary increase may be 
appropriate in certain circumstances, such as a new 
appointment made on a salary below a market competitive 
level, where phased increases are planned, or where there has 
been an increase in the responsibilities of an individual. Where 
increases are awarded in excess of the wider employee 
population, the Committee will provide an explanation in the 
relevant annual report on remuneration.

Performance measures
N/A

Executive  
directors

Group Executive
Committee

Other  
material

risk takers
Other  

employees

Fixed     
Base salary

Fixed Share Award / Role-based allowance 

Variable     
Short term incentive

Long term incentive

Directors’ Remuneration Policy and Group Remuneration Policy alignment
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 Fixed Share Award 

Purpose and link to strategy 
 

with role and to provide a competitive reward package for 

and variable remuneration. 

Operation
The Fixed Share Award will be delivered entirely in Lloyds  
Banking Group shares, released over three years with 
33 per cent being released each year following the year of 
award. Fixed Share Awards are preferred to be delivered in 
shares to create further alignment with shareholders over time. 
However, the Committee has discretion to deliver some or all 
of the awards in cash.

Maximum potential
The maximum award is 100 per cent of base salary.

Performance measures 
N/A

 Pension 

Purpose and link to strategy
To provide cost-effective and market competitive  

 
in building long-term retirement savings.

Operation
 

contributions set as a percentage of salary. 

An individual may elect to receive some or all of  
their pension allowance as cash in lieu of pension  
contribution.

Maximum potential
The maximum allowance for all executive directors 
 is set at 15 per cent of base salary in line with the  
majority of the workforce. 

Performance measures
N/A

 

 

Purpose and link to strategy

remuneration package.

Operation

a company car or car allowance, private medical insurance, 

such as accommodation, relocation, and travel. The Committee 

individual circumstances. 

the Committee ensures that decisions are made within the 
following two parameters:
• An objective assessment of the individual’s responsibilities 

and the size and scope of their role, using objective job-sizing 
methodologies

• 

Maximum potential

provided which it believes are consistent with the 

of base salary.

Performance measures
N/A

 All-employee plans 

Purpose and link to strategy

share plans which promote share ownership by giving 
employees an opportunity to invest in Group shares.

Operation

HMRC guidelines currently prevailing (where relevant), on the 
same basis as other eligible employees.

Maximum potential
Participation levels may be increased up to HMRC limits as 
amended from time to time. The monthly savings limits for  

of shares that may be purchased under the Share Incentive 
Plan (SIP) in any year is currently £1,800 with a two-for-one 
match. Currently a three-for-two match is operated up to  
a maximum colleague investment of £30 per month. 
The maximum value of free shares that may be awarded 
in any year is £3,600.

Performance measures
N/A
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   Group Performance Share 
(Short term variable) 

Purpose and link to strategy
To incentivise and reward the achievement of the Group’s 

the delivery of long-term superior and sustainable returns.

Operation
Measures and targets are set annually and awards are 
determined by the Committee after the year-end based on 
performance against the targets set. The GPS may be delivered 
partly in cash, shares, notes or other debt instruments including 
contingent convertible bonds. Where all or part of any award is 
deferred, the Committee may adjust these deferred awards in 
the event of any variation of share capital, demerger, special 
dividend or distribution or amend the terms of the plan in 
accordance with the plan rules. 

Where an award or a deferred award is in shares or other share-
linked instrument, the number of shares to be awarded may be 
calculated using a fair value or based on discount to market 

not eligible for dividends on unvested deferred awards. 

The Committee applies its judgement to determine the  
payout level commensurate with business and/or individual 
performance or other factors as determined by the Committee. 
The Committee may reduce the level of award (including  
to zero), apply additional conditions to the vesting, or delay  

considers it appropriate. Awards may be subject to malus 
and clawback for a period of up to seven years after the date 
of award which may be extended to 10 years where there is 
an ongoing internal or regulatory investigation.

Maximum potential
The maximum GPS opportunity is 140 per cent of salary for the 
executive directors. 

Performance measures
Measures and targets are set annually by the Committee in  
line with the Group’s strategic business plan and further details 
are set out in the annual report on remuneration for the  
relevant year.

and the weighting of these measures will be determined 
annually by the Committee. All assessments of performance 
are ultimately subject to the Committee’s judgement, but 
measures will not vest if a 25 per cent threshold performance  
is not met. The normal ‘target’ level of the GPS is 50 per cent  
of maximum opportunity. 

The Committee is committed to providing transparency in its 
decision making in respect of GPS awards and will disclose 
historic measures and target information together with 
information relating to how the Group has performed against 
those targets in the annual report on remuneration for the 
relevant year except to the extent that this information is 
deemed to be commercially sensitive, in which case it will  
be disclosed once it is deemed not to be sensitive.

  Long Term Incentive Plan 
(Long term variable) 

Purpose and link to strategy
To incentivise performance linked to the Group’s strategy 
and aligned to shareholder interests.

Operation
From 2024, awards will be granted under the rules of the  
2023 Long Term Incentive Plan, approved at the AGM on  
18 May 2023. Awards will be granted in the form of conditional
rights to shares in the Group.

The grant price of shares to be awarded may be discounted  

unvested awards. 

start before the third anniversary of grant; each vesting will be 
subject to a further holding period as required by regulation. 

The Committee retains full discretion to amend the vesting 

performance including risk and conduct outcomes. The 
Committee may reduce (including to zero) the level of the 
award, apply additional conditions to the vesting, or delay the 

Awards may be subject to malus and clawback for a period of 
up to seven years after the date of award which may be 
extended to 10 years where there is an ongoing internal or 
regulatory investigation.

Maximum potential
The maximum Long Term Incentive Plan opportunity is 
300 per cent of base salary for annual awards to all executive 
directors. The actual award level granted will be determined 
with reference to a pre-grant test based on an assessment of 
performance by the Committee.

Performance measures
Awards will be subject to forward-looking performance 

environmental measures set out in the annual report on 
remuneration each year; performance will be measured  
over a period of not less than three years as determined  
by the Committee. 

The Committee has the discretion to change the measures 
or their weightings subject to a minimum of 50 per cent of the 

No more than 25 per cent of the award will vest for threshold 
performance. 100 per cent of the award will vest for achieving 
the maximum performance. Where performance falls between 
threshold, target and maximum levels, an intermediate number 
of awards will vest.

 

Remuneration policy table for executive directors continued

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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    Deferral of variable remuneration 
and holding periods 

Operation
The GPS and LTIP are both considered variable remuneration for 
the purpose of regulatory payment and deferral requirements. 

The payment of variable remuneration and deferral levels are 
determined at the time of award in compliance with regulatory 
requirements which currently require that at least 60 per cent of 
the aggregate variable remuneration (GPS + LTIP) is deferred up 
to seven years with pro rata vesting between the third and 
seventh year, and at least 50 per cent of total variable 
remuneration is delivered in shares or other equity linked 
instruments subject to a minimum one-year holding period. 

  

Performance adjustment is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee and/or Board Risk Committee and may result in  
a reduction of up to 100 per cent variable remuneration 
opportunity for the relevant period. It can be applied on a 
collective or individual basis. When considering collective 
adjustment, a report is submitted to the Remuneration 
Committee and Board Risk Committee regarding any 
adjustments required to balanced scorecards or the overall  
GPS and/or LTSP/LTIP outcome to reflect in-year or prior year  
risk matters.

The application of malus will generally be considered when:
• There is reasonable evidence of employee misbehaviour 

or material error or that they participated in conduct which 
resulted in losses for the Group or failed to meet appropriate 

• There is material failure of risk management at a Group, 
business area, division and/or business unit level

• 
a given year do not support the level of variable 
remuneration awarded

• Any other circumstances where the Committee consider 
adjustments should be made

Judgement on individual performance adjustment is informed 
by taking into account the severity of the issue, the individual’s 
proximity to the issue and the individual’s behaviour in relation 
to the issue. Individual adjustment may be applied through 
adjustments to balanced scorecard assessments and/or 
through reducing the variable remuneration outcome.

Awards are subject to clawback for a period of up to seven years 
after the date of award which may be extended to 10 years 
where there is an ongoing internal or regulatory investigation.

The application of clawback will generally be considered when:
• There is reasonable evidence of employee misbehaviour or 

material error
• There is material failure of risk management at a Group, 

business area, division and/or business unit level

From 2 October 2023 we comply with new US Securities and 

the US (including foreign issuers such as Lloyds Banking Group) 
to be able to recover variable awards in the event of a 
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  Chair and non-executive  
 

Purpose and link to strategy
To provide an appropriate reward to attract and retain a 
high-calibre individual with the relevant skills, knowledge 
and experience.

Operation
The Committee is responsible for evaluating and making 
recommendations to the Board with regard to the
Chair’s fees. The Chair does not participate in these discussions.

making recommendations to the Board in relation to the fees 

the Committee ensures that decisions are made within the 
following parameters:
• The individual’s skills and experience
• An objective assessment of the individual’s responsibilities 

and the size and scope of their role, using objective sizing 
methodologies

• 

The Chair receives an all-inclusive fee, which is reviewed 

insurance and transportation. The Committee retains 

individual circumstances.

membership of Committees and for membership of Group 
company boards, non-board level committees and/or other 

Additional fees are also paid to the Senior Independent Director 

Any increases normally take effect from 1 January of a given year.

the six month notice period) and are not entitled to participate 
in the Group’s variable remuneration arrangements, all-
employee share plan or pension arrangements.

their duties, such as travel and accommodation expenses, 
on a grossed-up basis (where applicable).

Maximum potential

consistent with the parameters above.

Performance metrics
N/A

 

Service agreements
The service contracts of all current executive directors are terminable on 12 months’ notice from the Group and six months’ notice  
from the individual. The Chair also has a letter of appointment. The Chair’s engagement may be terminated on six months’ notice  
by either party.

Letters of appointment
The non-executive directors all have letters of appointment and are appointed for an initial term of three years after which their 
appointment may continue subject to an annual review. Non-executive directors may have their appointment terminated, in 
accordance with statute, regulation and the articles of association, at any time with immediate effect and without compensation.

All directors are subject to annual re-election by shareholders.

NED Date of letter of appointment Date of appointment

Sir Robin Budenberg1 4 July 2020 1 October 2020

Alan Dickinson 26 June 2014 8 September 2014

Sarah Legg 21 October 2019 1 December 2019

Lord Lupton 2 March 2017 1 June 2017

Amanda Mackenzie 17 April 2018 1 October 2018

Harmeen Mehta 5 October 2021 1 November 2021

Cathy Turner 11 October 2022 1 November 2022

Scott Wheway 26 July 2022 1 August 2022

Catherine Woods 22 October 2019 1 March 2020

1 Chair is subject to a 6 month notice period.

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Remuneration policy table for executive directors continued
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Other statutory and regulatory information

This directors’ report on pages 71 to 136 is 
our directors’ report for the purposes of  

requirements of the corporate governance 
statement for the purposes of the Financial 
Conduct Authority’s Disclosure Guidance 
and Transparency Rules (DTR).

before tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 of £7,503 million 
(2022: £6,928 million).

is subject to approval by the shareholders at the annual general 
meeting (AGM), of 1.84 pence per share, which together with the 
interim dividend of 0.92 pence per share represents a total 
dividend for the year of 2.76 pence per share, equivalent to 

be paid on 21 May 2024. 

respect of 2022 was paid on 23 May 2023, and an interim dividend 
of 0.92 pence per share totalling £592 million was paid on 
12 September 2023. Further information on dividends is shown in 
note 46 on page 305 and is incorporated into this directors’ report 
by reference.

The Board continues to give due consideration at each year end 
to the return of any surplus capital to shareholders and for 2023, 
the Board intends to return up to £2.0 billion through a share 
buyback programme in respect of the Company’s ordinary 
shares. This represents the return of capital over and above the 
Board’s view of the current level of capital required to grow the 
business, meet regulatory requirements and cover uncertainties.

The share buyback programme is intended to commence as 
soon as is practicable and is expected to be completed, subject 
to continued authority from the PRA, by 31 December 2024. Based 
on the total ordinary dividend and the intended ordinary share 
buyback the total capital return in respect of 2023 will be up to 
£3.8 billion.

The Company intends to use the authority for the repurchase of 
ordinary shares granted to it at the 2023 AGM to implement the 
proposed share buyback. Details of this existing authority are set 
out under ‘Power of directors in relation to shares’. Shareholders 
will be asked to renew this authority at the 2024 AGM, in line with 
common practice.

Appointment and retirement of directors
The appointment and retirement of directors is governed by the 
Company’s articles of association, the UK Corporate Governance 
Code and the Companies Act 2006. The Company’s articles of 
association may only be amended by a special resolution of the 
shareholders in a general meeting.

In the interests of good governance and in accordance with the 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, all directors  
will retire at the 2024 AGM and those wishing to serve again will 
submit themselves for re-election. Biographies of the current 
directors are set out on pages 74 to 75. Details of the directors 
seeking re-election at the AGM will be set out in the Notice  
of Meeting.

Board composition changes
There were no changes to the composition of the Board since 
1 January 2023 up to the date of this report. Alan Dickinson and 

seek re-election at this year’s annual general meeting. Nathan 
Bostock will be appointed as a non-executive director and, 
subject to regulatory approval, Chair of Lloyds Bank Corporate 
Markets plc, in each case with effect from 1 August 2024.

Throughout 2023 the Group had appropriate insurance cover  
in place to protect directors, including the directors who retired 
during the year, from liabilities that may arise against them 
personally in connection with the performance of their role. 

As well as insurance cover, the Group agrees to indemnify 
the directors to the maximum extent permitted by law. Further 
information on the Group’s indemnity arrangements is provided  
in the directors’ indemnities section.

Directors’ indemnities
The directors of the Company have entered into individual deeds of 
indemnity with the Company which constituted ‘qualifying third 
party indemnity provisions’ for the purposes of the Companies Act 
2006. The deeds indemnify the directors to the maximum extent 
permitted by law and remain in force. The deeds were in force 

The Company has also granted deeds of indemnity by deed poll 
and by way of entering into individual deeds, which constitute 
‘qualifying third party indemnity provisions’ to the directors of  
the Group’s subsidiary companies, including to former directors 
who retired during the year and since the year-end, and to Group 
colleagues subject to the provisions of the Senior Managers  

 
at the date of this report.

Qualifying pension scheme indemnities have also been granted 
to the Trustees of the Group’s pension schemes, which were in 

 
at the date of this report.

The Board has a comprehensive procedure for reviewing and, as 
permitted by the Companies Act 2006 and the Company’s 

interest. Directors have a duty to notify the Chair and Company 
Secretary as soon as they become aware of actual or potential 

are reported to the Nomination and Governance Committee and 
the Board and a register of directors’ interests is regularly 
reviewed and authorised by the Board to ensure the authorisation 
status remains appropriate. 

raising to corporations, partnerships, institutions and 

and requires Lord Lupton to recuse himself from discussions, 
should the need arise.

Share capital
Detail of the rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s 

statements.

Power of directors in relation to shares
The Board manages the business of the Company under the 
powers set out in the articles of association, which include the 
directors’ ability to issue or buy back shares. The directors were 
granted authorities to issue and allot shares and to buy back 
shares at the 2023 AGM. Shareholders will be asked to renew  
these authorities at the 2024 AGM. 

The authority in respect of purchase of the Company’s ordinary 
shares, as granted at the 2022 AGM, was limited to 7,047,917,092 
ordinary shares, equivalent to 10 per cent of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company as at the latest practicable date 
prior to publication of the 2022 AGM Notice of Meeting. Such 
authority was used during the year under review in connection 
with the share buyback programme described below and,  
as at 31 December 2023 and the date of this report, a total of 
4,386,262,707 ordinary shares had been repurchased. 
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Other statutory and regulatory information continued

The Company undertook an ordinary share buyback programme, 
which was launched on 23 February 2023 and ended on 
25 August 2023. The programme repurchased in aggregate 
4,386,262,707 ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of 
10 pence, for an aggregate consideration of c.£2.0 billion 
(aggregate nominal value of the ordinary shares £438,626,270.70) 
as a means by which to return surplus capital to shareholders. 
All of the repurchased ordinary shares were cancelled and 
together represented 6.90 per cent of the called up share capital 
of the Company. Further information in relation to the 2023 
ordinary share buyback programme is provided on page 57. 

The authority in respect of purchase of the Company’s 
ordinary shares, as granted at the 2023 AGM, was limited to 
6,701,169,260 ordinary shares, none of which was utilised as 
at 31 December 2023.

Branches

Research and development activities
During the ordinary course of business, the Group develops  
new products and services within the business units.

Change of control

take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the 
Company following a takeover bid. There are no agreements 
between the Company and its directors or employees providing 

takeover, except for the Company’s employee share plans which 
contain provisions relating to a change of control set out on  
page 301.

Capital Requirements  
(Country-by-Country Reporting)
As required under the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country 
Reporting) Regulations 2013, the Group’s related disclosures may 
be found online on the  of our website. 

Post balance sheet events
Details of events since the date of the balance sheet are provided 
in note 55 on page 332.

Substantial shareholders
Major shareholders do not have different voting rights from other 
holders of ordinary shares. Information provided to the Company 
by substantial shareholders pursuant to the DTR is published via  
a Regulatory Information Service. As at 31 December 2023, the 

 
under Rule 5 of the DTR of the following interests in the  
Company’s shares:

Interest in shares

% of issued share capital 
with rights to vote in all 

circumstances at 
general meetings1

BlackRock Inc. 3,668,756,7652 5.14%

Harris Associates L.P. 3,546,216,7873 4.99%

representing 5.04 per cent of the voting rights in the Company and (ii) a 

representing 0.09 per cent of the voting rights of the Company. BlackRock 

representing 8.4 per cent of the issued share capital in the Company. This 

between these regulatory regimes. 
3  An indirect holding.

DTR as at the date of this report. 

Information incorporated by reference
Content Pages

Group results Summary of Group results 52 to 57

Ordinary dividends Dividends on ordinary shares 305

Directors’ emoluments Directors’ remuneration report 108 to 132
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Financial reporting risk 140

Risk management 39 to 44
138 to 196

Financial instruments 255 to 266
312 to 326

Information included 
in the strategic report
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30 and 82

suppliers and others
82 to 83

Disclosures required 
under Listing Rule 9.8.4R

306 to 307

Dividend waivers 305 
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and uncertainties 
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Viability statement Risk overview 45

Going concern statement Risk overview 45

Share capital and control Share capital and restrictions 
on the transfer of shares or 
voting rights

301 to 302

– exercise voting rights
301 to 302

Rights and obligations 
attaching to the Company’s 
issued share capital

301 to 302

Post balance sheet events
balance sheet

332

Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions reporting  
for our own operations
The Group has reported greenhouse gas emissions and 
environmental performance since 2009 and since 2013 this has 
been reported in line with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and its applicable regulations and the Large and Medium 
Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 

2 equivalent, are 
reported in the table below. Deloitte LLP has provided limited level 

indicators. Their full independent assurance statement is available 
online on the  of our website. 

Methodology
The Group follows the principles of the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard to 
calculate Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions from our worldwide 

Zero. The reporting period is 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023, 
which is different to that of our directors’ report (January to 
December 2023). This is in line with the regulations in that most  
of the emissions reporting year falls within the period of the 
directors’ report.
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approach. Reported Scope 1 emissions are those generated from 
gas and oil used in buildings, emissions from fuels used in UK 
company owned vehicles used for business travel and fugitive 
emissions from the use of air conditioning and chiller/refrigerant 
plant. Reported Scope 2 emissions are generated from the use  
and purchase of electricity and imported heat through heat 
networks; which are calculated using both the location and 
market-based methodologies. Reported Scope 3 emissions relate 
to business travel (category 6) and commuting (category 7) 
undertaken by colleagues, emissions from colleagues working 
from home (category 7), operational waste (category 5) and the 
extraction and distribution of each of our energy sources – 
electricity, imported heating, gas and oil (category 3). Scope 3 
emissions do not include purchased good and services, capital 
goods and upstream transportation and distribution (category 1, 2 

disclosed in the sustainability report which can be found on the 
responsible business downloads page  of our website. 

Intensity ratio
Legacy

Oct 2022– 
 Sep 2023

Oct 2021–
Sep 2022

Oct 2018–
Sep 2019

GHG emissions (CO2e) per £m of 
underlying income (Location 
Based)1 9.90 10.10 16.58

GHG emissions (CO2e) per £m of 
underlying income (Market Based)1 6.89 6.74 10.33

1 Intensities have been restated for 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 
emissions data to improve the accuracy of reporting, using actual data to 

Group locations and improvements to fugitive gas calculations. Underlying 

This year our overall location-based carbon emissions2 were 
177,599 tonnes CO2e; a 0.7 per cent increasing year on year. While 
our overall market-based carbon emissions3 were 123,499 tonnes 
CO2e; a 5.0 per cent increase since 2021/22 mainly driven by 
higher business travel and commuting related carbon emissions. 
Group energy consumption (electricity and gas) has reduced in 

buildings and adaptations to our established hybrid workstyle.

2 Includes Scope 1, 2 emissions and Scope 3 categories 3, 5, 6 and 7. Scope 3 
categories 1, 2, 4 and 15 are excluded.

3  Since January 2019, our Scope 2 market-based emissions relating to electricity 
consumption are zero tCO2e, as we have procured renewable electricity 
mainly through our Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) and Green Tariff, and 

electricity consumption in each of the markets in which we operate. 

Carbon emissions (tonnes CO2e)
Oct 2022–
Sep 2023

Oct 2021–
Sep 2022

Oct 2018–
Sep 2019

Total CO2e (market based)1 123,499 117,657 176,993

Total CO2e (location based) 1 177,599  176,430 284,219 

Total Scope 1 and 2
(location based) 1 76,574 86,243 150,263 

– of which UK Scope 1 and 2
(location based)1 75,813 85,377  147,881 

Total Scope 1 and 2
(market based)1 22,474 27,470 43,037 

– of which UK Scope 1 and 2
(market based)1 22,269 27,203 42,350

Total Scope 11 22,464 27,468 42,650

Total Scope 2
(market based)3 10  2 387 

Of which electricity 0 0 387

Total Scope 2 (location based)1 54,110 58,775 107,613

Total Scope 31 101,025 90,187 133,956

Additional data from baseline year 2018/19 to 2021/22 and further 
information on our Scope 3 emissions is available in our 
Sustainability Metrics Datasheet on the responsible business 
downloads page  of our website. 

Global energy use (kWhs)
Oct 2022- 
Sep 2023

Oct 2021-
Sep 2022

Oct 2018-
Sep 2019

Total global energy use1 368,359,363  420,788,169 594,436,189

of which UK energy use1 364,501,857 416,304,279 588,218,331 

Total building energy1 353,947,908 409,173,498 554,596,742 

Total company owned vehicle 
energy1 9,850,017 7,599,309 30,264,339

2 4,561,437 4,015,361 9,575,109 

1  Restated data since 2018/19 to improve the accuracy of reporting, using  
actual data to replace estimates, historical emissions and associated with 
Tusker Group’s properties. Scope 3 – Business Travel (category 6) also  

business purpose.
3  One branch across our own portfolio has joined a District Heat Network in July 

of 2022, reportable as scope 2 emissions; we continue to procure 100 per cent 
renewable electricity across our own operations.

 
for the 2023 Annual Responsible Business Reporting. Deloitte’s 2023 assurance 
statement and the 2023 Reporting Criteria are available online at  
www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/who-we-are/responsible-business/
downloads.html.

•  Scope 1 emissions are emissions from activities for which the Group is 
responsible, including mobile and stationary combustion of fuel and 
operation of facilities

•  Scope 2 emissions are emissions from the use and purchase of electricity 
and imported heat by the Group for its own use and have been calculated in 
accordance with GHG Protocol guidelines, in both location and market-based 
methodologies

•  Scope 3 emissions include business travel (category 6) and commuting 
(category 7) undertaken by colleagues, emissions from colleagues working 
from home (category 7), operational waste (category 5) and the extraction 
and distribution of each of our energy sources – electricity, imported heat, 
gas and liquid fossil fuels in buildings and vehicles (category 3). Scope 3 
emissions do not include purchased good and services, capital goods 
and upstream transportation and distribution (category 1, 2 and 4) and 
investments (category 15)

•   The methodology to derive reported Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions is provided 
in the Sustainability Metrics Basis of Reporting statement available online at 
www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/who-we-are/responsible-business/
downloads.html

Our ongoing energy optimisation programme has resulted in  
62 GWh cumulative energy savings in 2023. This workstream 
includes onsite optimisation and strategic alterations of building 
management and control systems to match the run hours of 
plant to core operating hours and ensures temperature settings 
are aligned with Group comfort guidelines. In 2023, 30 deep dives, 
47 onsite optimisations, 16 remote optimisations, 14 onsite 
engagements and 151 bank holiday programmes were 
completed. Together with the energy optimisation programme, 

Management System upgrade throughout our estate, leading to 
an estimated annualised 6,406 MWh electricity saving. These 
were the principal measures taken in 2023 to increase the Group’s 

Omissions

investments are not included in this disclosure as they fall outside 
the scope of our operational boundary. Further information on 
these sources can be found in the sustainability report available 
on the responsible business downloads page  of our website. 
The Group does not have any emissions associated with the 
purchase of steam or cooling for its own use and is not aware of 
any other material sources of omissions from our reporting. 
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Board diversity
Reporting table on gender representation

 

Number of 
Board 

members
Percentage  

of the Board

Number of 
senior 

positions on 
the Board 

and Chair)

Number in 
executive 

management 
Percentage in 

executive 
management

Men 6 54.5% 3 8 53.3%
Women 5 45.5% 1 7 46.7%
Other 
categories 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0%

prefer not to say 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0%

Reporting table on ethnicity representation

 

Number of 
Board 

members
Percentage  

of the Board

Number of 
senior 

positions on 
the Board 

and Chair)

Number in 
executive 

management 
Percentage in 

executive 
management

White British 
or other white 9 81.8% 4 13 86.7.%
Mixed/Multiple 
ethnic groups 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0%
Asian/ 
Asian British 1 9.1% 0 2 13.3%
Black/African/
Caribbean/
Black British 0 0.0% 0 0 0.0%
Other ethnic 
group including 
Arab 1 9.1% 0 0 0.0%

prefer not to say 0 0.0% 0  0 0.0%

Data is sourced from the Group’s HR system (Workday) containing 
all permanent colleague details. All data is disclosed as at 
31 December 2023. The Group has 100% completion of gender 
data and ethnic background data for the Board and Group 

based on voluntary self-declaration by colleagues. Our systems 
do not record diversity data of colleagues who have not declared 
this information and is for UK payroll only. Gender data includes 
international, those on parental/maternity leave, absent without 
leave and long-term sick and excludes contractors, Group 
non-executive directors and temporary and agency staff. 

data excludes non-UK colleagues.

Independent auditor and audit information

audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and 
each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have 
taken as a director to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditor is aware of that information.

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report, 

statements, in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

statements in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.

view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of 

 
to properly select and apply accounting policies; present 
information, including accounting policies, in a manner that 
provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 
information; provide additional disclosures when compliance with 

in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 

particular transactions, other events and conditions on the 
 

make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue  
as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 

transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 

remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

. The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation 
in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of 

jurisdictions.

of this report, and whose names and functions are listed on 
pages 74 to 75
of his or her knowledge:
• 

been prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair view of the assets, 

the Company
• The management report contained in the strategic report and 

the directors’ report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Group 
and the Company together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties they face

• The annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced and understandable and provide the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company and the 
Group’s position, performance, business model and strategy. 

The directors have also separately reviewed and approved the 
strategic report.

   Kate Cheetham
Company Secretary

On behalf of the Board
21 February 2024
Lloyds Banking Group plc
Registered in Scotland, No. SC095000

Other statutory and regulatory information continued
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Financial statements
In this section
Independent auditors’ report 198
Consolidated income statement 211
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 212
Consolidated balance sheet 213
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 214
Consolidated cash flow statement 217

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1.  Basis of preparation 218
2.  Accounting policies 219
3.   Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 

estimation uncertainty 230
4.  Segmental analysis 231
5.  Net interest income 236
6.  Net fee and commission income 236
7.  Net trading income (losses) 237
8.  Insurance premium income 238
9.  Insurance revenue 238
10.  Insurance service expense  238
11.  Other operating income 239
12.  Insurance claims 239
13.  Net investment return on assets held to back  
 insurance and participating investment contracts  
 and net insurance finance (expense) income 240
14.  Operating expenses 240
15.  Share-based payments 241
16.  Retirement benefit obligations 244
17.  Auditors’ remuneration 250
18.  Impairment 251
19.  Tax 252
20.   Measurement basis of financial assets  

and liabilities 255
21.  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 257
22.   Derivative financial instruments 267
23.  Loans and advances to customers 272
24.  Allowance for expected credit losses 276
25.  Finance lease receivables 287
26.  Goodwill and other intangible assets 288
27.  Other assets 289
28.  Lessee disclosures 290
29.  Debt securities in issue 291
30.  Insurance and participating investment contracts  
 assets and liabilities 292
31.  Reconciliation of insurance balances for liability  
 for remaining coverage and liability for  
 incurred claims 293
32.   Reconciliation of measurement components 

of insurance contract balances 295
33.  Impacts of insurance and participating 
 investment contracts recognised in the year 297
34.  Direct participating contracts 297
35.  Life business contractual service margin run-off 297

36.  Life insurance sensitivity analysis 298
37.  Other liabilities 298
38.  Provisions 298
39.  Subordinated liabilities 300
40.  Share capital 301
41.  Earnings per share 302
42.  Share premium account 302
43.  Other reserves 303
44.  Retained profits 304
45.  Other equity instruments 305
46.  Dividends on ordinary shares 305
47.  Related party transactions 306
48.   Contingent liabilities, commitments  

and guarantees 307
49.  Structured entities 308
50.  Transfers of financial assets 309
51.  Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 310
52.  Financial risk management 312
53.  Cash flow statement 326
54.  Restatement of prior period information 329
55.  Events since the balance sheet date 332

Parent company balance sheet  333
Parent company statement of changes in equity  334
Parent company cash flow statement  335

Notes to the parent company financial statements

1.  Basis of preparation and accounting policies 336
2.   Measurement basis of financial assets  

and liabilities 336
3.  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 337
4.  Amounts due from subsidiaries 337
5.  Deferred tax 337
6.  Debt securities in issue at amortised cost 337
7.  Subordinated liabilities 338
8.   Share capital, share premium account and other  

equity instruments 338
9.  Merger reserve and capital redemption reserve 338
10.  Retained profits 339
11.  Related party transactions 339
12.  Financial risk management 340
13.  Other information 340

The Group has adopted the UK Finance Code for 
Financial Reporting Disclosure and these 2023 financial 
statements have been prepared in compliance with  
its principles.
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1. Opinion
In our opinion:
• 

then ended;
• 

standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);
• 

accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
• 

Group Parent company

• Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;
• Consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
• Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year 

then ended;
• Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then 

ended;
• 
• 

accounting principles and policies;
• 
• 

• Balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;
• Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 
• 
• 

accounting principles and policies.

provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 

 
our report. 

We are independent of the Group and the Parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 

3. Summary of our Audit approach
Key audit matters

• 
• Regulatory and litigation matters (Group)
• 
• 
• 
• First time adoption of IFRS 17 (Group)

 

reporting under this new standard which became effective from 1 January 2023, replacing IFRS 4 
‘Insurance Contracts’. 

Under IFRS 17 accounting, the volatility from the Group’s insurance actuarial assumptions impacting 
 

a key audit matter. 

Our assessment of the level of risk for all other areas has remained consistent with the prior year. 

Materiality

determined on the basis of net assets and capped at Group materiality.

Scoping
96 per cent of the Group’s total assets and 93 per cent of the Group’s total liabilities. 

Independent auditors’ report
To the Members of Lloyds Banking Group plc
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Our audit approach

• Audit planning and risk assessment
Our audit team has been structured in line with the Group’s three main operating divisions; Retail, Commercial Banking and Insurance, 
Pensions and Investments. Our audit planning procedures considered the impact of internal and external factors affecting the Group’s 

work performed as well as the expectations and requirements of the Group’s investors and regulators. 

In performing our audit risk assessments, we considered the impact of macroeconomic factors on the Group’s key accounting 
judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty. The key factors considered in our risk assessments were:
• 

• 
• 

We obtained the knowledge and information required to inform our audit planning and risk assessment decision making through 
regular meetings with Group and Divisional Finance and the extensive use of data and technology; 

• Execution of audit work 
Our audit is comprised of two distinct component audit teams covering the Group’s three operating segments, which are: 

– The UK Banking component auditing the Group’s Retail and Commercial Banking operating segments; and
– The Insurance component auditing the Group’s Insurance, Pensions and Investments operations. 

The group audit team met regularly and was in active dialogue with each component audit team throughout the audit to ensure 
appropriate oversight over audit activities performed within each audit component. Oversight activities included determining whether 
the planned work was performed in accordance with the overall Group audit strategy and in line with the Group audit instructions 
provided to the components. We were able to satisfy ourselves that our oversight and supervision was appropriate through in-person 
meetings, videoconferencing, direct reviews of work as well as through attending planning and clearance meetings with divisional 
management; 

• Audit procedures undertaken at both Group and Parent company level

• Internal controls testing approach
Our internal controls testing approach was informed by our scoping and risk assessment activities. We have assessed the Group’s 

for these balances. This included the testing of general IT controls, process level controls and entity level controls at the Group level; 
and

• The impact of climate change on our audit
In planning our audit, we have considered the impact of climate change on the Group’s operations and any subsequent impact on its 

page 154 of the Risk Management section of the 
Annual Report. 

In conjunction with our climate risk specialists, we have held discussions with the Group to understand their: 
• process for identifying affected operations including the governance and controls over this process, and the subsequent effect  

• long-term strategy to respond to climate change risks and how this is factored into the Group’s forecasts, considering publicly 
announced climate change commitments and any costs associated with the Group’s net zero targets. 

Our audit work has involved: 
• evaluating climate as a factor in risk assessments for potentially affected balances;
• 

• reviewing the Group’s qualitative loan portfolio analysis, and challenging the key assumptions used by the Group with reference  
to our own understanding of the portfolios and publicly available documentation; and

•  
of the Annual Report. 
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•  LBG’s own operations’ Scope 1, 2 and 3 energy consumption and GHG emissions data for the 12 months ended 30 September 2023  
(page 134 to 135);

• Supply chain GHG emissions for the 12 months ended 30 September 2022 and 30 September 2023 (page 35);
• 

sector (pages 114 to 115 of the Sustainability Report);
• page 35);
• 

(page 32);
• Selected requirements from the Group’s Principles of Responsible Banking Reporting and Self-Assessment Template (page 3 to 22 of 

the Sustainability Reporting Framework); and
• page 15).

which provides reasonable assurance. The Sustainability Report and our independent assurance report can be found at 
https://www.lloydsbankinggroup.com/who-we-are/sustainability.html where we explain the scope of work and procedures performed.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting included:
• 

and the general economic environment including, macroeconomic pressures affecting the Group’s operations, to identify inherent 

concern period; 
• making enquiries of Group management about the assumptions, including climate risk considerations, used in their going concern 

models, and assessing the reasonableness of those assumptions and historical forecasting accuracy; 
• 

budgets, funding, liquidity and capital adequacy plans including internal stress tests;
• considering the Group’s operational resilience; 
• 

corroborative or contradictory evidence in relation to the Group’s assumptions;
• reviewing correspondence and meeting with prudential and conduct regulators to assess whether there are any matters that may 

impact the going concern assessment; 
• testing the underlying data generated to prepare the forecast scenarios and determined whether there was adequate support for 

the assumptions underlying the forecasts; and
• evaluating the Group’s disclosures on going concern against the requirements of IAS 1.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or 

appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of  
this report.

Independent auditors’ report continued
To the Members of Lloyds Banking Group plc
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5. Key audit matters

resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit losses (Group) 
Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

The Group has recognised £4.1 billion of expected credit losses 

of a number of assumptions that are inherently uncertain and 
require a high degree of complex and subjective auditor 
judgement, specialised skills and knowledge, and complex 
impairment modelling and a high degree of estimation 

current economic environment. 

 
of management judgement were in respect of: 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Multiple economic scenarios

an unbiased probability-weighted range of possible future 
outcomes.
 
The Group’s economics team develops the future economic 
scenarios. Firstly, a base case forecast is produced based on a 

Group’s best view of future events. A full distribution of economic 
scenarios around this base case is produced using a Monte Carlo 
simulation and scenarios within that distribution are ranked using 
estimated relationships with industrywide historical loss data. 
 
In addition to the base case, three scenarios are derived from the 
distribution as averages of constituent modelled scenarios 
around the 15th, 75th and 95th percentiles of the distribution 
corresponding to an upside, a downside and a severe downside, 
respectively. The severe downside is then adjusted to incorporate 

The upside, the base case and the downside scenarios are 
weighted at 30 per cent and the severe downside at 10 per cent.
 
These four scenarios are then used as key assumptions in the 

 
The development of these multiple economic scenarios is 

judgement. 

The principal consideration for our determination that the 
multiple economic scenarios is a key audit matter was the high 
degree of management judgement which required specialised 
auditor knowledge and a high degree of audit effort in areas such 
as evaluating the forward-looking information used by 
management, and the weighting applied. 

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 98.

We performed the following procedures:
• Tested the controls over the generation of the multiple 

economic scenarios including those over the Group’s 
governance processes to determine the base case, different 
scenarios and the weightings applied to each scenario; 

• Working with our internal economic specialists:
– Challenged and evaluated economic forecasts in the base 

scenario such as the unemployment rate, House Price 

Domestic Product through comparison to independent 
economic outlooks, other external analyses and market 
data;

– Challenged and evaluated the appropriateness of 
management’s change in both assumptions and the 
model;

– Challenged and evaluated the appropriateness of the 
methodology applied to generate alternative 
macroeconomic scenarios, including associated 
weightings and assumptions within; and

– Independently replicated the multiple economic scenario 
model and compared the outputs of our independent 
model to the Group’s output to test scenario generation;

• Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data used by the 
model;

• Performed a stand back assessment of the appropriateness of 
the weightings applied to each of the scenarios based on 
publicly available data; and

• 

including macroeconomic scenarios.
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Collectively assessed ECL

for individually assessed stage 3 commercial loans, is determined 
on a collective basis using impairment models. These models use 

weighted estimate by applying a probability of default, exposure 
at default and a loss given default, taking account of collateral 
held or other loss mitigants, discounted using the effective 
interest rate. 

include: 
• 

judgements, and selection of modelling data;
• behavioural lives for the Retail division;
• credit risk ratings for the Commercial Banking division, which 

are performed on a counterparty basis for larger exposures by 

• the appropriate allocation of assets into the correct staging 

since inception of the loan.

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 98.

provisions including:
• Model governance including model validation and monitoring; 
• Model assumptions;
• The allocation of assets into stages, including those to 

determine the Credit Risk Rating in the Commercial Banking 
division; and

• Data accuracy and completeness.

Working with our internal modelling specialists, our audit 
procedures over the key areas of estimation covered the 
following:
• Model estimations, where we:

– 
and assumptions used; 

– Independently replicated the models for all material 
portfolios and compared the outputs of our independent 
models to the Group’s outputs;

– Assessed model performance by evaluating variations 
between observed data and model predictions; 

– Developed an understanding and assessed model 
limitations and remedial actions; and

– Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data used  
in model execution and calibration.

• Allocation of assets into stages, where we:
– 

qualitative criteria used for allocation into IFRS 9 stages, 
including independently assessing the credit rating of loans 
in the commercial banking division;

– Tested the appropriateness of the stage allocation for  
a sample of exposures; and

– Tested the data used by models in assigning IFRS 9  
stages and evaluated the appropriateness of the model 
logic used.

Individually assessed ECL
For individual provision assessments of larger exposures in stage 
3 in the Commercial Banking division, complex and subjective 
auditor judgement including specialised knowledge is required  
in evaluating the methodology, models and inputs that are 

provisions are the:

• completeness and appropriateness of the potential workout 

• 
workout scenarios; and

• valuation assumptions used in determining the expected 
recovery strategies.

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 98.

• For expected credit losses assessed individually we have:
– Selected senior team members with extensive IFRS 9 

knowledge and expertise to design and lead the execution 

– Tested the controls over the determination of individually 
assessed exposures including assumptions and inputs into 
workout and recovery scenarios, as well as valuation 
assumptions used; and

– 

consideration of climate risk.

Independent auditors’ report continued
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Adjustments are made to models to address known model and 
data limitations, and emerging or non-modelled risks. The current 
economic environment, characterised by elevated cost of living 

uncertainty of credit losses. As a result, the amount and timing of 
adjustments recognised in the model to account for the impacts 
of the current economic environment are highly judgemental and 
inherently uncertain. These adjustments require specialist auditor 
judgement when evaluating the:
• completeness of adjustments; and
• methodology, models and inputs used in determining the 

relevant adjustments.

Where impairment models do not incorporate all factors relevant 

model limitations and data limitations, emerging or non-
modelled risks and the impact of economic uncertainty on 
different industry sectors. The measurement of judgements 
around model adjustments to evaluate the completeness of 
adjustments, methodology and model inputs for these 
adjustments is highly judgemental and inherently uncertain. 

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 98.

• In respect of the adjustment to models, we performed the 
following procedures in conjunction with our specialists: 
– Tested the controls over the valuation of in-model and 

post-model adjustments; 
– 

developing the adjustments, and evaluated the Group’s 
selection of approach; 

– Tested the completeness and accuracy of the data used in 
formulating the judgements; 

– Performed a recalculation of adjustments;
– 

understanding of both model and data limitations, 

pressures; and
– Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures and 

whether the disclosures appropriately address the 

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee

methodologies using reasonable modelled assumptions were used in the calculations of the multiple economic scenarios, 

levels are reasonable compared to peer benchmarking information.

Regulatory and litigation matters (Group) 
Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

The Group operates in an environment where it is subject to 
regulatory investigations, litigation and customer remediation, 
including allegations of fraud and misconduct. The Group is 
currently exposed to a number of regulatory and litigation 
matters. The Group’s provision for these matters is £1.1 billion as at 
31 December 2023. In the current year, the Group recognised  

arrangements.

whether, under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets’:
• the amount recorded is representative of the Group’s best 

estimate to settle the obligation based on the information 

the FCA; and
• 

uncertainties are adequately disclosed. 

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 99.

We performed the following audit procedures: 
• Tested the Group’s controls over the completeness of 

provisions, the review of the assessment of the provision 
against the requirements of IAS 37, the review of the 
appropriateness of judgements used to determine a ‘best 
estimate’ and the completeness and accuracy of data used in 
the process;

• 
probabilities, and potential outcomes in accordance with 
IAS 37;

• 
inspected information available for the historical complaints, 
both supportive and contradictory, and the limited number of 
decisions made by the Financial Ombudsman Service. We 
tested the methodology and assumptions applied to 
determine the provision;

• 

of the provisions are appropriate in the context of the 

correspondence and, where appropriate, made direct inquiry 
with the Group’s regulators and internal and external legal 
counsel;

• Where no provision was made, we critically evaluated the 
conclusion in the context of the requirements of IAS 37; and

• 

commission arrangements.

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee

recognition, estimation and disclosures of these provisions and contingent liabilities is consistent with the requirements of IFRS.
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Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

The Group’s IT environment is inherently complex due to the 
number of systems it operates and its reliance on automated and 
IT dependent manual controls. Together, these support a broad 
range of banking and insurance products as well as the 

which impact all account balances. 

As such, IT systems within the Group form a critical component  

reliance on IT systems, effective General IT Controls (‘GITCs’) are 
critical to allow reliance to be placed on the completeness and 

functionality, such as system calculations. 

key audit matter because of the:
• Pervasive reliance on complex technology that is integral to the 

• Reliance on technology which continues to develop in line  
with the business strategy, such as the increase in the use of 
automation across the Group and increasing reliance on third 
parties; and

• Importance of the IT controls in maintaining an effective control 
environment. A key interdependency exists between the ability 

IT controls, in the context of our audit scope, primarily relate to 
privileged access at the infrastructure level, user access security 
at the application level and change control. 

Audit Committee report on page 99.

Our IT audit scope covered the Group’s IT controls over 
information systems deemed relevant to the audit based on the 

We used IT specialists to support our evaluation of the risks 
associated with IT in the following areas: 
• General IT Controls, including user access and change 

management controls;
• 

controls; and
• Cyber security risk assessment.

our risk assessment procedures included an assessment of those 

relevant, the audit plan was adjusted to mitigate the 
unaddressed IT risk. 

Where we were able to identify and test appropriate mitigating 

approach remained unchanged. 

In a limited number of areas, we adopted a non-controls reliance 
approach and we therefore performed additional substantive 
procedures.

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee

mitigated by compensating business controls.

Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

the obligations for which totalled £30.2 billion as at 31 December 2023. 
Their valuation is determined with reference to key actuarial 
assumptions including mortality assumptions, discount rates and 

these assumptions can have a material impact on the value of the 

 
This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 99.

We performed the following audit procedures:
• 

setting process; and
• Challenged the key actuarial assumptions used by comparing 

these against ranges and expectations determined by our 
internal actuarial experts, which are calculated with reference 

whom we have reviewed and accepted their methodologies.

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee
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Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. 

with the nature of assets held, the markets in which they are 
traded, and the valuation methodology applied.

The Group holds several portfolios of level 3 illiquid investments 
totalling £7.9 billion, the largest of which is held within the 
Insurance, Pensions and Investments division, and includes 
loans in the commercial real estate, social housing, infrastructure, 
and education sectors. The valuation of these loans uses complex 
valuation models as they are without readily determinable 

inputs, such as loan-to-bond premium and calibration spread 
that involved considerable judgement by management.

We also consider these judgements to be at risk of management 
bias.

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 99.

including controls over assumptions used in the valuation of 

We utilised our valuation specialists in our audit of the valuation 
of the level 3 portfolio loans and we performed the following 
procedures:
• 

methodologies;
• Calculated a range of comparable values for a sample of 

valuation model and considered reasonable alternative key 
assumptions based on comparable securities and compared 
results;

• 
methodology and tested the appropriateness of the ratings for 

• 

movements and non-movements where we expected change; 
and 

• Assessed the appropriateness of disclosures and sensitivity 
analysis.

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee

IFRS 13.
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First time adoption of IFRS 17 (Group) 
Key audit matter description How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ became effective from 1 January 
2023, replacing IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. The new standard 
establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts which are 

in a decrease in reserves by £1.9 billion upon transition. 

Under IFRS 17, insurance contracts are categorised into groups 
with similar measurement characteristics and valued at a 

are recognised over the period of the insurance contract unless a 
group of contracts are loss-making, in which case losses would 
have to be recognised immediately. 

In accordance with the transition arrangements allowed under 
IFRS 17, from 1 January 2022 LBG adopted a fair value approach  
to certain groups of contracts, as it was determined to be 
impracticable to apply the standard on a fully retrospective basis. 
All other contracts were remeasured and recognised on a fully 
retrospective basis. 

and determination of accounting policies and methodologies to 
be applied to the IFRS 17 calculation models, primarily related to 

margin (‘CSM’); under both the full retrospective and fair value 

judgements is inherently judgemental and complex, requiring 

Implementation of IFRS 17 has also required incremental data to 
be used within the new models and new disclosure requirements 
both on transition and on an ongoing basis.

This key audit matter is discussed in the Audit Committee’s report 
on page 100.

We performed the following audit procedures:
• Tested the controls over the accounting methodologies applied 

in the new IFRS 17 calculation models, CSM and the estimated 

• 
decisions, judgements, assumptions and elections made in 
determining the impacts to assess compliance with the 
requirements of the standard; 

• Involved our internal actuarial specialists in performing 
procedures to assess the Group’s implementation of the 

CSM; under both the full retrospective and fair value 
approaches, as applicable; 

• Tested the completeness and accuracy of the incremental 
data and other information required for IFRS 17 calculations, 

the appropriate CSM calculation groups; and
• 

related to the transition impact and reconciled the disclosures 
to underlying accounting records and supporting data.

Key observations communicated to the Audit Committee
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6. Our application of materiality
6.1 Materiality

our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Materiality £344 million (2022: £318 million) £344 million (2022: £318 million)

Basis for determining 
materiality

In determining our benchmark for materiality, we have 
considered the metrics used by investors and other 

the following benchmarks to be the most relevant to 

• 
and 

• Net assets

The determined materiality represents 5 per cent of 

Parent company materiality represents 0.7 per cent of 
net assets and is capped at Group materiality. 

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

Given the importance of these measures to investors 

primary benchmark for our determination of 
materiality, and net assets as a supporting benchmark. 

Component materiality allocated across both 
components range between £228 million and 
£132 million. In 2022, the range of component 
materialities was between £172 million and £115 million. 

The Parent company holds the Group’s investments and 

the primary concern for the Parent company is the 
receipt and payment of dividends. However, given the 
size of the entity’s balance sheet, we have capped 
materiality at Group’s materiality. 

6.2 Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and 

Performance 
materiality

70 per cent of Group materiality at £240 million
(2022: 70 per cent at £191 million)

70 per cent of Parent company materiality at £240 million
(2022: 70 per cent at £191 million)

Basis and rationale 
for determining 
performance 
materiality

In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors: 
a. The quality of the control environment and whether we were able to rely on controls; 
b. Degree of centralisation and commonality of controls and processes;
c. The uncertain economic environment;
d. The nature, volume and size of uncorrected misstatements arising in the previous audit; and
e. The nature, volume and size of uncorrected misstatements that remain uncorrected in the current period. 

6.3 Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £17 million (2022: 
£16 million), as well as any differences below this threshold, which in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also 

statements.

7. Other information

statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information 

information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to 
report in this regard.
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required to report:

Our responsibility Our report

Principal risks and 
viability statement of the knowledge gathered during the audit, such  

as through considering the directors’ processes to 
support the statements made, challenging the 
Group’s key judgements and estimates, 
consideration of historical forecasting accuracy  
and evaluating macro-economic assumptions.

Consider if the statements are aligned with the 
relevant provisions of the Code.

As set out in the section ‘Corporate governance 
statement’, we have nothing material to report, 
add or draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Directors’ 
remuneration report

Report whether the part of the directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited is properly 

Companies Act have been made.

As set out in the section ‘Opinions on other matters 
prescribed by the Companies Act 2006’, in our 
opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited has been prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006.

Strategic report and 
directors’ report

Report whether they are consistent with the audited 

accordance with applicable legal requirements.

misstatements in either report in the light of the 
knowledge and understanding of the Group and of 
the Parent company and their environment obtained 
in the course of the audit.

As set out in the section ‘Opinions on other matters 
prescribed by the Companies Act 2006’, in our 
opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit, the information in these reports is 

has been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements.

As referenced on page 200, we have provided limited 

Other reporting on other information

Alternative  
Performance  
Measures
(‘APMs’)

accepted accounting practice (‘GAAP’) and therefore 

part of the Annual Report. The Group use APMs, 

margin in its quarterly and annual reporting of 

We have reviewed and assessed the Group’s 
calculation and reporting of these metrics to assess 

and policies for these items.

We have also considered and assessed whether  
the use of APMs in the Group’s reporting results is 
consistent with the guidelines produced by 

APMs and the FRC Alternative Performance Measures 
Thematic Review.

We also considered whether there was an 
appropriate balance between the use of statutory 
metrics and APMs, in addition to whether clear 

In our opinion:
• the use, calculation and disclosure of APMs is 

and policies;
• the use of APMs in the Group’s reporting results is 

and FRC; and
• there is an appropriate balance between the use 

of statutory metrics and APMs, together with clear 

Dividends and 
distribution policy

Consider whether the dividends policy is transparent 
and the dividends paid are consistent with the policy.

In our opinion the dividends paid are consistent with  
the policy.

Independent auditors’ report continued
To the Members of Lloyds Banking Group plc

208 Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023



8. Responsibilities of directors

continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is  
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities . This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

10. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to 
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:
• the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group’s 

remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
• the Group’s own assessment of the risks that irregularities may occur either as a result of fraud or error that was discussed  

by the Audit Committee on 20 February 2024;
• enquiring of management, in-house legal counsel, internal audit and the Audit Committee, including obtaining and reviewing 

supporting documentation, concerning the Group’s policies and procedures relating to:
– identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances  

of non-compliance;
– detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
– the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations;

• 
including tax, valuations, pensions, credit modelling, actuarial, IT and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might 

• obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, focusing on those laws and 

and tax legislation or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Group, including regulation and supervisory 
requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority, Financial Reporting Council and Financial Conduct Authority.

procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

• 

• enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation 
and claims;

• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud;

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and correspondence with 
regulators; and

• in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and 
other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; 

specialists, and component audit teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations 
throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

11. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• 

• The strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the Parent company and their environment obtained in the course 

12. Corporate Governance Statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of 
the corporate governance statement relating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 

• Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate 

• the directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material 
page 45;

• the directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period 
is appropriate is set out on page 45;

• the directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 136;
• page 136;
• the section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems 

set out on page 99; and
• the section describing the work of the Audit Committee set out on pages 97 to 100.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

We have nothing 
to report in respect 
of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures 
of directors’ remuneration have not been made or the part of the directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing 
to report in respect 
of these matters.

14. Other matters which we are required to address
Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by shareholders at its annual general meeting on 

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accordance with  
ISAs (UK).

15. Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Parent company and the Parent company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule (DTR) 4.1.15R – DTR 4.1.18R, these 

Financial Report has been prepared in compliance with DTR 4.1.15R – DTR 4.1.18R.

Michael Lloyd (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
21 February 2024
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Shareholder information

Annual general meeting (AGM)

Further details about the meeting, including the proposed resolutions and where shareholders can stream the meeting live, 
can be found in our Notice of AGM which will be available shortly on our website .

Reports and communications
The Group issues regulatory announcements through the Regulatory News Service (RNS); shareholders can subscribe for free via 
the Investors section of our website at on our website , where our statutory reports and shareholder communications are available. 
A summary of the scheduled reports and communications to be issued in 2024 is set out below:

Available format

Report/Communication Month Online Email RNS Paper

Preliminary results and publication of annual report and accounts Feb
Pillar 3 report Mar/Aug

Mar
Mailing of annual report and accounts, annual review or performance 
summary Mar
Notice of AGM and voting materials Mar
Q1 interim management statement Apr
Country analysis1 May
Half year results Jul
Q3 interim management statement Oct

1 To be published on the Group’s website by 31 May 2024 in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

Share dealing facilities
We offer a choice of four share dealing services for our UK shareholders and customers. To see the full range of services available 
for each, please use the contact details below:

Service Provider Telephone Dealing Internet Dealing

Bank of Scotland Share Dealing 0345 606 1188 www.bankofscotland.co.uk/sharedealing 
Halifax Share Dealing 03457 22 55 25 www.halifax.co.uk/sharedealing 
Lloyds Bank Direct Investments 0345 60 60 560 www.lloydsbank.com/share-dealing.asp 
IWeb Share Dealing 03450 707 129 www.iweb-sharedealing.co.uk/share-dealing-home.asp

Note:

holidays. To open a share dealing account with any of these services, you must be 18 years of age or over and be resident in the UK, Jersey, Guernsey or the Isle of Man.

Share dealing for the Lloyds Banking Group shareholder account

website 

Share price information
Shareholders can access both the latest and historical share prices via our website  as well as listings in most national newspapers. 
For a real time buying or selling price, you will need to contact a stockbroker, or you can contact the share dealing providers 
detailed above.

Individual Saving Accounts (ISAs)
There are a number of options for investing in Lloyds Banking Group shares through an ISA. For details of services and products 
provided by the Group please contact Bank of Scotland Share Dealing, Halifax Share Dealing or Lloyds Bank Direct Investments 
using the contact details above.

Key dates
11 April 2024 Shares quoted ex-dividend
12 April 2024 Record date
24 April 2024 Q1 interim management statement 
29 April 2024 Final date for joining or leaving the dividend reinvestment plan
16 May 2024 Annual general meeting
21 May 2024 Dividend paid
25 July 2024 Half year results
23 October 2024 Q3 interim management statement 
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Analysis of shareholders

Balance ranges

Total  
number  

of holdings
Percentage 

of holders

Total  
number  

of shares
Percentage 

issued capital

1–999 1,763,953 81.39% 521,065,209 0.82%
1,000–9,999 345,548 15.94% 920,807,121 1.45%
10,000–99,999 54,489 2.51% 1,400,577,526 2.20%
100,000–999,999 2,375 0.11% 539,206,846 0.85%
1,000,000–4,999,999 414 0.02% 1,023,398,910 1.61%
5,000,000–9,999,999 135 0.01% 936,185,318 1.47%
10,000,000–49,999,999 276 0.01% 6,352,864,027 9.99%
50,000,000–99,999,999 70 0.00% 4,757,603,801 7.48%
100,000,000–499,999,999 69 0.00% 13,717,075,909 21.58%
500,000,000–999,999,999 15 0.00% 11,635,365,098 18.30%
1,000,000,000–99,999,999,999 10 0.00% 21,765,075,897 34.24%

Totals 2,167,354 100.00% 63,569,225,662 100.00%

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)

the ratio of ADRs to ordinary shares is 1:4.

For details contact:  
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services, 150 Royall St., Suite 101 Canton, MA 02021. Telephone: 1-866-259-0336 (US toll free),  
international callers: +1 201-680-6825. Alternatively visit www.adrbnymellon.com  or email shrrelations@cpushareownerservices.com.

Security – share fraud and scams
Shareholders should exercise caution when unsolicited callers offer the chance to buy or sell shares with promises of huge returns. 
If it sounds too good to be true, it usually is and we would ask that shareholders take steps to protect themselves. We strongly 

www.fca.org.uk .

If a shareholder is concerned that they may have been targeted by such a scheme, please contact the FCA Consumer Helpline 
on 0800 111 6768 or use the online ‘Share Fraud Reporting Form’ available from their website (see above). We would also recommend 
contacting the Police through Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040 or visiting www.actionfraud.org.uk  for further information.

Your communications,  
your choice – go digital!
• Receive company communications  

like this by email
• Buy and sell shares
• Manage your shareholding online

  SSSttteeeepppppp 1111
 Register at  
  www.shareview.co.uk/info/register 

or by scanning the QR code

  SSSttteeeepppppp 222222
  Follow the on-screen  

instructions to complete  
your registration

  SSStteeeeppppp 33333
  Log on and update your 

communications choice

It’s as simple as that!

Company website
www.lloydsbankinggroup.com

Scan me to register

Shareholder information
help.shareview.co.uk
(from here you will be able to email 
your query securely)

Registrar

Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Shareholder helpline
+44 (0) 371 384 2990*  
(please use the country code when contacting 

* Lines are open 8:30am to 5:30pm (UK time), Monday to 

For deaf and speech impaired customers, we welcome 
calls via Relay UK. See www.relayuk.bt.com  for more 
information.

a shareholder service, including a telephone helpline 
and shareview which is a free secure portfolio service.

Important shareholder and registrar information 
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Subsidiaries and related undertakings

In compliance with section 409 of the Companies Act 2006, the 
following comprises a list of all related undertakings of the Group, 
as at 31 December 2023. The list includes each undertaking’s 

held by the Group. All shares held are ordinary shares unless 
indicated otherwise in the notes.

Subsidiary undertakings
The Group directly or indirectly holds 100 per cent of the share class 
and a majority of voting rights (including where the undertaking 
does not have share capital as indicated) in the following 
undertakings. All material subsidiary undertakings are 
consolidated by Lloyds Banking Group.

Name of undertaking Notes

A G Finance Ltd 50 ii iii 
A.C.L. Ltd 1 i
ACL Autolease Holdings Ltd 1 i
ADF No.1 Pty Ltd 8 i
Alex Lawrie Factors Ltd 9 i
Alex. Lawrie Receivables Financing Ltd 9 i
Alpha Trustees Ltd 14 i
Amberdate Ltd 1 i v
Anglo Scottish Utilities Partnership 1 + * 
Aquilus Ltd 13 i ‡
Automobile Association Personal Finance Ltd 4 i
Avalon Investment Services (Nominees) Ltd 14 i
Avalon SIPP Trustees Ltd 14 i
Bank of Scotland (B G S) Nominees Ltd 5 *
Bank of Scotland Branch Nominees Ltd 5 i
Bank of Scotland Central Nominees Ltd 5 * 

5 *
13 i ‡

Bank of Scotland plc 5 i v
Bank of Scotland Structured Asset Finance Ltd 1 i
Bank of Scotland Transport Finance 1 Ltd 13 i ‡
Bank of Wales Ltd 47 i 
Barents Leasing Ltd 1 i
Birchcrown Finance Ltd 1 v xiii
Birmingham Midshires Financial Services Ltd 13 i ‡
Birmingham Midshires Mortgage Services Ltd 13 i ‡
Black Horse (TRF) Ltd 1 i
Black Horse Finance Holdings Ltd 1 ii iii
Black Horse Finance Management Ltd 13 i ‡
Black Horse Group Ltd 1 i v
Black Horse Ltd 1 i
Black Horse Offshore Ltd 7 i
Boltro Nominees Ltd 1 i
BOS (Ireland) Property Services 2 Ltd 16 i ‡
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages 
(Scotland)) Ltd

4 i

BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages 
(Scotland) No. 2) Ltd

4 i

BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages 
(Scotland) No. 3) Ltd

4 i

BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 1 plc 4 # i
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 2 plc 4 # i
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 3 plc 4 # i
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 4 plc 4 # i
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 5 plc 4 i 
BOS (Shared Appreciation Mortgages) No. 6 plc 4 i
BOS (USA) Fund Investments Inc. 11 xiv
BOS (USA) Inc. 11 i
BOS Mistral Ltd 13 i ‡
BOS Personal Lending Ltd 4 ii iii
BOSSAF Rail Ltd 1 i

Name of undertaking Notes

British Linen Leasing (London) Ltd 5 i
British Linen Leasing Ltd 5 i
British Linen Shipping Ltd 5 i
Capital 1945 Ltd 13 i ‡
Capital Bank Leasing 12 Ltd 5 i
Capital Bank Leasing 3 Ltd 13 i ‡
Capital Bank Leasing 5 Ltd 47 i
Capital Bank Property Investments (3) Ltd 47 i 
Capital Personal Finance Ltd 4 i
Cardnet Merchant Services Ltd 1 # ^

iii iv
Cashfriday Ltd 9 i
Caveminster Ltd 1 i
Cavendish Online Ltd 21 ii iii viii xxii 

xxiii xxiv xxv 
xxvi xxvii 

xxviii
CF Asset Finance Ltd 13 i ‡
Charterhall Nominees Ltd 14 i
Cheltenham & Gloucester plc 12 i
Citra Development Company (No. 1) Ltd 1 i
Citra Living Ltd 1 i
Citra Living Properties (No. 1) Ltd 1 i
Citra Living Properties (No. 2) Ltd 1 i
Clerical Medical Finance plc 20 i
Clerical Medical Financial Services Ltd 13 i ‡
Clerical Medical Investment Fund Managers Ltd 4 i
Clerical Medical Non Sterling Property Company Sàrl 22 i
Cloak Lane Funding Sàrl  23 i
Cloak Lane Investments Sàrl  23 i
Conquest Securities Ltd 1 v xiii
Corbiere Asset Investments Ltd 1 ii iii
Dalkeith Corporation 24 i
Dunstan Investments (UK) Ltd 1 i

14 i
14 i
14 i
14 ii

14 ii #
14 i
14 i
14 i
14 i
14 i
14 i
9 i

First Retail Finance (Chester) Ltd 4 i
Forthright Finance Ltd 47 i
France Industrial Premises Holding Company 28 i
General Leasing (No. 12) Ltd 13 i ‡
General Reversionary and Investment Company 20 i #
Gresham Nominee 1 Ltd 1 i
Gresham Nominee 2 Ltd 1 i
Halifax Financial Brokers Ltd 4 i
Halifax Financial Services (Holdings) Ltd 4 i
Halifax Financial Services Ltd 4 i
Halifax General Insurance Services Ltd 4 i
Halifax Group Ltd 13 i ‡
Halifax Leasing (March No.2) Ltd 1 i
Halifax Leasing (September) Ltd 1 i
Halifax Life Ltd 4 i
Halifax Ltd 13 i ‡ 
Halifax Loans Ltd 4 i
Halifax Pension Nominees Ltd 1 i
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Name of undertaking Notes

Halifax Share Dealing Ltd 4 i
Halifax Vehicle Leasing (1998) Ltd 4 i
Hamsard 3352 Ltd 55 ii iii xxii 

xxiii xxix xxx
Hamsard 3353 Ltd 55 i
HBOS Covered Bonds LLP 4 *
HBOS Financial Services Ltd 20 i
HBOS International Financial Services Holdings Ltd 20 i
HBOS Investment Fund Managers Ltd 4 ii
HBOS plc 5 i v vi 
HBOS Social Housing Covered Bonds LLP 47 *
HBOS UK Ltd 5 i
Heidi Finance Holdings (UK) Ltd 1 i
HGP III Ltd 1 i
Hill Samuel Bank Ltd 13 i ‡
Hill Samuel Finance Ltd 1 v xx
Hill Samuel Leasing Co. Ltd 1 i
Home Shopping Personal Finance Ltd 4 i
Horizon Capital 2000 Ltd 5 i
Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd 14 i
Housing Growth Partnership III GP LLP 1 *
Housing Growth Partnership III LP 1 *
Housing Growth Partnership Manager Ltd 1 i
HSDL Nominees Ltd 4 i
HVF Ltd 1 i
Hyundai Car Finance Ltd 50 ii iii
IBOS Finance Ltd 13 i ‡
International Motors Finance Ltd 50 ii #
Kanaalstraat Funding C.V. 35 *
Katrine Leasing Ltd 39 i ‡
Landau Finance Ltd 52 i
LB Healthcare Trustee Ltd 1 i
LBCF Ltd 9 i
LBG Brasil Administração LTDA 38 i 
LBG Capital Holdings Ltd 13 i ^ ‡

1 i ^
LBI Leasing Ltd 1 i
LDC (General Partner) Ltd 40 i
LDC (Managers) Ltd 40 i
LDC (Nominees) Ltd 40 i
LDC GP LLP 41 *
LDC I LP 41 *
LDC II LP 41 *
LDC III LP 41 *
LDC IV LP 41 *
LDC V LP 41 *
LDC VI LP 41 *
LDC VII LP 41 *
LDC VIII LP 40 *
LDC IX LP 40 *
LDC X LP 40 *
LDC XI LP 40 *
LDC XII LP 40 *
LDC XIII LP 41 *
LDC Parallel XIII LP 40 *
LDC Parallel (Nominees) Ltd 40 i
Legacy Renewal Company Ltd 5 i
Lex Autolease (CH) Ltd 1 i
Lex Autolease (VC) Ltd 1 i
Lex Autolease Carselect Ltd 1 i
Lex Autolease Ltd 1 i
Lex Vehicle Leasing (Holdings) Ltd 13 ii iii xi ‡
Lex Vehicle Leasing Ltd 13 i ‡

Name of undertaking Notes

Lime Street (Funding) Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds (Gresham) Ltd 1 i xi
Lloyds (Nimrod) Specialist Finance Ltd 1 i
Lloyds America Securities Corporation 11 i
Lloyds Asset Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank (Colonial & Foreign) Nominees Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank (I.D.) Nominees Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Asset Finance Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Commercial Finance Ltd 9 i
Lloyds Bank Commercial Finance Scotland Ltd 43 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Asset Finance (HP) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Asset Finance (No.1) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Asset Finance (No.2) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Asset Finance (No.3) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Asset Finance (No.4) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc 1 i ^
Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets  
Wertpapierhandelsbank GmbH

17 i

Lloyds Bank Covered Bonds LLP  26 *
Lloyds Bank Covered Bonds (LM) Ltd 26 i

1 i
1 i
1 i

Lloyds Bank Financial Services (Holdings) Ltd 1 i v
Lloyds Bank General Insurance Holdings Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank General Insurance Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank General Leasing (No. 3) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank General Leasing (No. 5) Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds Bank General Leasing (No. 11) Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds Bank GmbH 29 i
Lloyds Bank Insurance Services Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Leasing (No. 6) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Maritime Leasing (No. 10) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank MTCH Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Nominees Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Offshore Pension Trust Ltd 33 i 
Lloyds Bank Pension ABCS (No. 1) LLP 1 *
Lloyds Bank Pension ABCS (No. 2) LLP 1 *
Lloyds Bank Pension Trust (No. 1) Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds Bank Pension Trust (No. 2) Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds Bank Pensions Property (Guernsey) Ltd 34 ii iii
Lloyds Bank plc 1 ^ i vii
Lloyds Bank Property Company Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank S.F. Nominees Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Subsidiaries Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Bank Trustee Services Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Banking Group Pensions Trustees Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Capital GP Ltd 10 i ‡
Lloyds Corporate Services (Jersey) Ltd 7 i
Lloyds Development Capital (Holdings) Ltd 40 i

11 *
 23 i

Lloyds General Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Holdings (Jersey) Ltd 7 i
Lloyds Hypotheken B.V. 37 i
Lloyds Industrial Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds International Management Services (Jersey) Ltd 7 i
Lloyds International Pty Ltd 8 i
Lloyds International Services Ltd 7 i
Lloyds Investment Securities No.5 Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Leasing (North Sea Transport) Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Leasing Developments Ltd 1 i
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Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Name of undertaking Notes

Lloyds Offshore Global Services Private Ltd 48 i
Lloyds Plant Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Portfolio Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Project Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Property Investment Company No. 4 Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Secretaries Ltd 1 i
Lloyds Securities Inc. 11 i

51 i
Lloyds UDT Asset Rentals Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds UDT Leasing Ltd 1 i
Lloyds UDT Ltd 13 i ‡
Lloyds Your Tomorrow Trustee Ltd 13 i ‡
Loans.co.uk Ltd 47 i
London Taxi Finance Ltd 1 ii iii
Lotus Finance Ltd 50 ii iii
LTGP Limited Partnership Incorporated 34 *
Maritime Leasing (No. 19) Ltd 1 i

46 i
47 i

MBNA Ltd 47 i
MBNA R & L Sàrl 53 i
MBNA Receivables Ltd 32 i
Membership Services Finance Ltd 4 i
Mitre Street Funding S.A.R.L.  23 i
NFU Mutual Finance Ltd 47 ii viii
Nominees (Jersey) Ltd 7 i
NWS Trust Ltd 5 i

1 i
Pensions Management (S.W.F.) Ltd 25 *
Perry Nominees Ltd 1 i
PIPS Asset Investments Ltd 1 ii iii

5 i
Proton Finance Ltd 50 ii iii 
R.F. Spencer and Company Ltd 9 i
Ranelagh Nominees Ltd 1 i
Retail Revival (Burgess Hill) Investments Ltd 1 i
Saint Michel Holding Company No1 28 i
Saint Michel Investment Property 28 i
Saint Witz 2 Holding Company No1 28 i
Saint Witz 2 Investment Property 28 i
Savban Leasing Ltd 1 i
Scotland International Finance B.V. 35 i
Scottish Widows Administration Services (Nominees) Ltd 25 i
Scottish Widows Administration Services Ltd 1 i

1 i
27 i

Scottish Widows Financial Services Holdings 3 i
Scottish Widows’ Fund and Life Assurance Society 25 *
Scottish Widows Group Ltd 3 ii ^

18 i
Scottish Widows Ltd 1 i
Scottish Widows Schroder Personal Wealth (ACD) Ltd 1 i
Scottish Widows Schroder Personal Wealth Ltd 1 i
Scottish Widows Schroder Wealth Holdings Ltd 1 ii #
Scottish Widows Services Ltd 3 i
Scottish Widows Trustees Ltd 25 i
Scottish Widows Unit Funds Ltd 3 i
Scottish Widows Unit Trust Managers Ltd 1 i
Seabreeze Leasing Ltd 1 i
Seaspirit Leasing Ltd 1 i
Share Dealing Nominees Ltd 4 i

Name of undertaking Notes

Shogun Finance Ltd 50 ii iii 
St Andrew’s Group Ltd 20 i
St Andrew’s Insurance plc 20 i
St Andrew’s Life Assurance plc 20 i
St. Mary’s Court Investments 1 i
Standard Property Investment (1987) Ltd 5 ii #
Sterling ISA Managers (Nominees) Ltd 14 i
Sterling ISA Managers Ltd 14 i
Sussex County Homes Ltd 4 i
Suzuki Financial Services Ltd 50 ii # 
SW Funding plc 3 i # 
SW No.1 Ltd 31 i ‡
The Adviser Centre Ltd 14 i
The Agricultural Mortgage Corporation plc 45 i
The British Linen Company Ltd 5 i
The Mortgage Business plc 4 i
Thistle Leasing + * 
Tower Hill Property Investments (7) Ltd 13 i # ‡
Tower Hill Property Investments (10) Ltd 47 i #
Tranquility Leasing Ltd 1 i
TuskerDirect Ltd 55 i

5 i
Uberior Co-Investments Ltd 31 i ‡

5 i
5 i
5 i

Uberior Fund Investments Ltd 5 i
Uberior Infrastructure Investments Ltd 5 i
Uberior Infrastructure Investments (No2) Ltd 1 i 
Uberior Investments Ltd 5 i
Uberior Trading Ltd 5 i
Uberior Ventures Australia Pty Ltd 8 i
Uberior Ventures Ltd 5 i
UDT Budget Leasing Ltd 13 i ‡
United Dominions Leasing Ltd 1 i
United Dominions Trust Ltd 1 i
Vine Street XIII LP 41 *
Ward Nominees (Abingdon) Ltd 1 i
Waverley – Fund II Investor LLC 24 i
Waverley – Fund III Investor LLC 24 i
Waymark Asset Investments Ltd 1 ii iii 
West Craigs Ltd 5 i
Wood Street Leasing Ltd 1 i

Subsidiary undertakings continued
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Subsidiary undertakings continued
The Group has determined that it has the power to exercise 
control over the following entities without having the majority of 
the voting rights of the undertakings. Unless otherwise stated, the 
undertakings do not have share capital or the Group does not 
hold any shares.

Name of undertaking Notes

Addison Social Housing Holdings Ltd 36
Cancara Asset Securitisation Ltd 32
Candide Financing 2021-1 B.V. 19 
Cardiff Auto Receivables Securitisation 2019-1 plc 26
Cardiff Auto Receivables Securitisation 2022-1 plc 26
Cardiff Auto Receivables Securitisation Holdings Ltd 26

30
Connery Holdings Ltd 36
Deva Financing Holdings Ltd 26 §

26 §
26
26

Fontwell II Securities 2020 DAC 42
Fontwell Securities 2016 Ltd 36
Gresham Receivables (No. 3) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No. 10) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No. 13) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No. 15) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No. 16) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No. 20) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No. 24) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No.27) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.28) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No.29) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No. 32) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No. 34) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.35) Ltd 32
Gresham Receivables (No.36) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.37) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.38) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.39) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.40) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.41) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.44) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.45) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.46) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.47) UK Ltd 54
Gresham Receivables (No.48) UK Ltd 54
Guildhall Asset Purchasing Company (No.11) UK Ltd 54
Housing Association Risk Transfer 2019 DAC 42

26
6 ‡

Lloyds Bank Covered Bonds (Holdings) Ltd 26
Molineux RMBS 2016-1 plc 26
Molineux RMBS Holdings Ltd 26
Otium Lifetime Funding (No. 1) Ltd 26
Penarth Asset Securitisation Holdings Ltd 26
Penarth Funding 1 Ltd 26
Penarth Funding 2 Ltd 26
Penarth Master Issuer plc 26
Penarth Receivables Trustee Ltd 26
Permanent Funding (No. 1) Ltd 26
Permanent Funding (No. 2) Ltd 26
Permanent Holdings Ltd 26
Permanent Master Issuer plc 26
Permanent Mortgages Trustee Ltd 26

26

Name of undertaking Notes

26
Salisbury Securities 2015 Ltd 36 
Salisbury II Securities 2016 Ltd 36
Salisbury II-A Securities 2017 Ltd 36
Salisbury III Securities 2019 DAC 42
SARL Hiram 44
SAS Compagnie Fonciere De France 44
SCI De L’Horloge 44
SCI Rambuteau CFF 44
Stichting Holding Candide Financing 19 
Stichting Security Trustee Candide 2021-1 B.V. 19
Syon Securities 2019 DAC 42
Syon Securities 2020 DAC 42
Syon Securities 2020-2 DAC 42
Thistle Investments (AMC) Ltd 26

26
Wetherby II Securities 2018 DAC 49
Wetherby III Securities 2019 DAC 42
Wilmington Cards 2021-1 plc 26
Wilmington Cards Holdings Ltd 26
Wilmington Receivables Trustee Ltd 26
Bank of Scotland Foundation • 5

2
Lloyds Bank Foundation for the Channel Islands • 2 
MBNA General Foundation • 47
The Halifax Foundation for Northern Ireland • 15 

• A charitable foundation funded but not owned or controlled by Lloyds Banking 
Group
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Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Associated Undertaking
The Group has a participating interest in the following undertakings. 

Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

00SC Ltd 50% Kingsnorth House, Blenheim Way, Birmingham, West Midlands, 
United Kingdom, B44 8LS

ii

239 Kingsway Hove Ltd 50%  
United Kingdom, BN3 1TN

ii 

4755AS Ltd 50% Kingsnorth House, Blenheim Way, Birmingham, West Midlands,  ii

Addison Social Housing Ltd 20% i 
Airline Services And Components  
Group Ltd

94.45%
Birmingham, B3 2JR

ii &

Albany Bidco Ltd 75.32% Acora House, Albert Drive, Burgess Hill, West Sussex,  
United Kingdom, RH15 9TN

ii 

Aldreth Developments Ltd 50% No 1 Railshead Road, St Margarets, Isleworth, Middlesex,  ii 

Alfred Homes Properties LLP n/a * 
Alfred Investment Properties Ltd 50% i 
Alfred Investments LLP n/a *
Alfreton Road JV Ltd 100% ii
Allan Water Homes (Chryston) Ltd 50% 24B Kenilworth Road, Bridge Of Allan, Stirling, Scotland, FK9 4DU ii 
Alphabet Bidco Ltd 99.25% Phoenix House, Smeaton Close, Rabans Lane, Industrial Area, Aylesbury, 

Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom, HP19 8UW
xviii &

Angus International Safety Group Ltd 88.93%
88.93%

Station Road, High Bentham, Near Lancaster, LA2 7NA xvii &
xviii 

Antler Amberley LLP n/a *
Aquavista Watersides Topco Ltd 92.69% ii &
Ashtons Group Holdings Ltd 99% Unit 4, 74 Dyke Road Mews, Brighton, BN1 3JD ii &

99.25% Pipewell Quay, Pipewellgate, Gateshead, Tyne And Wear,  ii &

99.25% Unit 2 and 3, Jessop Court, Waterwells Business Park, Quedgeley, 
Gloucester, United Kingdom, GL2 2AP

xviii &

Bacchus Newco Ltd 89.25%
Wigan, United Kingdom, WN4 0BZ 

ii &

Backhouse (Castle Cary) JV Ltd 50% c/o DAC Beachcroft LLP, Portwall Place, Portwall Lane, Bristol, 
United Kingdom, BS1 9HS

ii

Backhouse (Westbury) JV Ltd 50% c/o DAC Beachcroft LLP, Portwall Place, Portwall Lane, Bristol, 
United Kingdom, BS1 9HS

ii

Balia Ltd 50% i
Bar Bidco Ltd 99.25% ii &
BCIS Holdings Ltd 99.25% ii &
Beckstones (Rheda Park) Ltd 50%

United Kingdom, CA11 9BN
ii

Bergamot Ventures Ltd 100% iii ~

BH Stoke Golding Property LLP n/a  
Northampton, NN6 8FB

*

BH Sutton Ltd 50%  
Northampton, NN6 8FB

ii

BH Woodville Ltd 50%  
Northampton, NN6 8FB

ii

99.25% ii &
Blue Bay Travel Group Ltd 99.17% A4 Bellringer Road, Trentham Business Quarter, Stoke-On-Trent, ST4 8GB xviii &
BoS Mezzanine Partners Fund LP n/a *
Bowbridge Homes (Frisby) Ltd 50% ii 
Bowbridge Homes (Raunds) Ltd 50% ii 
Bowland Fold (Halton) Ltd 25%  i

Bramble Foods Group Ltd 99.25% ii &
Briar Homes (Dealston) Ltd 50% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU i
Briar Homes (Gladsmuir) Ltd 50% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU i
Briar Homes (Howwood) Ltd 50% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU ii
Briar Homes (Investments) Ltd 100% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU ii
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Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

Briar Homes (Newmains) Ltd 50% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU ii
Briar Homes (Tillycairn) Ltd 50% Radleigh House, 1 Golf Road, Clarkston, Glasgow, G76 7HU i
Burnham SPV Ltd 50% ii
Caedmon Homes (St Johns Mews) Ltd 50% c/o Azets, Wynyard Park House, Wynyard Avenue, Wynyard,  

United Kingdom, TS22 5TB 
ii

Caedmon Homes Kirby Hill Ltd 50% c/o Azets Holdings Ltd, Wynyard Park House, Wynyard Avenue, Wynyard, 
United Kingdom, TS22 5TB

ii

Caedmon Homes Ltd 50% c/o Azets, Wynyard Park House, Wynyard Avenue, Wynyard,  
United Kingdom, TS22 5TB

ii

Cardel Group Ltd 89.25% 5 The Marquis Business Centre, Royston Road, Baldock, SG7 6XL xviii &

Cayuga 013 LLP n/a *
Chianti Holdings Ltd 99%

99%
99%

ii
xvii

xviii & 
City & General Securities Ltd 100% iii &
Cleanslate Ashford Ltd 50% 4 Kennet House, 19 High Street, Hungerford, Berkshire, RG17 0NL ii
Columbus UK Holdings Ltd 99% ii &
Connect Health Group Ltd 99%

99%
The Light Box, Quorum Business Park, Benton Lane, Newcastle Upon Tyne, ii

xvii & 
Connery Ltd 20% i & 
Couple Holdco Ltd 26.70% ii &
Crossco (1462) Ltd 99.25%

United Kingdom, TS18 3TX
ii &

Croud Holdings Ltd 99% ii &
Cruden Homes (Aberlady) Ltd 50% ii
Cruden Homes (Barnton Avenue) Ltd 50% i
Cruden Homes (Longniddry South) Ltd 50% i
Cruden Homes (West Craigs) Ltd 50% i
Cruden Ventures Ltd 100% ii

100% Cromwell Property Group Spaces, Lochrin Square, 1 Lochrin Square, 92-98 iii ~

Derwent Rise (Seaton) Ltd 25%  i

Devonshire Homes (Halwill) Ltd 25% ii
Devonshire Homes (Ilfracombe) Ltd 100% ii

25% ii
Devonshire Homes (RGI) Ltd 50% ii
Devonshire Homes (St Austell) Ltd 50% ii
Devonshire Homes (Wincanton) Ltd 25% ii
Downtown Manchester BTR Ltd 100% 1 St. Georges Court, Altrincham Business Park, Altrincham,  ii

Downtown Manchester Opco Ltd 50% 1 St. Georges Court, Altrincham Business Park, Altrincham,  i

Downtown Manchester Propco Ltd 50% 1 St. Georges Court, Altrincham Business Park, Altrincham,  i

Duchy Homes (Chapelgarth) Ltd 50% Park House, Westland Road, Leeds, West Yorkshire, United Kingdom, LS11 5UH ii 
50% Middleton House, Westland Road, Leeds, United Kingdom, LS11 5UH ii 

Duncan and Todd Holdings Ltd 89.25% 6 Queens Road, Aberdeen, AB15 4ZT ii &
Dundashill 4A Ltd 50% 305 Gray’s Inn Road, London, United Kingdom, WC1X 8QR i
Durkan Growth Ltd 50% ii 
Durkan (Onslow) Ltd 25% i

25% 
CA11 9BN 

i 

25%  i

50% ii
99.25% 4 Webster Court, Carina Park, Westbrook, Warrington,  

United Kingdom, WA5 8WD
ii &

99% Newbury House, 20 Kings Road West, Newbury, Berkshire, RG14 5XR ii &
99% ii &
99% ii &
99% ii &
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Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Associated Undertaking continued

Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

30.76%
32.74%

The Yard, Dodd Lane, Westhoughton, Bolton, BL5 3NU x
xv &

73.08% ii &
99.17% Hounds Gate, 30-34 Hounds Gate, Nottingham, NG1 7AB xviii &

Company Ltd
100% ii

99.25% xviii &

(Northern) Ltd 
100% viii

50% The Stables, Little Coldharbour Farm, Tong Lane, Lamberhurst,  ii 

50% The Stables, Little Coldharbour Farm, Tong Lane, Lamberhurst,  ii

99%
99%
99%
99.35%

ii
xvii

 xviii &
xxi

Farries Field (Stainburn) Ltd 50%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN

ii

FDL Salterns Ltd 50% 2 Poole Road, Bournemouth, BH2 5QY ii
n/a * §

Generate Topco Ltd 98.02% xviii &
Ginger Acquisition Company Ltd 89.25% Tudno Mill, Smith Street, Ashton-Under-Lyne, United Kingdom, OL7 0DB ii &
Global Autocare Holding Ltd 99% ii &

n/a *
Hamsard 3667 Ltd 99.25% Park House, Clifton Park, York, North Yorkshire, YO30 5PB ii &
Hazel Newco Ltd 99.25% Bradwood Court, St Crispin Way, Haslingden, Rossendale, Lancashire, 

United Kingdom, BB4 4PW
xviii &

HB Developments (NW) Ltd 50% ii 
Hercules Topco Ltd 99.25% 5th Floor, The Grange, 100 High Street, Southgate, London, N14 6BN ii &
HGP II Ltd 50% i
HH (AG) Ltd 100% Unit 3 Plantation Road, Wirral, United Kingdom, CH62 3QG ii
Highcross Street Holdings Ltd 50% ii
Highlands Bidco Ltd 99% ii &
Hollins Homes (Bartle) Ltd 25% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW i
Hollins Homes (Galgates) Ltd 25% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW i
Hollins Homes (Loveclough) Ltd 50% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW  ii
Hollins Homes RGI Ltd 50% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW  ii 
Hollins Homes (Utopia) Ltd 50% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW  ii 
Hollins Homes (Wingates) Ltd 50% Suite 4, 1 King Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M2 6AW ii
Homes By Carlton (MSTG1) Ltd 50% Carlton House, 15 Parsons Court, Welbury Way, Newton Aycliffe,  ii

Horse Health Wessex Holdings Ltd 99.25% Copied Hall Farm, Winsor Road, Winsor, Southampton, Hampshire, ii &

Housing Growth Partnership GP LLP n/a *
Housing Growth Partnership II GP LLP n/a *
Housing Growth Partnership II LP n/a *
Housing Growth Partnership LP n/a *
Housing Growth Partnership Ltd 50%

50%
ii 
iii

HPD (Conwy) Ltd 100% ii
HSL Compliance Group Ltd 99%

31.24%
Alton House, Alton Business Park, Alton Road, Ross-on-Wye, HR9 5BP ii &

iii
Hylyfe Leicester Ltd 50% i

99.25% ii &
Iglufastnet Ltd 89.25%

59.55%
2nd Floor, 165 The Broadway, Wimbledon, London,  ii 

xxiii &
100% ii

Indigo 123 Ltd 99.25% 1 Caspian Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF10 4DQ ii &
James Taylor Homes (Brighton) Limited 25%  i
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Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

James Taylor Homes (Investment) Ltd 50%  ii 

James Taylor Homes  
(Newton Longville) Ltd

50%  ii

James Taylor Homes (Verulamium) Ltd 25%  i

Kenmore Capital 2 Ltd 100% Grant Thornton UK LLP, 110 Queen Street, Glasgow, G1 3BX iii ~ ‡
Kenmore Capital 3 Ltd 100% Grant Thornton UK LLP, 110 Queen Street, Glasgow, G1 3BX
Kenmore Capital Ltd 100% Grant Thornton UK LLP, 110 Queen Street, Glasgow, G1 3BX iii ~ ‡

99% ii &
Kier HGP Devco 1 LLP n/a *
Kier HGP Devco 2 LLP n/a *
Kier HGP Holdings LLP n/a *
Kier HGP Holdings 2 Ltd 50% i
Kingmead Homes Housing Growth LLP n/a *
Kingmead Homes (Warwick) Ltd 50% 

50%
50%
50%

ii 
iii 

viii 
xxii

Kingswood Mobility Group Ltd 99.25% Browne Jacobson Llp (Cs) Mowbray House, Castle Meadow Road, xviii &

Kite Topco Ltd 89.25%
22.13%

xvii &
xxii

Kruger Bidco Ltd 99% ii &
L-L-O Orpington Ltd 50% 29/30 Fitzroy Square, London, United Kingdom, W1T 6LQ ii
Lonsdale Park (Hackthorpe) Ltd 50%  

United Kingdom, CA11 9BN
ii

Loyalty Angels Ltd 49.9%
21.6% 

ii 
iii

Lucida Broking Holdings Ltd 89.25%
89.25%

 
United Kingdom, RM1 3NH

ii &
ix 

Lunesdale Rise (Kirkby Lonsdale) Ltd 25%  i

Mableford Ltd 50% Lindum Business Park, Station Road, North Hykeham, Lincoln,  
LN6 3QX, United Kingdom

ii

Mansion House Group (Sandbach) Ltd 50% 8-10 Old Market Place, Altrincham, Cheshire, United Kingdom, WA14 4DF ii
Meadow Rigg (Burneside Road) Ltd 25%  

Cumbria CA11 9BN
i

Measured Identity Hub Ltd 97.92% 3 Long Acre, Willow Farm Business Park, Castle Donington, Derbyshire, ii &

MFS Groupco Ltd 99% York House, Wetherby Road, Long Marston, YO26 7NH ii &
M&GP (No. 2) Ltd 50% ii 

50% i
Motability Operations Group plc 39.98%

40%
i
v

Neilson Active Holidays Group Ltd 89.25% Locksview, Brighton Marina, Brighton, BN2 5HA ii &
North Kensington Gate HGP Ltd 100% Regina House, 124 Finchley Road, London, United Kingdom, NW3 5JS ii
North Kensington Gate Ltd 50% Regina House, 124 Finchley Road, London, United Kingdom, NW3 5JS i

39.4% Titanium, 1 King’s Inch Place, Renfrew, Glasgow, PA4 8WF iii &
n/a  *

Omniplex Learning Group Ltd 99% Omniplex Learning, 45 Grosvenor Road, St Albans, Hertfordshire, 
United Kingdom, AL1 3AW

ii &

Onapp (Topco) II Ltd 82.5%
100%

3MC Middlemarch Business Park, Siskin Drive, Coventry,  
United Kingdom, CV3 4FJ

ii &
v 

Onapp (Topco) Ltd 82.5%
82.5%

3MC Middlemarch Business Park, Siskin Drive, Coventry,  
United Kingdom, CV3 4FJ

xvii &
xviii

Origin (Topco) Ltd 50%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN

ii 

Osprey Aviation Services (UK) Ltd 89.25%
89.25%

Blackwood House, Union Grove Lane, Aberdeen, AB10 6XU xvii &
xviii 

PAM Healthcare Ltd 99.25% Holly House, 73-75 Sankey Street, Warrington, WA1 1SL ii &
Park Bidco Ltd 99% ii &

Financial results
Risk m

anagem
ent

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

O
ther inform

ation
Strategic report

351Lloyds Banking Group plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2023



Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Associated Undertaking continued

Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

Pennine View (Calthwaite) Ltd 25%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN

i

PFP-Igloo Developments Ltd 100% 305 Gray’s Inn Road, London, United Kingdom, WC1X 8QR ii
100% Cavendish House, 18 Cavendish Square, London, W1G 0PJ iii 

PL & HGP Ltd 50% 3rd Floor, Tower House, 10 Southampton Street, London,  ii

89.25% Suite 3, Regency House, 91 Western Road, Brighton, BN1 2NW xviii & ‡
Project Airscope Bidco Ltd 99.25%  

United Kingdom, M4 5DL
xviii &

Project Balloon Bidco Ltd 79.16% 85 Great Portland Street, London, W1W 7LT ii &
Project Bridgerton Bidco Ltd 99.25% ii &
Project Fusion Bidco Ltd 99.25% 46–48 Queen Charlotte Street, Bristol, BS1 4HX xviii &
Project Galaxy UK Topco Ltd 28.22% 3rd Floor, Q5 Quorum Business Park, Benton Lane, Newcastle Upon Tyne, ii &

Project Penny Ltd 99.25% 115 Victoria Road, Ferndown, UK, BH22 9HU ii &
Project Sketch Ltd 88.30% ii &
Project Sutton Bidco Ltd 99.25% Chawston House, Chawston Lane, Chawston, Bedford, Bedfordshire, 

United Kingdom, MK44 3BH
ii &

Quentin Park (Cumwhinton) Ltd 50%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN 

ii

Ramco Acquisition Ltd 88.74%
88.74%
0.17%

Glasgow, Scotland, G2 5NW
xvi &

xii

Ramco Pipetech Holdings Ltd 99.35% Brodies House, 31-33 Union Grove, Aberdeen, Scotland, AB10 6SD ii & 
RDIL 2021 Ltd 99.25% Old Printers Yard, 156 South Street, Dorking, Surrey, United Kingdom, RH4 2HF xviii &
Rocket Science Holdings Ltd 99.17% xviii & ‡
Safari Bidco Ltd 99.25% Upper Floor, The Granary, Stanley Grange, Ormskirk Road, Knowsley, ii &

Sanders Brow (Armathwaite) Ltd 50%
United Kingdom, CA11 9BN

ii

ScarlettAbbott (Topco) Ltd 99.25% The Old Chapel, 27a Main Street, Fulford, York, North Yorkshire, 
United Kingdom, YO10 4PJ

ii &

Scenic Topco Ltd 89.25% Unit 1B, Pentwyn Business Centre, Wharfedale Road, Cardiff,  
Wales, CF23 7HB

ii &

Scotia (Brechin) Ltd 100% ii 
Seahawk Bidco Ltd 89.25%  

BL3 2NT
xviii &

99.25% iii &
Shaken Udder Group Ltd 99.25% Heathwell Farm, Simpsons Lane, Tiptree, Colchester,  

United Kingdom, CO5 0PP
ii &

Snowdon Homes (Melton Mowbray) Ltd 50% Artemis House, 4a Bramley Rd, Mount Farm, Milton Keynes, MK1 1PT ii
Solais Topco Ltd 99.25% Solais House, 19 Phoenix Crescent, Strathclyde Business Park, Bellshill, 

United Kingdom, ML4 3NJ
ii &

SOLO Topco Ltd 99% Onecom House, 4400 Parkway, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire, PO15 7FJ ii &
100% Brock House, 19 Langham Street, London, W1W 6BP ii

SSP Topco Ltd 89.25% 1 Bridgewater Place, Water Lane, Leeds, West Yorkshire, LS11 5QR ii & ‡
Stancliffe Homes (Bentley) Ltd 50% ii 
Star Live TopCo Ltd 99.25% Star Live Milton Road, Thurleigh, Bedford, United Kingdom, MK44 2DF xviii &
Stewart Milne (Glasgow) Ltd 100% ii ~
Stewart Milne (West) Ltd 100% ii ~
Stratus (Holdings) Ltd 82.5%

82.5%
3MC Middlemarch Business Park, Siskin Drive, Coventry, West Midlands, xvii

xviii & 
Teviot Developments Ltd 50% 1/1, 15 North Claremont Street, Glasgow, United Kingdom, G3 7NR i
Teviot Developments Holdings Ltd 100% 1/1, 15 North Claremont Street, Glasgow, United Kingdom, G3 7NR ii 

99% First Floor (South), Cathedral Buildings, Dean Street, Newcastle Upon Tyne, ii & 

99.25% xviii &
n/a c/o Spencer Gardner Dickins, 3 Coventry Innovation Village, Cheetah Road, 

Coventry, CV1 2TL
* 
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Name of undertaking

% of share class held 
by immediate parent 
company (or by the 
Group where this 
varies) Registered office address Notes

The Orchards (Burgh by Sands) Ltd 50%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN

ii

The Woodlands (Carlisle) Ltd 25%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN

i

Tolia Bidco Ltd 99.25% ii &
Topco Coffee Ltd 99.25%

United Kingdom, RG27 8AS
xviii &

Topsmiths Ltd 99.25%  ii &

Two (PBSA) Holding LLP n/a *
Unihomes Group Ltd 99.25% ii &
United House Group Holdings Ltd 81.5% ii &
Urban Centric (Knox Court) Holdings Ltd 100% ii
Urban Centric (KC) Ltd 50% i
Verde Bidco Ltd 99.25% xviii &

25%  
Cumbria, CA11 9BN 

i

Walker Warwick Ltd 50% i
Walker Warwick Land Ltd 50% i
Walnut Newco Ltd 99.25% c/o Roxburgh Milkins Limited, Merchants House North, Wapping Road, 

Bristol, United Kingdom, BS1 4RW
ii &

WCCTV Group Ltd 99.25% Charles Babbage House, Kingsway Business Park, Rochdale, 
United Kingdom, OL16 4NW

ii &

Whiteburn Viewforth Development Ltd 100% ii
Whittington Facilities Ltd 100% c/o Teneo Financial Advisory Limited, The Colmore Building,  

20 Colmore Circus Queensway, Birmingham, B4 6AT
Wind Bidco Ltd 99.25%  ii

ZWPV Ltd 89.25% Zip World Base Camp, Denbigh Street, Llanrwst, LL26 0LL ii &

Collective Investment Vehicles
The following comprises a list of the Group’s and other external 
collective investment vehicles (CIV), where the shareholding is 
greater than or equal to 20 per cent of the nominal value of any 
class of shares, or a book value greater than 20 per cent of the 
CIV’s assets.

Name of undertaking

% of fund held by 
immediate parent 
(or by the Group 
where this varies) Notes

1
44.44%

abrdn Sterling Bond Fund 90.28%

1
abrdn Global Corporate Bond Tracker Fund 92.79%

1

Index Fund
62.84%

2
Insight Broad Opportunities Fund 22.33%

3
Scottish Widows Pooled Property ACS Fund 1 100%
Scottish Widows Pooled Property ACS Fund 2 100%

4
Artemis SmartGARP Paris-Aligned Global 47.97%

Name of undertaking

% of fund held by 
immediate parent 
(or by the Group 
where this varies) Notes

5
98.80%
77.29%
61.74%
65.19%
45.67%
74.49%

5

Bond Fund
87.93%

Index Fund
37.65%

5
50.74%

84.26%

6
BNY Mellon Global Absolute Return Fund 74.92%
BNY Mellon Global Dynamic Bond Fund 24.50%

31.87%
BNY Mellon Global Multi-Strategy Fund 42.54%
BNY Mellon Multi Asset Growth Fund 20.21%
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Subsidiaries and related undertakings continued

Collective Investment Vehicles continued

Name of undertaking

% of fund held by 
immediate parent 
(or by the Group 
where this varies) Notes

 BNY Mellon Sustainable UK Opportunities 
Fund

68.03%

BNY Mellon UK Income Fund 20.93%
BNY Mellon US Opportunities Fund 38.68%

7
93.60%
79.03%

International Growth Fund 55.37%
Japanese Fund 94.66%
North American Fund 94.97%

7
UK Property Fund 49.79%

7
Cautious Managed Fund 50.26%

81.86%
Fund of Investment Trusts 38.55%
Smaller Companies Fund 65.73%
Special Situations Fund 49.73%

7
58.93%
59.19%

UK Growth Fund 59.41%

8
49.55%
37.38%
36.56%

9
31.16%

9
Invesco Global Bond Fund 20.59%

10
Lazard Developing Markets Fund 99.82%

11
Legg Mason Western Asset Multi-Asset 
Credit Fund

37.83%

12
Liontrust Sustainable Future UK Growth Fund 53.32%

MGI FUNDS PLC 13
72.92%

Mercer Multi Asset Defensive Fund 33.57%
Mercer Multi Asset Growth Fund 55.60%
Mercer Multi Asset High Growth Fund 60.43%
Mercer Multi Asset Moderate Growth Fund 63.73%

Feeder Fund
67.11%

14
Global Credit Fund 34.54%

15
25.31%

16
BlackRock Balanced Growth Portfolio Fund 41.26%

17
20.10%

18

Name of undertaking

% of fund held by 
immediate parent 
(or by the Group 
where this varies) Notes

Schroder Sterling Liquidity Fund 92.06%
Schroder Sterling Short Duration Bond Fund 94.89%

19
75.43%

Multi Asset Total Return 24.64%
95.98%

19
Schroder Matching Plus Bespoke Investment 
Fund 10 

100%

FUNDS ICVC 20
Adventurous Growth Fund 46.16%
Balanced Growth Fund 30.48%
Corporate Bond 1 Fund 85.11%
Corporate Bond PPF Fund 100%

100%
Global Tactical Asset Allocation 1 Fund 85.34%
Progressive Growth Fund 44.69%
UK Index Linked Gilt Fund 100% 

20
Corporate Bond Fund 71.73%

98.37%

Fund
95.17%

Tracker Fund
97.68%

Tracker Fund
93.58%

Fund
90.66%

94.16%
94.71%

Gilt Fund 95.91% 
High Income Bond Fund 62.31%
International Bond Fund 76.98%

93.54%
Managed Growth Fund 3 100.00%
Managed Growth Fund 5 100.00%
Strategic Income Fund 66.76%

Fund
89.65%

91.05%

FUNDS ICVC 20
Balanced Growth Portfolio 24.97%
Cash Fund 99.59%

56.83%
Progress Growth Portfolio 1 44.68%

20
American Growth Fund 78.45%

86.71%
Global Growth Fund 61.30%
Global Select Growth Fund 55.37%
Japan Growth Fund 97.68%

69.68%
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Name of undertaking

% of fund held by 
immediate parent 
(or by the Group 
where this varies) Notes

20
81.40%
89.40%

UK Fixed Interest Tracker Fund 98.30%
UK Index-Linked Tracker Fund 99.26%
UK Tracker Fund 44.63%

FUNDS ICVC 20
78.22%
85.35%
24.78%

UK Growth Fund 59.73%

21
26.48%
20.92%

21
63.05%

22
Schroders Personal Wealth IPS 
Growth Portfolio

46.56%

Schroders Personal Wealth IPS 
Income Portfolio

45.41%

SSGA 23
97.83%

100%

97.06%

24
SVS Levitas A Fund 80.83%
SVS Levitas B Fund 77.63%

25
CMIG Access 80% 100%

100%
CMIG GA 70 Flexible 100%
CMIG GA 80 Flexible 100%
CMIG GA 90 Flexible 100%

97.89%
78.73%
81.92%
92.84%
39.83%

Principal place of business for Collective Investment Vehicles

(1) 
(2) Absolute Insight Funds Plc, Riverside Two Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, 

D02 KV60, Ireland
(3)
(4)  Cassini House, 57 St James’s Street, London SW1A 1LD
(5) 
(6)  BNY Mellon Investment Funds, BNY Mellon Centre, 160 Queen Victoria Street, 

(7)  Trinity Road, Halifax, West Yorkshire, HX1 2RG
(8)  Oppenheim Asset Management Services Sàrl 2, Boulevard Konrad Adenauer, 

L-1115 Luxembourg
(9)  Invesco Fund Managers Limited, Perpetual Park, Perpetual Park Drive, 

Henley-on-Thames, Oxfordshire RG9 1HH
(10)  50 Stratton Street, London W1J 8LL
(11)  Riverside Two Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Grand Canal Dock, Dublin 2, Ireland
(12)
(13)  70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland

(14)  MSIM Fund Management (Ireland) Limited, The Observatory, 7-11 Sir John 
Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, D02 VC42, Ireland

(15)  Nordea 1, SICAV, 562, Rue de Neudorf, L-2220 Luxembourg
(16)
(17)
(18) Schroder Investment Management (Ireland) Limited, Georges Court, 54-62 

Townsend Street, Dublin 2, D02 R156
(19) 5, Rue Höhenhof, L-1736, Senningerberg, Luxembourg
(20) 
(21)  

Dublin 2 Ireland
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

Duchy of Luxembourg

Notes

* The undertaking does not have share capital
+
# In relation to Subsidiary Undertakings, an undertaking external to the Group 

holds shares
^ Shares held directly by Lloyds Banking Group plc
& The Group holds voting rights of between 20 per cent and 49.9 per cent
~ The Group holds voting rights of 50 per cent
‡ The undertaking is in Liquidation

 The undertaking is in Administrative Receivership
 The undertaking is in Administration

§ The undertaking has applied for Strike Off

(i) Ordinary Shares 
(ii) A Ordinary Shares
(iii) B Ordinary Shares
(iv) Deferred Shares
(v) Preference Shares
(vi) Non-Voting Deferred Shares
(vii) 6% Non-Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares
(viii) C Ordinary Shares
(ix) Growth 2 Shares
(x) Preferred A Ordinary Shares 
(xi) Redeemable Preference Shares
(xii) A4 Ordinary Shares
(xiii) Ordinary Non-Voting Shares
(xiv) Common Stock
(xv) Preferred B Ordinary Shares 
(xvi) A3 Ordinary Shares
(xvii) A2 Ordinary Shares
(xviii) A1 Ordinary Shares 
(xix) Z Ordinary Shares 
(xx) Ordinary Limited Voting Shares
(xxi) LN Deferred Shares
(xxii) D Ordinary Shares
(xxiii)
(xxiv) F Ordinary Shares 
(xxv) G Ordinary Shares 
(xxvi) H Ordinary Shares
(xxvii) I Ordinary Shares 
(xxviii) J Ordinary Shares 
(xxix) C1 Ordinary Shares
(xxx) C2 Ordinary Shares

Registered office addresses

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4) Trinity Road, Halifax, West Yorkshire, HX1 2RG
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

2000, Australia
(9)
(10) c/o Bdo Llp, 5 Temple Square, Temple Street, Liverpool, L2 5RH
(11) The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center,  

1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA
(12) Barnett Way, Gloucester, GL4 3RL
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16) Suite 6, Rineanna House, Shannon Free Zone, Co. Clare, Ireland
(17) Thurn-Und-Taxis-Platz 6, 60313, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
(18) Hoogoorddreef, 151101BA, Amsterdam, Netherlands
(19) Basisweg 10, Amsterdam, 1043AP, Netherlands
(20)
(21)
(22)

Luxembourg 
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(23) 17 Boulevard F.W. Raiffeisen, L-2411 Luxembourg
(24)
(25)
(26)
(27) 1, Avenue du Bois, L-1251 Luxembourg 
(28) SAB Formalities, 23 Rue de Roule, 75001, Paris, France
(29) Karl-Liebknecht-STR. 5, D-10178 Berlin, Germany
(30) 20 Rue de la Poste, L-2346 Luxembourg
(31)
(32)
(33)
(34) P O Box 186, Royal Chambers, St Julian’s Avenue, St. Peter Port, GY1 4HP, 

Guernsey
(35)
(36)
(37) Fascinatio Boulevard 1302, 2909VA Capelle aan den IJssel, Netherlands 
(38) Avenida Dr. Chucri Zaidan, n° 296, cj 231, Bairro Vila Cordeiro, Cidade de São 

(39)
(40) One Vine Street, London, W1J 0AH
(41)
(42)
(43) 110 St. Vincent Street, Glasgow, G2 4QR
(44) 8 Avenue Hoche, 75008, Paris, France
(45) Keens House, Anton Mill Road, Andover, Hampshire, SP10 2NQ
(46)
(47) Cawley House, Chester Business Park, Chester, CH4 9FB, United Kingdom 
(48) 6/12, Primrose Road, Bangalore, 560025, India
(49) 1-2 Victoria Buildings, Haddington Road, Dublin 4, Ireland 
(50) St William House, Tresillian Terrace, Cardiff, CFl0 5BH 
(51) 18th Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong
(52) Building 4 Hatters Lane, Croxley Green Business Park, Watford, 

Hertfordshire, WS18 8YF
(53) 1A Heienhaff, Senningerberg, L-1736 Luxembourg 
(54) Wilmington Trust SP Services (London) Limited, Third Floor, 1 King’s Arms Yard, 

(55) Building 4 Hatters Lane, Croxley Green Business Park, Watford, 
Hertfordshire, WD18 8YF

 

continued
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managed forests and other controlled sources. The paper is 

management. The paper is carbon balanced with the World Land 
Trust, an international conservation charity, who offset carbon 
emissions through the preservation of high conservation land. 
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This document contains certain forward-looking statements 

Act of 1934, as amended, and section 27A of the US Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, with respect to the business, strategy, plans 
and/or results of Lloyds Banking Group plc together with its 
subsidiaries (the Group) and its current goals and expectations. 
Statements that are not historical or current facts, including 
statements about the Group’s or its directors’ and/or 
management’s beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking 
statements. Words such as, without limitation, ‘believes’, 
‘achieves’, ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘targets’, ‘should’, 
‘intends’, ‘aims’, ‘projects’, ‘plans’, ‘potential’, ‘will’, ‘would’, ‘could’, 
‘considered’, ‘likely’, ‘may’, ‘seek’, ‘estimate’, ‘probability’, ‘goal’, 
‘objective’, ‘deliver’, ‘endeavour’, ‘prospects’, ‘optimistic’ and similar 
expressions or variations on these expressions are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements. These statements concern 
or may affect future matters, including but not limited to: 

interest margin, capital ratios, liquidity, risk-weighted assets 

litigation, regulatory and governmental investigations; the 

and/or commitments; statements of plans, objectives or goals of 
the Group or its management and other statements that are not 
historical fact and statements of assumptions underlying such 
statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve 
risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend 
upon circumstances that will or may occur in the future. Factors 
that could cause actual business, strategy, targets, plans and/or 
results (including but not limited to the payment of dividends) to 
differ materially from forward-looking statements include, but are 
not limited to: general economic and business conditions in the 
UK and internationally; acts of hostility or terrorism and responses 
to those acts, or other such events; geopolitical unpredictability; 

including as a result of any UK general election; market related 
risks, trends and developments; changes in client and consumer 
behaviour and demand; exposure to counterparty risk; the ability 

currencies; volatility in credit markets; volatility in the price of the 
Group’s securities; tightening of monetary policy in jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates; natural pandemic and other disasters; 
risks concerning borrower and counterparty credit quality; risks 

schemes; changes in laws, regulations, practices and accounting 
standards or taxation; changes to regulatory capital or liquidity 
requirements and similar contingencies; the policies and actions 
of governmental or regulatory authorities or courts together with 
any resulting impact on the future structure of the Group; risks 

associated with the Group’s compliance with a wide range of 
laws and regulations; assessment related to resolution planning 
requirements; risks related to regulatory actions which may be 
taken in the event of a bank or Group failure; exposure to legal, 
regulatory or competition proceedings, investigations or 
complaints; failure to comply with anti-money laundering, 

failure to prevent or detect any illegal or improper activities; 
operational risks including risks as a result of the failure of third 
party suppliers; conduct risk; technological changes and risks to 
the security of IT and operational infrastructure, systems, data 
and information resulting from increased threat of cyber and 
other attacks; technological failure; inadequate or failed internal 

such as climate change (and achieving climate change 
ambitions) and decarbonisation, including the Group’s ability 
along with the government and other stakeholders to measure, 
manage and mitigate the impacts of climate change effectively, 
and human rights issues; the impact of competitive conditions; 
failure to attract, retain and develop high calibre talent; the ability 
to achieve strategic objectives; the ability to derive cost savings 

any acquisitions, disposals and other strategic transactions; 
inability to capture accurately the expected value from 
acquisitions; assumptions and estimates that form the basis 

beyond the Group’s control. Please refer to the latest Annual 

factors and risks. Lloyds Banking Group plc may also make or 
disclose written and/or oral forward-looking statements in other 
written materials and in oral statements made by the directors, 

law or regulation, the forward-looking statements contained in 
this document are made as of today’s date, and the Group 
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release 
publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking 
statements contained in this document whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise. The information, 
statements and opinions contained in this document do not 
constitute a public offer under any applicable law or an offer 

or recommendation with respect to such securities or 

Forward-looking statements
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